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PART I

Note regarding forward-looking statements

Certain matters discussed by the Company are “fahhmoking statements” intended to qualify for tefe harbors from liability
established by the Private Securities LitigatioidRa Act of 1995. These forward-looking statemesda generally be identified as such by
reference to this note or because the contexteo$tiitement will include words such as the Comghbalfeves,” “anticipates,” “expects,”
“plans,” or “estimates” or words of similar meanirfg@milarly, statements that describe future plafgectives, outlooks, targets, guidance or
goals are also forward-looking statements. Suchdai-looking statements are subject to certairsreskd uncertainties that could cause actual
results to differ materially from those anticipageiof the date of this report. Certain of sucksriand uncertainties are described in close
proximity to such statements or elsewhere in thprt, including under the caption “Risk Factors’ltem 1A of this report and under
“Cautionary Statements” in Item 7 of this repotageholders, potential investors, and other reaatersirged to consider these factors in
evaluating the forward-looking statements and caetil not to place undue reliance on such forwaoHitg statements. The forward-looking
statements included in this report are made onbf &ise date of the filing of this report (Februdry, 2009) and the Company disclaims any
obligation to publicly update such forward-lookisigtements to reflect subsequent events or cireunoss.

Item 1. Business

Harley-Davidson, Inc. was incorporated in 198%yhich time it purchased the Harley-Davidsomotorcycle business from AMF
Incorporated in a management buyout. In 1986, kdbavidson, Inc. became publicly held. Unless tbetext otherwise requires, all
references to the “Company” include Harley-Daviddoe. and all of its subsidiaries. The Companyrafes in two segments: the
Motorcycles & Related Products (Motorcycles) segnaeml the Financial Services (Financial Serviceghgent. The Company’s reportable
segments are strategic business units that offlereint products and services. They are manageat sty based on the fundamental
differences in their operations.

The Motorcycles segment includes the groups of @nigs doing business as Harley-Davidson Motor Campd DMC), Buell
Motorcycle Company (Buell) and MV Agusta (MV), whigvas acquired in 2008. The Motorcycles segmengdssmanufactures and sells at
wholesale primarily heavyweight (engine displacehwi§51+cc) touring, custom and performance magtdes as well as a line of motorcycle
parts, accessories, general merchandise and rekateides. The Company, which is the only major Aoas motorcycle manufacturer,
conducts business on a global basis, with salesapify in North America, Europe, Asia/Pacific andtin America.

The Financial Services segment includes the grégpmpanies doing business as Harley-Davidson EiahBervices (HDFS). HDFS
provides wholesale and retail financing and, aagent, provides insurance and insurance-relategtgmts primarily to Harley-Davidson and
Buell dealers and their retail customers. HDFS cetglbusiness principally in the United States @adada.

See Note 19 of Notes to Consolidated Financiak8tants for financial information related to the Qamy’s business segments.

Motorcycles and Related Products

Motorcycles- The primary business of the Motorcycles segneetd design and manufacture premium motorcyclethiheavyweight
market and sell them at wholesale. The Compangss known for its Harley-Davidson motorcycle produbut also offers a line of
motorcycles and related products under the BuellV Agusta® and Cagivé brand names. The Company’s worldwide motorcyclessal
generated approximately 80% of the total net regénuhe Motorcycles segment during each of thesy2@08, 2007 and 2006, respectively.

Harley-Davidson branded motorcycle products empleasaditional styling, design simplicity, durabjliand quality. HDMC
manufactures five families of motorcycles: Touribyna®, Softail®, Sportstef, and VRSC. The first four of these motorcycle fiasiare
powered by an air-cooled, twin-cylinder engine wéth5-degree “V” configuration. The VRSC familypewered by a liquid-cooled, twin-
cylinder engine with a 60-degree “V” configuratidtDMC’s Harley-Davidson engines range in size fl@83cc’s to 1803cc’s.
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Buell motorcycle products emphasize innovative glesiesponsive handling and overall performanceliBoanufactures four families
motorcycles: Sportbike, Street, Adventure and Blasthe Sportbike family includes one model withquld-cooled, twineylinder engine witt
a 72-degree “V” configuration. All other modelsthe Sportbike, Street and Adventure families feataur air-cooled, twin-cylinder engine with
a 45-degree “V” configuration ranging in size fr@®4cc’s to 1203cc’s. The Blast features a 492cc@iled single-cylinder engine.

MV motorcycle products emphasize exquisite desightagh performance. MV manufactures two familiésotorcycles: MV Agusta
and Cagiva. The MV Agusta family is a line of exgilte, premium, high-performance sport motorcycéegiring a liquid-cooled, four-cylinder
engine ranging in size from 750cc’s to 1078cc’se Tagiva family offers lightweight sport motorcylgowered by a 125cc air-cooled single-
cylinder engine.

The total on-highway motorcycle market, includihg heavyweight portion of the market, is compriskthe following four segments:
» standard (emphasizes simplicity and c
« performance (emphasizes handling and accelere
» custom (emphasizes styling and individual ownetamszation)
» touring (emphasizes comfort and amenities for -distance travel

The touring segment of the heavyweight market wassgered by the Company and includes the Harleyid3awn Touring family of
motorcycles which are generally equipped with feys, windshields, saddlebags and/or TourPalggage carriers. The custom segment of the
market includes motorcycles featuring the distirestyling associated with classic Harley-Davidewstorcycles and includes the Company’s
Dyna, Softail and VRSC motorcycle families as vealla portion of the motorcycles in the Sportsterilia The Company’s Sportster family
also serves the standard segment of the markeg alith the Buell Blast. The Buell Sportbike, Straett Adventure families, as well as both of
the MV families, serve the performance segmenhefrharket.

The heavyweight (651+cc) motorcycle market is higtdmpetitive. The Company’s major competitorstaased outside the U.S. and
generally have financial and marketing resourcasdhe substantially greater than those of the GompThey also have larger worldwide
revenue and are more diversified than the Compamgddition to these larger, established competjtibre Company has competitors
headquartered in the United States. These compegiemerally offer heavyweight motorcycles withditenal styling that compete directly
with many of the Company’s products. These comprstiturrently have production and sales volumesatelower than the Company’s and
have considerably lower U.S. market share thatCtmapany.

Competition in the heavyweight motorcycle markdtased upon a number of factors, including pricality, reliability, styling, product
features, customer preference and warrantieselUtB., suggested retail prices for the Compangddy-Davidson motorcycles range from
being comparable to to moderately higher than sstggeretail prices for comparable motorcycles abdd in the market. The Company
believes that its largetisplacement products continue to command a premiire. The Company emphasizes quality, reliabdityl styling ir
its products and generally offers a two-year wagrdor its motorcycles. The Company regards itspgupof the motorcycling lifestyle in the
form of events, rides, rallies and Harley Ownersu®® (H.O.G.®) and through the availability of a line of motocty parts, accessories, and
general merchandise as competitive advantagestiéadlily, the Company considers the availabilityfiabincing through HDFS as a
competitive advantage.

In the U.S., the Company competes most heaviliértduring and custom segments of the heavyweigintycle market. According to
the Motorcycle Industry Council, these segment®acted for approximately 84%, 80% and 79% of thedvyweight retail unit registrations
in the U.S. during 2008, 2007 and 2006, respegtividie larger-displacement custom and touring noytdes are generally the most profitable
for the Company. During 2008, the heavyweight portof the market represented approximately 55%etatal U.S. motorcycle market (on-
and off-highway motorcycles and scooters) in teofnisew units registered.
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For the last 21 years, Harley-Davidson motorcybkage led the industry in the United States foriretait registrations of new
heavyweight motorcycles. The Harley-Davidson motole share of the heavyweight market was 45.5%4&1d@% in 2008 and 2007,
respectively.

The following chart includes U.S. retail registeatidata for Harley-Davidson and Buell for the ye2066 through 2008:
U.S. Heavyweight Motorcycle Registration Datd

(Engine Displacement of 651+cc)
(Units in thousands)

2008 2007 2006
Total market new registratiol 479.¢ 516.] 543.(
Harley-Davidson new registratior 218.2 251. 267.¢
Buell new registration 4.C 3.7 3.8
Total new registration 222.% 255.1 2715
Percentage Market Sha

Harley-Davidson motorcycle 455% 48.%  49.2%
Buell motorcycles 0.8 0.7 0.7
Total 46.5% 49.2% 50.(%

(@) United States industry data includes 651+ccetsoderived from submission of motorcycle retaiésay each major manufacturer to an independéat plarty. The retail registration
data for Harley-Davidson motorcycles presentedhis table may differ slightly from the Harley-Dasith retail sales data presented in Item 7 of gpsnt. The Company’s source for
retail sales data in Item 7 of this report is saled warranty registrations provided by Harley-Digein dealers as compiled by the Company. The diffags are not significant and
generally relate to the timing of data submissinthe independent sourct

The European heavyweight motorcycle market (asddfon the next page) is roughly 80% of the siza@fJ.S. market; but unlike the
U.S. market, it is comprised of the different prefeces of many individual countries. For exampkgjitional U.S.-style touring motorcycles
represent less than 5% of the European heavyweigtdrcycle market. The Company continues to exp@ngroduct offerings to compete in
the standard and performance segments with motescgach as Harley-Davidson’s XR1200™ and Nighttehe Buell 1125R and MV
models. The Company’s traditional Harley-Davidsooducts compete primarily in the custom and tousagments.
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The following chart includes European retail regison data for Harley-Davidson and Buell for theays 2006 through 2008:

European Heavyweight Motorcycle Registration Datd®
(Engine Displacement of 651+cc)
(Units in thousands)

2008 2007 2006
Total market new registratiol 397.% 388.7 361.c
Harley-Davidson new registratior 41.C 38.7 34.c
Buell new registration 4.2 4.€ 4.1
Total new registration 45.2 43.3 38.4
Percentage Market Sha

Harley-Davidson motorcycle 10.2%  10.(% 9.5%
Buell motorcycles 1.1 1.2 1.1
Total 11.4% 11.2%  10.€%

(@) Europe data includes retail sales in AustriglgBim, Denmark, Finland, France, Germany, Grekaly, Netherlands, Norway, Portugal, Spain, Swedamitzerland, and the United
Kingdom. The Company derives its market registratiata and market share calculations presentecedbmw information provided by Giral S.A., an inéggent agency. The retail
registration data for Harley-Davidson motorcyclessented in this table may differ slightly from tHarley-Davidson retail sales data presented im [Zeof this report. The Company’s
source for retail sales data in Item 7 of this reposales and warranty registrations providedHayley-Davidson dealers as compiled by the Comp&hg.differences are not
significant and generally relate to the timing afalsubmissions to the independent sou

The Company also competes in several other maaketsid the world. Based on Company data, the nigrsfisant of these markets in
terms of volume are Canada, Japan and Australi@ahada, the Company’s market share based onregggiat was 41.9%, 39.0% and 38.2%
during 2008, 2007 and 2006, respectively (Sourcapdd and Motorcycle Industry of Canada). Marketsliaformation for the remaining
international markets has not been presented be¢hesCompany does not believe that definitive ratielble registration data is available at
this time.

Parts & Accessories The major Parts and Accessories (P&A) produaseplacement parts (Genuine Motor Parts) and nmécdilaand
cosmetic accessories (Genuine Motor AccessoriesjldWide P&A net revenue comprised 15.4%, 15.2% bh&% of net revenue in the
Motorcycles segment in 2008, 2007 and 2006, resahet

General Merchandise Worldwide General Merchandise net revenue, whicludes MotorClothe8 apparel and collectibles, comprised
5.6%, 5.3% and 4.8% of net revenue in the Motoeyskegment in 2008, 2007 and 2006, respectively.

Licensing— The Company creates an awareness of its mostisign brand, Harley-Davidson, among its custonaerd the non-riding
public through a wide range of products for entasts by licensing the name “Harley-Davidson” arfteotrademarks owned by the Company.
The Company’s licensed products include t-shirhicle and vehicle accessories, jewelry, smalhleragoods, toys and numerous other
products. Although the majority of licensing actyvoccurs in the U.S., the Company continues t@eghese activities in international
markets. Royalty revenues from licensing, incluteMotorcycles segment net revenue, were $45.4anjl$46.0 million and $45.5 million in
2008, 2007 and 2006, respectively.

Other Services The Company also provides a variety of servioesstindependent dealers including service anihless management
training programs, customized dealer software pgegkand delivery of its motorcycles.
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Motorcycle rental and tour programs and Riders Edgbe Company’s rider training program, are avdddbrough the Company’s
independent dealers.

In 2008, the Company opened the Harley-DavidsoneMuosin Milwaukee, Wisconsin. The Museum is a unigggerience that the
Company believes builds and strengthens bonds katwaers and the Company and enhances the braoiigatime public at large. The
130,000 square foot facility houses the Harley-Osoh Museum and Archives, a restaurant, café] sttae and special event space. The
Museum gives the Company a new way to create meséoi customers — through visiting, planning rided hosting special events at the
Museum.

International Sales- The Company’s revenue from the sale of motoreyatel related products to independent dealersiatribdtors
located outside of the United States was approxiin&l.75 billion, $1.52 billion and $1.18 billioor approximately 31%, 27% and 20% of
revenue of the Motorcycles segment, during 200872dhd 2006, respectively.

Patents and TrademarksThe Company strategically manages its portfdlipadents, trade secrets, copyrights, trademaréogrer
intellectual property.

The Company and its subsidiaries own, and contiowdbtain, patent rights that relate to its mototey and related products and
processes for their production. Certain technolagjgted intellectual property is also protectedemhappropriate, by license agreements,
confidentiality agreements or other agreements stibpliers, employees and other third parties. Company diligently protects its intellecti
property, including patents and trade secrets,tamnéyhts to innovative and proprietary technolo@iis protection, including enforcement, is
important as the Company moves forward with investts in new products, designs and technologieslete Company believes patents are
important to its business operations and in theexgge constitute a valuable asset, the succehs blsiness is not dependent on any one
patent or group of patents. A patent review coneaitif HDMC and Buell, which is comprised of a numdiiekey executives, manages the
patent strategy and portfolio of these two subsielsa

Trademarks are important to the Company’s motoechaisiness and licensing activities. The Compasyahégorous worldwide
program of trademark registration and enforcememaintain and strengthen the value of the tradksnand prevent the unauthorized use of
those trademarks. The HARLEY-DAVIDSON trademark #émel Bar and Shield trademark are each highly neicagle to the public and are
very valuable assets. The BUELL trademark is wathkn in performance motorcycle circles, as is thsaiated Pegasus logo. The Company
also owns the trademark portfolio of MV which ingas the MV AGUSTA and CAGIVA trademarks. Additiolyathe Company uses
numerous other trademarks, trade names and logioh @&te registered worldwide. The following are agohe Company’s trademarks:
HARLEY-DAVIDSON, H-D, HARLEY, the Bar & Shield LogoMOTORCLOTHES, the MotorClothes Logo, RIDER’S EDGEARLEY
OWNERS GROUP, H.O.G., the H.O.G. Logo, SOFTAIL, $FSTER, V-ROD, BUELL and the Pegasus Logo. The HERIDAVIDSON
trademark has been used since 1903 and the B&Bldeldl trademark since at least 1910. The BUELHdraark has been used since 1984.
With the exception of the MV Agusta trademarks,stahbtially all of the Company’s trademarks are odvbg H-D Michigan, LLC, a subsidial
of the Company, which also manages the Compargtetnark strategy and portfolio. The MV Agusta tradeks are presently owned by MV
Agusta Motor S.p.A.

Marketing— The Company’s products are marketed to retatbooosrs primarily through promotions, customer esemtd advertising
through national television, print, radio and direwilings, as well as electronic advertising. Amtdtially, regional marketing efforts are
accomplished through a cooperative program witmidlependent dealers. The Company also sponsargractivities and special promotional
events and participates in many major motorcyclesuamer shows and rallies.

On an ongoing basis, the Company promotes its i#&revidson products and the related lifestyle tigtotl.O.G., which has
approximately 1.1 million members worldwide and @@mpany believes is the industry’s largest compspgnsored motorcycle enthusiast
organization. The Company formed H.O.G. in 1988nreffort to encourage Harley-Davidson owners tohee more actively involved in the
sport of motorcycling. This group also sponsors ynaotorcycle events, including rallies and ridesHarley-Davidson motorcycle enthusia:
throughout the world.
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In 2000, Rider’'s Edge — the Harley-Davidson Acadehilotorcycling was formed. Rider's Edge offersexies of rider education
experiences that provide both new and experiendedsrwith deeper engagement in the sport of mgttirgy by teaching basic and advanced
motorcycling skills and knowledge in a way thatus and involving. The courses are conducted bgtevork of select Harley-Davidson
dealerships nationwide enabling students to expegi¢he Harley-Davidson lifestyle, environment, plepand products as they learn.

The Company website (www.harley-davidson.com)$e altilized to market its products and service® Website features an online
catalog which allows retail customers to create glmate product wish lists, utilize a dealer locatod place catalog orders. Internet orders are
sold and fulfilled by the participating authorizeldrley-Davidson dealer selected by the retail custo Dealers also handle any after-sale
services that retail customers may require.

The average U.S. retail purchaser of a new Harlayid®on motorcycle is a married male in his mithte forties (nearly two-thirds of
U.S. retail purchasers of new Harley-Davidson nmtoles are between the ages of 35 and 54) withdiaménousehold income of
approximately $87,000. Nearly three-quarters oful®. retail sales of new Harley-Davidson motoregchre to buyers with at least one year of
education beyond high school and 32% of the bulyave college/graduate degrees. Approximately 12%.8f retail motorcycle sales of new
Harley-Davidson motorcycles are to female buye3sugce: 2008 Company studies)

Harley-Davidson and Buell Distribution The Company’s independent dealerships stock elhthe Company’s motorcycles, P&A,
general merchandise and licensed products, andrpedervice for the Company’s motorcycles. The Canys independent dealers also sell a
smaller portion of P&A, general merchandise andriged products through “non-traditional” retaillets. The “non-traditional” outlets, which
are extensions of the main dealership, consiseobfdary Retail Locations (SRLs), Alternate Refaitlets (AROs), and Seasonal Retalil
Outlets (SROs). SRLs are satellites of the maitedsiaip and are developed to meet additional ratal service needs of the Company’s riding
customers. SRLs also provide P&A, general merclsanaind licensed products and are authorized tasglservice new motorcycles. AROs
are located primarily in high traffic locations suas malls, airports or popular vacation destimatiand focus on selling the Company’s general
merchandise and licensed products. SROs are lozagiahilar high traffic areas, but operate on assmal basis out of temporary locations
such as vendor kiosks. AROs and SROs are not azgaio sell new motorcycles.

The North American region consists of the Uniteat& and Canada. In the United States, the Congbatmiputes its motorcycles and
related products to a network of independently-aviudl-service Harley-Davidson dealerships and@werseas Military Sales Corporation, an
entity that retails the Company’s products to mersloé the U.S. military. The Company distributesritotorcycles to its dealers in the U.S.
based on dealer orders but subject to an allocatistem that was designed to be forward-lookingraadket-driven in order to align the
distribution of motorcycles with the demand in widual dealer markets. In Canada, the Company sgllmotorcycles and related products at
wholesale to a single independent distributor, Bgélarley-Davidson Canada/Fred Deeley Imports With in turn sells to independent
dealers in the Canadian market.

In the European region (consisting of Europe, thedié East and Africa), the Company distributegadiducts sold to independent
dealers or distributors through its subsidiary tedain Oxford, England, or through one of its sai#&es in the United Kingdom, France,
Germany, Italy, Netherlands, Spain, Switzerlan&outh Africa.

In the Asia Pacific region, the Company distribuaéproducts sold to independent dealers in JapanAustralia through Company-
owned subsidiaries in those countries, and the @omgistributes all products sold to independeatets for the remaining Asia Pacific
markets in which its motorcycles are sold fromUtS. operations.

The Company distributes all products sold in therLAmerica region to independent dealers in Mexod Brazil through
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Company-owned subsidiaries in those countries i@ ompany distributes all products sold to indeleat dealers for the remaining Latin
American markets in which its motorcycles are gobth its U.S. operations.

The following table includes the number of worldeidarley-Davidson and Buell independent dealersdistdbutors by geographic
region:

North America Region Europe Asia Pacific Latin America
United States Canada Region Region Region

Independent Distributol — 1 5 — 1

Full Service Dealership:
HD only 38C 25 56 111 15
Buell only — — 4 5 1
HD and Buell 30€ 46 323 85 16
68€ 71 382 201 32

Non-traditional:

SRL 101 3 2 4 14
ARO 77 3 9 6 9
SRO 12 — — — 1
19C 6 11 10 24

The vast majority of the Company’s independenteships sell Harley-Davidson and Buell motorcy@gslusively.

MV Distribution— MV distributes its motorcycles and P&A to indegent dealers primarily through subsidiaries locate@ermany,
Switzerland and the U.S. In Italy and France, M¥tributes its products to independent dealers tjrddV's network of approximately 500
independent dealers is primarily located in Eunafil approximately 40 independent dealers in th®.All independent dealers generally sell
competitor brands.

Seasonality- The timing of retail sales made by the Compamdependent dealers tracks closely with regiomhg seasons. The
seasonality of wholesale shipments made by the @agnjs different depending on the geographic market

In the U.S. and Canadian markets, the Companyriergly able to maintain relatively level wholesalgépments throughout the year.
Company’s independent dealers in these marketsalypibuild their inventory levels in the late falhd winter in anticipation of the spring and
summer selling seasons. The availability of flolampfinancing and financing assistance through HRHF@&vs dealers to manage these seasona
increases in inventory. In the U.S., seasonal fimgnassistance is subsidized by the Company,ra@&nada, seasonal financing assistance is
sponsored by the region’s single independent Higior, Deeley Harley-Davidson Canada/Fred Deelgyohts Ltd.

In the majority of the remaining international metk the Company’s wholesale shipments track mlosely with regional riding
seasons. In general, the Company’s independergrdeaid distributors in these international marlletsot build inventory levels in the non-
riding seasons, and as a result, the Company’seshtd shipments to these markets are generally loviiee non-riding seasons than in the
riding seasons.

The seasonality of the Company’s wholesale shipsaiffiects its ability to produce on a level scal®tighout the year. The Company is
generally able to maintain level finished goodseimweries and production for its U.S. and Canadiarkets. However, the Company generally
carries higher finished goods inventory levels migimon-riding seasons outside of the U.S. and Gaimadrder to mitigate the effect of a more
seasonal wholesale shipment pattern on production.

Retail Customer and Dealer FinancirgThe Company believes that HDFS, as well as dthancial services companies, provide
adequate financing to Harley-Davidson and Buelépehdent distributors, dealers and their retailccusrs. HDFS provides
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financing to the Company’s Canadian distributorrlelaDavidson and Buell independent dealers arttiéaetail customers of those dealers in
the U.S. and Canada. The Company’s independenibdistrs, dealers and their retail customers inBbeope, Asia/Pacific and Latin America
regions are not serviced by HDFS, but have acceisancing though other established financial & companies.

Motorcycle Manufacturing The Company’s ongoing manufacturing strategyesighed to continuously improve product quality,
increase productivity, reduce costs and increasebility to respond to changes in the marketplad¢ee Company incorporates manufacturing
techniques focused on continuously pursuing proicegeovements and innovation. The Company refethése techniques as operational
excellence, and they include employee and supiph@ivement, just-in-time inventory and lean maratif&ing principles, partnering
agreements with the local and international unibigh performance work organizations and statispcacess control.

The Company'’s use of lean manufacturing principlé&sws it to minimize its inventories of raw matds and work in process, and
minimize scrap and rework costs. This system dlsava quicker reaction to engineering design changeality improvements and market
demands. The Company continues to train its matwiag employees in problem solving and statistinathods.

Raw Material and Purchased Componenffhe Company continues to establish and reinflarog-term, mutually beneficial
relationships with its suppliers. Through thesdatmirative relationships, the Company gains actetechnical and commercial resources for
application directly to product design, developmemd manufacturing initiatives. This strategy hasayated improved product quality,
technical integrity, application of new featuresl@amovations and faster manufacturing ramp-upes¥ mehicle introductions. The Company’s
continuing initiative to improve supplier produdtivhas been instrumental in delivering improvemiartost and in partially offsetting rising
raw material commodity prices. The Company antigipahat its focus on collaboration and strong Bappelationships will continue to help
the Company achieve strategic objectives and detiost improvement over the long-term.

The Company purchases all of its raw materialsigially steel and aluminum castings, forgingselssbeets and bars, and certain
motorcycle components, including electronic fugbation systems, batteries, tires, seats, elettaaponents and instruments. Given the
current economic conditions, and pressure on cesigppliers due to difficulties in the automotineustry and U.S. manufacturing sector in
general, the Company is closely monitoring the alvetiability of its supply base. However, at thime, the Company does not anticipate any
difficulties in obtaining raw materials or compot®n

Research and DevelopmenThe Company believes research and developmestgriéicant factors in its ability to lead the ¢ois and
touring motorcycling market and to develop proddotshe performance segment. The Company’s Hablayidson Product Development
Center (PDC) brings employees from styling, purgigaand manufacturing together with regulatory pssionals and supplier representatives
to create a concurrent product and process developraam. Buell and MV also have dedicated prodaeelopment and design capabilities
within their facilities. The Company incurred resgreand development expenses of $163.5 million5&.&illion and $177.7 million during
2008, 2007 and 2006, respectively.

Regulation- International, federal, state and local authesitiave various environmental control requiremegitging to air, water and
noise pollution that affect the business and opmratof the Company. The Company strives to enthatits facilities and products comply
with all applicable environmental regulations atehslards.

The Company’s motorcycles that are sold in the éthBtates are subject to certification by the BrSzironmental Protection Agency
(EPA) for compliance with applicable emissions aonise standards and by the State of CaliforniaR&isources Board (CARB) with respec
CARB’s more stringent emissions standards. Compaatprcycles sold in California are also subjeattaporative emissions standards that
are unique to California. The Company’s motorcyarleducts have been certified to comply fully withsaich applicable standards. The EPA
has finalized new tail pipe emission standard2@%6 and 2010, respectively, which are harmonizigd thre California emissions standards.
Harley-Davidson motorcycle products have beenfeedtio the new
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EPA standards since 2006 and the Company beliewel comply with future requirements when they igto effect. Additionally, the
Company’s motorcycle products must and do in factgly with the motorcycle emissions, noise andtgastandards of the European Union,
Japan and certain other foreign markets wheredhegold. Because the Company expects that envéotainstandards will become even m
stringent over time, the Company will continueriour some level of research, development and ptmaucosts in this area for the foresee:
future.

The Company, as a manufacturer of motorcycle prsdigsubject to the U.S. National Traffic and bfovehicle Safety Act, which is
administered by the U.S. National Highway Traffaf&@y Administration (NHTSA). The Company has dexti to NHTSA that its motorcycle
products comply fully with all applicable federabtor vehicle safety standards and related regulatibhe Company has from time to time
initiated certain voluntary recalls. During thetldwree years, Harley-Davidson and Buell haveateti 13 voluntary recalls at a total cost of
$9.4 million. The Company reserves for all estirdatests associated with recalls in the periodttiatrecalls are announced.

Employees- As of December 31, 2008, the Motorcycles segrhadtapproximately 9,300 employees. Unionized engadeyat the
motorcycle manufacturing facilities in Wauwatosa &dtenomonee Falls, Wisconsin and Kansas City, Migsare represented by the United
Steelworkers of America (USW), as well as the Imiional Association of Machinist and Aerospace kéos (IAM). Unionized employees at
the distribution and manufacturing facilities iraRklin and Tomahawk, Wisconsin are representedh&yJtSW. Production workers at the
motorcycle manufacturing facility in York, Pennsghia are represented by the IAM. The collectivegharing agreement with the
Pennsylvania-IAM will expire on February 2, 201 ttollective bargaining agreement with the KarGiasUSW and I1AM will expire on
July 29, 2012, and the collective bargaining agesgmwith the Wisconsin-USW and IAM will expire onavth 31, 2012. On January 23, 2009,
the Company announced a restructuring plan thaimgact the number of employees. Please refdrgdtverview section of Item 7,
“Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Finan€ahdition and Results of Operations” for furthesatission.

Internet Access The Company'’s internet website address is wwielatavidson.com. The Company makes availabledfedarge
(other than an investor’s own internet access @wrthrough its internet website the Company’s AhiReport on Form 10-K, quarterly
reports on Form 10-Q and current reports on Foi) 8d amendments to those reports, as soon ameday practicable after it electronica
files such material with, or furnishes such matagathe United States Securities and Exchanger@igsion. In addition, the Company makes
available, through its website, the following comgte governance materials: (a) the Company’s Catpdsovernance Policy; (b) Committee
Charters approved by the Companigoard of Directors for the Audit Committee, HunR@sources Committee and Nominating and Corp
Governance Committee; (c) the Company’s Financ@aleCof Ethics; (d) the Company’s Code of Businessdiict (the Code of Conduct) in
eight languages including English; (e) the Conftittnterest Process for Directors, Executive Gfficand other employees of Harley-
Davidson, Inc. (the Conflict Process); (f) a listlee Company’s Board of Directors; (g) the Compamy-laws; (h) the Harley-Davidson
Environmental Policy; (i) the Company’s Policy tdanaging Disclosure of Material Information; anjitfje Company’s Supplier Code of
Conduct. This information is also available frore tiompany upon request. The Company satisfiesisiodure requirements under the Code
of Conduct, the Conflict Process and applicable Nank Stock Exchange listing requirements regardigvers of the Code of Conduct or
Conflict Process by disclosing the informationtie Company’s proxy statement for its annual meeatinghareholders or on the Company’s
website. The Company is not including the informattontained on or available through its websita part of, or incorporating such
information by reference into, this Annual Repantfeorm 10-K.

Financial Services

HDFS is engaged in the business of financing andcieg wholesale inventory receivables and rataitsumer loans, primarily for the
purchase of Harley-Davidson and Buell motorcydiSFS is an agent for certain unaffiliated insuraoagiers providing property/casualty
insurance and also sells extended service contigagiscoverage and debt protection products to royptte owners. HDFS conducts business
principally in the United States and Canada.

Harley-Davidson and Bue# Operating under the trade name Harley-Davids@di€rHDFS provides wholesale financial
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services to Harley-Davidson and Buell motorcycleldis and retail financing to consumers. Operaiimger the trade name Harley-Davidson
Insurance, HDFS is an agent for the sale of motdecysurance policies. HDFS also sells extended®econtracts, gap coverage and debt
protection products.

Wholesale financial services include floorplan apeén account financing of motorcycles and motoeeyerts and accessories. HDFS
offers wholesale financial services to Harley-Dawid and Buell motorcycle dealers in the Unitedeltaind Canada, and during 2008
approximately 95% of such dealers utilized thoseises. The wholesale finance operations of HDrSl@zated in Plano, Texas. Until
January 1, 2008, HDFS conducted wholesale opemtio®xford, England. Effective January 1, 2008, fihance receivables and related as
of the wholesale operations located in Oxford, Bndlwere transferred at book value to Harley-Daridsurope Ltd., a subsidiary of HDMC.
Beginning in 2008, HDMC assumed responsibilitytfe collection of all wholesale receivables in Ehgo

Retail motorcycle financial services include insteant lending for the purchase of new and useddyablavidson and Buell motorcycles.
HDFS' retail financial services are available thyghumost Harley-Davidson and Buell motorcycle desalerthe United States and Canada.
HDFS' retail finance operations are principallydéed in Carson City, Nevada, Plano, Texas andiRpNMeadows, lllinois.

Motorcycle insurance, extended service contraets,apverage and debt protection products that Haffe®s are available through most
Harley-Davidson and Buell motorcycle dealers inlthéted States and Canada. Motorcycle insurandeHb&S offers is also marketed on a
direct basis to motorcycle riders. HDFS insurangerations are principally located in Carson Citgyvida and Plano, Texas.

Funding— HDFS is financed by operating cash flow, unsetuaiebt, unsecured commercial paper, an asset-backechercial paper
conduit facility, a committed unsecured bank créafiflity, term assebacked securitizations and the availability of athes and loans from t|
Company. In term asset-backed securitizations, HEEHS retail motorcycle loans and records a gaioss on the sale of those loans. HDFS
also retains an interest in the excess cash floavs the receivable and recognizes income on thésned interest. After the sale, HDFS
performs billing, customer service and portfoliomagement services for these loans and receivaviaisg fee for providing these services.

Competition— The Company regards its ability to offer a paekafwholesale and retail financial services agaificant competitive
advantage for HDFS. Competitors compete for busibased largely on price and, to a lesser extentice. HDFS competes based on
convenience, service, brand association, dealatioek, industry experience, terms and price.

In the United States, HDFS financed 53.5% of the Rkarley-Davidson motorcycles retailed by indepemnakealers during 2008, as
compared to 54.7% in 2007. In Canada, HDFS finai3&e6% of the new Harley-Davidson motorcycles tethby independent dealers during
2008, as compared to 28.8% in 2007. Competitorsefiail motorcycle finance business are primardyks, credit unions and other financial
institutions. In the motorcycle insurance businessppetition primarily comes from national insurarmompanies and from insurance agencies
serving local or regional markets. For insurandateel products such as extended service conttdBXSS faces competition from certain
regional and national industry participants as weltlealer in-house programs.

Competition for the wholesale motorcycle financsibass primarily consists of banks and other firenostitutions providing wholesale
financing to Harley-Davidson and Buell motorcyckaters in their local markets.

Trademarks- HDFS uses various trademarks and trade naméts farancial services and products which are lgshfrom H-D
Michigan, LLC, including HARLEY-DAVIDSON, H-D andie Bar & Shield logo.

Seasonality- In the northern United States and Canada, mattasyare primarily used during warmer months. Adealy, HDFS
experiences seasonal variations. From mid-Mardbutiin August, retail financing volume increases whdlesale financing volume decreases
as dealer inventories decline. From September ¢irouid-March, there is a decrease in retail finagaiolume while dealer inventories build
and turn over more slowly, substantially increasirigplesale finance receivables.
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Regulation- The operations of HDFS (both U.S. and foreige)sarbject, in certain instances, to supervisionragdlation by state and
federal administrative agencies and various forgigvernmental authorities. Many of the statutorgt eggulatory requirements imposed by
such entities are in place to provide consumeregtimn as it pertains to the selling of financiedgucts and services. Therefore, operations
be subject to various regulations, laws and jutiana/or administrative decisions imposing requieets and restrictions, which among other
things: (1) regulate credit granting activities;lirding establishing licensing requirements, inlagaple jurisdictions; (2) establish maximum
interest rates, finance charges and other chafgesegulate customers’ insurance coverage; (4)ireglisclosure of credit and insurance terms
to customers; (5) govern secured transactionsebgollection, foreclosure, repossession and sldamdling procedures and other trade
practices; (7) prohibit discrimination in the ex¢em of credit and administration of loans; (8)ukedge the use and reporting of information
related to a borrower; (9) require certain periagejgorting; (10) govern the use and protectionaf-public personal information; and/or (11)
regulate insurance solicitation and sales practices

Depending on the provisions of the applicable lawd regulations and the specific facts and circantss involved, violations of these
laws may limit the ability of HDFS to collect alf part of the principal or interest on applicaldarns, may entitle the borrower to rescind the
loan or to obtain a refund of amounts previouslig@end, in addition, could subject HDFS to the paptrof damages or penalties and
administrative sanctions, including “cease andsfésrders.

Such regulatory requirements and associated sg@maéould limit the discretion of HDFS in operafiits business. Noncompliance w
applicable statutes or regulations could resuthésuspension or revocation of any charter, lieemgegistration at issue, as well as the
imposition of civil fines, criminal penalties andrainistrative sanctions. The Company cannot aghatethe applicable laws or regulations \
not be amended or construed differently, that reemsland regulations will not be adopted or thadriggt rates charged by HDFS will not risi
maximum levels permitted by law, the effect of afiyhich could be to adversely affect the busirddDFS or its results of operations.

A subsidiary of HDFS, Eaglemark Savings Bank (ES8% Nevada state thrift chartered as an Indlidgtaian Company (ILC). As such,
the activities of this subsidiary are governed égefral regulations and State of Nevada banking &ésare subject to examination by the
Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation (FDIC) andada state bank examiners. ESB originates retaild@and sells the loans to a rmamking
subsidiary of HDFS. This process allows HDFS t@ofttail products with many common characterisdio®ss the United States and to
similarly service loans to U.S. retail customers.

Employees- As of December 31, 2008, the Financial Servieggrent had approximately 800 employees.

Item 1A. Risk Factors

An investment in Harley-Davidson, Inc. involveskssincluding those discussed below. These ristofacshould be considered carefully
before deciding whether to invest in the Company.

» The Company must effectively execute the Compa’s restructuring plans within expected costsin January 2009, the
Company announced a combination of restructuritigras that are designed to reduce excess capagitypon-core business
operations and lower the Company’s cost structgffectively executing these plans within expectedts and realizing expected
benefits will depend upon a number of factors,tdeig the time required to complete planned actieffsctive collaboration and
agreement with the Company’s union partners, tiserde of material issues associated with workfeedactions, availability of
and effective use of third party service providerassist in implementing the actions, avoidancenaixpected disruptions in
production, retention of key employees involvedhiplementing the restructuring plans and the abditthe Company to sell or
lease vacated facilitie
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« The Company sells its products at wholesale and musely on a network of independent dealers and disibutors to manage
the retail distribution of its products. The Company depends on the capability of its inddpat dealers and distributors to
develop and implement effective retail sales ptangeate demand among retail purchasers for theroyeles and related products
and services that the dealers and distributorshase from the Company. If the Company’s independealers and distributors are
not successful in these endeavors, then the Compidirtye unable to maintain or grow its revenued ameet its financial
expectations. Further, independent dealers andhdigirs may experience difficulty in funding theliay-today cash flow needs al
paying their obligations because of weakened retdds and tightening crec

» The Company's dealers may experience a further decline in retbsales resulting from general economic condition:
tightening of credit, political events or other fa¢ors. The motorcycle industry has been affected by géeemomic conditions
over which motorcycle manufacturers have littletcoln These factors have caused a weaker retait@mment leading to weaker
demand for discretionary purchases and the dedisiparchase a motorcycle has been and may continoe affected by these
factors. The related tightening of credit has edbre limited availability of funds from financigdstitutions and other lenders and
sources of capital which could adversely affectahgity of retail consumers to obtain loans foe fhurchase of motorcycles from
lenders, including HDFS. Should general economiwd®mns or motorcycle industry demand continuééaline, our results of
operations and financial condition may be furthdysantially adversely affected. The motorcycleustdy can also be affected by
political conditions and other factors over whicbtorcycle manufacturers have little conti

* The Company and its independent dealers must balasdhe economies of level production with a more seanal retail sales
pattern. The Company generally records the sale of a mottgayhen it is shipped to the Company’s independeaters and
distributors. In the past few years, increasedlabity of Harley-Davidson motorcycles has resdlte the timing of retail
purchases tracking more closely with regional mmtdle riding seasons. The seasonality of the Coipavholesale shipments
affects its ability to continue to maintain relay level production, inventories and shipmentstighout the year. As a result, the
Company and its independent dealers and distribubarst balance the economies of level productidh thie inventory and other
costs associated with a more seasonal retail patésrn. Failure to balance the two, or any failirthe Company to adequately
adjust its methods of distributing motorcycles amaa independent dealers and distributors, may lzamaterial adverse effect on
the Compan’s business and results of operatic

* The Company relies on third party suppliers to obtan raw materials and provide component parts for ug in the
manufacture of its motorcycles.The Company cannot be certain that it will not eig®e supply problems such as unfavorable
pricing or untimely delivery of raw materials anghtponents. In certain circumstances, the Compdimsren a single supplier to
provide the entire requirement of a specific pant a change in this established supply relatipnstay cause disruption in the
Company'’s production schedule. In addition, theggend availability of raw materials and comporgarts from suppliers can be
adversely affected by factors outside of the Comgacontrol such as the supply of a necessary raterial. Further, Company
suppliers may experience difficulty due to finahamarket disruption in funding their day-to-day bdkbw needs because of
tightening credit, and those suppliers who alsgeséite automotive industry may be experiencingrfaia difficulties due to a
downturn in that industry, which could adverselfeaf their ability to supply the Company. Theseigp risks may have a mater
adverse effect on the Compi s business and results of operatic

* Recent and any future government actions to stabile credit markets and financial institutions or otter industries may not be
effective.The U.S. Government recently enacted legislatiahagated several programs to help stabilize credikets and
financial institutions and restore liquidity, inding the Emergency Economic Stabilization Act 0020the Federal Reserve’s
Commercial Paper Funding Facility (CPFF) and Mokkyket Investor Funding Facility ar
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the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporé’'s (FDIC) Temporary Liquidity Guarantee Program. Aiddally, the governments «
many countries have announced similar measuraagttutions in their respective countries. Furthregasures may be forthcoming
in light of the new administration in the U.S. Taés no assurance that these programs individoaltpllectively will have
beneficial effects in the credit markets or on gaheconomic conditions, will address credit ouldjty issues of companies that
participate in the programs or will reduce vol#ilor uncertainty in the financial markets. Thduee of these programs to have tl
intended effects could have a material adversetefie the financial markets and economies in génetach in turn could
materially and adversely affect our business, fofgrcondition and results of operations. Theral$® no assurance that the
Company will be eligible or qualify to participateany of these programs or that the programsdirdictly benefit the Company in
any other way. To the extent that the Company gipeties in these programs or other programs, ihere assurance that the
Company will continue to be eligible or qualify participate or that such programs will remain eaal# for sufficient periods of
time or on acceptable terms to benefit the Compang,the expiration of such programs could havatanded adverse effects on
the Company. Further, as a condition to particigain any such program, the Company may need tepaterms and limitations
that could adversely affect the Company in otheysn

» The Company's financial services operations rely on external seoces to finance a significant portion of its opertions and
may require additional funding to repay amounts tha may become due in 2009 and beyondiquidity is essential to the
Company'’s financial services business. The disomgtin the financial markets have caused many fsrated institutional investors
to reduce, and in some cases, cease to loan moieyrowers including financial institutions. Thismiption has affected and col
continue to affect the Company’s choice of finagcéources and its ability to raise capital on fabde terms or at all. For example,
recent volatile conditions in the unsecured comimépaper and asset-backed securitization marlkats made capital raising in
those markets challenging. In addition, during 2a08 Compans financial services operations funded a greaterep¢age of the
business through debt rather than the -backed securitization market as compared to 2

The Company has identified three preferred opttorsupport the funding requirements of its finahs&vices operations and is
pursuing those options. The Company will also seekxtend the credit facilities under which amouwntaild otherwise become d
in 2009. However, there is no assurance that tieetefto pursue those options or other alternatore® extend the facilities will be
successful.

If current levels of market disruption and voldgilcontinue or worsen, the Company might seek tetraeme liquidity needs by
drawing under its existing credit facilities. Hovegyunder such extreme market conditions, therédbeamo assurance that funds\
be available under such agreements or that avaifabts will be sufficient.

The Company’s financial services operations magdwmatively affected by the increased difficultyraising funding in the long-
term and short-term debt capital markets or thétggapital markets. These negative consequencgdnrtarn adversely affect the
Company’s business and results of operations ilmwamways, including through higher costs of cdpiteduced funds available
through its financial services operations to previoans to independent dealers and their retaibmeys, and dilution to existing
shareholders through the use of alternative sowrfceapital.

» The Company's financial services operations are highly dependéon accessing capital markets to fund their oper@bns at
competitive interest rates, the Company’s access tapital and its cost of capital are highly depends upon its credit ratings,
and any negative credit rating actions will adversly affect its earnings and results of operationsThe ability of the Company
and its financial services operations to acceseaured capital markets is influenced by their skemn and longerm credit rating:
If the Compan’s credit ratings are downgraded or its rati
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outlook is negatively changed, the Com[’s cost of borrowing will increase, resulting in uedd earnings and interest margins
the Company’s access to capital may be disruptéthmaired. In the event of a downgrade in the Camgfsashort-term rating, the
Company’s financial services operations would maykr be eligible to participate in the Federal Rese Commercial Paper
Funding Facility.

* The Company's financial services operations are exposed to criedisk on its retail and wholesale receivablesCredit risk is
the risk of loss arising from a failure by a cus&srto meet the terms of any contract with the Camgfsafinancial services
operations. Credit losses are influenced by gerersihess and economic conditions, as well as acinterms, customer credit
profiles and the new and used motorcycle markethEunegative changes in general business, ecenmmmarket factors may
have an additional adverse impact on the Compdmgscial services operations’ credit losses andriearnings. In addition,
credit exposure is significantly sensitive to amglthe in new and used motorcycle prices. The rememket turmoil has resulted in
the tightening of credit, a lack of consumer coefide, unemployment and increased market volatdityof which has led to an
increased level of commercial and consumer delingies. The Company had higher retail receivabléstanding during 2008 as
compared to 2007, due to a reduction in asset-lobsfeuritization activity in 2008, and therefortaneed increased credit risk from
retail receivables

» The Company has a number of competitors of varyingizes that are based both inside and outside the lted States some o
which have greater financial resources than the Copany. Many of the Company’s competitors are more divegdithan the
Company, and they may compete in the automotivé&etar all segments of the motorcycle market. Athe, Company’s
manufacturer’s suggested retail price for its mofoles is generally higher than its competitorsl #mprice becomes a more
important competitive factor for consumers in tleavyweight motorcycle market, the Company may teeampetitive
disadvantage. In addition, the Company’s finansélices operations face competition from varioarskis, insurance companies
and other financial institutions that may have asde additional sources of capital at more cortipetiates and terms. Failure to
adequately address and respond to these compgtittgsures worldwide may have a material advefsetain the Company’s
business and results of operatic

» The Company s marketing strategy of associating its motorcyclproducts with a motorcycling lifestyle may not be sccessful
with future customers. The Company has been successful in marketingdtdygts in large part by promoting the experience of
motorcycling. This lifestyle is now more typicathgsociated with a retail customer base compriséwofiduals who are, on
average, in their mid-forties. To sustain Iaegm growth, the Company must continue to be ssfoks promoting motorcycling
customers new to the sport of motorcycling inclgdivomen, younger riders and more ethnically diveicers.

» The Company's success depends upon the continued strength oétHarley-Davidson brand. The Company believes that the
Harley-Davidson brand has significantly contributedhe success of its business and that maintpeni enhancing the brand is
critical to expanding its customer base. Failurpritect the brand from infringers or to grow tlaue of the Harley-Davidson
brand may have a material adverse effect on thep@ay's business and results of operatic

» The Company's ability to remain competitive is dependent upont$ capability to develop and successfully introduceew,
innovative and compliant products.The motorcycle market continues to advance in texficsitting edge styling and new
technology and, at the same time, be subject t@asing regulations related to safety and emissibims Company must continue
distinguish its products from its competitors’ puats with unique styling and new technologies angrbtect its intellectual
property from imitators. In addition, these newgwots must comply with applicable regulations wailte. The Company must
make product advancements while maintaining thesatdook, sound and feel associated with Harleyi¥on products. The
Company must also be able to design and manufaittese products and deliver them to the marketptaae efficient and timely
manner. There can be no assurances that the Comjlabg successful in these endeavors or thatiegisnd prospective
customers will like or want the Compé's new products
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» The Company's Motorcycles segment is dependent upon unionizeablor . Substantially all of the hourly employees working
the Motorcycles segment are represented by unioth€@vered by collective bargaining agreementsleyeadavidson Motor
Company is currently a party to five collective gi@ining agreements with local affiliates of theehmational Association of
Machinists and Aerospace Workers and the UnitedlBtekers of America that expire during Februant@QJuly 2012 and
March 31, 2012. These collective bargaining agredsngenerally cover wages, healthcare benefitgetim@ment plans, seniority,
job classes and work rules. There is no certahwy the Company will be successful in negotiatieg mgreements with the
unions that extend beyond the current expiratideslar that these new agreements will be on teenfiavarable to the Company as
past labor agreements. Failure to renew these ragr@s when they expire or to establish new colledbiargaining agreements on
terms acceptable to the Company and the unionsl eesllt in work stoppages or other labor disrugtiwhich may have a material
adverse effect on customer relationships and thmep2oy' s business and results of operatic

* The Company's operations are dependent upon attracting and retaing skilled employees, including executive offigs. The
Company'’s future success depends on its continuirapility to identify, hire, develop, motivate and reain skilled personnel
for all areas of its organization.The Company’s current and future total compensaioangements, which include benefits and
cash bonuses, may not be successful in attracéingemployees and retaining and motivating the Cawygaexisting employees. If
the Company does not succeed in attracting personmetaining and motivating existing personnetliiding executive officers,
the Company may be unable to develop and distriprdducts and services and effectively executpl@ss and strategie

» The Company incurs substantial costs with respecbtemployee pension and healthcare benefiiThe Compan’s cash fundiny
requirements and its estimates of liabilities axyple@ses for pensions and post-retirement healthearefits are based on several
factors that are outside the Compangontrol. These factors include funding requiretsefithe Pension Protection Act of 2006,
rate used to discount the future estimated lighithe rate of return on plan assets medical costisement age and mortality.
Changes in these factors can impact the expenseasidrequirements associated with these bendfithveould have a material
adverse effect on future results of operationsiidity or shareholders’ equity. In addition, coassociated with these defined-
benefit retirement plans put the Company underifégimt cost pressure as compared to our compstiue to significant declines
in worldwide financial market conditions during H@he funded status of the Company’s pension astrgtirement healthcare
plans was adversely affected. The Company is expgittwill have to make additional contributionsapproximately $40 million
to $80 million to further fund its pension and pestement healthcare plans during 2009 beyondutheunt of current benefit
payments for supplemental employee retirement adsagreements and postretirement healthcare. pléstsduring 2009, the
Company expects to continue its practice of fundiregsupplemental plans and agreements and postnetit healthcare plans in
amounts equal to benefits paid during the yearfilfore years, the Company currently anticipates siulditional contributions,
beyond the amount of expected benefit paymentspeiheeded to p-fund the pension and postretirement healthcaresg

« The Company manufactures products that create expose to product liability claims and litigation. To the extent plaintiffs al
successful in showing that personal injury or prgpdamage result from defects in the design orufeture of the Company’s
products, the Company may be subject to claimgldonages that are not covered by insurance. The assbciated with defending
product liability claims, including frivolous lawgs, and payment of damages could be substantigl.Company’s reputation may
also be adversely affected by such claims, whethaot successfu
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» The Company must maintain its reputation of being agood corporate citizen and treating customers, entpyees, suppliers
and other stakeholders fairly. The Company has a history of good corporate govwemaPrior to the enactment of the Sarbanes-
Oxley Act of 2002 (the “Act”), the Company had ilage many of the corporate governance procedumpr@tesses now
mandated by the Act and related rules and regulstisuch as Board Committee Charters and a Cogo@@ternance Policy. In
1992, the Company established a Code of Businesdu@td that defines how employees interact withougiCompany stakeholde
and addresses issues such as confidentiality,icboflinterest and fair dealing. Failure to maintthis reputation may have a
material adverse effect on the Comg’s business and results of operatic

* The Company must invest in and successfully impleménew information systems and technologyThe Company i
continually modifying and enhancing its systems geuthnology to increase productivity and efficiendyhen implemented, the
systems and technology may not provide the beregfiisipated and could add costs and complicatiommsgoing operations, whi
may have a material adverse effect on the Con’s business and results of operatic

» The Company is and may in the future become subjetd legal proceedings and commercial or contractualisputes.These
are typically claims that arise in the normal ceus$ business. The uncertainty associated withtanbal unresolved claims and
lawsuits may harm the Company’s business, finamgatlition, reputation and brand. The defense efdlsuits may result in the
expenditures of significant financial resources #radiversion of management’s time and attentisayafrom business operations.
In addition, although we are unable to determireamount, if any, that we may be required to pagoimection with the resolution
of the lawsuits by settlement or otherwise, anyhqueyment may have a material adverse effect o@tmepany’s business and
results of operations. Refer to the Company’s dsales concerning legal proceedings in the periegiorts that the Company files
with the Securities and Exchange Commission foitehél detail regarding lawsuits and other claimgginst the Compan

* The Company must comply with governmental laws andegulations that are subject to change and involvsignificant costs.
The Company'’s sales and operations in areas outsidde.S. may be subject to foreign laws, regutetiand the legal systems of
foreign courts or tribunals. These laws and pdigieverning operations of foreigrased companies may result in increased co:
restrictions on the ability of the Company to $slproducts in certain countries. The Companytsrimational sales operations may
also be adversely affected by United States lafestifig foreign trade and taxatic

The Company is subject to income and non-incomedeesxes in the United States and in various forgigsdictions. Significant
judgment is required in determining our worldwideame tax liabilities and other tax liabilities. ' @ompany believes that it
complies with applicable tax law. If the governitag authorities have a different interpretationtaf applicable law or if there is a
change in tax law, our financial condition andfsults of operations may be adversely affected.

The Company’s domestic sales and operations ajectub governmental policies and regulatory adtiohagencies of the United
States Government, including the Environmentaldatian Agency (“EPA”), SEC, National Highway TraffSafety
Administration, Department of Labor and Federalder€ommission. In addition, the Company’s salesapetations are also
subject to laws and actions of state legislatunesather local regulators, including dealer statw@ed licensing laws. Changes in
regulations or the imposition of additional regidas may have a material adverse effect on the @oxip business and results of
operations.

Our motorcycle products use internal combustioriressy These motorcycle products are subject tatstgtand
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regulatory requirements governing emissions angepancluding standards imposed by the EPA, stagelatory agencies, such as
California Air Resources Board, and regulatory agesin certain foreign countries where our mototeyroducts are sold. We are
also subject to statutory and regulatory requirdmgoverning emissions and noise in the conduouofmanufacturing operations.
Any significant change to the regulatory requiretsegoverning emissions and noise may substantiahgase the cost of
manufacturing our products. Further, in responsstwerns about global climate changes, we maydeeager regulatory or
customer pressure to develop products that genleissgeemissions. This may require us to spendiadditfunds on research,
product development, implementation costs and stbgto the risk that our competitors may resportthese pressures in a
manner that gives them a competitive advantage.

The Company’s financial services operations areegwed by various foreign, federal and state lawsiore specifically affect
general financial and lending institutions. The @amy’s financial services operations originatentagority of its consumer loans
through its subsidiary, Eaglemark Savings Bank.ngka in regulations or the imposition of additioregulations may affect the
earnings of the financial services operations amela material adverse effect on the Company’siessiand results of operations.

In addition, the Company is also subject to poti@ad actions of the New York Stock Exchange (“NY)SElany major
competitors of the Company are not subject to dloglirements of the SEC or the NYSE rules. As altiehie Company may be
required to disclose certain information that maythe Company at a competitive disadvantage foriteipal competitors.

» Breaches of security involving consume’ personal data may adversely affect the Compar’'s reputation, revenue anc
earnings.The Company receives and stores personal informaticonnection with its financial services opesat, the Harley
Owners Group and other aspects of its business.cBref the systems on which sensitive consumerrimdidon is stored or other
unauthorized release of consumer information magsely affect the Company’s reputation and leatldaons against the
Company.

» The Company is exposed to market risk from changes foreign exchange rates, commodity prices and irtest rates.The
Company sells its products internationally and wstrmarkets those sales are made in the foreigmtigosilocal currency. The
Company is also subject to risks associated wittngbs in prices of commodities. Earnings from tben@any’s financial services
business are affected by changes in interest ratesCompany uses derivative financial instrumémtsttempt to manage foreign
currency exchange rates, commodity price and isteege risks. Also, these transactions may expege credit risk in the event of
default of a counterparty to the derivative finahénstruments. There can be no assurance thhaeifuture the Company will
successfully manage these ris

The Company disclaims any obligation to updatedhisk Factors or any other forward-looking statetsieThe Company assumes no
obligation (and specifically disclaims any suchigdlion) to update these Risk Factors or any ditrevard-looking statements to reflect actual
results, changes in assumptions or other factéestafg such forward-looking statements.

Iltem 1B. Unresolved Staff Commen
None.
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ltem 2. Properties

The following is a summary of the principal opemgtproperties of the Company as of December 318:200

Type of Facility Location Square Feet Status
Corporate Office Milwaukee, WI 515,00( Owned

Warehous:t Milwaukee, WI 24,00( Lease expiring 200
Airplane hanga Milwaukee, WI 14,60( Owned
Manufacturing Wauwatosa, W 430,00( Owned

Product Development Cent Wauwatosa, W 409,00( Owned

Distribution Cente Franklin, WI 255,00( Owned
Manufacturing Menomonee Falls, \ 881,60( Owned

Product Development and Offii East Troy, WI 79,00( Lease expiring 201
Manufacturing East Troy, WI 40,000 Lease expiring 201
Manufacturing Tomahawk, WI 211,00 Owned

Office Ann Arbor, Ml 3,40(C Lease expiring 201
Office Cleveland, OF 23,00( Lease expiring 201

Manufacturing and Materials Velocity Cen

Warehous:t
Materials Velocity Cente

Motorcycles & Related Products Segment

Approximate

Kansas City, MC
Kansas City, MC
Manchester, P/

450,00(
10,00(
212,00(

Owned
Lease expiring 201
Owned

Manufacturing York, PA 1,321,000 Owned
Motorcycle Testing Talladega, AL 35,00( Lease expiring 200
Motorcycle Testing Naples, FL 82,00( Owned
Motorcycle Testing Mesa, AZ 29,00( Lease expiring 200

Office and Training Facilit
Manufacturing and Offici
Office

Office and Warehous

Monterrey, Mexicc
Manaus, Brazi
Sao Paulo, Braz
Oxford, Englanc

1,10(
82,00(
55C
21,00(

Lease expiring 200
Lease expiring 201
Lease expiring 201
Lease expiring 201

Office Leiderdorp, The Netherlant 9,50( Lease expiring 201
Office Creteil, Franct 8,50( Lease expiring 201
Office Morfelder-Walldorf, Germany 19,90( Lease expiring 200
Office Wesseling, German 4,40C Lease expiring 201
Office Sant Cugat, Spai 3,40( Lease expiring 201
Office Zurich, Switzerlanc 2,00C Lease expiring 200
Office Lugano, Switzerlan 3,20( Lease expiring 201

Office and Warehous
Manufacturing and Offici

Arese, Italy
Varese, Italy

17,00(
1,378,601

Lease expiring 200
Owned

Warehous:t Morazzone, Italy 446,50( Owned
Product Development Cent San Marino, Italy 21,00( Owned
Product Development Cent San Marino, Italy 5,60( Lease expiring 201

Warehous:t Yokohama, Japa 15,00( Lease expiring 200
Office Tokyo, Japal 14,00( Lease expiring 200
Office Akishima, Japal 13,00( Lease expiring 202
Office Shanghai, Chin 3,30 Lease expiring 201
Office Cape Town, South Afric 3,50 Lease expiring 201
Office Sydney, Australi 1,10C Lease expiring 201

Manufacturing

Adelaide, Australic

485,00(

Lease expiring 201

The Company has nine facilities that perform maotfidng operations: Wauwatosa and Menomonee RAfiisconsin (motorcycle
powertrain production); East Troy, Wisconsin (Bfathotorcycle assembly); Tomahawk, Wisconsin (fibesglplastic parts production and
painting); Kansas City, Missouri (motorcycle pdebrication, painting and Dyna, Sportsteand VRSC assembly); York, Pennsylvania
(motorcycle parts fabrication, painting and Softahd touring model assembly); Manaus, Brazil (as$goiflselect models for the Brazilian
market); Varese, Italy (MV Agustaand Cagivé motorcycle assembly) and Adelaide, Australia (motole wheel production).
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Financial Services Segment

Approximate

Type of Facility Location Square Feet Status
Office Chicago, IL 26,000 Lease expiring 202
Office Rolling Meadows, IL 93,00( Lease expiring 201
Office Plano, TX 61,50( Lease expiring 201
Office Carson City, NV 100,00( Owned

Storage Carson City, NV 1,60C Lease expiring 200

The Financial Services segment has four officdifees: Chicago, lllinois (corporate headquartefdjling Meadows, lllinois (retail
operations); Plano, Texas (wholesale, insuranceetail operations); and Carson City, Nevada (retad insurance operations).

Item 3. Legal Proceeding:

The Company is subject to lawsuits and other claigteted to environmental, product and other matierdetermining required reserves
related to these items, the Company carefully aslyases and considers the likelihood of advadggjents or outcomes, as well as the
potential range of possible loss. The requiredrieseare monitored on an ongoing basis and areegd@sed on new developments or new
information in each matter.

Shareholder Lawsuits:

A number of shareholder class action lawsuits iegd between May 18, 2005 and July 1, 2005 inWimited States District Court for t
Eastern District of Wisconsin. On February 14, 2066 court consolidated all of the actions insirgyle case, captionéd re Harley-
Davidson, Inc. Securities Litigatic, and appointed Lead Plaintiffs and Co-Lead PIfi§itCounsel. Pursuant to the schedule set by the am
October 2, 2006, the Lead Plaintiffs filed a Coidated Class Action Complaint, which names the Camypand Jeffrey L. Bleustein, James L.
Ziemer, and James M. Brostowitz, who are curretiboner Company officers, as defendants. The Cadfestgld Complaint alleges securities
law violations and seeks unspecified damages neglatenerally to the Company’s April 13, 2005 anremament that it was reducing short-term
production growth and planned increases of motdecsigsipments from 317,000 units in 2004 to a ne@52@rget of 329,000 units (compared
to its original target of 339,000 units). On Decemb8, 2006, the defendants filed a motion to disrtiie Consolidated Complaint in its
entirety. Briefing of the motion to dismiss was queted in April 2007.

Three shareholder derivative lawsuits were filethimm United States District Court for the Easteistiixt of Wisconsin on June 3,
2005, October 25, 2005 (this lawsuit was later mtduly dismissed) and December 2, 2005 and twoetttdder derivative lawsuits were filed
in Milwaukee County Circuit Court on July 22, 2085d November 16, 2005 against some or all of theviing current or former directors a
officers of the Company: Jeffrey L. Bleustein, JarheZiemer, James M. Brostowitz, Barry K. AllericRard |. Beattie, George H. Conrades,
Judson C. Green, Donald A. James, Sara L. LevirGenrge L. Miles, Jr., James A. Norling, James &AQdslin, Donna F. Zarcone, Jon R.
Flickinger, Gail A. Lione, Ronald M. Hutchinson, Wenneth Sutton, Jr. and John A. Hevey. The lawslgo name the Company as a non
defendant. In general, the shareholder derivativeptaints include factual allegations similar togk in the class action complaints and
allegations that officers and directors breacheidt fiduciary duties to the Company. On February2CD6, the state court consolidated the two
state court derivative actions and appointed Ldaoh#fs and Lead Plaintiffs’ counsel, and on A@®#, 2006, the state court ordered that the
consolidated state court derivative action be staywil after motions to dismiss the federal seé@siclass action are decided. On February 15,
2006, the federal court consolidated the federaldtve lawsuits with the securities and ERISAg$elow) actions for administrative
purposes. On February 1, 2007, the federal copaiaped Lead Plaintiff and Co-Lead Plaintiffs’ Caahin the consolidated federal derivative
action.
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On August 25, 2005, a class action lawsuit allegilogations of the Employee Retirement Income Sieguxct (ERISA) was filed in the
United States District Court for the Eastern Dttdaf Wisconsin. As noted above, on February 1962the court ordered the ERISA action
consolidated with the federal derivative and se@sriactions for administrative purposes. Purstaittie schedule set by the court, on
October 2, 2006, the ERISA plaintiff filed an AmeadClass Action Complaint, which named the CompéreyHarley-Davidson Motor
Company Retirement Plans Committee, the Compargélership and Strategy Council, Harold A. ScothelaL. Ziemer, James M.
Brostowitz, Gail A. Lione, Joanne M. Bischmann, Kdr Eberle, Jon R. Flickinger, Ronald M. Hutchinsdames A. McCaslin, W. Kenneth
Sutton, Jr., and Donna F. Zarcone, who are cumefdrmer Company officers or employees, as defetsddn general, the ERISA complaint
includes factual allegations similar to those i@ inareholder class action lawsuits and allegdsebalf of participants in certain Harley-
Davidson retirement savings plans that the plamcfties breached their ERISA fiduciary duties. @stember 18, 2006, the defendants file
motion to dismiss the ERISA complaint in its erijreBriefing of the motion to dismiss was completed\pril 2007.

The Company believes the allegations against di@flefendants in the lawsuits against the Compamyvithout merit and it intends to
vigorously defend against them. Since all of thesdters are in the preliminary stages, the Compmuopable to predict the scope or outcome
or quantify their eventual impact, if any, on then@pany. At this time, the Company is also unablestimate associated expenses or possible
losses. The Company maintains insurance that mayits financial exposure for defense costs aadility for an unfavorable outcome, shoi
it not prevail, for claims covered by the insuranogerage.

Environmental Matters

The Company is involved with government agenciesgnoups of potentially responsible parties in @asi environmental matters,
including a matter involving the cleanup of soilagroundwater contamination at its York, Pennsyigdacility. The York facility was
formerly used by the U.S. Navy and AMF prior to thechase of the York facility by the Company fréiF in 1981. Although the Company
is not certain as to the full extent of the envir@amtal contamination at the York facility, it haselm working with the Pennsylvania Department
of Environmental Protection (PADEP) since 1986 maertaking environmental investigation and reméaltiaactivities, including an ongoing
site-wide remedial investigation/feasibility stu@1/FS). In January 1995, the Company enteredardgettlement agreement (the Agreement)
with the Navy. The Agreement calls for the Navy #imel Company to contribute amounts into a trustetu53% and 47%, respectively, of
future costs associated with environmental invasiign and remediation activities at the York fagilResponse Costs). The trust administers
the payment of the Response Costs incurred at tink fécility as covered by the Agreement.

In February 2002, the Company was advised by ti$e Environmental Protection Agency (EPA) that ihsiders some of the Compasy’
remediation activities at the York facility to bebgect to the EPA’s corrective action program urttierResource Conservation and Recovery
Act (RCRA) and offered the Company the option afr@dsing corrective action under a RCRA faciligdeagreement. In July 2005, the York
facility was designated as the first site in Pehresyia to be addressed under the “One Cleanup 8mgiThe program provides a more
streamlined and efficient oversight of voluntargnezliation by both PADEP and EPA and will be caroed consistent with the Agreement
with the Navy. As a result, the RCRA facility leagreement has been superseded.

Although the RI/FS is still underway and substdniigertainty exists concerning the nature and sadhe additional environmental
investigation and remediation that will ultimatdlg required at the York facility, the Company esties that its share of the future Response
Costs at the York facility will be approximately.@émillion. The Company has established reservethfe amount, which are included in
accrued liabilities in the Consolidated Balanceeghe

The estimate of the Company’s future Response Qloatwill be incurred at the York facility is baken reports of independent
environmental consultants retained by the Comptirgyactual costs incurred to date and the estinwst$ to complete the necessary
investigation and remediation activities. Respddests related to the remediation of soil are exguettt be incurred over a period of several
years ending in 2012. Response Costs related tmdrwater remediation may continue for some timghd 2012
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Under the terms of the sale of the Commercial MekiDivision in 1996, the Company agreed to indéyndtilimaster Corporation, until
December 2008, for certain claims related to emvirental contamination present at the date of sglég $20.0 million. The indemnification
agreement expired on December 31, 2008.

Product Liability Matters:

Additionally, the Company is involved in produchility suits related to the operation of its besis. The Company accrues for claim
exposures that are probable of occurrence andeasasonably estimated. The Company also maintansance coverage for product liabi
exposures. The Company believes that its accroal$rsurance coverage are adequate and that pridmhitity will not have a material
adverse effect on the Company’s consolidated filghistatements.

Item 4. Submission of Matters to a Vote of Security Hold¢
None.
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PART Il

ltem 5. Market for Registran’s Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters andusr Purchases of Equity Securiti¢

Harley-Davidson, Inc. common stock is traded onNlegv York Stock Exchange, Inc. The high and low keaprices for the common
stock, reported as New York Stock Exchange, Inenfasite Transactions, were as follows:

2008 Low High 2007 Low High

First quarte! $34.17 $46.61 First quartel $57.91 $74.0¢
Second quarte $34.1C $41.7¢ Second quarte $58.72  $66.0(
Third quartel $32.1¢ $48.0¢ Third quartel $45.92 $63.3¢
Fourth quarte $11.5¢ $39.3( Fourth quarte $44.37 $51.7¢

The Company paid the following dividends per share:

2008 2007 2006

First quarte! $0.3C $0.21 $0.1¢
Second quarte 0.3: 028 0.21
Third quartel 0.3 0.3C 0.21
Fourth quarte 0.3: 0.3C 0.21

$1.2¢ $1.0€ $0.81

As of February 10, 2009 there were 89,298 sharensldf record of Harley-Davidson, Inc. common stock

The following table contains detail related to tapurchase of common stock based on the dateds tharing the quarter ended
December 31, 2008:

Total Number of Shares Maximum Number of
Shares that May Yet B
Purchased as Part of

Total Number of Average Price Publicly Announced Purchased Under the
2008 Fiscal Month Shares Purchase Paid per Share Plans or Programs Plans or Programs
September 29 to Novembel 134 $ 40 — 21,311,40
November 3 to November { — — — 21,318,90
December 1 to December 64% $ 15 — 21,318,90
Total 77¢ $ 19 —

The Company has an authorization (originally adojpteDecember 1997) by its Board of Directors fpurehase shares of its outstanding
common stock under which the cumulative numbehafes repurchased, at the time of any repurchhak mot exceed the sum of (1) the
number of shares issued in connection with theaiseiof stock options occurring on or after Janudarg004 plus (2) one percent of the issued
and outstanding common stock of the Company onalgriuiof the current year, adjusted for any stgik.sSThe Company did not repurchase
shares under this authorization during the fourthrter ended December 31, 2008.
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In December 2007, the Company’s Board of Direcsgqsarately authorized the Company to buy back @91 million shares of its
common stock with no dollar limit or expiration daDuring 2008, 3.3 million shares were repurchaseter this authorization, of which none
were repurchased during the fourth quarter of 28@8f December 31, 2008, 16.7 million shares raediunder this authorization.

The Harley-Davidson, Inc. 2004 Incentive Stock Rlexhibit 10.15) permits participants to satisfyala portion of the statutory federal,
state and local withholding tax obligations arisingonnection with plan awards by electing toaye the Company withhold Shares
otherwise issuable under the award, (b) tender bhakes received in connection with such awara)déliver other previously owned Shares,
in each case having a value equal to the amouye teithheld. During the fourth quarter of 2008, @@mpany acquired 779 shares of common
stock that employees presented to the Companytigfysaithholding taxes in connection with the viegtof restricted stock awards.

Item 12 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K contaiestain information relating to the Company’s égu@iompensation plans.
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The following information in this Item 5 is not daed to be “soliciting material” or to be “filed” ti the SEC or subject to Regulation
14A or 14C under the Securities Exchange Act o#1@®3to the liabilities of Section 18 of the Seties Exchange Act of 1934, and will not be
deemed to be incorporated by reference into amgfilnder the Securities Act of 1933 or the SemsiExchange Act of 1934, except to the
extent the Company specifically incorporates iréfgrence into such a filing: the SEC requiresGoenpany to include a line graph
presentation comparing cumulative five year Comi8tatk returns with a broad-based stock index atiiea nationally recognized industry
index or an index of peer companies selected by thrapany. The Company has chosen to use the Sth&daoor’s 500 Index as the broad-
based index and the Standard & Poor’'s MidCap 48@xras a more specific comparison. The Standard&'® MidCap 400 Index was chos
because the Company does not believe that any ptitdished industry or line-dfusiness index adequately represents the currenatgns o
the Company. The graph assumes a beginning invastm&100 on December 31, 2003 and that all divitdeare reinvested.
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Item 6. Selected Financial Dat:
(In thousands, except per share amounts) 2008 ) 2007(0): @) 2006 ) 2005 2004
Income statement dat
Net revenue and financial services incc $5,971,27 $6,143,04. $6,185,57 $5,673,83, $5,320,45;
Income from operatior $1,029,02. $1,425,56. $1,597,15. $1,464,96. $1,356,38!
Net income $ 654,71¢ $ 933,84: $1,043,15. $ 959,60: $ 889,76¢
Weighte-average common share
Basic 234,22} 249,20! 264,45; 280,30 295,00¢
Diluted 234,47 249,88: 265,27 281,03! 296,85:
Earnings per common sha
Basic $ 28C $ 378 % 392 $ 34: % 3.0zZ
Diluted $ 27¢ % 3.7/ $ 39 % 341 % 3.0C
Dividends paid per common shs $ 1.29C $ 1.06C $ 0.81C $ 0.628 $ 0.40¢
Balance sheet dat
Total asset $7,828,62! $5,656,601 $5,532,151 $5,255,20! $5,483,29:
Total debi $3,914,88 $2,099,95' $1,702,49. $1,204,97. $1,295,44.
Total equity $2,115,60: $2,375,49. $2,756,73 $3,083,60! $3,218,47.

(M 2008, 2007, 2006 and 2005 results include the amopf Statement of Financial Accounting Standd®BAS) No. 123(R), “Share-Based Payment” effecliaeuary 1, 2005. See Note
15 of Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statemfmtfurther discussion.

) 2008, 2007 and 2006 results include the adoptid®F#S No. 158, “Employers’ Accounting for Define@iiefit Pension and Other Postretirement Planst Beoember 31, 2006. See
Note 12 of Notes to the Consolidated Financialedtants for further discussic
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Item 7. Managemen’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition drkResults of Operation

Harley-Davidson, Inc. is the parent company forgh&ups of companies doing business as Harley-Bawid/otor Company (HDMC),
Buell Motorcycle Company (Buell), MV Agusta (MV) diHarley-Davidson Financial Services (HDFS). HDM@duces heavyweight custom
and touring motorcycles. HDMC manufactures five ifaaa of motorcycles: Touring, Dynfa, Softail®, Sportste and VRSC. Buell produces
American sport performance motorcycles. MV prodymesnium, high-performance sport motorcycles solden the MV Agust& brand and
lightweight sport motorcycles sold under the Cagdibaand. HDFS provides wholesale and retail finan@ingd insurance programs primarily to
Harley-Davidson and Buell dealers and customers.

The Company operates in two business segmentsrrtjates & Related Products (Motorcycles) and Fimarservices (Financial
Services). The Company’s reportable segments exeegic business units that offer different produaid services. They are managed
separately based on the fundamental differenctieeinoperations.

The “% Change” figures included in the “ResultOgferations” section were calculated using unrourtigidhr amounts and may differ
from calculations using the rounded dollar amopnésented.

Overview

The Company’s 2008 results were impacted by tHeedif economic environment including lower consurnenfidence and significant
disruptions in global capital markets. The Compar8008 net revenue and net income were down 2.3%289%, respectively, compared to
2007. Operating income for the Motorcycles segmeat down 21.5% while operating income for the Fai@nServices segment decreased
61.0%. Diluted earnings per share were $2.79 ir828@5.4% decrease compared to last year’'s $3.74.

The Company’s independent dealer network was alpacted by the economy, with worldwide retail saleklarley-Davidson
motorcycles down 7.1% in 2008 as compared to 2B0the U.S., retail sales of Harl&avidson motorcycles in 2008 were down 13.0%, w
international retail sales were up 10.3% as contpr@007. However, international retail sales glostowed to 0.7 % during the fourth
quarter of 2008 as a result of deteriorating ecdoamnditions outside the U.S.

Outlook @

In response to the 2008 results and an economicoemvent that continues to be challenging, the Camypannounced on January 23,
2009 a three-part strategy to deal with the impétie recession and the worldwide slowdown in comsr demand. In addition, the Company
provided 2009 guidance that includes a plannededserin Harley-Davidson motorcycle shipments andggmargin.

(1) Note Regarding Forwarc-Looking Statements

The Company intends that certain matters discussthis report are “forward-looking statements’eintled to qualify for the safe harbor from liabiktgtablished by the Private Securities
Litigation Reform Act of 1995. These forward-loogistatements can generally be identified as sualkefeyence to this footnote or because the comfietkte statement will include words
such as the Company “believes,” “anticipates,” ‘@oqs,” “plans,” or “estimates” or words of similaeaning. Similarly, statements that describe fuplaes, objectives, outlooks, targets,
guidance or goals are also forward-looking statemesuch forward-looking statements are subjecettain risks and uncertainties that could causgahcesults to differ materially from
those anticipated as of the date of this repontta@eof such risks and uncertainties are describ@ibse proximity to such statements or elsewlrethis report, including under the caption
“Risk Factors” in Item 1A and under “Cautionary t8taents” in Item 7 of this report. Shareholdergepbal investors, and other readers are urgednsider these factors in evaluating the
forward-looking statements and cautioned not teglandue reliance on such forward-looking statemérite forward-looking statements included in tljsort are made only as of the date
of the filing of this report (February 17, 2009)dathe Company disclaims any obligation to publighdate such forward-looking statements to refetisequent events or circumstances.
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Strategy for Current Economic Environment

The Company’s strategy is focused on three criticahs:
» investing in the Harle-Davidson brand
e restructuring the operations and reducing the-structure; ant
e obtaining funding for HDFS

To execute the first part of this strategy, the @any is reinforcing its support of the Harley-Dasod brand, through its ongoing
marketing efforts to reach out to emerging riderugrs, including younger and diverse riders. In talalj the Company will continue to focus
product innovations targeted at specific growthaypmities within its strong core customer base e riders.

The second aspect of the Company’s strategy wiliripgemented through a combination of restructuantions. The restructuring
actions are designed to reduce excess capacitygrillary business operations and lower the Comisecost structure. The Company’s
planned actions include:

» consolidating its two engine and transmission glamthe Milwaukee area into its facility in Menonee Falls, Wisconsir
» consolidating paint and frame operations at itemddy facility in York, Pennsylvania into existirgerations at that sit

» closing its distribution facility in Franklin, Wistisin, consolidating Parts and Accessories and t@ekkerchandise distribution
through a third party; ar

» discontinuing the domestic transportation fl¢

In addition to these restructuring activities, @@mpany will also be reducing its hourly workfoee to lower production volumes and
the salaried workforce to reduce operating expensdstal, the Company expects to eliminate apjmaxely 1,100 positions over 2009 and
2010. Of that total, approximately 800 will be higysroduction positions and approximately 300 Wi non-production, primarily salaried
positions. The Company expects that approximated/@sitions (500 hourly production and 300 nondpiaiion) of the total will be
eliminated in 2009 and all but approximately 10Qrefse reductions will occur in the first half bétyear. The remaining 300 jobs will be
eliminated during 2010 as the final stages of cbdating the engine and transmission operationcanepleted.

The Company estimates that costs associated vétrestructuring activities will be incurred over020and 2010 and will total
approximately $110 million to $140 million. The Cpany expects that approximately 75% of these awditbe paid in cash with the balance
consisting of non-cash charges. The Company expeatsur between $80 million and $100 million bése costs in 2009, with $30 million to
$40 million in the first quarter. The remainingtresturing costs, between $30 million and $40 milliare expected to be incurred in 2010.
Restructuring costs will be excluded from grosdipend disclosed separately in the Company’s ine@tatement.

The Company expects the ongoing annual benefis gestructuring activities to be between $60 willand $70 million beginning in
2011. During 2009 and 2010, the Company expectdtibaannual benefit of these activities will bé$iillion to $20 million and $30 million
to $50 million, respectively.

The third aspect of the Company’s strategy willleon obtaining funding for HDFS. The Company ialeating a range of options to
provide the necessary liquidity for the wholesaild eetail lending activities of HDFS. In order teet HDFS’ funding needs for the remainder
of 2009, the Company intends to pursue a combinati@ctions, including (a) accessing the unsecdedd capital markets, (b) increasing and
extending its existing asset-backed commercial pegeduit facility, (c) renewing its 364-day crefthitility that expires in July 2009 and (d)
gaining access to the asset-backed securitizatavkenhthrough the U.S. Federal Reserve’s Term Asaelted securities Loan Facility (TALF)
program. These options are discussed in greatail detler “Liquidity and Capital Resources.”
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2009 Guidance

Given the uncertain and unpredictable global ecgnion2009, the Company has decided not to providiO2arnings per share guidance
at this time and has instead provided full year quiarterly shipment guidance, gross margin expiectstaind anticipated capital expenditures.

On January 23, 2009, the Company announced thkris to ship between 264,000 and 273,000 HarleyeSan motorcycles in 2009, a
decrease of 10% to 13% compared to 2008. In teedirarter of 2009, the Company expects to shiwdst 74,000 to 78,000 Harl®avidsor
motorcycles, a 3.0% to 8.5% increase over the dusirter of 2008 as the Company and its indeperdkaiers and distributors prepare for the
spring and summer selling season.

For the full year of 2009, the Company expects groargin to be between 30.5% and 31.5%. The Congpgnyss margin expectations
include anticipated benefits of the restructuriotivaties in 2009. However, these benefits are eigukto be more than offset by three primary
factors (as compared to 2008):

» higher anticipated fixed costs per unit resultirgi the allocation of fixed costs over fewer un
» lower anticipated gross margin resulting from ang®in the motorcycle product mix; a
* lower anticipated gross margin resulting from tlegative impact of foreign currency exchange ratnges

Finally, the Company expects its capital expendiun 2009 to be lower than in 2008, with planngokeaditures of $180 million to $200
million in 2009. In addition, the Company expeasricur approximately $10 to $20 million of capiedpenditures in connection with its
restructuring activities in 2009.

Results of Operations 2008 Compared to 2007

Consolidated Results

(Decrease
%
(in millions, except earnings per share and effeste income tax rate) 2008 2007 Increase Change
Operating income from motorcycles & related prodi $966.< $1,230.¢ $(264.2) (21.59%
Operating income from financial servic $ 82.¢ $ 2122 $(129.9 (61.0%
Investment incom $ 95 $ 22: $ (12.¢) (57.9%
Interest expens $ 45 — $ A4Et N/M
Net income $654.7 $ 933.¢ $(279.)  (29.9%
Diluted earnings per sha $ 2.7¢ $ 374 $ (0.9%) (25.9%

Effective income tax rat 36.7% 35.59%

As discussed in the Overview, operating incomebfith of the Company’s segments was impacted bdliffieult economic environment
including lower consumer confidence and signifiodistuptions in global capital markets. Motorcyatggerating income fell 21.5% during
2008, driven by a decrease in shipments of Halayidson motorcycles. In addition, lower operatingpme from Financial Services driven
lower securitization income and a write-down offiice receivables and investment of retained sémaifidn interests, contributed to the
decrease in consolidated income from operation2308. Please refer to the detailed discussioegi&nt results following.

30



Table of Contents

Investment income was lower during 2008 due tadérrease in average cash and marketable secdritieg the year. Interest expense
during 2008 relates to debt incurred in connectiith the acquisition of MV.

The Company'’s effective income tax rate for 2008 ®6.7% compared to 35.5% in 2007. The increasedwaprimarily to tax
implications associated with the acquisition angaing operations of MV.

Diluted earnings per share during 2008 were dowA%5rom 2007 on lower net income which more thHised the positive impact of
fewer weighted-average shares outstanding. Dileggdings per share during 2008 were positively tgghby a decrease in the weighted-
average shares outstanding, which were 234.5 milli2008 compared to 249.9 million in 2007. Therdase in weighted-average shares
outstanding was driven by the Company’s repurchasesmmon stock over 2007 and 2008 through Augdilst. Company’s 2008 share
repurchases are discussed in further detail uridguitlity and Capital Resources.”

Motorcycle Unit Shipments and Net Revenue
The following table includes wholesale motorcyctét shipments for the Motorcycles segment:

(Decrease
%

2008 2007 Increase Change
Motorcycle Unit Shipments
United State: 206,30¢ es.w 241,53¢ 73.0% (35,230 (14.60%
International 97,17C 32.% _89,08( 26.5% 8,09( 9.1
Harley-Davidson motorcycle unit 303,47¢ 100.% 330,61¢ 100.% (27,140 (8.2)
Touring motorcycle unit 101,88 336% 114,07¢ 34:6 (12,189 (10.7)
Custom motorcycle units 140,90¢ 46.4% 144,507 43.7% (3,599 (2.5)
Sportster motorcycle uni 60,68« 20% 72,03¢ 216 (11,35) (15.)
Harley-Davidson motorcycle unit 303,47¢ 100.% 330,61¢ 100.% (27,140 (8.2
Buell motorcycle unit: 13,11¢ 11,51¢ 1,60¢ 13.€%

* Custom motorcycle units, as used in this tablduate Dyna, Softail, VRSC and CVO mode

During 2008, the Company shipped 303,479 Habayidson motorcycles, a decrease of 27,140 mottsyor 8.2%, from last year. T
Company’s shipments in the U.S. in 2008 continwelet negatively impacted by the challenging ecooamiironment, but were consistent
with the Company’s expectations to ship 23,000#®@0 fewer Harley-Davidson motorcycles in 200Stheere shipped in 2007. The
Company’s shipments in international markets grewindy 2008, and the percentage of units shippéadtéonational customers increased,
consistent with the Company’s strategic focus afbagl markets.
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The following table includes net revenue for thetdtoycles segment (in millions):

(Decrease
%
2008 2007 Increase Change

Net Revenue
Harley-Davidson motorcycle $4,278.. $4,446.¢t $(168.9) (3.8%
Buell motorcycles 123.1 100.t 22.€ 22.4

4,401.: 4,547 .. (145.9) (3.2
Parts & Accessorie 858.7 868.< (9.6) (2.2
General Merchandis 313.¢ 305.4 8.4 2.8
Other 20.t 6.C 14.F N/M
Net revenug $5,594.. $5,726.6 $(132. (2.9%

Motorcycles segment net revenue decreased $138idrmor 2.3%. Net revenue was lower by approxieha®$323 million primarily due
to the 8.2% lower shipment volume of Harley-Davidsootorcycles. Partially offsetting the unfavorékpiln volume was favorability resulting
from changes in foreign currency exchange rateppfoximately $95 million and product mix changéamproximately $70 million. In
addition, wholesale price increases on Harley-Desidmotorcycles contributed approximately $21 wnillto revenue.
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Harley-Davidson Motorcycle Retail Sales

The Company sells its motorcycles at wholesaletmdependent network of dealers and distributdre i turn sell the Company’s
products at retail. Worldwide retail sales of Hgfl@avidson motorcycles decreased 7.1% during 2eQ8ive to 2007. Retail sales of Harley-
Davidson motorcycles decreased 13.0% in the UrStates while growing 10.3% internationally. On adustry-wide basis, the heavyweight
(651+cc) portion of the market was down 7.0% inltiited States while growing 2.2% in Europe whempared to the same periods in 2007.
The following table includes retail unit sales ddri¢y-Davidson motorcycles:

Harley-Davidson Motorcycle Retail Sale$?
Heavyweight (651+cc)

(Decrease
%
2008 2007 Increase Change
North America Regiol
United State! 218,93¢ 251,77. (32,83) (13.0%
Canade 16,50 14,77¢ 1,72 11.7
Total North America Regio 235,44: 266,55. (31,110 (11.9)
Europe Region (Includes Middle East and Afri
Europe® 40,72  38,86¢ 1,85¢ 4.8
Other 4,317 3,43¢ 881 25.€
Total Europe Regio 45,04: 42,30 2,74C 6.5
Asia Pacific Regiotl
Japar 14,65«  13,76¢ 88¢ 6.t
Other 10,59¢ 9,68¢ 90€ 9.4
Total Asia Pacific Regio 25,24¢  23,45¢ 1,79¢ 7.7
Latin America Regiot 8,037 5,467 2,57( 47.C
Total Worldwide Retail Sale 313,76¢ 337,77¢ (24,009 (7.)%

(@) Data source for retail sales figures shown alissales warranty and registration informaticovjated by Harley-Davidson dealers and compiledigy@Gompany. The Company must
rely on information that its dealers supply conasgrretail sales and this information is subjecteweision. Only Harley-Davidson motorcycles arelued in the Harley-Davidson
Motorcycle Retail Sales dat

(b) Data for Europe include Austria, Belgium, Denmdfinland, France, Germany, Greece, Italy, Nethedahwrway, Portugal, Spain, Sweden, SwitzerlandthedJnited Kingdom
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The following table includes industry retail motpecte registration data:

Motorcycle Industry Retail Registrations
Heavyweight (651+cc)

(Decrease
%
2008 2007 Increase Change
United State$) 479,77¢ 516,08. (36,307  (7.0%
Europe® 397,33t 388,68: 8,65¢ 2.2%

(@) U.S.industry data includes 651+cc models derivechfsubmission of motorcycle retail sales by eadipmmanufacturer to an independent third pe
(b) Europe data includes Austria, Belgium, Denmé&ihkland, France, Germany, Greece, Italy, Nethedahlorway, Portugal, Spain, Sweden, Switzerlantithe United Kingdom.
Industry retail motorcycle registration data in@sdb51+cc models derived from information provibgdsiral S.A., an independent agen

Industry retail registration data for the remaininggrnational markets has not been presented bedae Company does not believe
definitive and reliable registration data is avliéaat this time.

Cost of Goods Sold

Cost of goods sold was $3.66 billion for the Moyales segment in 2008, an increase of $50.7 mihioh.4% versus last year. The
increased cost was led by higher manufacturingramdmaterial costs of approximately $117 millionaMifacturing costs increased partiall
the result of a higher fixed cost per unit dueltocating fixed costs to fewer units. Additionallyigher manufacturing costs were the result of
increased product cost as the Company investsvimmedels and increased product content, such agesures and options on the Company
motorcycles. Raw material surcharges were appraein&23 million higher when compared to the psiear. Cost of goods sold also
increased by approximately $29 million resultingnfr changes in foreign currency exchange rates ppibgimately $42 million related to
changes in product mix. Partially offsetting thesst increases were lower costs of approximate87 $tillion resulting from lower shipment
volumes.

Gross Profit

Gross profit was $1.93 billion for the Motorcycksgment for 2008, a decrease of $183.3 million t¥8versus 2007. Gross margin for
2008 was 34.5% compared to 36.9% for 2007. Thefadinpacting the change in gross margin are @éetaihder “Motorcycle Unit Shipments
and Net Revenue” and “Cost of Goods Sold” above.
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Financial Services
The following table includes the condensed statésnefhoperations for the Financial Services segrfiamnillions):

Increase %

2008 2007 (Decrease Change
Interest incom: $290.1 $196.¢ $ 93. 47.2%
Income from securitizatior 13.4 97.€ (84.2) (86.2)
Other income 73.5 121.¢ (48.9) (39.9)
Financial services incon 377.C 416.2 (39.9) (9.9
Interest expens 136.¢ 81.t 55.2 67.C
Operating expenst 157.¢ 122.5 34.C 28.5
Financial services expen 294.2 204.( 90.2 44.2
Operating income from financial servic $ 826 $212.2  $(129.9 (61.0%

Interest income benefited from higher average Iretgstanding receivables, partially offset by lowholesale lending rates and slightly
lower average wholesale outstanding receivablésrdsat expense was higher due to increased bomgswinsupport growth in outstanding
retail receivables, partially offset by lower baomiog rates. The increase in retail receivablestaotiing was driven by a reduction in term
asset-backed securitization activity during 2008 tucapital market volatility. The increase in ging expenses is primarily due to a $28.4
million increase in the provision for credit losses

Other income decreased during 2008 as compare@0id @imarily due to a $37.8 million charge to éags from the lower of cost or
market value of its finance receivables held fde sSeDFS uses discounted cash flow methodologiestionate the fair value of finance
receivables held for sale that incorporate appadprassumptions for discount rate, funding costiscaadit enhancement, as well as estimates
concerning credit losses and prepayments thatamagement'’s judgment, reflect assumptions markegparticipants would use. Any amount
by which cost exceeds fair value is accounted $ca galuation adjustment with an offset to otheoime. The decline in fair value below cost
was due to higher projected credit losses, incoeggding costs and an increased discount rateeifidurth quarter of 2008 from 12% to 18%.

Income from securitizations during 2008 was lonecampared to 2007 due to a $41.4 million write-daf certain retained interests
during 2008, a loss on the first quarter 2008 dezation transaction and the absence of a sezatitin transaction in the last three quarters of
2008. This compares to a $9.9 million write-down #inree securitization transactions completed 720

During 2008, HDFS sold $540.0 million in retail matycle loans in a securitization transaction awbgnized a loss of $5.4 million, or
0.99% as a percentage of loans sold. This compa@egain as a percentage of loans sold of 1.42%3®.0 million, on $2.53 hillion of loans
securitized in 2007. The loss in 2008 was drivernioyeased securitization funding costs due totabpiarket volatility and higher projected
credit losses. In the 2008 securitization transactHDFS retained $54.0 million of the subordinatedurities issued by the securitization trust.
The subordinated securities that were retained haea included in the investment in retained sézation interests (a component of finance
receivables held for investment) in the Consoliddalance Sheets. The cash proceeds from the 200@itization transaction are net of the
cost of the retained subordinated securities.

Income from securitizations was also negativelyantpd in 2008 by a $41.4 million write down of eamtretained securitization intere:
The write downs, which occurred in June and Decerab2008 and are considered permanent impairmesgs|ted from a decline in the fair
value of certain retained securitization interelts to higher actual and anticipated credit lossethose securitization portfolios and an
increase in the discount rate from 12% to 18% énftlurth quarter of 2008. This compares to an inmpant charge of $9.9 million incurred in
2007.
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HDFS reviews its assumptions for determining thevfalue of the investment in retained securitizatinterests each quarter. Key
assumptions include expected losses, prepaymead spel discount rate. HDFS determines these assunsity reviewing historical trends
and current economic conditions. Given the challemngy.S. economy, credit losses on HDFS' retaitalisient loans have increased, and as a
result, the fair value of retained securitizatioterests has declined and in some cases this déslpermanent. Depending on the behavior of
future loss rates, prepayment speeds and the discate, HDFS could experience further write-dowhgs retained interests, which had a fair
value of $330.7 million as of December 31, 2008vrte-down in the retained securitization intergsherally represents a non-cash charge in
the period in which it is recorded, but ultimatedypresents a reduction in the residual cash flawvDFS expects to receive from its
investment in retained securitization interests.

Annualized losses on HDFS’ managed retail motoecyahns were 2.30% in 2008 compared to 1.91% o7 20he 30-day delinquency
rate for managed retail motorcycle loans at DecerBhe2008 increased to 6.29% from 6.15% at Decer®be2007. Managed retail loans
include loans held by HDFS as well as those satouih securitization transactions. The increadesses was primarily due to a higher
incidence of loss resulting from an increase inndgient accounts. The Company expects that HDHSwiiltinue to experience higher
delinquencies and credit losses as a percentagarmdged retail motorcycle loans in 2009 as compiar2008.

Changes in the allowance for finance credit logsefnance receivables held for investment werlobews (in millions):

2008 2007
Balance, beginning of peric $30.5 $27.2
Provision for finance credit loss 39.€ 11.2
Chargeoffs, net of recoverie (29.9) (8.2
Balance, end of peric $40.1 $30.5

HDFS’ periodic evaluation of the adequacy of tHevaance for finance credit losses on finance readgies held for investment is
generally based on HDFS’ past loan loss experidau@yn and inherent risks in the portfolio and eatreconomic conditions. HDFS believes
the allowance is adequate to cover the lossesmgipal in the existing portfolio.

Operating Expenses
The following table includes operating expensegtierMotorcycles segment and Corporate (in milljons

Increase %
2008 2007 (Decrease Change
Motorcycles and Related Produ
Selling & Administrative $796.2 $692.¢ $ 103.t 14.9%
Engineering 168.1 190.¢ (22.5) (11.¢)
Corporate 20.2 17.2 2.9 16.7
Total operating expens $984.¢ $900.7 $ 83.c 9.2%

Total operating expenses were 17.6% and 15.7%taerenue for 2008 and 2007, respectively. Selind administrative expenses
include the impact of the one-time $20.1 milliorperse related to the value ofpmacess research and development at MV (see Nofté\8te:
to Consolidated Financial Statements for furthecdssion) and a $12.4 million restructuring changarred by the Company during 2008 (see
Note 4 of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statesétfurther discussion). In addition, selling adininistrative expenses were higher du
higher international operating costs associatetl thié Company’s international growth.
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Results of Operations 2007 Compared to 2006

Consolidated Results

(Decrease
%
(in millions, except earnings per share and effeste income tax rate) 2007 2006 Increase Change
Operating income from motorcycles & related prodi $1,230.¢ $1,409.( $(178.9) (12.9%
Operating income from financial servic $ 2122 $ 210.7 $ 15 0.7%
Investment incom $ 22: $ 27.1 $ (4.9 (17.8%
Net income $ 933.¢ $1,043.. $(109.9 (10.5%
Diluted earnings per sha $ 3.74 $ 3.9¢ $ (0.19 (4.9%

Effective income tax rat 35.5% 35.6%

The decrease in Motorcycles operating income wiagniprimarily by a decrease in shipments of Haibawidson motorcycles. Please
refer to the detailed discussion of segment resollswving.

Investment income, net in 2007 was $22.3 millim@mpared to $27.1 million in 2006. Net investmemiime decreased due primarily to
lower average short-term investment balances if7 2@fen compared to 2006.

The Company’s effective income tax rate was 35.5%ind 2007 compared to 35.8% in 2006. The decrisadee primarily to a higher
benefit from the domestic manufacturing deductiod slightly lower state income taxes in 2007.

Diluted earnings per share during 2007 were paditimpacted by a decrease in the weighted-aveshgees outstanding, which were
249.9 million in 2007 compared to 265.3 millionZ@06. The decrease in weighted-average sharesodiisy was driven by the Company’s
repurchases of 20.4 million shares of common stlwekng 2007. Share repurchases are discussedtirefutetail under “Liquidity and Capital
Resources.”

Motorcycle Unit Shipments and Net Revenue
The following table includes wholesale motorcyctét shipments and net revenue for the Motorcyosggreent:

(Decrease
%

2007 2006 Increase Change
Motorcycle Unit Shipments
United State: 241,53¢ 731 273,21 782 (31,679 (11.6%
International 89,08( 26.% 75,98« 21.e% _13,09¢ 17.2
Harley-Davidson motorcycle unit 330,61¢ 100.% 349,19¢ 100.% (18,57)) (5.3
Touring motorcycle unit 114,07¢ 34=% 123,44¢ 35.% (9,36¢) (7.€)
Custom motorcycle units 14450° 437 161,19% 4626 (16,689 (10.9
Sportster motorcycle uni 72,03¢ 21.e% 64,551 _18.:% 7,47¢ 11.¢
Harley-Davidson motorcycle unit 330,61¢ 100.% 349,19¢ 100.% (18,57)) (5.3
Buell motorcycle unit: 11,51 12,46( (947) (7.€%

* Custom motorcycle units, as used in this tablduaie Dyna, Softail, VRSC and CVO mode
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During 2007, the Company shipped 330,619 Harleyixn motorcycles, a decrease of 18,577 motorcyotes.3%, from 2006. This
decrease was driven by a 31,673 unit reductiohipnsents to U.S. dealers that were partially offsetr 13,096 unit increase in shipments
outside the U.S. International shipments represeP®9% of total Harley-Davidson wholesale shipradat 2007, compared to 21.8% for
2006.

The following table includes net revenue for thetdtoycles segment (in millions):

(Decrease
%
2007 2006 Increase Change

Net Revenue
Harley-Davidson motorcycle $4,446.¢ $4,553.¢ $(107.0 (2.9%
Buell motorcycles 100.t 102.z (1.7) .7

4,547 .. 4,655.¢ (108.7) (2.3
Parts & Accessorie 868.2 862.: 6.0 0.7
General Merchandis 305.¢ 277.F 27.¢ 10.1
Other 6.0 5.1 0.9 N/M
Net revenus $5,726.f $5,800.° $ (73.9 (1.9%

Motorcycles segment net revenue declined $73.9amjlbr 1.3%. Net revenue was approximately $22lianilower due to an overall
decrease in sales volumes from the prior year.Idlver volumes were primarily driven by the 5.3% mase in Harley-Davidson motorcycle
unit shipments partially offset by higher saleswoés for General Merchandise. Net revenue wasnagatively impacted during 2007 by
higher sales incentive costs.

These decreases were partially offset by highexmeg from wholesale price increases on Harley-Bavidnotorcycles of approximately
$60 million, favorability resulting from changesfioreign currency exchange rates of approximat8[ ®illion (driven primarily by the
strengthening of the Euro against the U.S. dollaimgy 2007) and changes to product mix which reslih higher revenue of approximately
$16 million.

During 2007, the higher revenue resulting from deanin product mix was due primarily to mix chantiet occurred within the
motorcycle families and by the sale of higher ptid®5th Anniversary models beginning in the seduelflof 2007. The positive revenue
impact that resulted from mix changes within moyete families was partially offset by lower revermasulting from changes in mix between
motorcycle families.
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Harley-Davidson Motorcycle Retail Sales

The Company sells its motorcycles at wholesalentmdependent network of distributors and dealédrs im turn sell the Company’s
products at retail. Worldwide retail sales of Hgfl@avidson motorcycles decreased 1.8% during 2etive to 2006. Retail sales of Harley-
Davidson motorcycles decreased 6.2% in the UnitateS while growing 13.7% internationally includiad 5.0% increase in Europe. On an
industrywide basis in 2007, the heavyweight (651+cc) partibthe market was down 5.0% in the United Statieiée growing 5.4% in Eurog
when compared to 2006. The following table includsail unit sales of Harley-Davidson motorcycles:

Harley-Davidson Motorcycle Retail Sale$?
Heavyweight (651+cc)

(Decrease
%
2007 2006 Increase Change
North America Regiol
United State: 251,77, 268,36t (16,599 (6.2%
Canads 14,77¢ 13,51« 1,26 9.4
Total North America Regio 266,55. 281,88( (15,329 (5.9
Europe Region (Includes Middle East and Afri
Europe® 38,86¢ 33,78t 5,08( 15.C
Other 3,43¢ 2,74¢ 69C 25.1
Total Europe Regio 42,30 36,53 5,77C 15.¢
Asia Pacific Regiol
Japar 13,76 13,28 481 3.€
Other 9,68¢ 7,744 1,94¢ 25.1
Total Asia Pacific Regio 23,45¢  21,02¢ 2,42¢ 11k
Latin America Regiol 5,46’ 4,541 92€ 20.2
Total Worldwide Retail Sale 337,77: 343,98: (6,207) (1.9%

(a) Data source for retail sales figures shown abswsales warranty and registration informatiaovjated by Harley-Davidson dealers and compiledigy@Gompany. The Company must
rely on information that its dealers supply conaggmretail sales and this information is subjectewision. Only Harley-Davidson motorcycles areluied in the Harley-Davidson
Motorcycle Retail Sales dat

(b) Data for Europe include Austria, Belgium, Denmd#inland, France, Germany, Greece, Italy, Nethedahwrway, Portugal, Spain, Sweden, SwitzerlandthadJnited Kingdom
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The following table includes industry retail motpecte registration data:

Motorcycle Industry Retail Registrations
Heavyweight (651+cc)

(Decrease
%
2007 2006 Increase Change
United State$) 516,08: 542,99. (26,909 (5.0%
Europe® 388,68. 361,30° 27,37¢ 7.€%

(@) U.S.industry data includes 651+cc models derivechfsubmission of motorcycle retail sales by eaejpmmanufacturer to an independent third pe
(b) Europe data includes Austria, Belgium, Denm&ikland, France, Germany, Greece, Italy, Nethedahlorway, Portugal, Spain, Sweden, Switzerlantitha United Kingdom.
Industry retail motorcycle registration data ina@sdb51+cc models derived from information provibgdsiral S.A., an independent agen

Industry retail registration data for the remainingernational markets has not been presented becdaa Company does not believe
definitive and reliable registration data is avaliéaat this time.

Cost of Goods Sold

Cost of goods sold was $3.61 billion for the Moyales segment during 2007, an increase of $44 lomibr 1.3% versus 2006. During
2007, cost of goods sold was higher due to inceeasnufacturing and raw material costs of approiégeb154 million. The increase in
manufacturing costs was driven by higher fixed €@str unit resulting from the allocation of thessts to fewer units in 2007 and other
manufacturing inefficiencies experienced during20luding those associated with the 2008 new rhyeler launch and the York,
Pennsylvania assembly plant strike during Febr@@fy7. Raw material surcharges were approximatelyrllion higher when compared to
2006. During 2007, cost of goods sold was alsodridpy approximately $44 million resulting from clgas in foreign currency exchange rates
and approximately $4 million related to changeprioduct mix. The decrease in cost of goods solthdl2007 resulting from lower shipments,
partially offsetting the increased costs descrifeove, was approximately $126 million.

Gross Profit

Gross profit was $2.11 billion for the Motorcycksgment during 2007, a decrease of $118.7 millidh 3% compared to 2006. Gross
profit margin for 2007 was 36.9% compared to 38di#ing 2006. The factors impacting the change osgmargin are detailed under
“Motorcycle Unit Shipments and Net Revenue” and $€Caf Goods Sold” above.
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Financial Services
The following table includes the condensed statésnefhoperations for the Financial Services segrfiamnillions):

Increase %

2007 2006 (Decrease Change
Interest incom: $196.¢ $167.t $ 29.: 17.5%
Income from securitizatior 97.€ 111.2 (13.€) (12.2)
Other income 121.¢ 106.2 15.€ 147
Financial services incon 416.2 384.¢ 31.: 8.1
Interest expens 81.t 59.¢ 21.7 36.2
Operating expenst 122.5 114.¢ 8.1 7.1
Financial services expen 204.( 174.2 29.¢ 17.1
Operating income from financial servic $212.z $210.5 $ 15 0.7%

Interest income increased due to higher averagé egtd wholesale outstanding receivables. Theeas® in other income was primarily
due to higher credit card licensing income, seiaatiibn servicing income and insurance commissémenue. Interest expense was higher due
to increased borrowings to support growth in ouiditag receivables and higher borrowing rates.

Income from securitizations decreased as highengization gains were offset by a reduction indne from retained securitization
interests. During 2007, HDFS sold $2.53 billiorrétail motorcycle loans through securitization gactions resulting in gains of $36.0 million.
This compares with gains of $32.3 million on $288on of loans securitized during 2006. The 2@@24n as a percentage of loans sold was
1.42% as compared to 1.39% for 2006. Income ointrestment in retained securitization interestyei@sed to $61.6 million from $78.9
million. The reduction in income was due to higtiean projected credit losses used in the valuatfaetained securitization interests as we
$9.9 million in write downs of certain retained sgtization interests. The write downs, which ogedrin March and December of 2007 anc
considered permanent impairments, result from &rdein the fair value of certain retained secastion interest due to higher actual and
anticipated credit losses on those securitizatamtfgios, partially offset by a slowing in actuahd expected prepayment speeds.

Annualized losses on HDFS’ managed retail motoeci@hns totaled 1.91% in 2007 compared to 1.4192006. Managed retail loans
include loans held by HDFS as well as those saoloutih securitization transactions. The®®¢ delinquency rate for managed retail motorc
loans at December 31, 2007 increased to 6.15% 54806 at December 31, 2006. This increase in losasgprimarily due to an increase in
delinquent accounts resulting in a higher incidesfdess as well as pressure on values for repssdasotorcycles.

Changes in the allowance for finance credit logsefnance receivables held for investment werlobews (in millions):

2007 2006
Balance, beginning of peric $27.2  $26.2
Provision for finance credit loss 11.2 5.9
Chargeoffs, net of recoverie 829 _(4.9
Balance, end of peric $30.c  $27.c

HDFS'’ periodic evaluation of the adequacy of tHevaance for finance credit losses on finance reat@di®s held for investment is
generally based on HDFS' past loan loss experidmumyn and inherent risks in the portfolio and eatreconomic conditions.
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Operating Expenses
The following table includes operating expensegtierMotorcycles segment and Corporate (in milljons

Increase %
2007 2006 (Decrease Change
Motorcycles and Related Produ
Selling & Administrative $692.¢ $637.t $ b55.c 8.7%
Engineering 190.¢€ 186.- 4.4 2.4
Corporate 17.2 22.7 (5.4) (23.5)
Total operating expens $900.7 $846.«. $ 54.: 6.4%

Total operating expenses were 15.7% and 14.6%taerenue for 2007 and 2006, respectively. Selind administrative expenses were
higher due primarily to increased marketing costs laigher international operating costs in conmectiith the Company’s growth in those
markets combined with unfavorable changes in foreigrrency exchange rates. These cost increasespadially offset by a decrease in
expense associated with the Company’s short-tecemtive compensation programs.

Other Matters

New Accounting Standards Not Yet Adopted

In December 2007, the Financial Accounting Stansl@ualard (FASB) issued Statement of Financial ActiogrStandard (SFAS)
No. 141 (revised 2007“Business Combinations.” SFAS No. 141(R) changesattounting for business combinations in a nurobareas
including the treatment of contingent consideratjme-acquisition contingencies, transaction caostprocess research and development and
restructuring costs. In addition, under SFAS Nd.(B), changes in an acquired entity’s deferredassets and uncertain tax positions after the
measurement period will impact income tax expe8§AS No. 141(R) will be effective for the Comparggimning in fiscal year 2009. This
standard will change the Company’s accounting fineat for business combinations on a prospectivis baken adopted.

In March 2008, the FASB issued SFAS No. 161, “Risakes about Derivative Instruments and Hedgingviiets, an amendment of
FASB Statement No. 133.” SFAS No. 161 requires roéd disclosures about an entity’s derivative agbing activities. Entities will be
required to provide enhanced disclosures abouhda)and why an entity uses derivative instrumefiifshow derivative instruments and
related hedge items are accounted for under SFAS B®and its related interpretations; and (c) ldevivative instruments and related hedge
items affect an entity’s financial position, findagperformance and cash flows. The Company isirequo adopt SFAS No. 161 beginning in
fiscal year 2009. The Company is currently evahgathe impact the new disclosure requirementshaile on its consolidated financial
statements and notes thereto.

In December 2008, the FASB issued FASB Staff RositFSP) No. SFAS 132(R)-1, “Employers’ Disclosuaesut Postretirement
Benefit Plan Assets.” FSP No. SFAS 132(R)-1 reguadditional fair value disclosures about employgeasion and postretirement benefit
plan assets consistent with guidance containedrASINo. 157, “Fair Value Measurements.” Specificadimployers will be required to
disclose information about how investment allocatiecisions are made, the fair value of each negtagory of plan assets and information
about the inputs and valuation techniques use@veldp the fair value measurements of plan asS8B.No. SFAS 132(R)-1 is effective for
fiscal years ending after December 15, 2009. Thmg@2my is currently evaluating the impact the nescldisure requirements will have on its
consolidated financial statements and notes.
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Critical Accounting Estimates

The Company’s financial statements are based osdleetion and application of significant accougtpolicies, which require
management to make significant estimates and aggumpManagement believes that the following amae of the more critical judgment
areas in the application of accounting policies tharently affect the Company’s financial conditiand results of operations. Management has
discussed the development and selection of thé#zataccounting estimates with the Audit Commettef the Board of Directors.

Finance Receivable Securitizatior§ he Company has sold retail motorcycle loansugjinosecuritization transactions utilizing
Qualifying Special Purpose Entities (QSPEs) amnaelfiby SFAS No. 140 “Accounting for Transfers aedviing of Financial Assets and
Extinguishments of Liabilities.” Upon sale of rétiians in a securitization transaction, HDFS reegicash and retains an interest in excess
cash flows, subordinated securities, and cashwesgrcount deposits, all of which are collectivaferred to as retained interests in the
securitized receivables. Retained interests argedaat fair value and are periodically reviewedifopairment. Market value quotes of fair
value are generally not available for retainedrizdgs. Therefore, fair value is measured usingodisted cash flow methodologies that
incorporate management'’s best estimate of key gssoms that, in management’s judgment, reflectabsumptions marketplace participants
would use. The impact of changes to key assumpisosisown in Note 8 of Notes to Consolidated Fimarfstatements. HDFS retains servic
rights under retail loans that it has sold to theusitization trust and receives a servicing fdee ervicing fee paid to HDFS is considered
adequate compensation for the services providedsandluded in financial services income as earned

Gains or losses on current year securitization® fitee sale of retail loans are recorded as a coergasf financial services income and
are based in part on certain assumptions incluelkpgcted credit losses, prepayment speed, andudisiaies. Gains or losses on sales of retalil
loans also depend on the original carrying amofitheretail loans, which is allocated betweenahsets sold and the retained interests based
on their relative fair value at the date of transfe

Valuation of Loans Held for SaleFinance receivables held for sale in the aggregy@earried at the lower of cost or estimatedvaiue
HDFS uses discounted cash flow methodologies tmate the fair value of finance receivables helds@e that incorporate appropriate
assumptions for discount rate, funding costs aaditenhancement, as well as estimates concernéutit éosses and prepayments that, in
management’s judgment, reflect assumptions mawkeggbarticipants would use. Any amount by which easeeds fair value is accounted for
as a valuation adjustment with an offset to otheoine.

Allowance for Finance Credit Losses on Finance Redtes Held for Investmenrt The allowance for uncollectible accounts is
maintained at a level management believes is adedquaover the losses of principal in the exisfingnce receivables held for investment
portfolio. Management’s periodic evaluation of #eequacy of the allowance is generally based on$Pa&st loan loss experience, known
and inherent risks in the portfolio, current ecoimoonditions, specific borrower’s ability to repagd the estimated value of any underlying
collateral.

Product Warranty- Estimated warranty costs are reserved for eadbroyele at the time of sale. The warranty resés\en estimated
cost per unit sold based upon historical Compaairctata used in combination with other known fetbat may affect future warranty
claims. The Company updates its warranty estingesterly to ensure that the warranty reservebased on the most current information
available.

The Company believes that past claim experientelisative of future claims; however, the factoffeeting actual claims can be volat
As a result, actual claims experience may diffenfrestimated which could lead to material changdgké Company’s warranty provision and
related reserves. The Company’s warranty liabititgiscussed further in Note 1 of Notes to Consaéid Financial Statements.

Pensions and Other Postretirement Benefilthe Company has several defined benefit pendars@and several postretirement
healthcare benefit plans, which cover substantalligmployees of the Motorcycles segment. The Caomalso has unfunded supplemental
employee retirement plan agreements (SERPA) wittaiceemployees which were instituted to replaceelfiies lost under the Tax Revenue
Reconciliation Act of 1993. Retirement Plan (pensiSERPA and postretirement healthcare) obligatamtscosts are calculated through
actuarial valuations. The valuation of benefit ghtions and net periodic benefit costs relies gndssumptions including discount rates, long-
term expected return on plan assets, future conaiensand healthcare cost trend rates. As discusdddte 1 of Notes to Consolidated
Financial Statements, the Company adopted the merasat date provisions of SFAS No. 158 as of Janlia2008. Accordingly, the
Companys actuarial measurement date (the date when theo&onevaluates and updates all of its assumptre)ged from September 3(
December 31.
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The Company determines its discount rate assumphigmeferencing high-quality long-term bond rétest are matched to the duration
of its own benefit obligations. Based on this arselythe discount rate for Retirement Plan oblayetiwas decreased from 6.30% as of
September 30, 2007 to 6.10% as of December 31,. 20@BCompany determines its healthcare trend gstsumfor the postretirement
healthcare obligation by considering factors susbkstimated healthcare inflation, the utilizatidealthcare benefits and changes in the h
of plan participants. Based on the Company’s assesisof this data as of December 31, 2008, the @Gomfpwered its healthcare cost trend
rate to 8% from 9% as of September 30, 2007. Thagamy expects the healthcare cost trend rate th fiesaultimate rate of 5% beginning in
2014. These assumption changes were reflected imatedin the benefit obligation and will be amagd into net periodic benefit costs over
future periods.

The following information is provided to illustrathe sensitivity of pension and postretirement theake obligations and costs to char
in these major assumptions (in thousands):

Impact of a 1%

Amounts base Impact of a 1% rllr;gltterz?saerénctgs
on current decrease in the
assumptions discount rate trend rate
2008 Net periodic benefit cost
Pension and SERP $ 44 46¢ $ 20,38( n/e
Postretirement healthca $ 32,74¢ $ 2,51¢ $ 1,367
2008 Benefit obligations
Pension and SERP $ 1,178,28: $ 169,81( n/e
Postretirement healthca $ 372,63 $ 42,09 $ 12,92¢

This information should not be viewed as predict¥éuture amounts. The calculation of Retiremelanfobligations and costs is based
on many factors in addition to those discussed. s information should be considered in comharatvith the information provided in Nc
12 of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.

Stock Compensation CostsThe total cost of the Company’s share-based anarequal to the grant date fair value per awanttiplied
by the number of awards granted (adjusted for fionfes). This cost is recognized as expense oraghbt-line basis over the service periods of
the awards. Forfeitures are initially estimatedeobsn historical Company information and subsedyemmpdated over the life of the awards to
ultimately reflect actual forfeitures. As a resghanges in forfeiture activity can influence tmecaint of stock compensation cost recognized
from period to period.

The Company generally determines the number ofsbased awards granted by first determining thad tatst of the award, which is a
function of employee salary, level and performari@e the date of grant, the number of awards graistdten computed by dividing the total
cost of the award by the grant-date fair valuenefaward unit.

The Company estimates the fair value of option dwas of the grant date using a lattice-based mpttuation model which utilizes
ranges of assumptions over the expected term ajgtiens, including stock price volatility, dividdryield and risk free interest rate.

The valuation model uses historical data to esgnogtion exercise behavior and employee terminatidhe expected term of options
granted is derived from the output of the optiolugtion model and represents the average peritichefthat options granted are expected 1
outstanding.
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The Company uses implied volatility to determine éxpected volatility of its stock. Implied vol#ifltake into account both historical
and future expectations of volatility. The impliedlatility is derived from options that are actiyéfaded and the market prices of both the
traded options and underlying shares are measutgedimilar point in time to each other and on edeasonably close to the grant date of the
employee share options. In addition, the tradetopthave exercise prices that are both (a) neamtbney and (b) close to the exercise price
of the employee share options. Finally, the renmgimhaturities of the traded options on which tht@reste is based are at least one year.

Dividend yield was based on the Company’s expedigdend payments and the riflkee rate was based on the U.S. Treasury yield
in effect at the time of grant.

Changes in the valuation assumptions could reswatsignificant change to the cost of an individyation. However, the total cost of an
award is also a function of the number of awardstgd, and as result, the Company has the allitpmtrol the cost of its equity awards by
adjusting the number of awards granted.

Income Taxes The Company accounts for income taxes in acceslaith SFAS No. 109, “Accounting for Income Taxd3eferred ta
assets and liabilities are recognized for the itax consequences attributable to differencesdmiviinancial statement carrying amounts of
existing assets and liabilities and their respectax bases and operating loss and other loss-framards. Deferred tax assets and liabilities
measured using enacted tax rates expected to &pfayable income in the years in which those tenragodifferences are expected to be
recovered or settled.

The Company is subject to income taxes in the dri@ates and numerous foreign jurisdictions. Sigaift judgment is required in
determining the Company’s worldwide provision focome taxes and recording the related deferreddsats and liabilities. In the ordinary
course of the Company’s business, there are mangdctions and calculations where the ultimatel¢éa@rmination is uncertain. Accruals for
unrecognized tax benefits are provided for in agance with the requirements of FASB Interpretatin (FIN) 48, “Accounting for
Uncertainty in Income Taxes.” An unrecognized taréfit represents the difference between the réttiogrof benefits related to exposure
items for income tax reporting purposes and finam&porting purposes. The unrecognized tax beiseifiicluded within other long-term
liabilities in the Consolidated Balance Sheets. Thenpany has a reserve for interest and penaltiexposure items, if applicable, which is
recorded as a component of the overall income taxigion. The Company is regularly under audit &y authorities. Although the outcome of
tax audits is always uncertain, management belithatst has appropriate support for the positi@mhken on its tax returns and that its annual
tax provision includes amounts sufficient to pay assessments. Nonetheless, the amounts ultingglyif any, upon resolution of the issues
raised by the taxing authorities may differ matgrikom the amounts accrued for each year.

Contractual Obligations

A summary of the Company’s expected payments fmificant contractual obligations as of DecemberZI08 is as follows (in
thousands):

2009 2010-2011 2012 -2012 _Thereafter Total
Principal payments on de $1,738,64! $596,81¢ $399,64! $ 998,17¢ $3,733,29
Interest payments on de 149,22.  226,57(  157,31¢ 298,82: 831,93
Operating lease paymer 12,22¢ 15,50: 8,68¢ 18,02( 54,43

$1,900,09: $838,89: $565,64¢ $1,315,02. $4,619,65

As described in Note 9 of Notes to Consolidatecafanal Statements, as of December 31, 2008, thep@oynclassified $568.7 million
related to its unsecured commercial paper andldabdb Credit Facilities (as defined in “Liquiditynd Capital Resources”) as long-term debt as
of December 31, 2008. This amount is classifielbag term because it is supported by the GlobatliCFeacilities and is expected to remain
outstanding for an uninterrupted period extendiegdmd one year; accordingly, the Company has as$tima¢ this amount will be repaid in
2011.

Interest obligations include the impact of intemade hedges outstanding as of December 31, 26@8ekt for floating rate instruments
calculated above, assumes December 31, 2008 eatesr constant.
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As of December 31, 2008, the Company had no marighase obligations other than those creatéderrdinary course of business
related to inventory and property, plant and eq@iptwhich generally have terms of less than 90.days

The Company has long-term obligations relatedstpénsion and postretirement plans at Decembe2(8B. Due to the current funded
status of the pension and postretirement plansCtmpany is anticipating future contributions, begdhe amounts of current benefit
payments, will be necessary for 2009. The Compaexpected future contributions to these plans eveiged in Note 12 of Notes to
Consolidated Financial Statements.

As described in Note 10 of Notes to ConsolidatethRcial Statements, the Company has unrecognixdekteefits of $79.0 million and
accrued interest and penalties of $23.2 millioofd3ecember 31, 2008. However, the Company canmadera reasonably reliable estimate for
the period of cash settlement for either the $78il0on of liability of unrecognized tax benefits accrued interest and penalties of $23.2
million.

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

As part of its term asset-backed securitizatiorgpam, HDFS transfers retail motorcycle loans tpecsl purpose bankruptcy-remote
wholly-owned subsidiary. The subsidiary sells tbiil loans to a securitization trust in exchangetlie proceeds from term asset-backed
securities issued by the securitization trust. fEmm asset-backed securities, usually notes witlows. maturities and interest rates, are secured
by future collections of the purchased retail iistant loans. Activities of the securitization tt@se limited to acquiring retail loans, issuing
term asset-backed securities and making paymergsaurities to investors. Due to the nature ofadsets held by the securitization trust and
the limited nature of its activities, the secustipn trusts are considered Qualifying Special BsgpEntities (QSPES) as defined by SFAS
No. 140. In accordance with SFAS No. 140, assealdiahilities of the QSPEs are not consolidatethmfinancial statements of the Compa

HDFS does not guarantee payments on the secusisiesd by the securitization trusts or the proptctsh flows from the related loans
purchased from HDFS. The Company’s retained sézatiitn interests, excluding servicing rights, sudordinate to the interests of
securitization trust investors. Such investors hai@rity interests in the cash collections on il loans sold to the securitization trust (afte
payment of servicing fees) and in the cash resareeunt deposits. These priority interests ultityateuld impact the value of the Company’s
investment in retained securitization interestgestors also do not have recourse to assets of H@HSilure of the obligors on the retail loans
to pay when due. Total investment in retained sezation interests at December 31, 2008 was $3B0ln. The securitization trusts have a
limited life and generally terminate upon finaltdisution of amounts owed to the investors in et asset-backed securities. See Note 8 of
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements foh&rrtliscussion of HDF term asset-backed securitization program.

As discussed in Note 1 of Notes to Consolidateduiiral Statements, the Company utilized an assellacommercial paper conduit
facility that did not satisfy the requirements &mcounting sale treatment under SFAS No. 140.

Commitments and Contingencies

The Company is subject to lawsuits and other clagteted to environmental, product and other matierdetermining required reserves
related to these items, the Company carefully areslyases and considers the likelihood of advadgmjents or outcomes, as well as the
potential range of possible loss. The requiredrieseare monitored on an ongoing basis and areegd@sed on new developments or new
information in each matter.

Shareholder Lawsuits:

A number of shareholder class action lawsuits iitzd between May 18, 2005 and July 1, 2005 inlimited States District Court for t
Eastern District of Wisconsin. On February 14, 2066 court consolidated all of the actions insirgyle case, captionéd re Harley-
Davidson, Inc. Securities Litigatic, and appointed Lead Plaintiffs and Co-Lead PIifigitCounsel. Pursuant to the schedule set by the am
October 2, 2006, the Lead Plaintiffs filed a Coidatled Class Action Complaint, which names the Camypand Jeffrey L. Bleustein, James L.
Ziemer, and James M. Brostowitz, who are curreribomer Company officers, as defendants. The Cactstsid Complaint alleges securities
law violations and seeks unspecified damages ngl@tenerally to the Company’s April 13, 2005 anraament that it was reducing short-term
production growth and planned increases of motdecyc
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shipments from 317,000 units in 2004 to a new 2@0&et of 329,000 units (compared to its origimaget of 339,000 units). On December 18,
2006, the defendants filed a motion to dismissGhasolidated Complaint in its entirety. Briefingtbf motion to dismiss was completed in
April 2007.

Three shareholder derivative lawsuits were filethimm United States District Court for the Easteistiixt of Wisconsin on June 3,
2005, October 25, 2005 (this lawsuit was later mtduly dismissed) and December 2, 2005 and twoetttdder derivative lawsuits were filed
in Milwaukee County Circuit Court on July 22, 2085d November 16, 2005 against some or all of theviing current or former directors a
officers of the Company: Jeffrey L. Bleustein, JarheZiemer, James M. Brostowitz, Barry K. AllericRard |. Beattie, George H. Conrades,
Judson C. Green, Donald A. James, Sara L. LevirGenrge L. Miles, Jr., James A. Norling, James &AQdslin, Donna F. Zarcone, Jon R.
Flickinger, Gail A. Lione, Ronald M. Hutchinson, \Kenneth Sutton, Jr. and John A. Hevey. The lawsal&go name the Company as a non
defendant. In general, the shareholder derivativeptaints include factual allegations similar togk in the class action complaints and
allegations that officers and directors breacheit fiduciary duties to the Company. On February2CD6, the state court consolidated the two
state court derivative actions and appointed Ldamh#ffs and Lead Plaintiffs’ counsel, and on Af#, 2006, the state court ordered that the
consolidated state court derivative action be staywil after motions to dismiss the federal seé@siclass action are decided. On February 15,
2006, the federal court consolidated the federaldtve lawsuits with the securities and ERISAg$elow) actions for administrative
purposes. On February 1, 2007, the federal copaiaped Lead Plaintiff and Co-Lead Plaintiffs’ Caahin the consolidated federal derivative
action.

On August 25, 2005, a class action lawsuit allegiiotations of the Employee Retirement Income Sigguict (ERISA) was filed in the
United States District Court for the Eastern Dittdaf Wisconsin. As noted above, on February 1962the court ordered the ERISA action
consolidated with the federal derivative and se@sriactions for administrative purposes. Purstaittie schedule set by the court, on
October 2, 2006, the ERISA plaintiff filed an AmendClass Action Complaint, which named the Comp#myHarley-Davidson Motor
Company Retirement Plans Committee, the Compargélership and Strategy Council, Harold A. ScothelaL. Ziemer, James M.
Brostowitz, Gail A. Lione, Joanne M. Bischmann, Kdr Eberle, Jon R. Flickinger, Ronald M. Hutchingdames A. McCaslin, W. Kenneth
Sutton, Jr., and Donna F. Zarcone, who are cumefdrmer Company officers or employees, as defetsddn general, the ERISA complaint
includes factual allegations similar to those ia inareholder class action lawsuits and allegdsebalf of participants in certain Harley-
Davidson retirement savings plans that the plancfaties breached their ERISA fiduciary duties. @stember 18, 2006, the defendants file
motion to dismiss the ERISA complaint in its erijreBriefing of the motion to dismiss was completed\pril 2007.

The Company believes the allegations against dh@flefendants in the lawsuits against the Compamyvithout merit and it intends to
vigorously defend against them. Since all of thesdters are in the preliminary stages, the Commuoypable to predict the scope or outcome
or quantify their eventual impact, if any, on then@pany. At this time, the Company is also unablestimate associated expenses or possible
losses. The Company maintains insurance that mayits financial exposure for defense costs aability for an unfavorable outcome, shoi
it not prevail, for claims covered by the insuranogerage.

Environmental Matters

The Company is involved with government agenciesgnoups of potentially responsible parties in @asi environmental matters,
including a matter involving the cleanup of soilagroundwater contamination at its York, Pennsyigdacility. The York facility was
formerly used by the U.S. Navy and AMF prior to thechase of the York facility by the Company fréiF in 1981. Although the Company
is not certain as to the full extent of the envir@amtal contamination at the York facility, it haselm working with the Pennsylvania Department
of Environmental Protection (PADEP) since 1986 muertaking environmental investigation and reméaliadctivities, including an ongoing
site-wide remedial investigation/feasibility stu@1/FS). In January 1995, the Company enteredardgettlement agreement (the Agreement)
with the Navy. The Agreement calls for the Navy #imel Company to contribute amounts into a trustetu53% and 47%, respectively, of
future costs associated with environmental invesitiqn and remediation activities at the York fagilResponse Costs). The trust administers
the payment of the Response Costs incurred at tink fécility as covered by the Agreement.
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In February 2002, the Company was advised by ti$e Environmental Protection Agency (EPA) that ihsidlers some of the Compasy’
remediation activities at the York facility to bebgect to the EPA’s corrective action program urttierResource Conservation and Recovery
Act (RCRA) and offered the Company the option adr@dsing corrective action under a RCRA faciligdeagreement. In July 2005, the York
facility was designated as the first site in Pefhrayia to be addressed under the “One Cleanup &mgThe program provides a more
streamlined and efficient oversight of voluntargnesliation by both PADEP and EPA and will be carpetconsistent with the Agreement
with the Navy. As a result, the RCRA facility leagreement has been superseded.

Although the RI/FS is still underway and substdniiecertainty exists concerning the nature and sadphe additional environmental
investigation and remediation that will ultimatdlg required at the York facility, the Company esties that its share of the future Response
Costs at the York facility will be approximately.@émillion. The Company has established reservethie amount, which are included in
Accrued liabilities in the Consolidated Balance &ke

The estimate of the Company’s future Response Gaatavill be incurred at the York facility is baken reports of independent
environmental consultants retained by the Comptmyactual costs incurred to date and the estintsid to complete the necessary
investigation and remediation activities. Respabests related to the remediation of soil are exgubtt be incurred over a period of several
years ending in 2012. Response Costs related tmdrwvater remediation may continue for some timghd 2012

Under the terms of the sale of the Commercial MekiDivision in 1996, the Company agreed to indéyndtilimaster Corporation, until
December 2008, for certain claims related to emwirental contamination present at the date of sglég $20.0 million. The indemnification
agreement expired on December 31, 2008.

Product Liability Matters:

Additionally, the Company is involved in produchility suits related to the operation of its besis. The Company accrues for claim
exposures that are probable of occurrence andeasdsonably estimated. The Company also maintsosance coverage for product liabi
exposures. The Company believes that its accroal$rsurance coverage are adequate and that pridmhitity will not have a material
adverse effect on the Company’s consolidated filghistatements.

Liquidity and Capital Resources as of December 32008

Over the long-term, the Company expects that issn@ss model will continue to generate cash ththiallow it to invest in the business,
fund future growth opportunities and return valoetareholders?) At the same time, the Company recognizes thategbent disruption in the
global capital markets has impacted its abilitatgess funding sources historically utilized toprpthe operation of its Financial Services
business. During 2008, the Company funded its FEilsduServices operations with unsecured debt, umsdocommercial paper, an asbatket
commercial paper conduit facility, a committed unged bank credit facility and a term asset-badesiritization.

The Company has estimated that HDRSIding requirements in 2009 will be approximatgly00 billion in addition to amounts that
become due in July 2009 if the Company is unabkxtend its 364-day credit facility that is partitsf Global Credit Facilities (as defined
below) or on March 31, 2009 under the $500.0 nrilisset-backed commercial paper conduit faciliéy Whas entered into in December 2008.
The Company intends to satisfy HDFS’ 2009 fundieguirements through a combination of preferredasti The first is for HDFS or the
Company to attempt to access the unsecured deitdlamarkets; the Company’s issuance of $600.0ionilbf senior unsecured five-year notes
completed in February 2009 is an example of thie Tompany also intends to seek to renew its 3§4dalit facility that expires in July
2009 and to increase and extend the existing $500li0n asset-backed commercial paper conduitifgcExpanding and extending the asset-
backed commercial paper conduit facility would depgent the existing unsecured commercial paperrprogFinally, the Company is worki
to gain access to the asset-backed securitizataohenthrough the U.S. Federal Reserve’s TALF mogrThe Company is in the process of
researching the program and determining how it bexefit from it. Retail motorcycle loans have bé@miuded as eligible assets in the
program; however exact details of the TALF proge not yet finalized. No assurance can be givanttte Company efforts to pursue the
options will
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be successful, and if such efforts are not sucaksbe Company will need to consider other altéves. In addition, the shelf registration
statement filed with the SEC in December 2008 nrayide additional flexibility as needed.

In addition to the funding alternatives discusskdve, the Company will take steps to manage angkpre cash. On February 12, 2009,
the Company’s Board of Directors approved a fitsdrger 2009 dividend of $0.10 per share, a decre$8.20 per share from the dividend
paid in the first quarter of 2008. Reducing thetfguarter dividend preserves approximately $50anibf cash during the first quarter of 2009.
Additionally, in early 2009 HDFS discontinued nevah originations for general aviation consumerraftallowing HDFS to focus its
resources on the core business of retail and walelesotorcycle lending.

As discussed in Note 12 of Notes to Consolidatedféial Statements, due to significant declinesandwide financial market
conditions during 2008, the funded status of then@any’s pension and postretirement healthcare plassadversely affected. As a result, the
Company is expecting it will have to make additiocntributions of approximately $40 million to $&dillion to further fund its pension plans
during 2009 in addition to the on-going contribati@quirements related to current benefit paymiEmtSERPA and postretirement healthcare
plans.

As discussed in Note 3 of Notes to Consolidate@ufiral Statements, the Company completed the psecblaMV during the third
quarter of 2008. The Company financed the transaend MV'’s initial working capital requirementsaligh $181.6 million of debt under the
Global Credit Facilities. Going forward, the Compamticipates that short-term working capital regoients for MV will be financed through
additional debt.

Cash Flow Activity

The following table summarizes the operating, itmgsand financing cash flow activity for the thrgears ended December 31, 2008,
2007 and 2006 (in thousands):

2008 2007 2006
Net cash (used by) provided by operating activ $ (684,649 $ 798,14t $ 761,78(
Net cash (used by) provided by investing activi (393,24) 391,20! (35,259
Net cash provided by (used by) financing activi 1,293,39! (1,037,80) (637,02))
Total $ 215,49 $ 151,54 $ 89,49¢

Operating Activities

The decrease in operating cash flow from 2007 @B20as due primarily to lower securitization pradgeeProceeds from the sale of retail
finance receivables resulted in cash inflows of &46nillion and $2.49 billion during 2008 and 200&spectively. During 2008, HDFS funded
a greater percentage of its business with procedsunsecured commercial paper, medium-term remelsa newly-created asset-backed
commercial paper conduit facility than it did in(20

Investing Activities

The Company’s investing activities consist primadf capital expenditures, net changes in finaeceivables held for investment and
short-term investment activity.

Capital expenditures were $232.2 million and $24Rillion during 2008 and 2007, respectively. Then@pany estimates that base cay
expenditures for 2009 will be in the range of $08@illion to $200.0 million® In addition, the Company expects to incur capixplenditures
of $10 million to $20 million in connection withéhimplementation of the recently announced reairing plan in 2009 The Company
anticipates it will have the ability to fund allgital expenditures in 2009 with internally genedaiends.®)

Sales and redemptions of marketable securitiesofrirchases) in 2008 resulted in cash inflow26$nillion compared to $657.7
million in 2007. The year over year decline in cagtow from marketable securities is a resultlod Company reducing its investment in
marketable securities over the previous twelve imrgenerally for the purpose of funding share repases.
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The year over year increase in cash used in imgestitivities was also affected by the Companytigition of MV during the third
quarter of 2008.

Financing Activities

The Company'’s financing activities consist primadf share repurchases, dividend payments andaaibity. During 2008, the
Company repurchased 6.3 million shares of its comstock at a total cost of $250.4 million. The Camyp repurchased 3.1 million of these
shares under a general authorization provided &¥tbhmpany’s Board of Directors in October 2006ug back 20.0 million shares. As of
December 31, 2008, no shares remained under ttiisrézation. The remaining 3.2 million shares wespurchased under an authorization
granted by the Company’s Board of Directors in Delser 2007, which separately authorized the Compaubyy back up to 20.0 million
shares of its common stock. In addition, the Comggaas an authorization from the Company’s BoarBioéctors that is designed to provide
the Company with continuing authority to repurchsisares to offset dilution caused by the exerdistozk options and the issuance of
nonvested stock. Please see Part Il, Item 5 “MddteRegistrant’'s Common Equity, Related StockhoMatters and Issuer Purchases of
Equity Securities” for additional details regardithg Company’s share repurchase activity and aiztitons.

The Company paid dividends of $1.29 per sharetetiad cost of $302.3 million during 2008, compatedlividends of $1.06 per share at
a total cost of $260.8 million in 2007.

During 2008, debt increased by $1.81 billion whigds primarily driven by higher finance receivabbesstanding as HDFS funded a
greater percentage of its business through deier#tan through securitization transactions whengared to 2007. Additionally, the
Company financed the acquisition and initial wodkizapital requirements of MV through $181.6 millioihdebt under the Global Credit
Facilities. The Company'’s total outstanding debtsisted of the following as of December 31, 20@)72and 2006 (in thousands):

2008 2007 2006
Unsecured commercial paf $1,416,44! $ 842,61¢ $ 894,25
Asse-backed commercial paper conduit faci 500,00( — —
Credit facilities 390,93: 256,53: 191,86t
2,307,38.  1,099,14' 1,086,111
Mediun-term notes 1,607,501  1,000,80! 586,37!
Senior subordinated not — — 30,00(
Total debi $3,914,88° $2,099,95! $1,702,49.

Credit Facilities— During 2008, the Company and HDFS entered ir##850.0 million 364-day facility and a $950.0 mitithree-year
facility (collectively, “Global Credit Facilities™o replace existing credit facilities. The Globakdit Facilities, which total $1.90 billion and
due in July 2009 and 2011, respectively, are cotenhfiacilities and are primarily used to supportF® unsecured commercial paper program
and to fund HDFS’ lending activities and other @tiens. Borrowings under the Global Credit Fa@ltbear interest at various variable rates,
which may be adjusted upward or downward depenadinghether certain criteria are satisfied. As altesf the Global Credit Facilities,

HDFS may issue unsecured commercial paper in theeggte equal to the unused portion of the Globatli€ Facilities. At December 31, 20
and 2006, HDFS had a credit facility totaling $1biion.

Commercial Paper Subject to limitations, HDFS can issue unsecaemdmercial paper of up to $1.90 billion as of Debem31, 2008.
Outstanding unsecured commercial paper may noteeitee unused portion of the Global Credit Fae#itiMaturities may range up to 365
days from the issuance date. In addition to issuimgecured commercial paper in the open markete dttober 2008 the Company has been
issuing unsecured commercial paper under the Heeserve Bank’s Commercial Paper Funding FadiiyFF). The CPFF is scheduled to
expire on October 30, 2009. Until February 12, 2088 Company was eligible
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to participate in the CPFF and had the abilitysgue commercial paper with maturities of 90 dagmfthe time of issuance up to a maximut
$1.35 billion outstanding at any time. As of Feliyua2, 2009, the Company became ineligible to isse commercial paper under the CPFF
as HDFS’ short term debt ratings no longer satistfiee CPFF’s minimum ratings requirements. On Fatyrd2, 2009, Fitch Ratings reduced
the Company’s long-term debt rating to A- and HDBBOrt-term debt rating to F2. On January 16, 28@&@ndard & Poor’s Rating Service
reduced the Company’s long-term debt rating to BBB# HDFS’ short-term debt rating to A2. As a resfithese reductions to HDFS’ short-
term debt rating, the Company is no longer abisdoe unsecured commercial paper under the CPFFSHIiends to finance the repaymer
unsecured commercial paper as it matures by isstad@ional unsecured commercial paper or throofffier means, such as borrowing under
the Global Credit Facilities.

Asset-backed commercial paper conduit fac#ity December 2008, HDFS entered into agreemertksogitain bank-sponsored asset-
backed commercial paper conduits resulting in prdseof $500.0 million. Unless earlier terminate@é@xtended by the mutual agreement of
HDFS and the lenders, the loan and servicing ageaemill expire on March 31, 2009, at which time A®will be obligated to repay the
$500.0 million advance in full.

Medium-Term Notes The Company has the following Medium-Term Notasdléctively “the Notes”) issued and outstanding at
December 31, 2008 (in thousands):

Principal Amount Rate Issue Date Maturity Date
$ 200,00( 5.0(% December 200 December 201
$ 400,00( 5.25% December 200 December 201
$ 1,000,001 6.8(% May 2008 June 201¢

At December 31, 2007, HDFS had $400.0 million &33% medium-term notes outstanding which were dugeicember 2008. In
December 2008, the notes matured and the prinaighbccrued interest was paid in full.

The Notes provide for semi-annual interest paymantsprincipal due at maturity. At December 31,2@D07 and 2006, the Notes
included a fair value adjustment increasing thaheg by $9.7 million and $1.3 million and reducthg balance by $13.6 million, respectively,
due to interest rate swap agreements designafad &slue hedges. The effect of the interest satap agreements is to convert the interest
on a portion of the Notes from a fixed to a flogtmate, which is based on 3-month LIBOR. Unamodidiscounts on the Notes reduced the
balance by $2.2 million and $0.5 million at Decem®g&, 2008 and 2007, respectively.

Senior Subordinated DebtAt December 31, 2006, HDFS had $30.0 million G®8%6 senior subordinated notes outstanding whiate we
due in December 2007. In December 2007, the no#&tsred and the principal and accrued interest wabsip full.

Intercompany Borrowing HDFS has a revolving credit line with the Compartyevweby HDFS may borrow up to $210.0 million frore
Company at a market interest rate. As of Decembg@08, 2007 and 2006, HDFS had no outstanding¥amngs owed to the Company uni
this agreement.

The Company has a support agreement with HDFS Wheiferequired, the Company agrees to provide HDRS financial support in
order to maintain HDFS’ fixed-charge coverage a6land minimum net worth of $40.0 million. Suppardy be provided at the Company’s
option as capital contributions or loans. Accordimgertain debt covenants may restrict the Comsaalyility to withdraw funds from HDFS
outside the normal course of business. No amownehear been provided to HDFS under the supporeaugat.

Operating and Financial CovenantsHDFS and the Company are subject to various tipgrand financial covenants related to the
Global Credit Facilities, asset-backed commercagigr conduit facility and Notes. The more significeovenants are described below.

The covenants limit the Company’s and HDFS’ abildy
» incur certain additional indebtedne
e assume or incur certain lier
* participate in a merger, consolidation, liquidat@rdissolution; an
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* purchase or hold margin stoc

Under the financial covenants of the Global Cr&ditilities and the asset-backed commercial papsdbfacility, the debt to equity
ratio of HDFS and its consolidated subsidiariencaexceed 10.0 to 1.0 and the Company must maiatainterest ratio coverage of 2.5 to
1.0. The minimum required HDFS consolidated targgit#t worth is $300.0 million. No financial covetsare required under the Notes.

At December 31, 2008, 2007 and 2006, HDFS and tmpany remained in compliance with all of theseer@ants.

Cautionary Statements

The Company’s ability to meet the targets and etgtiens noted in this Form 10-K depends upon, anathgr factors, the Company’s
ability to (i) effectively execute the Company’steicturing plans within expected costs; (ii) man#ue risks that our independent dealers may
have difficulty adjusting to the recession and slown in consumer demand; (iii) manage supply cisgines; (iv) anticipate the level of
consumer confidence in the economy; (v) continueatee access to reliable sources of capital funstiregifficient amounts and adjust to
fluctuations in the cost of capital; (vi) maintairedit ratings that allow the Company access tatalagt effective rates; (vii) manage the credit
quality, the loan servicing and collection actie#tj and the recovery rates of HDFS’ loan portfdij) continue to realize production
efficiencies at its production facilities and maeayperating costs including materials, labor anetlogad; (ix) manage production capacity and
production changes; (x) provide products, servarasexperiences that are successful in the madastp(xi) develop and implement sales and
marketing plans that retain existing retail custmsrand attract new retail customers in an increggicompetitive marketplace; (xii) sell all of
its motorcycles and related products and servizés independent dealers; (xiii) continue to depethe capabilities of its distributor and de:
network; (xiv) manage changes and prepare for remeénts in legislative and regulatory environméoitsts products, services and operatic
(xv) adjust to fluctuations in foreign currency bBaoge rates, interest rates and commodity priged;ddjust to healthcare inflation, pension
reform and tax changes; (xvii) retain and attratgrited employees, including executive officersijiixdetect any issues with our motorcycles
or manufacturing processes to avoid delays in nedahlaunches, recall campaigns, increased wari@gts or litigation; (xix) implement ar
manage enterprise-wide information technology smhstand secure data contained in those systedgxahsuccessfully integrate and
profitably operate MV Agusta. In addition, the Cceng could experience delays or disruptions initsrations as a result of work stoppages,
strikes, natural causes, terrorism or other facibngse risks, potential delays and uncertaingganding the costs could also adversely impact
the Company'’s capital expenditure estimates (séguftity and Capital Resources” section).

In addition, see “Risk Factors” under Item 1A. whincludes a discussion of additional risk factamsl a more complete discussion of
some of the cautionary statements noted above.
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ltem 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About MagkRisk

The Company is exposed to market risk from changésreign exchange rates and interest rates. @oce such risks, the Company
selectively uses derivative financial instrumedt$ hedging transactions are authorized and execptesuant to regularly reviewed policies
and procedures, which prohibit the use of finanicisfruments for trading purposes. Sensitivity gsialis used to manage and monitor foreign
exchange and interest rate risk.

The Company sells its products internationally enohost markets those sales are made in the foogigntry’s local currency. As a
result, the Company’s earnings can be affecteduzyuations in the value of the U.S. dollar relatte foreign currency. The Company’s most
significant foreign currency risk relates to the&uhe Australian dollar and the Brazilian RedleTCompany utilizes foreign currency
contracts to mitigate the effect of the Euro arelAlustralian dollar fluctuations on earnings. Theefgn currency contracts are entered into
with banks and allow the Company to exchange aifspg@mount of foreign currency for U.S. dollatsasfuture date, based on a fixed
exchange rate. At December 31, 2008, the notior@l dbllar value of outstanding Euro and Austratiaiiar foreign currency contracts was
$419.3 million. The Company estimates that a unifdé0% weakening in the value of the U.S. dollaatiek to the currencies underlying these
contracts would result in a decrease in the fduevaf the contracts of approximately $36.5 milleamof December 31, 2008. Further disclo:
relating to the fair value of derivative financiastruments is included in Note 17 of the Note€tmsolidated Financial Statements.

In addition, the Company financed its acquisitiéy Agusta and its initial working capital requireents through 130.0 million of Euro-
denominated debt. The carrying amount of debt iasmeed at each balance sheet date in the U.Sr dallithe corresponding gains or losses
are recognized in the income statement.

The Company'’s earnings are affected by changegéndst rates. HDFS utilizes interest rate swapsdace the impact of fluctuations in
interest rates on its debt and securitization aietiens. HDFS also entered into derivative contrézffacilitate its first quarter securitization
transaction as well as its third quarter 2007 ggzation transaction. These derivatives, whichdedssets by an off-balance sheet Qualifying
Special Purpose Entity, do not qualify for hedgecamting treatment. Additionally, to facilitate theecember 2008 asset-backed commercial
paper conduit facility, HDFS entered into derivatisontracts, certain of which do not qualify fodbe accounting treatment. Changes in the
fair value of these derivatives are recognizeduimant period earnings within other operating exgesn As of December 31, 2008, HDFS had
interest rate swaps outstanding with a notionaleaif $1.79 billion. HDFS estimates that a 10% ease in interest rates would result in a ¢
million decrease in the fair value of the agreement
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MANAGEMENT’S REPORT ON INTERNAL CONTROL OVER FINANC |AL REPORTING

The Company’s management is responsible for estabfj and maintaining adequate internal controf éimancial reporting, as such
term is defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f)déinthe supervision and with the participation afragement, including the principal
executive officer and principal financial officenanagement conducted an evaluation of the effews®of our internal control over financial
reporting based on the criteria establishebhiarnal Control — Integrated Framewor&sued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizatidns
the Treadway Commission. Based on management'sai@h under the framework Internal Control — Integrated Frameworkjanagement
has concluded that the Company’s internal contvel dinancial reporting was effective as of Decentiie 2008. Ernst & Young LLP, an
independent registered public accounting firm, dnadited the Consolidated Financial Statements dredun this Annual Report on Form 10-K
and, as part of its audit, has issued an attestagjoort, included herein, on the effectivenesthefCompany’s internal control over financial
reporting.

February 11, 200

James L. Zieme Thomas E. Bergmar
President and Chief Executive Offic Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Offi

MANAGEMENT CERTIFICATIONS

The Company has filed as exhibits to its Annual&epn Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended Decen8igr2008, filed with the
Securities and Exchange Commission, the certifioatof the chief executive officer and the chiagficial officer of the Company required by
Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act.

The Company has submitted to the New York StockhBrge the Annual Chief Executive Officer Certifioatrequired by
Section 303A.12(a) of the New York Stock Exchanggdd Company Manual.
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REPORT OF THE AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee of the Board of Directors revéethe Company’s financial reporting process ardatidit process. All of the Audit
Committee members are independent in accordanbetidtAudit Committee requirements of the New Y8tkck Exchange, Inc.

The Audit Committee of the Board of Directors hagiewed and discussed with management its assetsite effectiveness of the
Company'’s internal control system over financigdaging as of December 31, 2008. Management hadwded that the internal control
system was effective. Additionally, the Companyiternal control over financial reporting as of Dedxer 31, 2008 was audited by Ernst &
Young LLP, the Company’s independent registeredipalscounting firm for the 2008 fiscal year. Thedéed financial statements of the
Company for the 2008 fiscal year were also reviewed discussed with management as well as witleseptatives of Ernst & Young LLP.
The Audit Committee has also discussed with Ern3toting LLP, the matters required to be discusse8tayement of Auditing Standards
No. 61, other professional standards and regulataryirements currently in effect. The Audit Comegthas received the written disclost
and the letter from the independent registeredip@aglcounting firm required by Rule 3526 of the RuBompany Accounting Standards
Board, as currently in effect, and has discusséhk rgpresentatives of Ernst & Young LLP the indegerce of Ernst & Young LLP. Based on
the review and discussions referred to above, tditACommittee has recommended to the Board ofdbire that the audited financial
statements for the 2008 fiscal year be includetiénCompany’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for th@&€iscal year.

February 11, 2009

Audit Committee of the Board of Directors

Richard I. Beattie Judson C. Gree
N. Thomas Linebarge George L. Miles, Jt
James A. Norling, Chairme
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM ON INTERNAL
CONTROL OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING

To the Board of Directors and Shareholders of Wabavidson, Inc.:

We have audited Harley-Davidson, Irgcinternal control over financial reporting as afd@mber 31, 2008, based on criteria establist
Internal Control- Integrated Frameworlssued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizatifriee Treadway Commission (the COSO
criteria). Harley-Davidson, Inc.’s management ispiansible for maintaining effective internal cohtvger financial reporting, and for its
assessment of the effectiveness of internal cootret financial reporting included in the accomgagyManagement’s Report on Internal
Control Over Financial Reporting. Our responsipili to express an opinion on the Company'’s intecaatrol over financial reporting based
on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the stadedof the Public Company Accounting Oversightri@d@nited States). Those
standards require that we plan and perform thet amidbtain reasonable assurance about whethetigfenternal control over financial
reporting was maintained in all material respe®@tsr audit included obtaining an understanding tdrimal control over financial reporting,
assessing the risk that a material weakness et@st#ig and evaluating the design and operatifegtfeness of internal control based on the
assessed risk, and performing such other procedsreg considered necessary in the circumstancefeliéve that our audit provides a
reasonable basis for our opinion.

A company’s internal control over financial repogiis a process designed to provide reasonableaagsuregarding the reliability of
financial reporting and the preparation of finahstatements for external purposes in accordanttegenerally accepted accounting princip
A company’s internal control over financial repogiincludes those policies and procedures thgté€ttain to the maintenance of records that,
in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reftbettransactions and dispositions of the assdtseofompany; (2) provide reasonable assurance
that transactions are recorded as necessary tatgeaparation of financial statements in accor@awih generally accepted accounting
principles, and that receipts and expenditureb®itbmpany are being made only in accordance withoaizations of management and
directors of the company; and (3) provide reasanabburance regarding prevention or timely deteafainauthorized acquisition, use, or
disposition of the company’s assets that could lrareterial effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal cohtiver financial reporting may not prevent or detmisstatements. Also, projections of
any evaluation of effectiveness to future periogssabject to the risk that controls may becomdénaate because of changes in condition
that the degree of compliance with the policiepraicedures may deteriorate.

In our opinion, Harley-Davidson, Inc. maintainemd ail material respects, effective internal contreér financial reporting as of
December 31, 2008, based on the COSO criteria.

We also have audited, in accordance with the stdsdz the Public Company Accounting Oversight Bo@snited States), the
consolidated balance sheets of Harley-Davidson,ds®f December 31, 2008 and 2007, and the retatesblidated statements of income,
shareholders’ equity and cash flows for each ottinee years in the period ended December 31, @bDBarley-Davidson, Inc. and our report
dated February 16, 2009 expressed an unqualifisgdoopthereon.

/sl Ernst & Young LLP
Milwaukee, Wisconsin
February 16, 2009
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

To the Board of Directors and Shareholders of Habavidson, Inc.:

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balsimeets of Harley-Davidson, Inc. as of DecemheRB08 and 2007, and the
related consolidated statements of income, shatersdlequity and cash flows for each of the threary in the period ended December 31,
2008. Our audits also included the financial staenschedule listed in the index at item 15(a).sEhfénancial statements and schedule are the
responsibility of the Company’s management. Oupaasibility is to express an opinion on these foiahstatements and schedule based on
our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with thedstiats of the Public Company Accounting OversighamiogUnited States). Those
standards require that we plan and perform thet &madbtain reasonable assurance about whethdinthecial statements are free of material
misstatement. An audit includes examining, on aliasis, evidence supporting the amounts and digids in the financial statements. An a
also includes assessing the accounting princiged and significant estimates made by managemeniglhas evaluating the overall financial
statement presentation. We believe that our apditgide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the financial statements referredlbove present fairly, in all material respedts,¢onsolidated financial position of
Harley-Davidson, Inc. at December 31, 2008 and 280@ the consolidated results of its operatiomsisncash flows for each of the three
years in the period ended December 31, 2008, ifoomity with U.S. generally accepted accountingipiples. Also in our opinion, the relat
financial statement schedule, when consideredl@ioe to the basic financial statements taken abale, presents fairly in all material
respects the information set forth therein.

As discussed in Note 1 to the consolidated findrste&ements, on January 1, 2008, the Company eddpé requirement to measure the
funded status of its defined benefit pension argtrptirement healthcare plans as of the date of¢he-end statement of financial position.

We also have audited, in accordance with the stdsdz the Public Company Accounting Oversight Bo@snited States), Harley-
Davidson, Inc.’s internal control over financiapogting as of December 31, 2008, based on critstablished internal Control — Integrated
Frameworkissued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizatidrtee Treadway Commission and our report datdsflgey 16, 2009
expressed an unqualified opinion thereon.

/s/ Ernst & Young LLP
Milwaukee, Wisconsin
February 16, 2009
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HARLEY-DAVIDSON, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOME
Years ended December 31, 2008, 2007 and 2006
(In thousands, except per share amounts)

2008 2007 2006
Net revenus $5,594,30° $5,726,84! $5,800,68!
Cost of goods sol 3,663,48! 3,612,74i 3,567,83
Gross profil 1,930,81¢ 2,114,200 2,232,84
Financial services incon 376,97( 416,19¢ 384,89:
Financial services expen 294,20! 204,02 174,16°
Operating income from financial servic 82,76¢ 212,16¢ 210,72:
Selling, administrative and engineering expe 984,56( 900, 70¢ 846,41¢
Income from operation 1,029,02. 1,425,56. 1,597,15
Investment incom 9,49t 22,25¢ 27,081
Interest expens 4,542 — —
Income before provision for income ta» 1,033,97 1,447,81' 1,624,241
Provision for income taxe 379,25¢ 513,97¢ 581,08
Net income $ 654,71¢ $ 933,84: $1,043,15
Earnings per common sha

Basic $ 28C $ 3.7t $ 3.9¢

Diluted $ 27¢ $ 3.74 % 3.9¢
Cash dividends per common sh $ 1.2¢ $ 1.0€ $ 0.81

The accompanying notes are an integral part o€timsolidated financial statements.
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HARLEY-DAVIDSON, INC.
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
December 31, 2008 and 2007
(In thousands, except share amounts)

ASSETS
Current asset:
Cash and cash equivalel
Marketable securitie
Accounts receivable, n
Finance receivables held for s
Finance receivables held for investment,
Inventories
Deferred income taxe
Prepaid expenses and other current a:
Total current asse

Finance receivables held for investment,
Property, plant and equipment, |
Prepaid pension cos

Goodwill

Deferred income taxe

Other lon¢-term asset

LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS EQUITY
Current liabilities:

Accounts payabl

Accrued liabilities

Shor-term debi

Current portion of lon-term deb!
Total current liabilities

Long-term debt

Pension liability

Postretirement healthcare bene
Other lon¢-term liabilities

Commitments and contingencies (Note

Shareholder equity:
Series A Junior participating preferred stock, nizseiec
Common stock, 335,653,577 and 335,211,201 shasesddn 2008 and 2007, respectiv
Additional paic-in-capital
Retained earning
Accumulated other comprehensive i

Less:
Treasury stock (102,889,370 and 96,725,399 shar2808 and 2007, respectively), at ¢
Total shareholde’ equity

2008

2007

$ 59355¢ $ 402,85
— 2,47¢
296,25 181,21°
2,443,96! 781,28
1,378,46. 1,575,28:
400,90 349,69°
123,32° 103,27
141,40 71,23(
5,377,88: 3,467,31.
817,10: 845,04
1,094,48 1,060,591
— 89,88
138,57¢ 61,40
288,24 54,37¢
112,33 78,00
$7,828,62  $5,656,60
$ 32373 $ 300,18
541,37 484,93
1,738,64" 722,44
— 397,50
2,603,75 1,905,07"
2,176,23; 980,00
484,00 51,55
274,408 192,53
174,61¢ 151,95
3,357 3,35:
846,79 812,22
6,458,77; 6,117,56
(522,52 (137,25
6,786,40! 6,795,88!
(4,670,80)  (4,420,39)
2,115,60: 2,375,49
$7,828,62  $5,656,60

The accompanying notes are an integral part o€dmsolidated financial statements.
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HARLEY-DAVIDSON, INC.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
Years ended December 31, 2008, 2007 and 2006

(In thousands)

Net cash (used by) provided by operating activifiéste 2)

Cash flows from investing activitie
Capital expenditure
Origination of finance receivables held for investit
Collections on finance receivables held for investi
Collection of retained securitization intere
Purchase of marketable securit
Sales and redemptions of marketable secul
Acquisition of business, net of cash acqui
Other, ne

Net cash (used by) provided by investing activi

Cash flows from financing activitie
Proceeds from issuance of medium term n
Repayment of mediu-term notes
Net increase (decrease) in credit facilities anskenred commercial pag
Net borrowings of ass-backed commercial pap
Repayment of senior subordinated ¢
Dividends
Purchase of common stock for treas
Excess tax benefits from sh-based paymen
Issuance of common stock under employee stock optens

Net cash provided by (used by) financing activi
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and casaénts
Net increase in cash and cash equival

Cash and cash equivaler
At beginning of perioc
At end of perioc

2008 2007 2006
$ (684,649 $ 79814t $ 761,78
(232,16 (242,11) (219,60;)
(608,62 (514,35 (411,75)
448,99( 368,97 260,13
93,74’ 118,17 101,64
— (467,609 (970,939
2,54¢ 1,125,34. 1,224,44
(95,559 — —
(2,189 2,78¢ (19,186
(393,24) 391,20t (35,25¢)
993,55 398,14« —
(400,000) — —
761,06 (16,24 493,12
490,00 — —
— (30,000 —
(302,319 (260,80 (212,914
(250,41)  (1,153,43)  (1,061,96)
32C 3,06¢ 18,93:
1,17¢ 21,47¢ 125,80
1,293,390  (1,037,80) (637,02
(24,790 12,90¢ 7,92¢
190,70« 164,45’ 97,42:
402,85 238,39’ 140,97
$ 59355( $ 40285 $ 238,39

The accompanying notes are an integral part o€dimsolidated financial statements.
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HARLEY-DAVIDSON, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY
Years ended December 31, 2008, 2007 and 2006
(In thousands, except share amounts)

Common Stock Other
Additional comprehensivt
Issued paid-in Retained Treasury
Shares Balance capital Earnings income (loss) Balance Total
Balance December 31, 20C 330,961,86 $3,31( $596,23¢ $4,630,39¢ $ 58,65! $(2,204,98) $ 3,083,60!
Comprehensive incom:
Net income — — — 1,043,15: — — 1,043,15:
Other comprehensive income (los
Foreign currency translation adjustm — — — — 12,89¢ — 12,89¢
Minimum pension liability adjustmen
net of taxes of ($16¢ — — — — 267 — 267
Change in net unrealized gains (loss
Investment in retained securitizati
interests, net of tax benefit of
$7,360 — — — — (13,529 — (13,529
Derivative financial instruments, n
of tax benefit of $9,11 — — — — (15,049 — (15,049
Marketable securities, net of taxes of
($2,456) — — — — 3,991 — 3,991
Comprehensive incornr 1,031,73!
Adjustment to initially apply SFAS No. 158,
net of taxes of ($156,27: — — — — (253,90) — (253,90)
Dividends — — — (212,919 — — (212,919
Repurchase of common st — — — — — (1,061,96) (1,061,96)
Shar-based compensatic — — 21,44¢ — — — 21,44¢
Issuance of nonvested stc 253,31¢ 3 3 — — — —
Exercise of stock optior 3,113,00! 3C 125,77: — — — 125,80:
Tax benefit of stock optior — — 22,92¢ — — — 22,92¢
Balance December 31, 20C 334,328,19 $3,34: $766,38. $5,460,62! $ (206,66:) $(3,266,95) $2,756,73
Comprehensive incom
Net income — — — 933,84 — — 933,84
Other comprehensive income (los
Foreign currency translation adjustm: — — — — 30,75 — 30,75
Amortization of net prior service co:
net of taxes of ($2,12: — — — — 3,447 — 3,447
Amortization of actuarial loss, net of
taxes of ($7,092 — — — — 11,52: — 11,52

Pension and post-retirement plan funded
status adjustment, net of taxes of
($29,142) — — — — 47,34¢ — 47,34¢
Change in net unrealized gains (loss
Investment in retained securitization
interests, net of tax benefit of

$6,488 — — — — (11,945 — (11,949
Derivative financial instruments, n
of tax benefit of $7,22 — — — — (12,970 — (12,970
Marketable securities, net of taxes of
($825) — — — — 1,252 — 1,252
Comprehensive incorn 1,003,24
Adjustment to initially apply FIN 4t — — — (16,100 — — (16,100
Dividends — — — (260,809 — — (260,805
Repurchase of common sta — — — — — (1,153,43) (1,153,43)
Shar-based compensatic — — 20,97 — — — 20,97
Issuance of nonvested stc 385,07¢ 4 4 — — — —
Exercise of stock optior 497,93( 5 21,47: — — — 21,47¢
Tax benefit of stock optior — — 3,39¢ — — — 3,39¢
Balance December 31, 20C 335,211,20 $3,35: $812,22: $6,117,56 $ (137,250 $(4,420,39) $2,375,49,

The accompanying notes are an integral part oftimsolidated financial statemer
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HARLEY-DAVIDSON, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY (Co ntinued)
Years ended December 31, 2008, 2007 and 2006
(In thousands, except share amounts)

Common Stock Other
Additional comprehensivt
Issued paid-in Retained Treasury
Shares Balance capital Earnings income (loss) Balance Total
Balance December 31, 20C 335,211,20 $3,35z $812,22: $6,117,56° $ (137,25 $(4,420,39) $2,375,49:
Comprehensive incom
Net income — — — 654,71¢ — — 654,71¢
Other comprehensive income (los
Foreign currency translation adjustm: — — — — (44,01 — (44,012
Amortization of net prior service co:
net of taxes of ($1,91¢ — — — — 3,11¢ — 3,11¢
Amortization of actuarial loss, net of
taxes of ($4,539 — — — — 7,37¢ — 7,37¢

Pension and post-retirement plan funded
status adjustment, net of taxes of
($203,485) — — — — (347,16 — (347,16%)
Change in net unrealized gains (loss
Investment in retained securitization
interests, net of tax benefit of

$10,252 — — — — (18,839 — (18,839
Derivative financial instruments, n
of taxes of ($7,464 — — — — 11,55¢ — 11,55¢
Marketable securities, net of taxes of
($45) — — — — 76 — 76
Comprehensive incornr 266,82

Adjustment to apply measurement date
provisions of SFAS No. 158, net of taxes of

($6,887) — — — (11,199 2,627 — (8,570
Dividends — — — (302,319 — — (302,319
Repurchase of common sta — — — — — (250,419 (250,419
401(k) match made with Treasury shs — — 9,16¢ — — 2 9,16¢
Shar-based compensatic — — 24,02: — — — 24,02
Issuance of nonvested stc 384,76: 4 4 — — — —
Exercise of stock optior 57,61¢ 1 1,17¢ — — — 1,17¢
Tax benefit of stock optior — — 211 — — — 211
Balance December 31, 20C 335,653,567 $3,357 $846,79¢ $6,458,77¢ $ (522,526 $(4,670,80) $2,115,60.

The accompanying notes are an integral part o€dimsolidated financial statements.
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HARLEY-DAVIDSON, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Principles of Consolidation and Basis of Presemtatt The consolidated financial statements includeattemunts of Harley-Davidson,
Inc. and its subsidiaries (the Company), includimgaccounts of the groups of companies doing kasias Harley-Davidson Motor Company
(HDMC), Buell Motorcycle Company (Buell), MV Agus{dV) and Harley-Davidson Financial Services (HDFS)

All of the Company’s subsidiaries are wholly owraadl are included in the consolidated financiakestents. Substantially all of the
Company'’s international subsidiaries use the redspelocal currency as their functional currencysats and liabilities of international
subsidiaries have been translated at period-entbexe rates, and income and expenses have beslatiedrusing average exchange rates for
the period.

In connection with term assbacked securitization transactions, HDFS utilizeslying Special Purpose Entities (QSPES) as aefioy
Statement of Financial Accounting Standards (SFA&)140 ‘Accounting for Transfers and Servicing of Finanéiakets and Extinguishme;
of Liabilities.” Assets and liabilities of the QSPEre not consolidated in the financial statemehtse Company. For further discussion of
QSPEs and securitization transactions see “FinReceivable Securitizations,” which follows.

The Company operates in two principal business satgnMotorcycles & Related Products (Motorcyclas)l Financial Services
(Financial Services). All intercompany accounts araterial transactions are eliminated.

Use of Estimates The preparation of financial statements in canfor with U.S. generally accepted accounting pites (U.S. GAAP)
requires management to make estimates and assusi it affect the amounts reported in the findrst&@ements and accompanying notes.
Actual results could differ from those estimates.

Cash and Cash EquivalentsThe Company considers all highly liquid investtsenith a maturity of three months or less when
purchased to be cash equivalents.

Marketable Securities The Company had investments in marketable sesigonsisting primarily of investment-grade delstiuments
such as corporate bonds and government backedtsecof $2.5 million at December 31, 2007 with tactual maturities of approximately 1
year. The Company classified its investments inkelable securities as available for sale, thusireguthe Company to carry them at their
value with any unrealized gains or losses repdrtedher comprehensive income. Net unrealized Bsset of taxes, included in other
comprehensive income as of December 31, 2007 weferflillion. Gains and losses realized on saleaarketable securities were included in
investment income and were not material. There wermarketable securities held at December 31,.2008

Accounts Receivable The Company’s motorcycles and related produgsald to international independent dealers andloligors
generally on open account and are included in adsaeceivable in the Company’s Consolidated Bade®loeets. The allowance for doubtful
accounts deducted from total accounts receivabie$8al million and $9.0 million as of December 2008 and 2007, respectively. The
Company'’s sales of motorcycles and related prododtse U.S. and Canada are financed by the puirtipaealers or distributors through
HDFS, and the related receivables are includethante receivables held for investment in the clisat®d balance sheets.

Finance Receivables Credit LosseFhe allowance for finance credit losses on firareceivables held for investment is charged to
earnings in amounts sufficient to maintain theva#lace for uncollectible accounts at a level HDFleles is adequate to cover the losses of
principal in the existing portfolio. HDFS’ periodavaluation of the adequacy of the allowance iegdly based on HDFS’ past loan loss
experience, known and inherent risks in the pddfdhe value of the underlying collateral and eatreconomic conditions. HDFS’ wholesale
and other large loan charge-off policy is base@ ¢wan-by-loan review which considers the spedtiicrower’s ability to repay and the
estimated value of any collateral.
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Retail loans are generally charged-off at 120 daygractually past due. All finance receivablesraednterest until either collected or
charged-off. Accordingly, as of December 31, 2008 2007, all finance receivables are accounteddadnterest-earning receivables.

Finance Receivables Held for SaléJ).S. retail motorcycle loans intended for se@atton at origination are classified as finance
receivables held for sale. These finance receigaimdd for sale in the aggregate are carried dbther of cost or estimated fair value. Any
amount by which cost exceeds fair value is accalftteas a valuation adjustment with an offsettteeoincome. Cash flows related to finance
receivables held for sale are included in cashdlénem operating activities.

Finance Receivables Securitizatioh$IDFS sells retail motorcycle loans through sdiaation transactions that qualify for accounting
sale treatment under SFAS No. 140. Under the tefrascuritization transactions, HDFS sells retaéiis to a securitization trust utilizing the
two-step process described below. The securitizdticst issues notes to investors, with variousunitégés and interest rates, secured by future
collections of purchased retail loans. The procdemn the issuance of the term asset-backed sexugte utilized by the securitization trust to
purchase retail loans from HDFS.

Upon sale of the retail loans to the securitizatioist, HDFS receives cash, records a gain ordogbe transaction and also retains an
interest in excess cash flows, subordinated séesiriind the right to receive cash reserve acatepusits in the future, collectively referred to
as “investment in retained securitization inter&sthe investment in retained securitization ingtsds included with finance receivables held
for investment in the consolidated balance shé@éts.Company’s continuing involvement in the seagd U.S. retail motorcycles loans is
limited to its investment in retained securitizatiaterests and servicing rights.

The interest in excess cash flows equals the dagis farising from U.S. retail motorcycle loans stiddhe securitization trust less
servicing fees, credit losses and contracted payotdigations owed to securitization trust investdfey assumptions in determining the
present value of projected excess cash flows a&gagments, credit losses and discount rate. Thedhie of the interest in excess cash flows
was $135.5 million and $237.9 million at Decembgr 2008 and 2007, respectively.

As part of the first quarter 2008 securitizaticanaction, HDFS retained $54.0 million of the sdbmated securities issued by the
securitization trust. These securities have adtatiecipal and fixed interest rate and are subyaigid to the senior securities within the
securitization trust. Fair value is determined gsiiscounted cash flow methodologies. The fair @altithe retained subordinated securities
was $47.2 million as of December 31, 2008. As ofédeber 31, 2008, unrealized losses on the subaedirs@curities were $5.8 million, or
$3.8 million net of taxes. The unrealized lossescare to changes in discount rates and have exatéess than one year. The Company has
the intent and ability to hold the subordinatedusiies until they recover their value and doeshelieve the unrealized losses reflect a
permanent impairment.

Reserve account deposits represent intexasting cash deposits which collateralize the asurities. The funds are not available for
by HDFS until the reserve account balances exdeegholds specified in the securitization agreemeéltie fair value of the reserve account
deposits was $147.9 million and $169.8 million @cBmber 31, 2008 and 2007, respectively.

HDFS retains servicing rights on the U.S. retaitonoycle loans that it has sold to the securitaatrust and receives a servicing fee.
servicing fee paid to HDFS is considered adequatiepensation for the services provided and is ireduid financial services income as
earned. HDFS earned $55.1 million, $60.8 milliom] $52.8 million from contractually specified semg fees, late fees, and ancillary fees
during 2008, 2007, and 2006, respectively. Thess &e recorded in financial services income.
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Gains or losses on current year securitization® fitee sale of the U.S. retail motorcycle loansramegnized in the period in which the
sale occurs. The amount of the gain or loss dependise proceeds received and the original carrgimgunt of the transferred U.S. retail
motorcycle loans, allocated between the assetsasmdhe retained interests based on their relédivealues at the date of transfer.

Investments in retained securitization interestsracorded at fair value and are periodically nereie for impairment. As discussed in
Note 8, for the years ended December 31, 2008 awémber 31, 2007, the Company recorded an impairohange of $41.4 million and $9
million, respectively, related to its retained s@ization interests. Market quotes of fair value generally not available for retained interests;
therefore, HDFS estimates fair value based on tbeept value of future expected cash flows usindr8hest estimates of key assumptions
for credit losses, prepayments and discount raggs in management’s judgment, reflect the assumgptimarketplace participants would use.
Unrealized gains and losses on investments innediasecuritization interests are recorded in atherprehensive income. As of December 31,
2008, net unrealized losses were $4.1 million,27 $nillion net of taxes. As of December 31, 2085t unrealized gains of $25.0 million
before income taxes, or $16.2 million net of taxes.

HDFS utilizes a two-step process to transfer Ue&ilrmotorcycle loans to a securitization trusiSUretail motorcycle loans are initially
transferred to a special purpose, bankruptcy remdtelly owned subsidiary which in turn sells theSUretail motorcycle loans to the
securitization trust. The securitization trustuaded with cash obtained through the issuanceeotfettm asset-backed securities. HDFS has
surrendered control of retail loans sold to theusézation trust. Securitization transactions héeen structured such that: (1) transferred asset
have been isolated from HDFS by being put preswalytibeyond the reach of HDFS and its creditoreneim bankruptcy or other receivers|
(2) each holder of a beneficial interest in theusigization trust has the right to pledge or examtheir interest; and (3) HDFS does not
maintain effective control over the transferredetsshrough either (a) an agreement that bothlentind obligates HDFS to repurchase or
redeem the transferred assets before their matttigr than for breaches of certain representativaganties and covenants relating to the
transferred assets, or (b) the ability to unildtgmeause the holder to return specific assetsrotiian through a customary cleanup call.

Activities of the securitization trust are limitéalacquiring U.S. retail motorcycle loans, issuiagn asset-backed securities, making
payments on securities to investors and otheritiesyermissible under SFAS No. 140. Securitizatrosts have a limited life and generally
terminate upon final distribution of amounts owedtte investors in the term as$atcked securities. Historically, the life of setiadtion trust:
purchasing U.S. retail motorcycle loans from HDRES hpproximated four years.

HDFS does not guarantee payments on the secusisiesd by the securitization trusts or the propctesh flows from the U.S. retail
motorcycle loans purchased from HDFS. The Compamfaned securitization interests, excluding s@ng rights, are subordinate to the
interests of securitization trust investors. Suuolestors have priority interests in the cash ctibes on the retail loans sold to the securitizatio
trust (after payment of servicing fees) and indash reserve account deposits. These priorityasteultimately could impact the value of the
Companys investment in retained securitization interdsigestors also do not have recourse to the astetBBS for failure of the obligors ¢
the retail loans to pay when due.

Due to the overall structure of the securitizati@msaction, the nature of the assets held bydberiization trust and the limited nature
its activities, the securitization trusts are cdeséd QSPEs. Accordingly, gain or loss on saledgsgnized upon transfer of retail loans to a
QSPE and the assets and liabilities of the QSPEratrconsolidated in the financial statementsBfFS. See Note 8 for further discussion of
HDFS’ securitization program.

Asset-Backed Commercial Paper Conduit Fac#ityy December 2008, HDFS sold for legal purposé tetail motorcycle finance
receivables to a wholly-owned special purpose ef8PE), which in turn, issued debt to third-pdrnk-sponsored asset-backed commercial
paper conduits. The SPE funded the purchase dirthiece receivables from HDFS primarily with cadhiained through the issuance of the
debt. HDFS is the primary and sole beneficiaryhef 8PE, and the finance receivables sale doesatisfythe requirements for accounting sale
treatment under SFAS No. 140. Therefore, the assetassociated debt are included in the Compdimgacial statements. The assets of the
SPE are restricted as collateral for the paymetti@flebt or other obligations arising in the teanti®n and are not available to pay other
obligations or claims of the Company'’s creditors December 31, 2008, the SPE held $24.1 milliooash collections from the finance
receivables held by the SPE restricted for payroarthe outstanding debt.
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The assets of the SPE totaled $686.3 million aebder 31, 2008 and are included primarily in céslance receivables held for sale .
finance receivables held for investment in the Canys Consolidated Balance Sheet. The related-ass&ed commercial paper conduit
facility was $500.0 million at December 31, 2008l ahincluded in short-term debt in Company’s Cdidsted Balance Sheet.

Inventories- Inventories are valued at the lower of cost orkeia Substantially all inventories located in theited States are valued
using the last-in, first-out (LIFO) method. Otheveéntories totaling $174.1 million at December 3108 and $112.7 million at December 31,
2007 are valued at the lower of cost or marketguttie first-in, first-out (FIFO) method.

Property, Plant and EquipmentProperty, plant and equipment is recorded at &xpreciation is determined on the straight-liasi®
over the estimated useful lives of the assets.foll@ving useful lives are used to depreciate theous classes of property, plant and
equipment: buildings - 30 to 40 years; buildingipquent and land improvements - 7 to 10 years; aadninery and equipment - 3 to 10 years.
Accelerated methods of depreciation are used fmnre tax purposes.

Goodwill and Intangible AssetsGoodwill represents the excess of acquisitiont oesr the fair value of the net assets purchased.
Goodwill is tested for impairment at least annuélfsed on financial data related to the reportimgto which it has been assigned. The
Company has assigned goodwill to reporting unitebaon specific review of each purchase transadiiaring 2008 and 2007, the Company
tested its goodwill balances for impairment andadjustments were recorded to goodwill as a reduliase reviews. Intangible asset values
based on third-party valuations and are also stubjeat least annual impairment testing.

Long-lived Assets The Company periodically evaluates the carryialgie of long-lived assets to be held and used amgtlived assets
held for sale, when events and circumstances wasta review. If the carrying value of a long-livasset is considered impaired, a loss is
recognized based on the amount by which the caywyaue exceeds the fair market value of the loned asset for assets to be held and used,
or the amount by which the carrying value excebddair market value less cost to sell for asseld for sale. Fair market value is determined
primarily using the anticipated cash flows discaghat a rate commensurate with the risk involved.

Product Warranty and Safety Recall Campaigriehe Company currently provides a standard twa-fedted warranty on all new
motorcycles sold worldwide, except for Japan, whkeeeCompany provides a standard three-year limitaglanty on all new motorcycles sold.
The warranty coverage for the retail customer idetuparts and labor and generally begins when tteroycle is sold to a retail customer.
Company maintains reserves for future warrantymdaiising an estimated cost per unit sold, whidiaged primarily on historical Company
claim information. Additionally, the Company hasrr time to time initiated certain voluntary safe¢gall campaigns. The Company reserves
for all estimated costs associated with safetylletathe period that the safety recalls are amced.

Changes in the Company’s warranty and safety réahllity were as follows (in thousands):

2008 2007 2006
Balance, beginning of peric $70,52: $66,388 $43,07:
Warranties issued during the peri 52,64t 54,96: 56,00¢
Settlements made during the per (71,737)  (66,427)) (57,267
Safety recalls and changes to-existing warranty liabilitie: 13,11: 15,597 24,57!
Balance, end of peric $64,54: $7052! $66,38¢

The liability for safety recall campaigns was $hitlion, $3.7 million and $6.5 million at Decembgt, 2008, 2007 and 2006,
respectively.

67



Table of Contents

Derivative Financial Instruments The Company uses derivative financial instrumémtsanage foreign currency exchange rate,
commodity price and interest rate risk. The Compmpwlicy specifically prohibits the use of deriwags for trading purposes. Refer to Note 17
for a detailed description of the Company’s derxatnstruments.

All derivative instruments are recognized on thiabee sheet at fair value. Changes in the fairevaluderivatives that are designated as
fair value hedges, along with the gain or losstenttedged item, are recorded in current periodmgsnFor derivative instruments that are
designated as cash flow hedges, the effectivequodi gains and losses that result from chang#éseiffiair value of derivative instruments is
initially recorded in other comprehensive income anbsequently reclassified into earnings wherhduged transaction affects income. Any
ineffective portion is immediately recognized inrgags. No component of a hedging derivative insiat’s gain or loss is excluded from the
assessment of hedge effectiveness. Derivativeuimsints which do not qualify for hedge accountirgyracorded at fair value and any changes
in fair value are recorded in current period eagain

Revenue RecognitienSales are recorded when products are shippetdtesale customers (independent dealers and ditirg) and
ownership is transferred. The Company offers dalgantive programs to both wholesale and retaitausrs designed to promote the sale of
motorcycles and related products. The total cdstisese programs are recognized as revenue redseditd are accrued at the later of the date
the related sales are recorded or the date thatimegorogram is both approved and communicated.

Financial Services Income Recognitierinterest income on finance receivables is reabeteearned and is based on the average
outstanding daily balance for wholesale and re¢aigivables. Accrued interest is classified wittafice receivables. Loan origination payments
made to dealers for certain retail loans are defleand amortized over the estimated life of theremh Insurance commissions and
commissions on the sale of extended service cdeteae recognized when contractually earned. Dedeevenue related to extended service
contracts was $15.3 million and $16.8 million aPetember 31, 2008 and 2007, respectively.

Research and Development Expensé&xpenditures for research activities relatingroduct development and improvement are charged
against income as incurred and included within afpeg expenses in the consolidated statement ofriec Research and development expe
were $163.5 million, $185.5 million and $177.7 moifi for 2008, 2007 and 2006, respectively.

Advertising Costs The Company expenses the production cost of sivey the first time the advertising takes plagdvertising costs
relate to the Company’s efforts to promote its jpicid and brands through the use of media. Duri@$ 22007 and 2006, the Company
incurred $89.2 million, $76.9 million and $69.7 haih in advertising costs, respectively.

Shipping and Handling CostsThe Company classifies shipping and handlingscasta component of cost of goods sold.
Reclassifications- Certain prior year amounts related to debt haenbeclassified to conform to the current yeasgméation.

Share-Based Award Compensation Cest$he Company recognizes the cost of its sharedbasards in its income statement. The total
cost of the Company’s equity awards is equal ta gant date fair value and is recognized as egpa@m a straight-line basis over the service
periods of the awards. The total cost of the Comijsdiability for cash-settled awards is equal heit settlement date fair value. The liability
for cash-settled awards is revalued each perioddas a recalculated fair value adjusted for veateards. Total share-based award
compensation expense recognized by the Companygd€i08, 2007 and 2006, including stock option mmalvested stock awards, was $24.5
million, $21.0 million and $21.4 million, respeatly, or $15.3 million, $13.0 million and $13.3 nolh net of taxes, respectively.

Income Tax ExpenseThe Company recognizes interest and penaltiageeto unrecognized tax benefits in the provisasrincome
taxes.
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New Accounting Standards

In September 2006, the Financial Accounting Stadel&oard (FASB) issued SFAS No. 158, “Employerstdunting for Defined
Benefit Pension and Other Postretirement Planajre@ndment of FASB Statements No. 87, 88, 106 aB(R)3 SFAS No. 158 requires
employers that sponsor defined benefit pensionpastretirement benefit plans to recognize previpuskecognized actuarial losses and prior
service costs in the statement of financial posiiad to recognize future changes in these amautite year in which changes occur through
comprehensive income. Additionally, employers aguired to measure the funded status of a plafithe alate of their year-end statements of
financial position. The Company adopted SFAS N@&, Hs it relates to recognizing the funded statuts aefined benefit pension and
postretirement benefit plans, and the related aéscke requirements, as of December 31, 2006. Theregnent to measure the funded status as
of the date of the year-end statement of finanmisition was adopted on January 1, 2008. Upon aigphe Company recorded a reduction to
retained earnings of $18.1 million ($11.2 milliovet of tax) and an increase to accumulated oth@poehensive income of $4.2 million ($2.6
million, net of tax). See Note 12 for further dission of the effect of adopting SFAS No. 158 on@oenpany’s consolidated financial
statements and notes.

In September 2006, the FASB issued SFAS No. 1540y Value Measurements.” SFAS No. 157 establishesraework for measuring
fair value in generally accepted accounting prilespclarifies the definition of fair value withthat framework, and expands disclosures about
the use of fair value measurements. SFAS No. 1pliegpto fair value measurements required by exdsticcounting pronouncements and does
not require any new fair value measurements. Thagamy adopted SFAS No. 157 on January 1, 2008\ete18 for disclosures required
under SFAS No. 157. The Company has not adopteds¥®# 157 for non-financial assets and liabiliasspermitted by FASB Staff Position
No. FAS 15-2, which provided a deferral of such provision$Il2009.

In December 2007, the FASB issued SFAS No. 141deev2007), “Business Combinations.” SFAS No. 14Xffanges the accounting
for business combinations in a number of areasidtiey the treatment of contingent consideratior;gquisition contingencies, transaction
costs, in-process research and development andaesing costs. In addition, under SFAS No. 141@Rpgnges in an acquired entiydeferre
tax assets and uncertain tax positions after treesarement period will impact income tax expens&$SNo. 141(R) will be effective for the
Company beginning in fiscal year 2009. This staddgtl change the Company’s accounting treatmenbfesiness combinations on a
prospective basis, when adopted.

In March 2008, the FASB issued SFAS No. 161, “Disares about Derivative Instruments and Hedgingviiets, an amendment of
FASB Statement No. 133.” SFAS No. 161 requires eobd disclosures about an entity’s derivative agdbimg activities. Entities will be
required to provide enhanced disclosures aboutiqa)and why an entity uses derivative instrumefishow derivative instruments and
related hedge items are accounted for under SFAS BBand its related interpretations; and (c) ldewivative instruments and related hedge
items affect an entity’s financial position, finasgerformance and cash flows. The Company isireduo adopt SFAS No. 161 beginning in
fiscal year 2009. The Company is currently evahgthe impact the new disclosure requirementshaile on its consolidated financial
statements and notes.

In December 2008, the FASB issued FASB Staff RusifiFSP) No. SFAS 132(R)-1, “Employers’ Disclosuabsut Postretirement
Benefit Plan Assets.” FSP No. SFAS 132(R)-1 requaditional fair value disclosures about employgession and postretirement benefit
plan assets consistent with guidance containedrASSNo. 157 (discussed above). Specifically, empiewvill be required to disclose
information about how investment allocation deaisiare made, the fair value of each major categbpjan assets and information about the
inputs and valuation techniques used to develofain@alue measurements of plan assets. FSP N&SSB2(R)-1 is effective for fiscal years
ending after December 15, 2009. The Company isotlyr evaluating the impact the new disclosure iregquents will have on its consolidated
financial statements and notes.
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2. Additional Balance Sheet and Cash Flow Informatior

The following information represents additionalalkfor selected line items included in the condaled balance sheets at December 31
and the statements of cash flows for the yearsceBeéeember 31.

Balance Sheet Information:
Inventories, net (in thousands):

2008 2007
Components at the lower of FIFO cost or ma
Raw materials and work in proce $ 151,89¢ $ 149,95
Motorcycle finished good 185,46 107,76¢
Parts and accessories and general mercha 103,68: 124,10¢
Inventory at lower of FIFO cost or mark 441,04 381,83:
Excess of FIFO over LIFO co 40,13¢ 32,13«

$ 400,90¢ $ 349,69

Inventory obsolescence reserves deducted from EtiSDwere $28.8 million and $16.3 million as of Bexber 31, 2008 and 20C
respectively

Property, plant and equipment, at cost (in thouspl

2008 2007
Land and related improvemer $ 6646:¢ $ 49,92
Buildings and related improvemet 497,85: 392,30°
Machinery and equipme! 2,333,60. 2,040,47
Construction in progres 134,07: 275,23t

3,031,98° 2,757,94
Less: accumulated depreciati 1,937,50. 1,697,35

$1,094,48 $1,060,59

Accrued liabilities (in thousands

2008 2007
Payroll, performance incentives and related exps $ 166,65 $ 151,52
Warranty and recall 64,54 70,52
Sales incentive progran 84,68: 78,30:
Income taxe: 27,16: 19,49¢
Fair value of derivative financial instrumel 23,50: 34,41
Other 174,82¢ 130,67!

$ 541,37. $ 484,93
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Components of accumulated other comprehensivenessf tax (in thousands):

Cumulative foreign currency translation adjustnr

Unrealized (loss) gain on investment in retainetigézation interes
Unrealized net loss on derivative financial instants

Unrealized net loss on marketable secur

Unrecognized pension and postretirement benefit lpddilities
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2008 2007
$ 15,17 $ 59,18«
(2,67)) 16,167
(7,700 (19,25)
— (76)
(527,32)  (193,27)
$(522,520) $(137,259)
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Cash Flow Information:

The reconciliation of net income to net cash predithy operating activities is as follows (in thouss):

Cash flows from operating activitie

Net income

Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cashigeal by operating activitie:
Depreciation and amortizatic
Amortization of acquisitio-related intangible
Provision for employee lol-term benefits
Contributions to pension and postretirement p
Stock compensation exper
Loss (gain) on current year securitizatit
Net change in wholesale finance receival
Origination of retail finance receivables held $ate
Collections on retail finance receivables held<ale
Proceeds from securitization of retail finance resisles
Impairment of retained securitization intere

Lower of cost or fair market value adjustment arafice receivables held

for sale
Provision for credit losse
Deferred income taxe
Foreign currency adjustmer
Other, ne
Changes in current assets and liabilit
Accounts receivable, n
Finance receivable- accrued interest and otf
Inventories
Accounts payable and accrued liabilit
Other
Total adjustment

Net cash (used by) provided by operating activ

Cash paid during the period for interest and inctaes (in thousands

Interest
Income taxe:

2008 2007 2006

$ 654,71t $ 933,84 $1,043,15
222,19 204,17: 213,76
20,09( — —
76,42t 75,68: 80,17¢
(19,51) (15,307) (13,519
24,47: 20,97+ 21,44¢
5,37( (36,039 (32,319
99,37: 22,81¢ (159,88()

(2,788,46)  (2,919,93)  (2,772,73)
507,10 110,75¢ 112,13
467,72 2,486,78! 2,303,56:
41,40 9,93: —
37,76« — —
39,55¢ 11,25: 5,962
(49,429) (60,529 (39,769
2,89: (14,587) (7,975)
53,98: 16,83( 26,57:
(4,474 (26,449 (16,36
(7,149) (19,68() (23,447)
(45,09:) (48,019 (54,35:)
9,73¢ 48,15; 76,05¢
(33,329 (2,519) (70)

(1,339,36) (135,69) (281,37)

$ (684,649 $ 798,14t $ 761,78
2008 2007 2006

$ 12800 $ 81,47: $ 57,99

$ 41399 $ 56881 $ 602,34

Interest paid represents interest payments of H{ieRuded in financial services expense) and irgiepayments of the Company

(included in interest expense).
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Non-cash investing activity during the period (otsands):

2008 2007 2006

Investment in retained securitization interestenezd in connection wit
securitizations during the ye $ 87,17: $ 170,17 $ 156,95!

3. Acquisition

On August 8, 2008, the Company announced the cdioplef its purchase of privately-held Italian miatycle maker MV Agusta (MV).
The Company acquired 100 percent of MV sharesoai tonsideration of €68.3 million ($105.1 milliprvhich includes the satisfaction of
existing bank debt for €47.5 million ($73.2 milljorin addition, the agreement provides for a cagirt payment to the former owner of MV in
2016, if certain financial targets are met duri®@d.2 through 2015. The contingent payment, whicHctba a material component of the final
consideration, will be recorded as goodwill whea #mount is determinable. The Company financedr#imsaction and MV'’s initial working
capital requirements through $181.6 million of debtler existing credit facilities. The Company &edis the acquisition of MV will enhance
the Company’s presence in Europe and its penetratto the performance segment of the motorcycleketa

The operating results of MV, which is part of thetigrcycles segment, have been included in the Coypaonsolidated financial
statements from the date of acquisition. Pro foimfarmation reflecting this acquisition has not bekisclosed as the pro forma impact on
consolidated net income would not be material.

The following table summarizes the preliminary featues of the MV assets acquired and liabilitiesumed at the date of acquisition (in
thousands):

Current assets, net of cash acqu $ 60,48:
Property, plant and equipme 39,46¢
Goodwill 85,75(
Intangible assel 52,81
Other noncurrent asse 3,73¢
Total asset 242,25:
Current liabilities 123,11¢
Noncurrent liabilities 23,57¢
Total liabilities 146,69

Net assets acquire $ 95,55¢

The purchase price allocation may be subsequedilsted to reflect final appraisals and other viaunastudies.

In conjunction with the acquisition of MV, the Coangy recorded goodwill of $85.8 million, none of whiis tax deductible, and
intangible assets with an initial fair value of $illion. Of the total intangible assets acqujr$8.1 million was assigned to patents with
useful lives of ten years, $6.3 million was asstyteemiscellaneous intangibles with useful livese¥en years and $18.3 million was assigned
to trademarks that are not subject to amortizafitie remaining $20.1 million was assigned to redeand development assets that were
written off subsequent to the acquisition datedooadance with FASB Interpretation Number (FINYApplicability of FASB Statement No. 2
to Business Combinations Accounted for by the PasehMethod.” This resulted in a one-time expensk26f1 million and is included within
selling and administrative expenses.

4. Restructuring Costs

During the second quarter of 2008, the Companyified a plan to ship fewer motorcycles to its waiide dealer network in 2008 thar
shipped in 2007. The Company achieved this redu¢timugh temporary plant shutdowns, adjusted gaibgluction rates and a workforce
reduction involving approximately 730 positions. &sesult of the workforce reduction plan, the Camprecorded a $12.4 million charge
during 2008 within selling and administrative expes. The total restructuring charge
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consisted of $7.6 million of employee severanceshienand $4.8 million of special retiree benefitsthose individuals eligible to receive
benefits. As of December 31, 2008, all 730 empleya® contract workers have departed from the Caypa

The following table summarizes the Company’s restming reserve recorded in accrued liabilitie®BBecember 31, 2008 (in
thousands):

Employee Severanc

Original reserve $ 7,594
Utilized - cash (5,44
Balance, December 31, 20 $ 2,14¢

Of the total restructuring reserve, $2.1 millionesorded within accrued liabilities and $4.8 roitliis recorded within postretirement
healthcare benefits in the Company’s Consolidateldii:e Sheet as of December 31, 2008.

5. Goodwill and Intangible Assets

The changes in the carrying amount of goodwillasteof the Company’s reporting segments for thesyeaded December 31, 2008 and
2007 were as follows (in thousands):

December 31 December 31
Business Currency
2006 Acquisitions Translation 2007
Motorcycles $ 29,96( — $ 2,601 $ 32,56
Financial Service 28,84( — — 28,84(
$ 58,80( o $ 2,601 $ 61,40:
December 31 December 31
Business Currency
2007 Acqguisitions Translation 2008
Motorcycles $ 32,56 $ 85,75( $ (8,572 $ 109,73¢
Financial Service 28,84( — — 28,84(

$ 61,40: $ 85,75( $ (8,579 $ 138,57¢

As discussed in Note 3, the Company recorded $88l®n of goodwill in conjunction with the acquisn of MV during 2008.
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The Company’s intangible assets, primarily resglfrom the acquisition of MV, are valued based lirdtparty valuations and consisted
of (in thousands):

December 31, 200!
Accumulated

Gross
Carrying
Amount Amortization Net
Amortized intangible asse
Patented technolog $737t 3% (262) $ 7,11«
Miscellaneou: 6,107 (273 5,83¢
13,48: (535) 12,94¢
Unamortized intangible asse
Trademarks 14,98 — 14,98’
Total intangible asse $28,47C $  (B3Y  $27,93¢

Amortization for the year ended December 31, 2088 $0.5 million. Excluding the impact of any futaeguisitions, the Company
anticipates amortization of intangible assets ailtrage approximately $1.1 million per year overrbxt five years.

6. Financial Services

HDFS is engaged in the business of financing andaieg wholesale inventory receivables and rdtahs, primarily for the purchase of
motorcycles and, as an agent, providing insuranddressurance-related programs primarily to Harlegwidson and Buell dealers and their
retail customers. HDFS conducts business pringipalthe United States and Canada and is respenfeibhll credit and collection activities
for the Company’s U.S. dealer receivables and ésadian distributor receivables.

The condensed statements of operations relatitifgetéinancial Services segment, for the years ebéegmber 31, were as follows (in
thousands):

2008 2007 2006
Interest incom $290,08: $196,80! $167,50:
Income from securitizatior 13,43¢ 97,57¢ 111,17
Other income 73,44¢ 121,817 106,21(
Financial services incon 376,97( 416,19t 384,89
Interest expens 136,76 81,47 59,76
Operating expenst 157,44. 122,55. 114,40¢
Financial services expens 294,20 204,020 174,16
Operating income from financial servic $ 82,76F $212,16¢ $210,72-

Financial Services interest income includes appnaxely $18.0 million, $27.7 million and $23.6 nulli of interest on wholesale finance
receivables paid by HDMC to HDFS in 2008, 2007 2666, respectively. This interest was paid on HesfdHDMC’s independent dealers ¢
way to manage seasonal increases in inventoryoffeetting cost of these interest incentives wasmded as a reduction to net revenue.

Income from securitizations includes losses oneniryear securitization transactions of $5.4 millduring 2008, and gains of $36.0
million and $32.3 million during 2007 and 2006, pestively, and income on investment in retainedisgzation interests of $18.8 million,
$61.6 million and $78.9 million during 2008, 2007ds2006, respectively.
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7.  Finance Receivable:
Finance receivables held for investment, net aebdxer 31 for the past five years were as followsh{ousands):

2008 2007 2006 2005 2004

Wholesale
United State! $1,074,37 $1,132,74: $1,206,75. $1,040,221 $ 870,64(
Europe — 86,94 66,42: 59,96( 73,23:
Canade 89,85¢ 108,75t 65,53¢ 50,09" 51,94¢
Total wholesale 1,164,231 1,328,45. 1,338,71. 1,150,27 995,81¢

Retail

United State! 514,63 485,57¢ 409,78t 319,85t 287,84
Canade 226,08: 228,85( 174,89: 149,59° 120,21°
Total retail 740,72: 714,42¢ 584,68: 469,45 408,05¢
1,904,95 2,042,88( 1,923,39. 1,619,731 1,403,87.
Allowance for credit losse 40,06¢ 30,29¢ 27,28: 26,16¢ 30,277
1,864,888 2,012,58' 1,896,11. 1,593,56! 1,373,59
Investment in retained securitization intere 330,67 407,74 384,10t 349,65¢ 282,18

$2,195,56. $2,420,32° $2,280,21 $1,943,22. $1,655,78

Finance receivables held for sale at December Bthéopast five years were as follows (in thousgnds

2008 2007 2006 2005 2004

Retail
United State! $2,443,96! $781,28( $547,10¢ $299,37. $456,51¢

Included in finance receivables held for sale atédeber 31, 2008 is a lower of cost or market vadnatdjustment of $31.7 million.

At December 31, 2008, finance receivables of $648l8on are restricted as collateral for the payinef $500.0 million short-term asset-
backed commercial paper conduit facility debt, whincluded in the Company’s Consolidated BalaBbeet.

HDFS has cross-border outstandings to Canada@sazd#mber 31, 2008, 2007 and 2006 of $75.8 milg&2.2 million and $61.1
million, respectively.

HDFS provides wholesale financing to the Compainydependent dealers. Wholesale loans to dealergeswerally secured by financed
inventory or property and are originated in the la®d Canada. Effective January 1, 2008, the fieaeceivables and related assets of the
international wholesale operations located in Cxkf@ngland were transferred at book value to Hallayidson Europe Ltd., a subsidiary of
HDMC. Beginning in 2008, HDMC assumed responsipiiitr the collection of all wholesale receivablassurope.

HDFS provides retail financial services to custosrarthe Company’s independent dealers in the ditates and Canada. The
origination of retail loans is a separate and nigstiransaction between HDFS and the retail custonmeelated to the Company’s sale of
product to its dealers. Retail loans consist ofissat promissory notes and installment loans. HDEfeholds titles or liens on titles to
vehicles financed by promissory notes and instailnh@ans. As of December 31, 2008 approximately bf%ross outstanding finance
receivables were originated in Texas and as of Déee 31, 2007 approximately 12% were originateGamada.
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At December 31, 2008 and 2007, unused lines ofiteegtended to HDFSiholesale finance customers totaled $941.9 millind $994..
million, respectively. Approved but unfunded refailance loans totaled $263.1 million and $458.4iom at December 31, 2008 and 2007,
respectively.

Wholesale finance receivables are related priméwilypotorcycles and related parts and accessaies ® independent dealers and are
generally contractually due within one year. Refia#énce receivables are primarily related to safamotorcycles to the dealersistomers. O
December 31, 2008, contractual maturities of fiearezeivables held for investment (excluding regdigecuritization interests) were as foll:
(in thousands):

United States Canada Total
2009 $1,116,32. $117,17° $1,233,50
2010 33,49¢ 29,26: 62,757
2011 37,06¢ 32,78: 69,841
2012 41,03¢ 36,72 77,75¢
2013 45,447 41,14( 86,58’
Thereaftel 315,64 58,86: 374,50t
Total $1,589,01: $315,94« $1,904,95

As of December 31, 2008, all finance receivables after one year were at fixed interest rates.

The allowance for finance credit losses on finamoeivables held for investment is comprised obviiddial components relating to
wholesale and retail finance receivables. Chang#sa allowance for finance credit losses on firareceivables held for investment for the
years ended December 31 were as follows (in thalsjz

2008 2007 2006
Balance at beginning of ye $ 30,29 $27,28: $26,16¢
Provision for finance credit loss 39,55¢ 11,25: 5,96:
Charge-offs, net of recoverie (29,787 (8,240) (4,849
Balance at end of ye: $ 40,06¢ $30,29: $27,28:

The carrying value of retail and wholesale finareeeivables contractually past due 90 days or mabBecember 31 for the past five
years were as follows (in thousanc

2008 2007 2006 2005 2004
United State: $23,67¢ $6,208 $4,47¢ $2,57¢ $1,90¢
Canade 1,278 1,75¢ 1,561 1,44 994
Europe — 38¢€ 452 285  3,68¢
Total $24,95: $8,35( $6,48¢ $4,29¢ $6,58¢
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8. Securitization Transactions

During 2008, 2007 and 2006, the Company sold $540l®n, $2.53 billion and $2.33 billion, respeatly, of retail motorcycle loans
through securitization transactions utilizing QSR&= Note 1). These sales resulted in cash preade#67.7 million, $2.49 billion and $2..
billion during 2008, 2007 and 2006, respectivelgeTompany retains an interest in excess cash fewbordinated securities and cash reserve
account deposits, collectively referred to as itmesit in retained securitization interests (a congpo of finance receivables held for
investment in the Company’s Consolidated Balancze&). The Company retains servicing rights andives annual servicing fees
approximating 1% of the outstanding securitizeditédans. HDFS serviced $3.25 billion and $4.6Wdr of securitized retail loans as of
December 31, 2008 and 2007, respectively. The itotatment in retained securitization interesteieed in connection with securitizations
during the year for the last three years is digdasnder non-cash investing activities in NotenZdnjunction with current and prior year sales,
HDFS had investments in retained securitizatioarggts of $330.7 million and $407.7 million at Dmber 31, 2008 and 2007, respectively.

The Company’s investment in retained securitizaitvarests, excluding servicing rights, is suboatinto the interests of securitization
trust investors. Such investors have priority iests in the cash collections on the retail loatd teothe securitization trust (after payment of
servicing fees) and in the cash reserve accourdsitsp These priority interests ultimately coulgewt the value of the Company’s investment
in retained securitization interests. Investorsidbhave recourse to the assets of HDFS for fadfitee obligors on the retail loans to pay w
due. The investment in retained securitizationrggts is recorded at fair value. Key assumptiortérnvaluation of the investment in retained
securitization interests and in calculating thengailoss on current year securitizations are tiedses, prepayments and discount rate.

At the date of the transaction, the following wegghaverage key assumptions were used to caldhtess on the securitization
completed in 2008 and the gain on securitizatiamspleted in 2007 and 2006:

2008 2007 2006
Prepayment speed (Single Monthly Mortali 200% 22% 2.4™%
Weightec-average life (in year: 1.9¢ 1.97 1.9¢

Expected cumulative net credit los: 425% 3.7% 2.8%%
Residual cash flows discount r: 12.0% 12.0(% 12.0(%

As of December 31, 2008 and 2007, respectivelyfahewing weighte-average key assumptions were used to valu
investment in retained securitization intere

2008 2007
Prepayment speed (Single Monthly Mortali 1.88% 2.11%
Weightec-average life (in year: 2.0¢ 2.07

Expected cumulative net credit los: 463% 3.8%
Residual cash flows discount r: 17.8% 12.0(%
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Expected cumulative net credit losses are a kayngsson in the valuation of the investment in re&al securitization interests. As of
December 31, 2008, 2007 and 2006, respectivelyghted-average expected net credit losses for tilleasecuritizations were 4.63%, 3.89%
and 2.99%. The table below summarizes, as of DeeeBith 2008, 2007 and 2006, respectively, expagtdghted-average cumulative net
credit losses by year of securitization, expressed percentage of the original balance of loangrigzed for all securitizations completed
during the years noted.

Loans securitized in

Expected weighted-average cumulative net credit lsss (%) as of : 2008 2007 2006 2005 2004

December 31, 200 S% 4.6€% 4.7¢% 4.66% 3.6€%
December 31, 200 — 3.88% 4.0% 4.1% 3.4&%
December 31, 200 — — 3.00% 3.1f% 2.9%

For the years ended December 31, 2008 and 200C dimpany recorded an impairment charge of $41.458c@ million, respectively,
related to its investment in retained securitizaiiterests. The investment in retained securitimanterests is recorded at fair value, which is
based on the present value of future expectedftash using the Company’s best estimate of key mggions for credit losses, prepayment
speed and discount rates that, in management’siedg reflect the assumptions marketplace partidgevould use. During 2008 and 2007,
the fair value of certain retained securitizatioterests was lower than the amortized cost, whidicated impairment. These impairments were
considered permanent and as a result the invesimegthined securitization interests has beenapjately written down to fair value. The
decline in fair value below cost was due to high@jected credit losses and an increased discatmin the fourth quarter of 2008 from 12%
to 18%. During the year ended December 31, 20@7hitiher actual and anticipated credit losses wartally offset by a slowing in actual a
expected prepayment speeds. These charges werdaé@s a reduction of financial services income.

Detailed below at December 31, 2008 and 2007 eis#msitivity of the fair value to immediate 10%6 &0% adverse changes in the
weighted-average key assumptions for the investinemgtained securitization interests (dollarshiausands):

2008 2007
Carrying amount/fair value of retained intere $330,67- $407,74:
Weightec-average life (in years 2.0¢ 2.07
Prepayment speed assumption (monthly rate 1.8¢% 2.17%
Impact on fair value of 10% adverse cha $ (5,700 $ (7,900
Impact on fair value of 20% adverse cha $(112,300) $(15,400)
Expected cumulative net credit losse 4.62% 3.8%
Impact on fair value of 10% adverse cha $(36,400) $(36,400)
Impact on fair value of 20% adverse cha $(72,700() $(72,700
Residual cash flows discount rate (annua 17.8% 12.0(%
Impact on fair value of 10% adverse cha $ (8,600 $ (7,500
Impact on fair value of 20% adverse cha $(16,800) $(14,700)

These sensitivities are hypothetical and shouldeatonsidered to be predictive of future perforoeaitChanges in fair value generally
cannot be extrapolated because the relationshiparfige in assumption to change in fair value mayadinear. Also, in this table, the effect
of a variation in a particular assumption on thiealue of the retained interest is calculatedejpehdently from any change in another
assumption. In reality, changes in one factor natribute to changes in another, which may magaifgounteract the sensitivities.
Furthermore, the estimated fair values as disclebedld not be considered indicative of future gey®mon these assets.
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The table below provides information regarding aertash flows received from and paid to all mogoke loan securitization trusts
during the years ended December 31, 2008 and 20@7aousands):

2008 2007
Proceeds from new securitizatic $467,72. $2,486,78I
Servicing fees receive 43,04¢ 45,47¢
Other cash flows received on retained inter 132,59 162,55¢
10% clea-up call repurchase optic (150,241) (90,50¢)

Managed retail motorcycle loans consist of allitetetorcycle installment loans serviced by HDFSluding those held by securitization
trusts and those held by HDFS. As of December 828 2nd 2007, managed retail motorcycle loansedt$6.03 billion and $5.80 billion,
respectively, of which $3.25 billion and $4.67 ibili, respectively, were securitized. The princig@ount of managed retail motorcycle loans
30 days or more past due was $339.1 million and $B@illion at December 31, 2008 and 2007, respelsti The principal amount of
securitized retail motorcycle loans 30 days or npast due was $225.0 million and $291.3 millioDatember 31, 2008 and 2007,
respectively. Managed loans 30 days or more pasegalude loans reclassified as repossessed imyefeedit losses, net of recoveries, of
managed retail motorcycle loans were $138.7 mill&¥06.5 million and $68.1 million during 2008, Z0&nd 2006, respectively. Securitized
retail motorcycle loan credit losses, net of recmsg were $107.9 million, $93.9 million and $6&8lion during 2008, 2007 and 2006,
respectively.

9. Debt

Debt with a contractual term less than one yegeigerally classified as short-term debt and coedist the following as of December 31
(in thousands):

2008 2007
Unsecured commercial paf $1,238,64! $ 722,44
Asse-backed commercial paper conduit faci 500,00( —

$1,738,64! $ 722,44

Debt with a contractual term greater than one igegenerally classified as long-term debt and ciedi
of the following as of December 31 (in thousan

2008 2007
Unsecured commercial pag $ 177,80 $ 120,17:
Bank borrowings

Credit facilities 390,93. 256,53:
Unsecured note

3.63% Mediur-term notes due in 2008 ($400.0 million par val — 397,50¢

5.00% Mediur-term notes due in 2010 ($200.0 million par val 209,68 203,74

5.25% Mediur-term notes due in 2012 ($400.0 million par val 399,64: 399,55:

6.80% Mediur-term notes due in 2018 ($1,000.0 million par va 998,17¢ —
Gross lon-term debi 2,176,23 1,377,501
Less: current portion of loi-term debt — (397,509
Long-term debt $2,176,231 $ 980,00(

The Company has classified $568.7 million and $376illion related to its unsecured commercial pegrat its Global Credit
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Facilities as longerm debt as of December 31, 2008 and 2007. Thaaiatrhas been excluded from current liabilitiesause it is supported |
the Global Credit Facilities and is expected toagnoutstanding for an uninterrupted period extegdieyond one year from the balance sheet
date.

Commercial paper maturities may range up to 365 diayn the issuance date. The weighted-averageestteate of outstanding
commercial paper balances was 1.96% and 4.61%carilger 31, 2008 and 2007, respectively. The DeceBhe2008 and 2007 weighted-
average interest rates include the impact of isteae swap agreements.

In July 2008, the Company and HDFS entered inte50® million 364-day facility and a $950.0 millithree-year facility (collectively,
“Global Credit Facilities™}o replace existing credit facilities. The Globak@it Facilities, which total $1.90 billion, areromitted facilities an
are primarily used to support HDFS’ unsecured consiakpaper program and to fund HDFS’ lending dtié and other operations.
Borrowings under the Global Credit Facilities bererest at various variable rates, which may hasded upward or downward depending on
whether certain criteria are satisfied. As a restithe Global Credit Facilities, HDFS may issusecured commercial paper in the aggregate
equal to the unused portion of the Global CreddilRees.

During December 2008, HDFS entered into agreemeititisa bank-sponsored asset-backed commercial gapetuit facility resulting in
proceeds of $500.0 million. Unless earlier ternmédadr extended by the mutual agreement of HDFStenténders, the loan and servicing
agreement will expire on March 31, 2009, at whioletHDFS will be obligated to repay the $500.0 imilladvance in full. The weighted
average interest rate of the outstanding asseteblamdmmercial paper facility was 6.97% at Decen®ie2008. The December 31, 2008
weighted average interest rate includes the impficterest rate swap agreements.

HDFS’ Medium Term Notes (collectively “the Notegiovide for semi-annual interest payments and jpalcue at maturity. At
December 31, 2008 and 2007, the Notes included adlue adjustment increasing the balance by #$llfon and $1.3 million, respectively,
due to interest rate swap agreements designafad &slue hedges. The effect of the interest satap agreements is to convert the interest
on a portion of the Notes from a fixed to a flogtirate, which is based on 3-month LIBOR. Unamodidiscounts on the Notes reduced the
balance by $2.2 million and $0.5 million at Decem®g&, 2008 and 2007, respectively.

HDFS has a revolving credit line with the Comparheweby HDFS may borrow up to $210.0 million at neanates of interest. As of
December 31, 2008 and 2007, HDFS had no borrovangsl to the Company under the revolving credit egrent.

The Company and HDFS have entered into a suppoeeagent wherein, if required, the Company agregsdeide HDFS certain
financial support to maintain HDFS'’ fixed-chargeverage at 1.25 and minimum net worth of $40.0 oilliSupport may be provided either as
capital contributions or loans at the Company’saptNo amount has ever been provided to HDFS utiagesupport agreement.

HDFS and the Company are subject to various operatind financial covenants related to the GlobaldEfacilities, asset-backed
commercial paper conduit facility and Notes. Thaensignificant covenants are described below.

The covenants limit the Company’s and HDFS’ abildy
» incur certain additional indebtedne
e assume or incur certain lier
» participate in a merger, consolidation, liquidatardissolution; an
» purchase or hold margin stoc

Under the financial covenants of the Global Cré&ditilities and the asset-backed commercial papsiuibfacility, the debt to equity
ratio of HDFS and its consolidated subsidiariesncaexceed 10.0 to 1.0 and the Company must maiatainterest ratio coverage of 2.5 to
1.0. The minimum required HDFS consolidated targgit#t worth is $300.0 million. No financial covetsare required under the Notes.

At December 31, 2008 and 2007, HDFS and the Compangined in compliance with all of these covenants
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10. Income Taxes

Provision for income taxes for the years ended Bdsez 31 consists of the following (in thousands):

2008 2007 2006
Current:
Federal $ 374,35: $ 510,29 $ 531,65!
State 21,17« 27,07¢ 74,94
Foreign 29,06: 35,22¢ 15,10¢
424,58 572,60: 621,70¢
Deferred:
Federal (36,36%) (51,909 (22,45))
State (2,225 (5,089 (20,59
Foreign (6,735 (1,636 2,42¢
(45,329 (58,62%) (40,619
Total $ 379,25¢ $ 513,97¢ $ 581,08°

The components of income before income taxes ®y#ars ended December 31 were as follows (in Hmlsy:

2008 2007 2006
Domestic $ 992,05: $1,340,61 $1,556,68
Foreign 41,92: 107,20: 67,55¢

$1,033,97 $1,447,81! $1,624,241

The provision for income taxes differs from the amithat would be provided by applying the statyitdrS. corporate income ti
rate due to the following items for the years enDedember 31

2008 2007 2006
Provision at statutory ra 35.(% 35.(% 35.(%
State taxes, net of federal ben 1.€ 1kt 2.4
Domestic manufacturing deducti (1.7 2.3 (0.7)
Research and development cre (0.5 (0.9 (0.9
Valuation allowance adjustmer 0.2 — —
Other 1t 0.7 (0.5)
Provision for income taxe 36.1% 35.5% 35.8%
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The principal components of the Company’s defetagdassets and liabilities as of December 31 irehig following (in thousands):

2008 2007
Deferred tax asset

Accruals not yet tax deductib $ 76,53 $ 71,05¢
Pension and postretirement benefit plan obligat 291,32¢ 64,57t
Stock compensatic 24,14° 16,254
Net operating loss carryforwa 67,65 —
Valuation allowanct (42,219 —
Other, ne 81,05 91,73:

498,48¢ 243,61¢
Deferred tax liabilities

Depreciation, tax in excess of bo (66,039 (71,239
Unrealized gain on investment in retained secuatitin interest: — (8,782)
Other, ne (20,885 (5,949

(86,919 (85,96¢)
Total $411,56° $157,65¢

The Company reviews its deferred tax asset valoailmwances on a quarterly basis, or whenevertevarchanges in circumstances
indicate that a review is required. In determinihg requirement for a valuation allowance, thednisal and projected financial results of the
legal entity or consolidated group recording thedederred tax asset is considered, along withpsjtive or negative evidence. Since future
financial results may differ from previous estingtperiodic adjustments to the Company’s valuagitowances may be necessary.

At December 31, 2008, the Company had approxim&#487.4 million state and $146.7 million non-U.8t operating loss carry-
forwards expiring between 2013-2024 and 2009-2@%$pectively. The Company recorded a deferred tset af $67.7 million as of
December 31, 2008 for the benefit of these logsemluation allowance of $42.2 million has beerabished for the non-U.S. loss carry-
forwards for which utilization is uncertain becaitsis unlikely the loss will be utilized based tire historical financial results of the impacted
legal entities.

The Company adopted the provisions of FIN 48, “Asting for Uncertainty in Income Taxes” on JanuiyR007. As a result of the
implementation of FIN 48, the Company recognizé&d .1 million increase in the liability for unreauged tax benefits, which was accounted
for as a reduction to January 1, 2007 retainedimgsnThe Company recognizes interest and penaéiiated to unrecognized tax benefits in
provision for income taxes. Changes in the Compagyoss liability for unrecognized tax benefitsglexling interest and penalties, were as
follows (in thousands):

2008 2007
Unrecognized tax benefits, beginning of pel $72,51¢  $70,95¢
Increase in unrecognized tax benefits for tax pmssttaken in a prior peric 3,55¢ 1,74¢
Decrease in unrecognized tax benefits for tax jposttaken in a prior peric (377 (4,820
Increase in unrecognized tax benefits for tax pmssttaken in the current peri 5,44¢ 6,52¢
Settlements with taxing authoriti (2,119 (1,899
Unrecognized tax benefits, end of per $79,027 $72,51¢

The amount of unrecognized tax benefits as of Déeer@1, 2008 that, if recognized, would affect ¢ffective tax rate was $58.3 millic
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The total amount of interest and penalties recaghduring 2008 in the Company’s Consolidated Statemof Income was $6.9 million.

The total amount of interest and penalties recagha December 31, 2008 in the Company’s ConselidBalance Sheets was $23.2
million.

The Company does not expect a significant increasiecrease to the total amounts of unrecognizebieaefits during the fiscal year
ended December 31, 2009. However, the Companyderuegular audit by tax authorities. The Compaglieles that it has appropriate
support for the positions taken on its tax retiand that its annual tax provision includes amosuofficient to pay any assessments.
Nonetheless, the amounts ultimately paid, if apgruresolution of the issues raised by the taxirtharities may differ materially from tt
amounts accrued for each year.

The Company or one of its subsidiaries files incaaxereturns in the United States federal and Wisttostate jurisdictions and various
other state and foreign jurisdictions. The Compiamyo longer subject to income tax examinationsAtisconsin state income taxes before
1998 or for United States federal income taxesnee?602.

11. Commitments and Contingencie

The Company is subject to lawsuits and other clagteted to environmental, product and other matierdetermining required reserves
related to these items, the Company carefully aslyases and considers the likelihood of advadggjents or outcomes, as well as the
potential range of possible loss. The requiredrieseare monitored on an ongoing basis and areteghdb@sed on new developments or new
information in each matter.

Shareholder Lawsuits:

A number of shareholder class action lawsuits iegd between May 18, 2005 and July 1, 2005 inWimited States District Court for t
Eastern District of Wisconsin. On February 14, 2086 court consolidated all of the actions intirggle case, captiondd re Harley-
Davidson, Inc. Securities Litigatic, and appointed Lead Plaintiffs and Co-Lead PIfigitCounsel. Pursuant to the schedule set by the am
October 2, 2006, the Lead Plaintiffs filed a Coidated Class Action Complaint, which names the Camypand Jeffrey L. Bleustein, James L.
Ziemer, and James M. Brostowitz, who are curreribomer Company officers, as defendants. The Cacstid Complaint alleges securities
law violations and seeks unspecified damages ngl@tenerally to the Company’s April 13, 2005 anraament that it was reducing short-term
production growth and planned increases of motdecsigsipments from 317,000 units in 2004 to a ne@52@rget of 329,000 units (compared
to its original target of 339,000 units). On Decemb8, 2006, the defendants filed a motion to disrtfie Consolidated Complaint in its
entirety. Briefing of the motion to dismiss was queted in April 2007.

Three shareholder derivative lawsuits were filethim United States District Court for the Easterstiixt of Wisconsin on June 3,
2005, October 25, 2005 (this lawsuit was later mtduly dismissed) and December 2, 2005 and twoestwdder derivative lawsuits were filed
in Milwaukee County Circuit Court on July 22, 2085d November 16, 2005 against some or all of theviing current or former directors a
officers of the Company: Jeffrey L. Bleustein, JarheZiemer, James M. Brostowitz, Barry K. AllericRard |. Beattie, George H. Conrades,
Judson C. Green, Donald A. James, Sara L. LevirGenrge L. Miles, Jr., James A. Norling, James &AQdslin, Donna F. Zarcone, Jon R.
Flickinger, Gail A. Lione, Ronald M. Hutchinson, \Wenneth Sutton, Jr. and John A. Hevey. The lawsal&o name the Company as a non
defendant. In general, the shareholder derivatireptaints include factual allegations similar togk in the class action complaints and
allegations that officers and directors breacheidt fiduciary duties to the Company. On February2CD6, the state court consolidated the two
state court derivative actions and appointed Ldamh#ffs and Lead Plaintiffs’ counsel, and on Af#, 2006, the state court ordered that the
consolidated state court derivative action be staywil after motions to dismiss the federal se@siclass action are decided. On February 15,
2006, the federal court consolidated the federaldtve lawsuits with the securities and ERISAg$elow) actions for administrative
purposes. On February 1, 2007, the federal copaiaped Lead Plaintiff and Co-Lead Plaintiffs’ Caahin the consolidated federal derivative
action.
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On August 25, 2005, a class action lawsuit allegilogations of the Employee Retirement Income Sieguxct (ERISA) was filed in the
United States District Court for the Eastern Dttdaf Wisconsin. As noted above, on February 1962the court ordered the ERISA action
consolidated with the federal derivative and se@sriactions for administrative purposes. Purstaittie schedule set by the court, on
October 2, 2006, the ERISA plaintiff filed an AmeadClass Action Complaint, which named the CompéreyHarley-Davidson Motor
Company Retirement Plans Committee, the Compargélership and Strategy Council, Harold A. ScothelaL. Ziemer, James M.
Brostowitz, Gail A. Lione, Joanne M. Bischmann, Kdr Eberle, Jon R. Flickinger, Ronald M. Hutchinsdames A. McCaslin, W. Kenneth
Sutton, Jr., and Donna F. Zarcone, who are cumefdrmer Company officers or employees, as defetsddn general, the ERISA complaint
includes factual allegations similar to those i@ inareholder class action lawsuits and allegdsebalf of participants in certain Harley-
Davidson retirement savings plans that the plamcfties breached their ERISA fiduciary duties. @stember 18, 2006, the defendants file
motion to dismiss the ERISA complaint in its erijreBriefing of the motion to dismiss was completed\pril 2007.

The Company believes the allegations against di@flefendants in the lawsuits against the Compamyvithout merit and it intends to
vigorously defend against them. Since all of thesdters are in the preliminary stages, the Compmuopable to predict the scope or outcome
or quantify their eventual impact, if any, on then@pany. At this time, the Company is also unablestimate associated expenses or possible
losses. The Company maintains insurance that mayits financial exposure for defense costs aadility for an unfavorable outcome, shoi
it not prevail, for claims covered by the insuranogerage.

Environmental Matters

The Company is involved with government agenciesgnoups of potentially responsible parties in @asi environmental matters,
including a matter involving the cleanup of soilagroundwater contamination at its York, Pennsyigdacility. The York facility was
formerly used by the U.S. Navy and AMF prior to thechase of the York facility by the Company fréiF in 1981. Although the Company
is not certain as to the full extent of the envir@amtal contamination at the York facility, it haselm working with the Pennsylvania Department
of Environmental Protection (PADEP) since 1986 maertaking environmental investigation and reméaltiaactivities, including an ongoing
site-wide remedial investigation/feasibility stu@1/FS). In January 1995, the Company enteredardgettlement agreement (the Agreement)
with the Navy. The Agreement calls for the Navy #imel Company to contribute amounts into a trustetu53% and 47%, respectively, of
future costs associated with environmental invasiign and remediation activities at the York fagilResponse Costs). The trust administers
the payment of the Response Costs incurred at tink fécility as covered by the Agreement.

In February 2002, the Company was advised by ti$e Environmental Protection Agency (EPA) that ihsiders some of the Compasy’
remediation activities at the York facility to bebgect to the EPA’s corrective action program urttierResource Conservation and Recovery
Act (RCRA) and offered the Company the option afr@dsing corrective action under a RCRA faciligdeagreement. In July 2005, the York
facility was designated as the first site in Pehresyia to be addressed under the “One Cleanup 8mgiThe program provides a more
streamlined and efficient oversight of voluntargnezliation by both PADEP and EPA and will be caroed consistent with the Agreement
with the Navy. As a result, the RCRA facility leagreement has been superseded.

Although the RI/FS is still underway and substdniigertainty exists concerning the nature and sadhe additional environmental
investigation and remediation that will ultimatdlg required at the York facility, the Company esties that its share of the future Response
Costs at the York facility will be approximately.@émillion. The Company has established reservethfe amount, which are included in
Accrued liabilities in the Consolidated Balance &ke

The estimate of the Company’s future Response Qoatwill be incurred at the York facility is baken reports of independent
environmental consultants retained by the Comptirgyactual costs incurred to date and the estinwst$ to complete the necessary
investigation and remediation activities. Respddests related to the remediation of soil are exguettt be incurred over a period of several
years ending in 2012. Response Costs related tmdrwater remediation may continue for some timghd 2012
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Under the terms of the sale of the Commercial MekiDivision in 1996, the Company agreed to indéyndtilimaster Corporation, until
December 2008, for certain claims related to emvirental contamination present at the date of sglég $20.0 million. The indemnification
agreement expired on December 31, 2008.

Product Liability Matters:

Additionally, the Company is involved in produchility suits related to the operation of its besis. The Company accrues for claim
exposures that are probable of occurrence andeasasonably estimated. The Company also maintansance coverage for product liabi
exposures. The Company believes that its accroal$rsurance coverage are adequate and that pridmhitity will not have a material
adverse effect on the Company’s consolidated filghistatements.

12. Employee Benefit Plans and Other Postretirement Begfits

The Company has several defined benefit pensiars@ad several postretirement healthcare benefilsplwhich cover substantially all
employees of the Motorcycles segment. The Compkayteas unfunded supplemental employee retirermantggreements (SERPA) with
certain employees which were instituted to replaeeefits lost under the Tax Revenue Reconciliationof 1993.

Pension benefits are based primarily on yearsrefcgeand, for certain plans, levels of compensatiemployees are eligible to receive
postretirement healthcare benefits upon attaingeg%b after rendering at least 10 years of seteicke Company. Some of the plans require
employee contributions to partially offset benebsts.

As discussed in Note 1, the Company adopted SFASLBR) as it relates to recognizing the fundedustaf its defined benefit pension
and postretirement benefit plans in its stateméfihancial position and related disclosure prowis, on December 31, 2006. Upon adoption,
the Company recorded an adjustment to accumulakest comprehensive income representing the redogrif previously unrecorded
pension and postretirement healthcare liabilitedated to net unrecognized actuarial losses, ugrézed prior service costs and unrecognized
prior service credits. These amounts will be subsatly recognized as a component of net periodisipa cost pursuant to the Company’s
historical accounting policy for recognizing suchaunts. The requirement to measure the fundedsstatof the date of the year-end statement
of financial position was adopted on January 182Qpon adoption, the Company recorded a reduttioatained earnings of $18.1 million
($11.2 million, net of tax) and an increase to acalated other comprehensive income of $4.2 mil{i®& 6 million, net of tax).
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Obligations and Funded Status:

The information following provides detail of chaisge the benefit obligations, changes in the falue of plan assets and funded stat
of the Company’s December 31, 2008 and Septemhe&0®F measurement dates (in thousands):

Pension and Postretirement
SERPA Healthcare Benefits
2008 2007 2008 2007
Change in benefit obligatic
Benefit obligation, beginning of peric $1,033,63 $ 976,71 $332,13¢ $ 324,98!
Effects of change in measurement ¢ 21,97 — 5,76¢ —
Service cos 51,36: 51,64 13,07¢ 12,88(
Interest cos 68,59: 59,76: 21,64( 19,57¢
Plan amendmen 1,68¢ 3,60¢ — —
Actuarial losses (gain: 36,86 (32,179 13,93 (11,819
Plan participant contributior 6,92( 7,01¢ 952 464
Benefits paid, net of Medicare Part D subs (42,74 (32,93() (29,759 (13,959
Special retiree benefi — — 4,881 —
Benefit obligation, end of peric 1,178,28: 1,033,63! 372,63: 332,13¢
Change in plan asse
Fair value of plan assets, beginning of pel 1,067,86! 982,10: 136,08( 119,82¢
Effects of change in measurement ¢ 15,21( — 2,80¢ —
Actual return on plan asse (357,79) 110,67( (41,045 16,25
Company contribution 1,10¢ 1,00¢ 18,41« 13,467
Plan participant contributior 6,92( 7,01¢ 952 464
Benefits paic (42,74°) (32,930 (20,609 (13,93)
Fair value of plan assets, end of pel 690,55¢ 1,067,86! 96,60¢ 136,08(
Fourth quarter contributior — 1,207 — 3,094
Funded status of the plans, Decembe (487,729 35,43 (276,02)  (192,96%)
Amounts recognized in the Consolidated Balance tShBecember 3
Accrued benefit liability (other current liabiligg $ (B,72) $ (289) $ (161) $ (439
Accrued benefit liability (other lor-term liabilities) (484,00)) (51,55) (274,40 (192,53)
Prepaid benefit cost (other Ic-term assets — 89,88! — —
Net amount recognize $(487,72) $ 35,437 $(276,02Y) $(192,96)
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Benefit Costs:
Components of net periodic benefit costs for theryended December 31 (in thousands):

Pension and Postretirement
SERPA Healthcare Benefits
2008 2007 2006 2008 2007 2006
Service cos $51,36: $51,647 $48,82¢ $13,07¢ $12,88( $12,94«
Interest cos 68,59: 59,76: 52,62t 21,64( 19,57¢ 16,07¢
Expected return on plan ass (88,06) (80,83%Y) (76,41H (11,239 (9,989 (9,119
Amortization of unrecognizet
Prior service cost (credi 6,15¢ 6,691 6,991 (2,229 (1,229 (1,129
Net loss 6,414 11,67¢ 17,64( 5,501 6,93¢ 6,51¢
Special retiree benefi — — — 4,881 — —
Net periodic benefit co: $44,46¢ $48,94( $49,67¢ $32,74F $28,29( $25,29¢

As discussed in Note 4, the Company recorded auatsting reserve of $4.8 million related to postesnent healthcare benefits which is
included as special retiree benefits in the tableva.

Amounts included in accumulated other comprehersie®me, net of tax, at December 31, 2008 whictehrant yet been recognized in
net periodic benefit cost are as follows (in thowss:

Pension anc Postretirement
SERPA Healthcare Benefits Total
Prior service cost (credi $ 19,93¢ $ (4,307%) $ 15,63:
Net actuarial los 404,30’ 107,38! 511,69.

$424,24¢ $ 103,07¢ $527,32!

Amounts expected to be recognized in net perioditefit cost, net of tax, during the year the endedember 31, 2009 are as follows (in
thousands):

Pension anc Postretirement

SERPA Healthcare Benefits Total
Prior service cost (credi $ 3,91 $ (699 $ 3,21¢
Net actuarial los 9,09¢ 3,951 13,04¢
$ 13,00¢ $ 3,252 $16,26:
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Assumptions:

Weighted-average assumptions used to determindibebkégations as of December 31, 2008, Septen30e2007 and September 30,
2006 and weightedverage assumptions used to determine net petbediefit cost for the years ended December 31, 2888tember 30, 20(
and September 30, 2006 are as follows:

Pension and Postretirement
SERPA Healthcare Benefits
2008 2007 2006 2008 2007 2006

Assumptions for benefit obligation

Discount rate 6.1% 6.3(% 59(% 6.1(% 6.3(% 5.9(%

Rate of compensatic 3.6€% 4.0(% 3.32% nle n/e n/e
Assumptions for net periodic benefit cc

Discount rate 6.3(% 5.9(% 55(% 6.3(% 5.9(% 5.5(%

Expected return on plan ass 8.5(% 8.5(% 8.5(% 8.5(% 8.5(% 8.5(%

Rate of compensation incree 40(% 3.31% 3.2(% nle n/e n/e

Pension and SERPA Accumulated Benefit Obligation:

Each of the Compang’pension and SERPA plans has a separately detstragtumulated benefit obligation (ABO) and plaseasalue
The ABO is the actuarial present value of benéfétsed on service rendered and current and pasteemaiion levels. This differs from the
projected benefit obligation (PBO) in that it indes no assumption about future compensation leVhistotal ABO for all the Company’s
pension and SERPA plans combined was $1.11 bi#limh$976.7 million as of December 31, 2008 andeSepér 30, 2007, respectively.

The following table summarizes information relatedCompany pension plans with a PBO in excessefdh value of plan assets (in
millions):

December 31 September 3C
2008 2007
Pension plans with PBOs in excess of fair valuplah assets
PBO $ 1,128.° $ 299.:
Fair value of plan asse $ 690.¢ $ 287.:
Number of plan: 4 1

The following table summarizes information relatedCompany pension plans with an ABO in excesseffair value of plan assets (in
millions):

December 31

2008

Pension plans with ABOs in excess of fair valuplah asset:s
ABO $ 1,070.(
Fair value of plan asse $ 690.€
Number of plan: 4

There were no pension plans with ABOs in excedaip¥alue of plan assets as of September 30, 2007.

The Company’s SERPA plans, which can only be furetedlaims are paid, had projected and accumultegrefit obligations of $49.5
million and $41.4 million, respectively, as of Dedeer 31, 2008 and $43.6 million and $37.5 millimspectively, as of September 30, 2007.
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Plan Assets:
The Company'’s asset allocations at December 318 208 September 30, 2007, by asset category doH@ss:

Postretirement

Pension Healthcare Benefits
200¢ 2007 2008 2007
Equity securities (excluding Company sto 64% 75% 72% 80%
Debt securitie! 23 13 14 10
Company common stoc 3 6 — —
Other 5 1 — —
Cash 5 _ B 14 10
10C% 10C% 10(% 10C%

The Company employs a total return investment agagravhereby a mix of equities and fixed-income streents is used to maximize
the long-term return of plan assets for a prudewliof risk. The investment portfolio containsieedsified blend of equity and fixed-income
investments. Furthermore, equity investments arerdified across U.S and non-U.S. stocks as wejlawth, value, and small and large
capitalizations. The Company’s targeted assetaioc ranges at December 31, 2008 as a percentagglomarket value were as follows:
equity securities, 60% to 80%; debt securities, 16%0%; other, 10% to 15%; and Company stockimeiceed 25%. Additionally, cash
balances are maintained at levels adequate tomeaeterm plan expenses and benefit payments.tmeasrisk is measured and monitored on
an ongoing basis through quarterly investment pbotireviews.

Included in the pension plan assets are 1,273 B&s of the Company’s common stock at Decembe2(®18 and 2007. The market
value of these shares at December 31, 2008 andv289%21.6 million and $59.5 million, respectively.

No plan assets are expected to be returned todhgpény during the fiscal year-ended December 31920

For 2009, the Company'’s overall expected long-teata of return on assets is 8.25%. The expectegtterm rate of return is based on
the portfolio as a whole and not on the sum ofréterns on individual asset categories. The ragibased on historical returns adjusted to
reflect the current view of the long-term investierarket.

Postretirement Healthcare Cost:

The weighted-average health care cost trend raig insdetermining the accumulated postretiremenefieobligation of the health care
plans was as follows:

2008 2007
Healthcare cost trend rate for next y 8.C% 9.C%
Rate to which the cost trend rate is assumed tlingeighe ultimate rate 5.C% 5.C%
Year that the rate reaches the ultimate trend 201¢ 2011
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This healthcare cost trend rate assumption can &aignificant effect on the amounts reported. A-percentage-point change in the
assumed healthcare cost trend rate would havetlogving effects (in thousands):

One One
Percent Percent
Increase Decrease
Total of service and interest cost components UB: $ 63¢ $ (66%)
Accumulated benefit obligation as of December D& $12,92¢ $(12,219)

Future Contributions and Benefit Payments:

Due to significant declines in worldwide financiahrket conditions during 2008, the funded statuhefCompany’s pension and
postretirement healthcare plans was adverselytaffethe Company is expecting it will have to makiéitional contributions of approximat
$40 million to $80 million to further fund its pepa plans during 2009 in addition to the on-goingitibution requirements related to current
benefit payments for SERPA and postretirement heaite plans.

The expected benefit payments and Medicare sulbsibipts for the next five years and thereafteraar®llows (in thousands):

Postretirement Medicare

Pension SERPA Healthcare Subsidy

Benefits Benefits Benefits Receipts

2009 $ 43,89¢ $ 3,811 $ 20,78 $ 732
2010 45,92¢ 6,09¢ 24,30: 88(
2011 48,08: 5,87( 26,44« 1,02
2012 50,48¢ 7,84¢ 28,11 1,20¢
2013 52,95 8,052 29,63¢ 1,404
2014-2018 305,50( 19,03¢ 168,51¢ 10,40:

Defined Contribution Plans:

The Company has various defined contribution bépédins that in total cover substantially all ftilhe employees. Employees can make
voluntary contributions in accordance with the psamns of their respective plan, which include<04 (k) tax deferral option. The Company
expensed $14.4 million, $11.7 million and $8.8 ioillfor matching contributions during 2008, 200'd 006, respectively.

13. Leases

The Company operates certain administrative, matwfiag, warehouse and testing facilities and eqpaipt under lease arrangements
that are accounted for as operating leases. Teri#hlrexpense was $11.3 million, $9.7 million aBdbdmillion for 2008, 2007 and 2006,
respectively.

Future minimum operating lease payments at DeceBthe2008 were as follows (in thousands):

2009 $12,22¢
2010 8,29¢
2011 7,207
2012 4,50¢
2013 4,17
After 2013 18,02(
Total operating lease payme! $54,43:
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14. Capital Stock
Common Stock:

The Company is authorized to issue 800,000,00Ceshzfrcommon stock of $.01 par value. There weg@ahillion and 238.5 million
common shares outstanding as of December 31, 2G8D2G07, respectively.

During 2008, 2007 and 2006, the Company repurch@genhillion, 20.4 million and 19.3 million sharekits common stock at weighted-
average prices of $40, $56 and $55, respectivélgs& repurchases were made pursuant to the fojaavithorizations (in millions of shares):

Shares Repurchaset Authorization Remaining
Board of Directors’ Authorization 2008 2007 2006 at December 31, 2008
1997 Authorizatior — 0.7 2.1 4.€
2005 Authorizatior — 2.8 17.2 —
2006 Authorizatior 3.1 16.€ — —
2007 Authorizatior 3.2 — — 16.7
Total 6.4 20.4 19.2 21.2

1997 Authorization- The Company has an authorization from its Bo&iectors (originally adopted December 1997)dpurchase
shares of its outstanding common stock under witielcumulative number of shares repurchased, dintigeof any repurchase, shall not
exceed the sum of (1) the number of shares issuednnection with the exercise of stock optionsuogng on or after January 1, 2004, plus
(2) 1% of the issued and outstanding common stédkenCompany on January 1 of the current yeaystelfl for any stock split.

2005 Authorizatior- In April 2005, the Company’s Board of Directoeparately authorized the Company to buy back @®t0 million
shares of its common stock with no dollar limitexpiration date. This authorization was exhaustethd 2007.

2006 Authorizatior- In October 2006, the Company’s Board of Direckegarately authorized the Company to buy bacloup t
20.0 million shares of its common stock with nolaolimit or expiration date. This authorization svexhausted during 2008.

2007 Authorizatior- In December 2007, the Company’s Board of Direcsmparately authorized the Company to buy badk up
20.0 million shares of its common stock with nolaolimit or expiration date. There are 16.7 miflishares remaining under this authorization
at December 31, 2008.

Preferred Stock:

The Company is authorized to issue 2,000,000 sludineeferred stock of $1.00 par value. The Compzeny designated 500,000 of the
2,000,000 authorized shares of preferred stocleds$SA Junior Participating preferred stock (Pmefé Stock). Each share of Preferred Stock,
none of which is outstanding, is entitled to 10,00€s per share (subject to adjustment) and oitjets such that the value of a one ten-
thousandth interest in a share of Preferred Stbokld approximate the value of one share of comstock.

Preferred Stock is reserved for issuance in comeutith the Company’s outstanding Preferred Stoaichase rights (Rights). On
February 17, 2000, the Board of Directors of thenpany declared a dividend of one Right for eaclstanding share of common stock pay
upon the close of business on August 20, 2000dashiareholders of record on that date. Under cectaiditions, each Right entitles the holder
to purchase one ten-thousandth of a share of Pedf&tock at an exercise price of $175, subjeatijostment. The Rights are only exercisable
if a person or group has: (1) acquired 15% or nodthe outstanding common stock or (2) has annaliaceintention to acquire 25% or more
of the outstanding common stock (either (1) orai® a “Triggering Event”)f there is a 15% acquiring party, then each hotifex Right, othe
than the acquiring party, will be entitled to puashk, at the exercise price, Preferred Stock havimgrket value of two times the exercise price.
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In addition, prior to the acquisition of 50% or reaf the outstanding common stock by an acquiremypthe Board of Directors of the
Company may exchange the Rights (other than thetRif an acquiring party which have become vaidjyhole or in part, at an exchange
ratio of one share of common stock or one ten-thodth of a share of Preferred Stock (or a shatkeo€ompany’s preferred stock having
equivalent rights, privileges, and preferences)Right, subject to adjustment. The Rights expireruhe close of business on August 20, 2
subject to extension.

15. Share-Based Awards

The Company has a share-based compensation plah whs approved by its Shareholders in April 2@@4rt) under which the Board
of Directors may grant to employees share-baseddswacluding nonqualified stock options, stock leggation rights (SARs), shares of
restricted stock and restricted stock units (RSUBE options and SARs granted under the Plan haexercise price equal to the fair market
value of the underlying stock at the date of geand vest ratably over a four-year period with gt £5% becoming exercisable one year after
the date of grant. The options and SARs expireeedg/from the date of grant. Shares of restridisecksand RSUs that have been issued under
the Plan generally vest over periods ranging frotm 2 years with certain of the shares and RSUgesuto accelerated vesting should the
Company meet certain performance conditions. Divideare paid on shares of restricted stock andelid equivalents are paid on RSUs. At
December 31, 2008, there were 7.7 million sharemofmon stock available for future awards undeiRtiae.

Stock Options:

The Company estimates the grant date fair valuts @fption awards granted using a lattice-baseoptaluation model. The Company
believes that the lattice-based option valuationl@eh@rovides a more precise estimate of fair véhas the Blackscholes option pricing mod
Lattice-based option valuation models utilize rangBassumptions over the expected term of th@ogtiThe Company used implied volatility
to determine the expected volatility of its stonk2008 and 2007. In 2006, expected volatility wasdd on the historical volatility of the
Company’s stock. The Company uses historical da&stimate option exercise and employee terminatitinin the valuation model. The
expected term of options granted is derived froenchtput of the option valuation model and represtre average period of time that options
granted are expected to be outstanding. The regk+fate for periods within the contractual lifeted option is based on the U.S. Treasury yield
curve in effect at the time of grant. Assumptiossdiin calculating the lattice-based fair valuegtions granted during 2008, 2007 and 2006
were as follows:

2008 2007 2006
Expected average term (in yea 5.9 5.1 5.7

Expected volatility 37%-44% 21%-24% 23%- 34%
Weighted average volatilit 39% 22% 30%
Expected dividend yiel 2.0% 1.4% 1.2%
Risk-free interest rat 1.9%- 3.7% 4.7%-5.1% 4.4%- 4.7%
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The following table summarizes the stock optiomseections for the year ended December 31, 2008 dusands except for per share
amounts):

Weighted-
Average
Options Price
Options outstanding, beginning of peri 4,23¢ $ 53
Options grante 1,681 $ 39
Options exercise (58) $ 2C
Options forfeitec 307 $ 52
Options outstanding, end of peri 5,552 $ 49
Exercisable, end of peric 3,01¢ $ 5C

The weighted-average fair value of options grami@dng the years ended December 31, 2008, 2002606 was $10, $15 and $15,
respectively.

As of December 31, 2008, there was $20.1 millionraecognized compensation cost related to stotikrapthat is expected to be
recognized over a weighted-average period of 2adsye

The following table summarizes the aggregate isiciwalue related to options outstanding, exerdésabd exercised as of and for the
years ended December 31 (in thousar

2008 2007 2006
Exercisec $1,04¢ $12,01( $77,41°¢
Outstanding $ 11 $ 9,61 $90,35¢
Exercisable —  $ 9,61 $53,29:

The Company'’s policy is to issue new shares of comstock upon the exercise of employee stock optibhe Company has a
continuing authorization from its Board of Directdo repurchase shares to offset dilution causdtidgxercise of stock options which is
discussed in Note 14.

Stock options outstanding at December 31, 2008qjepin thousands):

Weighted-Average Weighted-Average
Price Range Contractual Life Options Exercise Price
$10.01 to $2( 9.9 10 $ 16
$20.01 to $3( 0.1 70 $ 26
$30.01 to $4( 8.2 1,80¢ $ 39
$40.01 to $5( 3.8 852 $ 42
$50.01 to $6( 5.5 1,561 $ 52
$60.01 to $7( 7.2 1,25( $ 65
Options outstandin 6.4 5,552 $ 49
Options exercisabl 4.7 3,01t $ 5C

Stock Appreciation Rights (SARS)

SARs vest under the same terms and conditionstamephowever, they are settled in cash equdieo settlement date fair value. As a
result, SARs are recorded in the Company’s conatitlbalance sheets as a liability until the daexercise.
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The fair value of each SAR award is estimated uaifajtice-based valuation model. In accordanch ®RAS No. 123(R), the fair value
of each SAR award is recalculated at the end df eggorting period and the liability and expensgisteéd based on the new fair value and the
percent vested.

The assumptions used to determine the fair valibeoSAR awards at December 31, 2008 were as fsellow

Expected average term (in yea 8.1

Expected volatility 63%- 75%
Expected dividend yiel 2.0%
Risk-free interest rat 0.1%- 2.3%

The following table summarizes the SAR transactionghe year ended December 31, 2008 (in thousarckspt for per share amounts):

Weighted-
Average
SARs Price
Outstanding, beginning of peric 10¢€ $ 62
Granted 12€ $ 39
Exercisec — —
Forfeited _(37) $ 6C
Outstanding, end of peric 19t $ 47

Exercisable, end of peric

Restricted (Nonvested) Stock:

The fair value of restricted shares is determir@sel on the market price of the Company’s sharéseogrant date. The following table
summarizes the restricted share transactions éoydlar ended December 31, 2008 (in thousands efargpér share amounts):

Grant Date

Restricted Fair Value

Shares Per Share

Nonvested, beginning of peri 687 $ 57
Granted 471 $ 39
Vested (18) $ 35
Forfeited (91) $ 38
Nonvested, end of peric 1,04¢ $ 51

As of December 31, 2008, there was $21.5 millionrafecognized compensation cost related to restristock that is expected to be
recognized over a weighted-average period of 1a8@sye

Restricted Stock Units (RSUSs)

Restricted stock units vest under the same termisanditions as restricted stock; however, theysatded in cash equal to their
settlement date fair value. As a result, RSUs ezended in the Company’s consolidated balance slased liability until the date of vesting.
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The fair value of RSUs is determined based on theket price of the Company’s shares on the gratet dde following table
summarizes the restricted share transactions éoydlar ended December 31, 2008 (in thousands efargpér share amounts):

Weighted-Average

Grant Date
Restricted Fair Value
Stock Unit Per Share
Nonvested, beginning of peric 41 $ 64
Granted 34 $ 39
Vested — —
Forfeited (2 $ 37
Nonvested, end of peric 73 $ 53

16. Earnings Per Share
The following table sets forth the computation agle and diluted earnings per share for the yeadedDecember 31 (in thousands):

2008 2007 2006
Numerator:

Net income used in computing basic and dilutediageper shar $654,71¢ $933,84! $1,043,15.
Denominator:

Denominator for basic earnings per st- weighte-average common shar 234,22 249,20! 264,45!
Effect of dilutive securitie- employee stock compensation p 252 677 82C
Denominator for diluted earnings per sh- adjusted weighte-average shares outstand 234,47°  249,88. 265,27

Options to purchase 5.2 million, 1.4 million an@ million weighted-average shares of common stagktanding during 2008, 2007 and
2006, respectively, were not included in the Conypmuecomputation of dilutive securities because tter@sge price was greater than the ma
price and therefore the effect would have beendihtiive.

17. Fair Value of Financial Instruments

The Company’s financial instruments consist prityasf cash and cash equivalents, marketable sézsiritade receivables, finance
receivables held for investment, net, finance reddies held for sale, trade payables, debt, foreigrency contracts and interest rate swaps.
Under U.S. GAAP certain of these items are requioeloe recorded in the financial statements atvaue, while other are required to be
recorded at historical cost.

Cash and Cash Equivalents, Trade Receivables aadeTPayables With the exception of certain money-market inwestts, these
items are recorded in the financial statementssédtical cost. The historical cost basis for thaseunts is estimated to approximate their
respective fair values due to the short maturittheke instruments.

Marketable Securities Marketable securities are recorded in the firgrstatements at fair value. The fair value of matakle securities
is based primarily on quoted market prices. Chanyéasr value are recorded, net of tax, as otlmngrehensive income and included as a
component of shareholder’s equity.

Finance Receivables Held for Investment, NEtnance receivables held for investment are dsmbin the financial statements at
historical cost. The historical cost basis of wisale finance receivables approximates fair valuwabge they are either short-term or have
interest rates that adjust with changes in marketést rates.
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The fair value of investment in retained securitmainterests is recorded in the financial statetsat fair value and is estimated based
on the present value of future expected cash flesirsg management’s best estimates of the key asmmapChanges in fair value are
recorded, net of tax, as other comprehensive inaamdencluded as a component of shareholder’'sequit

Finance Receivables Held for Salé-inance receivables held for sale in the aggecai recorded at the lower of cost or estimatied fa
value. HDFS uses discounted cash flow methodoldgiestimate the fair value of finance receivalbiekl for sale that incorporate appropriate
assumptions for discount rate, funding costs aaditenhancement, as well as estimates concernétit éosses and prepayments, that in
management’s judgment, reflect assumptions makegpparticipants would use at December 31, 200@66d. Any amount by which cost
exceeds fair value is accounted for as a valua@pnstment with an offset to other income. The Vaiue of the finance receivables held for
sale at December 31, 2008 was $2.44 billion, wdatet of a $31.7 million valuation adjustment. Taerying value of finance receivables
held for sale at December 31, 2007 approximatedaihealue.

Debt— Debt is generally recorded in the financial statetmat historical cost. The carrying value of defatvided under the Global Cre
Facilities approximates fair value since the irgerates charged under this facility are tied diyeto market rates and fluctuate as market rates
change. The carrying value of commercial paper@pprates fair value due to their short maturityeTarrying value of the asset-backed
commercial paper conduit facility approximates féiie value due to its short maturity.

At December 31, 2008 and 2007, the fair value efMediumTerm Notes was $1.03 billion and $1.00 billion pestively. The fair valu
of the Medium-Term Notes issued during 2008 and748@stimated based upon rates currently avaifabldebt with similar terms and
remaining maturities. The remaining Medium-Term @¢oare carried at fair value and include a faineadjustment due to the interest rate
swap agreement, designated as a fair value hedugeh effectively converts a portion of the notenfra fixed to a floating rate.

Derivative Financial Instruments The Company uses a variety of derivative findringtruments to manage foreign currency exchange
rate, commodity price and interest rate risk. Adtidative instruments are recognized on the balaheet at fair value. A specific description of
each of the Company’s derivative instruments foow

Foreign Currency Contracts During 2008 and 2007, the Company utilized faneigrrency contracts to hedge its sales transaction
denominated in Euros and Australian dollars. Theiém currency contracts were designated as cashhiedges and generally had lives less
than one year. The Company bases the fair valits fufreign currency contracts on quoted marketgwi Information related to the Compasny’
foreign currency contracts as of December 31 flémvs (in millions):

2008 2007
Euro value € 275.( € 170.(
Australian dollar valus AUD 25.C AUD —

Notional U.S. dollar valu $ 419: $ 227.¢
Fair value of contracts recorded as current agkaidlities) $ 19.1 $ (20.9
Unrealized gain (loss) recorded in accumulatedratbmprehensive loss, net of t $ 8.3 $ (119

The effectiveness of these hedges is measured basgthnges in fair value of the contract attriblgdo changes in the forward
exchange rate. During 2008 and 2007, the hedges lnighly effective and, as a result, the amourteafge ineffectiveness recognized during
the year was not material. During 2008, net lossefreign currency contracts reclassified fromeottomprehensive income and recognize
earnings totaled $5.6 million, or $3.5 million méttax. The Company expects that the unrealizedsgaiet of taxes, as of December 31, 2008,
of $8.3 million will be reclassified to earningsthin one year. Realized gains and losses on for@igrency contracts are recorded in cost of
goods sold and the related cash flows are inclirdedsh flows from operations.
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Natural Gas Contracts During 2008, the Company utilized natural gasttamts to hedge the cost of natural gas consumplioga
natural gas contracts were designated as casthifoges and had lives of less than one year. The@uwmyrbases the fair value of its natural
contracts on quoted market prices. Informationtegldo the Company’s natural gas hedges as of Deze®i is as follows (in millions):

2008
Therms 5.8
Notional value $4.8
Fair value of contracts recorded as current liaéed $(1.3)
Unrealized loss recorded in accumulated other ceh@rsive loss, net of ti $(0.9)

During 2008, the hedges were highly effective asda result, the amount of hedge ineffectivenessgrézed during the year was not
material. The Company expects that the unrealiassels, net of taxes, as of December 31, 2008,.8fréllion will be reclassified to earnings
within one year.

Interest Rate Swaps - Securitization Transactiefgiring 2008 and 2007, HDFS utilized interest sat@ps to reduce the impact of
fluctuations in interest rates on its securitizatimnsactions. These interest rate derivativesl@segnated as cash flow hedges and generally
have a life of less than six months. Informatioiated to these swap agreements as of Decembera3ifadows (in millions):

2006 2007
Notional value —  $535.¢
Fair value of swaps recorded as current liabili — $ (6.7
Unrealized loss recorded in accumulated other ceh@rsive loss, net of ti — $ (39

During 2008 and 2007, the hedges were highly effectnd, as a result, the amount of hedge ineffestiss recognized during the year
was not material. During 2008, net losses on sgzation related interest rate swaps reclassifiethfother comprehensive income and
recognized in earnings totaled $16.1 million, 0@ 1million net of tax.

HDFS entered into derivative contracts to faciitas first quarter 2008 and third quarter 2007uséization transactions. These
derivatives do not qualify for hedge accountingtneent and have a life of one to five years. Charig¢he fair value of these derivatives are
recognized in current period earnings within othigerating expenses. Information related to theseat®e contracts as of December 31 is as
follows (in millions):

2008 2007
Notional value $881.¢ $700.(
Fair value of swaps recorded as current assebsliiies) $ 11 $ (0.9
Unrealized gain (loss) recorded in earnings, néto $ 12 $ (0.3

Interest Rate Swaps - Unsecured Commercial PapgerApril 2008, HDFS entered into an amortizin@¥1 million interest rate swap
agreement that effectively converts a portion ®flivating-rate debt to a fixed-rate basis for eqaeof five years. This replaced a $50.0 million
swap agreement, which expired in March 2008. Adddily, HDFS has a $175.0 million amortizing intreate swap agreement that expire
2012. This interest rate swap agreement also efédgtconverts a portion of its floating-rate debta fixed-rate basis. The differential paid or
received on these swaps is recognized on an adzagi as an adjustment to interest expense. Beoémber 31, 2008 and 2007, the
agreements were designated as cash flow hedgesnition related to the swap agreements as of Deee81 is as follows (in millions):

2008 2007
Notional value $233.1 $204..
Fair value of swaps recorded as current liabili $(17.0 $ (6.2
Unrealized loss recorded in accumulated other ceh@rsive loss, net of ti $(10.9) $ (4.0
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During 2008 and 2007, the hedges were highly effecand as a result, the amount of hedge ineffertiss recognized during the year
was not material. During 2008, net losses on coroialgpaper related interest rate swaps reclasdif@ed other comprehensive income and
recognized in earnings totaled $5.9 million, or83&iillion net of tax. HDFS expects to reclassifyZsmillion of the unrealized loss, net of
taxes, as of December 31, 2008, to earnings withenyear. The unrealized loss will be in additiethte payment of variable interest associ
with the floating rate debt.

Interest Rate Swaps - Asset-Backed Commercial Rapeduit Facility— In December 2008, HDFS entered into $300.0 miliod
$200.0 million amortizing interest rate swaps @if&tctively convert its floating-rate debt to adikrate basis for a period of twenty-two
months. The differential paid or received is redegd on an accrual basis as an adjustment to sitexpense. As of December 31, 2008, these
agreements were designated as cash flow hedgesnition related to the swap agreements as of Deee81 is as follows (in millions):

2008
Notional value $500.(
Fair value of swaps recorded as current liabili $ (5.2
Unrealized loss recorded in accumulated other cehwrsive loss, net of ti $ (3.2

During 2008, the hedges were highly effective asda result, the amount of hedge ineffectivenessgrézed during the year was not
material. Net losses on asset-backed commerciauofacility related interest rate swaps were assified from other comprehensive income
and recognized in earnings totaled $0.2 million$@:1 million net of tax.

In December 2008, HDFS entered into derivative r@mts$ to facilitate its participation in the asbatked commercial paper conduit
facility. These derivatives do not qualify for hedgccounting and have a life of three years. Chamgthe fair value of these derivatives are
recognized in current period earnings within othygerating expenses. Information related to thesgat®e contracts as of December 31 is as
follows (in millions):

2008
Notional value $22.¢
Fair value of swaps recorded as current a: $ 0.t
Unrealized gain recorded in earnings, net of $ 0.E

Interest Rate Swaps - Medium-Term Net@&uring 2005 and 2003, HDFS entered into interast swap agreements that effectively
convert a portion of its fixed-rate debt to a flogtrate basis for a period of five years. Theat#éhtial paid or received on these swaps is
recognized on an accrual basis as an adjustmémetest expense. As of December 31, 2008 and 2B8greements were designated as fair
value hedges. During 2008 and 2007, the hedgeshighty effective and, as a result, there was mdf@ttiveness recognized on these hedges
during the year. Information related to these sagqegements as of December 31 is as follows (inand):

2008 2007
Notional value $150.C $550.(
Fair value of swaps recorded as current a $ 97 $ 1.3
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No ready market exists for swaps utilized by HDF&r value is determined by an independent thirtlypssing established valuation
methods.

18. Fair Value Measurements

The carrying value of those financial assets aadillties recorded at fair value is measured oecaitring or non-recurring basis.
Financial assets and liabilities measured on arriegubasis are those that are adjusted to fairevebch time a financial statement is prepared.
Financial assets and liabilities measured on areoarring basis are those that are adjusted toédire when a significant event occurs. In
determining fair value of financial assets andiliés, the Company uses various valuation techegy The availability of inputs observable in
the market varies from instrument to instrument depends on a variety of factors including the tgpmstrument, whether the instrument is
actively traded, and other characteristics parictd the transaction. For many financial instrutegpricing inputs are readily observable in
market, the valuation methodology used is widelyepted by market participants, and the valuaticgsdmt require significant management
discretion. For other financial instruments, pricinputs are less observable in the market andretyire management judgment.

The Company assesses the inputs used to measwalte using a threer hierarchy. The hierarchy indicates the exterwhich inputs
used in measuring fair value are observable imtheket. Level 1 inputs include quoted prices faniical instruments and are the most
observable. Level 2 inputs include quoted pricesimilar assets and observable inputs such aeBiteates, foreign currency exchange rates,
commodity rates and yield curves. Level 3 inputsrast observable in the market and include managesn@vn judgments about the
assumptions market participants would use in pgitive asset or liability. The use of observable amabservable inputs is reflected in the
hierarchy assessment disclosed in the table below.

The following table presents information about @@mpany’s assets and liabilities measured at flireson a recurring basis as of
December 31, 2008, and indicates the fair valueatiby of the valuation techniques utilized by @@mpany to determine such fair value (in
thousands):

Significant
Quoted Prices in Other Significant
Active Markets for Observable Unobservable
Balance as o Identical Assets Inputs Inputs
December 31, 20C (Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3)
Assets:
Cash equivalent $ 380,08: $ 380,08: — —
Derivatives 31,50¢ — $ 31,50¢ —
Investment in retained securitization intere 330,67 — — $ 330,67«
$ 742,26: $ 380,08: $ 31,50¢ $ 330,67«
Liabilities:
Derivatives $ 23,50: — $ 23,50 —
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The investment in retained securitization interéstsalued using discounted cash flow methodologiesrporating assumptions that, in
management’s judgment, reflect the assumptions etyaldce participants would use at December 31, 2008 following table presents
additional information about the investment in @ securitization interests which is measurddiatvalue on a recurring basis using
significant unobservable inputs (Level 3) at Decentil, 2008 (in thousands):

2008
Balance, beginning of peric $407,74.
Total gains or losses (realized/unrealizt
Included in financial services incorffe 18,80¢
Included in other comprehensive inco (29,090
Sales, repurchases and settlements (66,78¢)
Balance, end of peric $330,67¢

(@) Total gains or losses included in financial sersiceome includes an impairment charge of $41.4ianibs discussed in Note

Finance receivables held for sale in the aggregy@earried at the lower of cost or estimatedvialue, and are measured at fair value
non-recurring basis using significant unobservaipets (Level 3).

During 2008, the Company recorded non-cash charg®37.8 million due to a decline in the fair valoelow cost on finance receivables
held for sale. The fair value of the finance reabies held for sale at December 31, 2008 was $2lHeh, which is net of a $31.7 million
valuation adjustment.

19. Business Segments and Foreign Operatiol
Business Segments:

The Company operates in two business segmentsrrdjates and Financial Services. The Company’s tapte segments are strategic
business units that offer different products anglises. They are managed separately based ondarfuental differences in their operations.

The Motorcycles segment consists primarily of theug of companies doing business as Harley-Davidiéotor Company, Buell
Motorcycle Company and MV Agusta. The Motorcyclegrment designs, manufactures and sells at wholpsatarily heavyweight (engine
displacement of 651+cc) touring, custom and peréoroe motorcycles as well as a line of motorcychspaccessories, general merchandise
and related services.

The Financial Services segment consists of Harlayid»on Financial Services. HDFS provides wholeaatiretail financing and
insurance and insurance-related programs prim@rilyarley-Davidson and Buell dealers and theiriretsstomers. HDFS conducts business
principally in the United States and Canada.
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Information by industry segment is set forth befowthe years ended December 31 (in thousands):

2008 2007 2006
Motorcycles net revenue and Financial Servicesnre:
Motorcycles net revent $5,594,30° $5,726,84i $5,800,68!
Financial Services incorr 376,97( 416,19¢ 384,89:
$5,971,27  $6,143,04. $6,185,57
Income from operation:
Motorcycles® $ 966,39( $1,230,64. $1,408,99
Financial Service® © 82,76" 212,16¢ 210,72:
General corporate expens (20,137 (17,257 (22,567)
$1,029,02. $1,425,56. $1,597,15:

(1) Motorcycles income from operations for 2008 inclsidestructuring charges of $12.4 million (see Nbt¢
(2) Financial Services income from operations for 2D@8udes a lower of cost or market adjustment af.83nillion (see Note 18
(3) Financial Services income from operations for 2868 2007 includes an impairment charge of $41.4amibnd $9.9 million, respectively (see Note

Information by industry segment is set forth belsvof December 31 (in thousands):

Financial

Motorcycles Services Corporate Consolidated
2008
Total asset $2,150,29! $5,084,76! $593,55¢ $7,828,62!
Depreciation and amortizatic 214,35: 7,84( — 222,19:
Net capital expenditure 227,83: 4,33¢ — 232,16¢
2007
Total asset $1,804,20; $3,447,07' $405,32¢ $5,656,60!
Depreciatior 197,65! 6,517 — 204,17.
Net capital expenditure 232,13¢ 9,974 — 242,11
2006
Total asset $1,683,72. $2,951,891 $896,53( $5,532,15!
Depreciatior 205,95« 7,81¢% — 213,76¢
Net capital expenditure 209,05! 10,547 — 219,60:

As discussed in Note 5, the Company’s acquisitiokd during 2008 resulted in $0.5 million of amazition related to intangible assets

acquired, which is included in Motorcycles deprdoimand amortization for 2008 in the table above.
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Geographic Information:

Included in the consolidated financial statemengstiae following amounts relating to geographiclkians for the years ended
December 31 (in thousands):

2008 2007 2006
Motorcycles net revenu@:

United State! $3,843,91 $4,208,011 $4,618,99
Europe 904,04¢ 790,15( 621,06¢
Japar 279,36¢ 229,75¢ 207,88«
Canade 256,64( 230,23( 188,99:
Australia 168,12: 162,68¢ 82,79:
Other foreign countrie 142,21( 106,00 80,95

$5,594,30° $5,726,84! $5,800,68

Financial Services inconi®:

United State: $ 348,46 $ 381,00 $ 356,53¢
Europe 3,16¢ 13,63¢ 11,03¢
Canade 25,34 21,55] 17,31¢

$ 376,97C $ 416,19t $ 384,89:

Long-lived asset®:
United State: $1,100,85! $1,173,16! $1,139,84
Other foreign countrie 204,46. 66,98¢ 56,21«
$1,305,321 $1,240,15 $1,196,06!

(@) Netrevenue and income is attributed to geogramgions based on location of custon
(b) Long-lived assets include all lo-term assets except those specifically excludedrnBBAS No. 131, such as deferred income taxesiaadde receivable

20. Related Party Transactions

The Company has the following material relatedyptiensactions. A director of the Company is Chainnand Chief Executive Officer
and an equity owner of Fred Deeley Imports Ltd.€lBg Imports), the exclusive distributor of the Guany’s motorcycles in Canada. The
Company recorded revenue and financial servicasmecfrom Deeley Imports during 2008, 2007 and 28[06258.3 million, $231.9 million
and $187.7 million, respectively, and had accovetgivables balances due from Deeley Imports of38fillion and $42.6 million at
December 31, 2008 and 2007, respectively. All qardducts were provided in the ordinary course @fifess at prices and on terms and
conditions that the Company believes are the santieose that would result from arms-length negotiatbetween unrelated parties.

21. Subsequent Event:

On January 23, 2009, in response to the U.S. ecamatession and worldwide slowdown in consumer alenthe Company announced
its plans to lower motorcycle shipments in 2009 adjist the cost structure of its business. Thésespnvolve consolidating its two engine
and transmission plants in the Milwaukee areaitstéacility in Menomonee Falls, WI; consolidatiitg paint and frame operations at its
assembly facility in York, PA; closing its distritbon facility in Franklin, WI; and discontinuingsitdomestic transportation fleet operation.
Additionally, the Company plans reductions in sgjligeneral and administrative costs.

The Company plans to implement these actions thr@0§9 and 2010. The planned volume reduction;uetsiring and cost reduction
actions are expected to result in the eliminatibapproximately 1,100 jobs, consisting of approxieina800 hourly productions positions and
approximately 300 non-production, primarily saldrpositions.
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The Company expects the volume reduction and clsatogeperations to result in aggregate one-timegelsaof approximately $110
million to $140 million over 2009 and 2010. At tloev end of the range, approximately $36 milliortleése charges will involve one-time
employee termination costs (including pension dimneent charges), approximately $22 million will inlve accelerated depreciation charges to
depreciate affected long-lived assets to theimetitd salvage value, and approximately $52 milvdhinvolve other costs to close and
consolidate facilities. The difference betweenltve end and high end of the range relates to uaitgyt surrounding the cost and execution of
these actions. Of the aggregate charges, the Comepauects that approximately 75 percent will regultash expenditures, although the tim
of the expenditures will vary, and 25 percent wélnon-cash. The Company expects to record bet@&@and $100 million of these costs in
2009 — with $30 to $40 million in the first quartefr2009. The Company expects that it will recdrel temaining restructuring costs, between
$30 and $40 million, in 2010.

On February 5, 2009, the Company issued $600.@mitif its senior unsecured notes in order to filmedongoing motorcycle lending
activities of HDFS. The notes will be due in 20l avill bear interest at a rate of 15% per annum.

SUPPLEMENTARY DATA

Quarterly financial data (unaudited)
(In millions, except per share data)

1StQuarter 2" Quarter 3" Quarter 4™ Quarter
Mar 30, Apr 1, June 29, July 1, Sep 28, Sep 30, Dec 31, Dec 31,
2008 2007 2008 2007 2008 2007 2008 2007

Net revenug $1,306.0 $1,178.¢ $1,572.¢ $1,620.. $1,422.¢ $1,541.. $1,292.¢ $1,386.
Gross profi 476.1 423.( 561.¢ 605.2 484.1 591.¢ 408.7 494
Income before taxe® 293.1 298.2 348.1 450.4 269.t 410.¢ 123.% 288.4
Net income 187.€ 192.% 222.¢ 290.t 166.5 265.( 77.€ 186.(
Earnings per common sha

Basic $ 07¢ $ 078 $ 09 $ 11t $ 071 $ 107 $ 034 $ 0.7¢

Diluted $ 07¢ $ 074 $ 09 $ 114 $ 071 $ 107 $ 034 $ 0.7¢

@ Fourth guarter 2008 income before taxes includesvar of cost or market adjustment or finance resielies held for sale of $28.4 million and an impent charge on investment in
retained securitization interests of $35.1 million.
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Item 9. Changes in and Disagreements With Accountants orcédenting and Financial Disclosure
None.
Item 9A. Controls and Procedure

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

In accordance with Rule 13a-15(b) of the Securlirshange Act of 1934 (the “Exchange Act”), astef &€nd of the period covered by
this Annual Report on Form 10-K, the Company’s ngeamaent evaluated, with the participation of the @any’s President and Chief
Executive Officer and Executive Vice President &fmef Financial Officer, the effectiveness of thesidin and operation of the Company’s
disclosure controls and procedures (as definediie R3a-15(e) under the Exchange Act). Based upein ¢valuation of these disclosure
controls and procedures, the President and Chie¢ike Officer and Executive Vice President ande€CRinancial Officer have concluded
that the disclosure controls and procedures wéeetefe as of the end of the period covered by Ariaual Report on Form 10-K to ensure that
information required to be disclosed by the Comparthe reports it files or submits under the ExaygAct is recorded, processed,
summarized and reported, within the time periocsjgel in the Securities and Exchange Commissidasrand forms, and to ensure that
information required to be disclosed by the Comparthe reports it files or submits under the Exa@Act is accumulated and communicz
to the Company management, including its President and Chiettikee Officer and Executive Vice President andeERinancial Officer, &
appropriate, to allow timely decisions regardingctbsure.

Management’'s Report on Internal Control over Finandal Reporting

The report of management required under this It&ns3ontained in Item 8 of Part Il of this AnniRéport on Form 10-K under the
heading “Management’s Report on Internal Contr@rdvinancial Reporting.”

Attestation Report of Independent Registered Publidccounting Firm

The attestation report required under this Item®£ontained in Item 8 of Part Il of this Annualg®et on Form 10-K under the heading
“Report of Independent Registered Public Accountirgn on Internal Control over Financial Reporting.

Changes in Internal Controls

There were no changes in the Company’s internarabover financial reporting that occurred durithg quarter ended December 31,
2008 that have materially affected, or are reaslgriddely to materially affect, the Company’s intext control over financial reporting.
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PART IlI

Item 10. Directors, Executive Officers of the Registraand Corporate Governanc

The information included or to be included in then@pany’s definitive proxy statement for the 2008wel meeting of shareholders,
which will be filed on or about March 25, 2009 (tReoxy Statement), under the captions “Questiodlsfarswers about the Company—Who
are our executive officers for SEC purposes?,” flooate Governance Principles and Board Matters—ADdmmittee,” “Election of
Directors,” “Section 16(a) Beneficial Ownership Rejing Compliance,” “Audit Committee Report,” anthtiependence of Directors” is
incorporated by reference herein.

The Company has adopted the Harley-Davidson, limarfial Code of Ethics applicable to the Compahief executive officer, the
chief financial officer, the principal accountinfficer and the controller and other persons perfogwsimilar functions. The Company has
posted a copy of the Harley-Davidson, Inc. FindnCizde of Ethics on the Company’s website at wwwdyadavidson.com. The Company
intends to satisfy the disclosure requirements uttden 5.05 of the Securities and Exchange CommissiCurrent Report on Form 8-K
regarding amendments to, or waivers from, the Kdbavidson, Inc. Financial Code of Ethics by pogtiuch information on its website at
www.harley-davidson.com. The Company is not inahgdihe information contained on or available thioitg website as a part of, or
incorporating such information by reference intos tAnnual Report on Form 10-K.

Executive Changes

On December 9, 2008, the Company’s President amef Ekecutive Officer, James L. Ziemer, informed thompany’s board of
directors that he intends to retire in 2009, capirtO-year career with the Company. The boardre€tbrs has formed a search committee to
review both internal and external candidates. Nieni&r will remain in his current role until a neMeQ is in place.

On January 8, 2009, the Company announced th@hitef Financial Officer, Thomas E. Bergmann, wasng on the added
responsibility of interim President of HDFS. Thepamtment followed HDFS President Sy Naqvi's peedatecision to resign. Mr. Bergmann
will serve as interim HDFS President while an exééisearch is conducted.

Item 11. Executive Compensatio

The information included or to be included in thexXy Statement under the captions “Executive Coraption” and “Human Resources
Committee Report on Executive Compensation” istipomated by reference herein.
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ltem 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners atdanagement and Related Stockholder Matt:

Information included or to be included in the Pr@&tatement under the caption “Common Stock OwnprshCertain Beneficial Owners
and Management” is incorporated by reference herein

The following table provides information about thempany’s equity compensation plans (includingvitlial compensation
arrangements) as of December 31, 2008:

Number of securities
remaining available
for future issuance unde
Number of securities
equity compensation

to be issued upon th plans (excluding
Weighted-average securities reflected in the
exercise of exercise price of
Plan Category outstanding options outstanding options first column)
Equity compensation plans approved by shareholder
Management employe: 5,487,10 $ 48.8¢ 7,696,14.
Equity compensation plans not submitted tc
shareholders:
Union employees
Kansas City, MC — — 26,71¢
York, PA 42,74¢ $ 38.8¢ 55,15(
Non employees
Board of Director: 22,30( $ 44.6¢ 53,12°
65,04¢ $ 40.8¢ 134,99!
Total all plans 5,552,15. $ 48.7¢ 7,831,13!

Plan documents for each of the Company’s equitypsmation plans have been filed with the SecuritiesExchange Commission on a
timely basis and are included in the list of extsitto this annual report on Form 10-K. Equity congagion plans not submitted to shareholders
for approval were adopted prior to current regalairequiring such approval and have not been raliyesltered since adoption.

The material features of the union employees’ stigtion awards are the same as those of the mamsgemployees’ stock option
awards. Under the Compasynanagement and union plans, stock options haegergise price equal to the fair market valuehefunderlyin
stock at the date of grant, expire ten years frioendate of grant and vest ratably over a four-pesiod, with the first 25 percent becoming
exercisable one year after the date of grant.

Effective December 31, 2002, non-employee direabthe Company’s Board of Directors were no longi@gible to receive stock
options. Prior to December 31, 2002, under the 8o&Directors’ plan, each non-employee directoowkrved as a member of the Board
immediately following the annual meeting of shaldeos was automatically granted an immediately @gable stock option for the purchase
of such number of shares of Common Stock equélreettimes the annual retainer fee for directorgldd by the fair market value of a share
of Common Stock on the day of grant (rounded ugh¢onearest multiple of 100). Board of Directa@tick options have an exercise price e
to the fair market value of the underlying stockhret date of grant and expire ten years from the dfgrant.

In 2002, the Director Compensation Policy was cleang provide that a non-employee Director maytetececeive 50% or 100% of the
annual fee to be paid in each calendar year ifiotme of Common Stock based upon the fair marketevalf the Common Stock at the time of
the annual meeting of shareholders. Directors macgtive a minimum of one-half of their annual ne¢aiin Company Common Stock until the
Director reaches the Director stock ownership dinds defined below.
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In 2006, the Director Compensation Policy was aredntased upon an independent market study oftdireompensation, to provide
Directors with compensation that included an annet@iner as well as a grant of shares. The payofesttare units is deferred until a director
ceases to serve as a director and are payablataintie in actual Company stock.

In August 2002, the Board approved “Director andi&eExecutive Stock Ownership Guidelines” (OwnégusBuidelines) which were
revised in August 2004 and more recently in Felyr@@06. The Ownership Guidelines stipulate thatm#éctors hold 5,000 shares of the
Company’s Common Stock and senior executives hold 5,000 to 30,000 shares of the Company’s Com&took depending on their level.
The directors and senior executives have five yeans January 2003 or the date they are electéckatdr or promoted to a senior executivt
accumulate the appropriate number of shares aCtmpany’s Common Stock.

Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions, abitector Independenct

The information included or to be included in theX¥ Statement under the caption “Certain Transasti and “Corporate Governance
Principles and Board Matters—Independence of Diarsttis incorporated by reference herein.

ltem 14. Principal Accountant Fees and Servict

The information included or to be included in thex¥ Statement under the caption “Ratification efegtion of Independent Registered
Public Accounting Firm—Fees Paid to Ernst & Youngd is incorporated by reference herein.
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PART IV
Item 15. Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedul:
(a) The following documents are filed as part af ffiorm 10-K:
(1 Financial Statemen
Consolidated statements of income for each oftiheetyears in the period ended December 31, 59
Consolidated balance sheets at December 31, 2@DB@rember 31, 20C 6C
Consolidated statements of cash flows for eachettiree years in the period ended December 3B, 61
Consolidated statements of sharehol’ equity for each of the three years in the periadeenDecember 31, 20( 62
Notes to consolidated financial stateme 64
(2 Financial Statement Schedt
Schedule I- Valuation and qualifying accoun 11C

(3 Exhibits
Reference is made to the separate Index to Exlubitsined on pages 112 through 115 filed herewith

All other schedules are omitted since the requiméatrmation is not present or is not present in ans sufficient to require submission
the schedules.
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Schedule 1
HARLEY-DAVIDSON, INC.
CONSOLIDATED VALUATION AND QUALIFYING ACCOUNTS
Years ended December 31, 2008, 2007 and 2006
(In thousands)
2008 2007 2006
Accounts receivabl- allowance for doubtful accour
Balance at beginning of peri $ 9,01¢ $ 9,43t $ 8,49
Provision charged to expen 3,061 36E 863
Reserve adjustmen 2,98t (1,02¢ 80
Write-offs, net of recoverie (5,987%) 244 —
Balance at end of peric $ 9,07¢ $ 9,01€¢ $ 9,43t
Finance receivables held for investm- allowance for credit losse
Balance at beginning of peri $30,29t $27,28: $26,16¢
Provision charged to expen 39,55¢ 11,25: 5,962
Write-offs, net of recoverie (29,787 (8,240 (4,849
Balance at end of peric $40,06¢ $ 30,29 $27,28:
Inventories - allowance for obsolescefite
Balance at beginning of peri $ 16,307 $15,28. $16,66¢
Provision charged to expen 37,84( 11,69¢ 6,51¢
Reserve adjustmen (359 1,11¢ (910)
Write-offs, net of recoverie (24,963 (11,786 (6,999
Balance at end of peric $28,83. $16,307 $15,28:
Deferred tax asse- valuation allowanct
Balance at beginning of peri — — —
Allowance for operating loss carryforwar $42,21¢ — —
Balance at end of peric $42,21¢ — —

(1) Inventory obsolescence reserves deducted fromdedstmined on fir-in first-out (FIFO) basis, before deductions for-in, first-out (LIFO) valuation reserve
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13, or)l&f(the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the ttegig has duly caused this report tc
signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereduolp authorized, on February 17, 2009.

HARLEY-DAVIDSON, INC.

By: /S/ James L. Zieme
James L. Zieme
President and Chief Executive Offic

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities &xga Act of 1934, this report has been signed belpthe following persons on behalf
of the registrant and in the capacities indicatedrebruary 17, 2009.

Name Title
/S/ James L. Ziemer President and Chief Executive Officer and Dire:
James L. Zieme (Principal executive officel

/S/ Thomas E. Bergmann Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Offi

Thomas E. Bergmar (Principal financial and accounting office
/S/ Barry K. Allen Director

Barry K. Allen

/S/ Richard |. Beattie Director

Richard I. Beattie

S/ Jeffrey L. Bleustei Chairman and Directc
Jeffrey L. Bleusteir

/S/ George H. Conrad: Director
George H. Conrade

/S/ Judson C. Gree Director
Judson C. Gree

/S/ Donald A. Jame Director
Donald A. Jame

/S/ Sara L. Levinso Director
Sara L. Levinsol

/S/ N. Thomas Linebarg Director
N. Thomas Linebarge

/S/ George L. Miles, J Director
George L. Miles, Ji

/S/ James A. Norlini Director
James A. Norling

/S/ Jochen Zeitz Director
Jochen Zeit:
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Exhibit No

3.1
3.2

4.1

4.2

4.3

4.4

4.5

10.1*

INDEX TO EXHIBITS
[ltems 15(a)(3) and 15(c)]

Description
Restated Articles of Incorporation as amended tjincdugust 21, 200

By-Laws, as amended February 14, 2007 (incorporatesirhiey reference to Exhibit 3.1 to the Regist's Current Report @
Form &K filed February 21, 2007 (File No-9183))

Form of Rights Agreement between the RegistrantFrstar Bank, N.A. dated February 17, 2000 (incoaped by reference
to Exhibit 4.1 to the Registre’'s Current Report on Forn-A dated February 18, 2000 (File N-9183))

Form of Rights Agent Agreement between the Registtad Computershare Investor Services, LLC (ino@ted herein by
reference to Exhibit 4.2 to the Registrant’s AnrRaport on Form 10-K for the year ended DecembePB0 (File No. 1-
9183))

Indenture to provide for the issuance of indebtedrimted as of November 21, 2003 between F-Davidson Funding Corf
Issuer, Harley-Davidson Financial Services, Ind Harley-Davidson Credit Corp., Guarantors, to BMidwest Trust
Company, Trustee (incorporated herein by referémé&exhibit 4.4 to the Registrant’'s Annual Reporfafrm 10-K for the
year ended December 31, 2005 (File N-9183))

3-Year Credit Agreement, dated as of July 16, 206&ray the Company, certain subsidiaries of the Capphe financia
institutions parties thereto, JPMorgan Chase BHnK,, as global administrative agent and globalngnline lender, Citibank,
N.A., as syndication agent, and ABN Amro Bank NBNP Paribas and Deutsche Bank AG, New York braas
documentation agents (incorporated herein by reéeréo Exhibit 4.1 to the Registrant’s Current Répa Form 8-K filed
July 22, 2008 (File N0.-9183))

364-Day Credit Agreement, dated as of July 16, 2@68ng the Company, certain subsidiaries of tha@2my, the financial
institutions parties thereto, JPMorgan Chase BhnK,, as global administrative agent, Citibank, N.&s syndication agent,
and ABN Amro Bank N.V., BNP Paribas and Deutschal®aG, New York branch, as documentation agentofiporated
herein by reference to Exhibit 4.2 to the Regid’s Current Report on Forn-K filed July 22, 2008 (File No.-9183))

Harley-Davidson, Inc. 1995 Stock Option Plan as amendeditih April 28, 2007 (incorporated herein by refex@to Exhibi
10.3 to the Registra’s Quarterly Report on Form -Q for the quarter ended April 1, 2007 (File N-9183))

* Represents a management contract or compensatoryqaintract or arrangement in which a directaramed executive officer of tt
Company participate
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INDEX TO EXHIBITS
[ltems 15(a)(3) and 15(c)]

Exhibit No. Description

10.2* Harley-Davidson, Inc. Director Stock Plan as amended astated effective January 1, 2(

10.3* Form of Amended and Restated Transition Agreemeangended through April 25, 2008 between the Regisand Ms
Lione and each of Messrs. Bergmann, Eberle, HusciminMcCaslin and Ziemer (incorporated herein ligremce to Exhibit
10.2 to the Registra’s Quarterly Report on Form -Q for the quarter ended March 30, 2008 (File M9183))

10.4* Harley-Davidson Management Deferred Compensation Plamasded and restated effective January 1, :

10.5* Form of Life Insurance Agreement between the Regyistand Ms. Lione and each of Messrs. HutchinstwCaslin and
Ziemer (incorporated herein by reference from ExHib.10 to the Registrant’s Annual Report on Fdi®rK for the year
ended December 31, 1993 (File N-9183))

10.6* Harley-Davidson, Inc. Corporate Short Term Incentive Rlammended April 24, 2004 (incorporated hereinelfigrence fron
Exhibit 10.2 to the Registre’s Quarterly Report on Form -Q for the period ended March 28, 2004 (File N-9183))

10.7* Form of Amended and Restated Severance Benefitselggnt as amended through April 25, 2008 betwemR#gistrant and
Ms. Lione and each of Messrs. Bergmann, DanneldrlEpFlickinger, Hutchinson, McCaslin, Richer &idmer
(incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 1dd the Registrant’s Quarterly Report on Form 10e@tlie quarter ended
March 30, 2008 (File No.-9183))

10.8* Form of Amended and Restated Supplemental ExecRédtiegement Plan Agreement between the Registraheach of
Messrs. McCaslin and Ziemer (incorporated hereingbgrence from Exhibit 10.6 to the Registrant’sa@erly Report on
Form 1(-Q for the quarter ended September 28, 2008 (Filel-9183))

10.9* Harley-Davidson Pension Benefit Restoration Plan as anteadd restated effective January 1, 2

10.10* Harley-Davidson Retiree Insurance Allowance Plan, effeclignuary 1, 20C

10.11 Harley-Davidson, Inc. 1998 Non-Exempt Employee BtOption Plan (incorporated by reference to Exbit to the
Registrar’s Registration Statement on For-8 (File No. 33-75347))

10.12 2001 York Hourh-Paid Employees Stock Option Plan (incorporatedihdrg reference to Exhibit 10.17 to the Regist's
Annual Report on Form -K for the year ended December 31, 2000 (File 1-9183))

10.13* Director Compensation Policy effective April 29,08)(incorporated herein by reference from Exhibi2lto the Registra’s

Current Report on Forr-K filed May 4, 2006 (File No.-9183))

* Represents a management contract or compensasoryqantract or arrangement in which a directaramed executive officer of tt
Company participate
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INDEX TO EXHIBITS
[ltems 15(a)(3) and 15(c)]

Exhibit No. Description

10.14* Deferred Compensation Plan for Nonemployee Dirscagramended and restated effective January 1,

10.15* Harley-Davidson, Inc. 2004 Incentive Stock Plan as ametigeadigh April 28, ,2007 (incorporated herein bference tc
Exhibit 10.4 to the Registre’s Quarterly Report on Form -Q for the quarter ended April 1, 2007 (File N-9183))

10.16* Form of Notice of Grant of Stock Options and Optigreement of Harley-Davidson, Inc. under the Hafbavidson Inc.
1995 Stock Option Plan and the Harley-Davidson, 2004 Incentive Stock Plan (incorporated hereimgfgrence to Exhibit
10.21 to the Registre’s Annual Report of Form -K for the year ended December 31, 2005 (File -9183))

10.17* Form of Notice of Special Grant of Stock Optionsl @ption Agreement of Harl-Davidson, Inc. under the Harl-Davidson
Inc. 1995 Stock Option Plan and the Harley-Daviddna. 2004 Incentive Stock Plan (incorporated lmeby reference to
Exhibit 10.22 to the Registré s Annual Report of Form -K for the year ended December 31, 2005 (File M-9183))

10.18* Form of Notice of Award of Restricted Stock and fReged Stock Agreement of Harley-Davidson, Incdenthe Harley-
Davidson, Inc. 2004 Incentive Stock Plan (incorpedéherein by reference to Exhibit 10.5 to the Begints Quarterly Repo
of Form 1(-Q for the quarter ended April 1, 2007 (File N-9183))

10.19* Form of Notice of Special Award of Restricted Stecld Restricted Stock Agreement of Ha-Davidson, Inc. under tr
Harley-Davidson, Inc. 2004 Incentive Stock Plarcgirporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.6@®Registrans Quarterh
Report of Form 1-Q for the quarter ended April 1, 2007 (File N-9183))

10.20* Form of Notice of Grant of Stock Appreciation Riglaind Stock Appreciation Rights Agreement of Haeywidson, Inc.
under the Harley-Davidson, Inc. 2004 Incentive BtBkan (incorporated herein by reference to ExHiBi22 to the
Registrar’s Annual Report on Form -K for the year ended December 31, 2006 (File M-9183))

10.21* Form of Notice of Award of Restricted Stock UnitdaRestricted Stock Unit Agreement of Harley-Davitsimc. under the
Harley-Davidson, Inc. 2004 Incentive Stock Plarcdirporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10. heoRegistrans Quarterl
Report on Form 1-Q for the quarter ended April 1, 2007 (File N-9183))

10.22* Harley-Davidson, Inc. Employee Sh-Term Incentive Plan (incorporated herein by refeesto Exhibit 10.1 of th
Registrar's Form 1-Q filed May 2, 2005 (File No.-9183))

21 List of Subsidiarie:

23 Consent of Independent Registered Public Accourking

* Represents a management contract or compengaltorycontract or arrangement in which a directanamed executive officer of the
Company participatec
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INDEX TO EXHIBITS
[ltems 15(a)(3) and 15(c)]

Exhibit No. Description

31.1 Chief Executive Officer Certification pursuant tolR 13«14(a)

31.2 Chief Financial Officer Certification pursuant tale 13«14(a)

32 Written Statement of the Chief Executive Officeddhe Chief Financial Officer pursuant to 18 U.SSC350
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Exhibit 3.1

RESTATED ARTICLES OF INCORPORATION, as amended tigio August 21, 2000

* k k %k %

ARTICLE |

The name of the Corporation is Harley-Davidson, Inc

ARTICLE Il

The registered agent and registered office of thgp@ation is CT Corporation System, 44 E. Mifféh, Madison, Wisconsin
53703.

ARTICLE I

The purpose of the Corporation is to engage inlawful act or activity for which corporations mag brganized under the
Wisconsin Business Corporation Law.

ARTICLE IV

(a) AUTHORIZED SHARES. The total number of sharéalbclasses of stock that the Corporation is ari#fed to issue is eight
hundred two million (802,000,000), consisting g¢feight hundred million (800,000,000) shares of Gwn Stock of $.01 par value (“Common
Stock™), and (ii) two million (2,000,000) sharesPxfeferred Stock of $1.00 par value.

All cross references in each Subdivision of thisTARLE 1V refer to other paragraphs in such subdonsunless otherwise
indicated.

(i) Voting Rights. The holders of Common Stock vki# entitled to one vote per share on all mattelsetvoted on by the
Corporation’s shareholders.

(ii) Registration of Transfer. The Corporation dlkalep at its principal office (or such other plasethe Corporation reasonably
designates) a register for the registration of shaf Common Stock. Upon the surrender of anyfieté representing shares of Comr
Stock at such place, the Corporation shall, ateélgeest of the registered holder of such certiéicakecute and deliver (at the
Corporation’s expense) a new certificate or cedifes in exchange therefor representing in theeggde the number of shares of
Common Stock represented by the surrendered catéfiand the Corporation forthwith shall cancehssurrendered certificate), subject
to the requirements of applicable securities |&wech such new certificate shall be registered alm suame and shall represent such
number of shares as shall be requested by thermfidee surrendered certificate and shall be suttistlly identical in form to the
surrendered certificate.

(iii) Replacement



(A) Upon receipt of evidence reasonably satisfactorthe Corporation (an affidavit of the registef®lder without bond shi
be satisfactory) of the ownership and the losdt,tdestruction or mutilation of any certificateiégncing one or more shares of
Common Stock and, in the case of any such los,dhdestruction, upon receipt of indemnity reasgy satisfactory to the
Corporation, or, in the case of any such mutilgtiggon surrender of such certificate, the Corporashall, at the expense of the
registered holder, execute and deliver in lieuunhscertificate a new certificate of like kind repenting the number of shares of
Common Stock represented by such lost, stolenrajest or mutilated certificate and dated the d&tsuch lost, stolen, destroyec
mutilated certificate.

(B) The term “outstanding” when used in this ARTIELV with reference to the shares of Common Stachkfeany particular
time shall not include any such shares represdntethy certificate in lieu of which a new certifieehas been executed and
delivered by the Corporation in accordance wittageaiph (ii) or this paragraph (iii), but shall inde only those shares represented
by such new certificate.

(iv) DISSOLUTION. Upon the dissolution of the Corption, after there shall have been paid to omsiete for the holders of sha
of Preferred Stock the full preferential amountsvtoch they are entitled, if any, the holders ofstanding shares of Common Stock shall
be entitled to receive pro rata the remaining ssets of the Corporation.

(b) PREFERRED STOCK. The Preferred Stock may heetb$rom time to time in one or more series in a@nner permitted by
law and the provisions of the Restated Articlegnabrporation of the Corporation, as determinednftame to time by the Board of Directors
and stated in the resolution or resolutions prangdor the issuances thereof, prior to the issusiéany shares thereof. Unless otherwise
provided in the resolution establishing a serieBrefferred Stock, prior to the issue of any shaf@sseries so established or to be established,
the Board of Directors may, by resolution, amereréfative rights and preferences of the sharesidf series.

The designations and the powers, preferences ghtsriand the qualifications, limitations or residns thereof, of each class of
stock shall be governed by the following provisions

(i) The Board of Directors is expressly authorizéény time, and from time to time, to provide floe issuance of shares of
Preferred Stock in one or more series, with su¢mggowers, full or limited, or without voting p@ss and with such designations,
preferences and relative, participating, optiomadtber special rights, and qualifications, limibais or restrictions thereof, as shall be
stated and expressed in the resolution or resasifooviding for the issue thereof adopted by tharB of Directors, including (but not
limiting the generality thereof) the following:



(A) The number of shares to constitute each sugbsseand the designation of each such series.

(B) The dividend rate of each such series, the itiomd and dates upon which such dividends shafidyable, the relation
which such dividends shall bear to the dividendgapée on any other class or classes or on any etrégs of any class or classe:
stock, and whether such dividends shall be cunugatt non-cumulative.

(C) Whether the shares of each such series shaliliject to redemption by the Corporation and iflenaubject to such
redemption, the times, prices and other terms anditions of such redemption.

(D) The terms and amount of any sinking fund predidor the purchase or redemption of the sharesdlf such series.

(E) Whether or not the shares of each such sdraklse convertible into or exchangeable for shafesny other class or
classes or any other series of any other clasksses of stock of the Corporation, and, if praridbe made for conversion or
exchange, the times, prices, rates of exchanges@agnts, and other terms and conditions of sunkiezgsion or exchange.

(F) The extent, if any, to which the holders of #imares of each such series shall be entitledt®with respect to the election
of directors or otherwise.

(G) The restrictions, if any, on the issue or neésef any additional Preferred Stock.

(H) The rights of the holders of the shares of eaath series upon the dissolution of, or upon theiblution of the assets of,
the Corporation.

(i) Except as otherwise required by law and exdepsuch voting powers with respect to the electbdirectors or other matters

may be stated in the resolutions of the Board oé@ors creating any series of Preferred Stockhthéers of any such series shall have
no voting powers whatsoever.

(c) SERIES A JUNIOR PARTICIPATING PREFERRED STOQ®ursuant to the authority vested in the Board oé€ors of the

Corporation in accordance with the provisions &f Restated Articles of Incorporation, a serieshafres of Preferred Stock, par value $1.0(
share, of the Corporation be and it hereby is erbatnd the designation and amount thereof anddtireg powers, preferences and relative,
participating, optional or other special rightsloé shares of such series, and the qualificationgations or restrictions thereof are as follows:

Section 1. Designation and Amourithe shares of such series shall be designat&skags A Junior Participating Preferred

Stock” (“Series A Preferred Stock”) and the numbfeshares constituting such series shall be 500,000
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Section 2. Dividends and Distributions

(A) The holders of shares of Series A Preferredgtm preference to the holders of shares of ComBtock and of any other
junior stock, shall be entitled to receive, whenaad if declared by the Board of Directors outunfds legally available for the purpo:
quarterly dividends payable in cash on the firgtibeiss days of January, April, July and Octobesaich year (each such date being referred to
herein as a “Quarterly Dividend Payment Date”), owgncing on the first Quarterly Dividend Paymentdafter the first issuance of a share or
fraction of a share of Series A Preferred Stoclgriramount per share (rounded to the nearestegud) to the greater of (i) $1.00 or (ii) sub
to the provision for adjustment hereinafter settfot 0,000 times the aggregate per share amouwait edsh dividends, and 10,000 times the
aggregate per share amount (payable in kind) ofaltash dividends or other distributions, othanth dividend payable in shares of Common
Stock or a subdivision of the outstanding shareSamhmon Stock (by reclassification or otherwis@gldred on the Common Stock since the
immediately preceding Quarterly Dividend PaymenteDar, with respect to the first Quarterly Paymate, since the first issuance of any
share or fraction of a share of Series A Prefe@tetk. In the event the Corporation shall at ametafter the close of business on August 20,
2000 (the “Record Date”) (a) declare any dividenddmmmon Stock payable in shares of Common Sttglsubdivide the outstanding
Common Stock, or (c) combine the outstanding Com8ioick into a smaller number of shares, then il sach case the amount to which
holders of shares of Series A Preferred Stock wetigled immediately prior to such event under sadii) of the preceding sentence shall be
adjusted by multiplying such amount by a fractibae humerator of which is the number of shares ohi@on Stock that are outstanding
immediately after such event and the denominatevhath is the number of shares of Common Stockweae outstanding immediately prior
to such event.

(B) The Corporation shall declare a dividend otribsition on the Series A Preferred Stock as predith paragraph (A) above
immediately after it declares a dividend or digitibn on the Common Stock (other than a dividengapke in shares of Common Stock);
providedthat, in the event no dividend or distribution $lnalve been declared on the Common Stock duringéhied between any Quarterly
Dividend Payment Date and the next subsequent liaRividend Payment Date, a dividend of $1.00 gfeare on the Series A Preferred
Stock shall nevertheless be payable on such sueseQuarterly Dividend Payment Date.

(C) Dividends shall begin to accrue and be cumegatin outstanding shares of Series A PreferreckStom the Quarterly
Dividend Payment Date next preceding the datesnieiof such shares of Series A Preferred Stocksarthe date of issue of such shares is
prior to the record date for the first Quarterlwidend Payment Date, in which case dividends oh shares shall begin to accrue from the
of issue of such shares, or unless the date of issa Quarterly Dividend Payment Date or is a dfter the record date for the determinatio
holders of shares of Series A Preferred Stockledtib receive a quarterly dividend and before SQahrterly Dividend Payment Date, in eit
of which events such dividends shall begin to aee@md be cumulative from such Quarterly Dividengrifent Date. Accrued but unpaid
dividends shall not bear interest. Dividends paidh®e shares of Series A Preferred Stock in an airess than the total amount of such
dividends at the time accrued and payable on suates shall be allocated pro rata on a share-he d#sis among all such shares at the time
outstanding. The Board of Directors may fix a relcdate for the determination of holders of shafeSesies A Preferred Stock entitled to
receive payment of a dividend or



distribution declared thereon, which record datdidie no more than 30 days prior to the date ficedhe payment thereof.
Section 3. Voting RightsThe holders of shares of Series A Preferred Sébek have the following voting rights:

(A) Subject to the provision for adjustment heréiieraset forth, each share of Series A PreferrediSshall entitle the holder ther
to 10,000 votes on all matters submitted to a vbthe shareholders of the Corporation. In the etlem Corporation shall at any time after the
Record Date declare or pay any dividend on CommntookSayable in shares of Common Stock, or effexttadivision or combination or
consolidation of the outstanding shares of ComntockS(by reclassification or otherwise than by payiof a dividend in shares of Common
Stock) into a greater or lesser number of shar€oafimon Stock, then in each such case the numhates$ per share to which holders of
shares of Series A Preferred Stock were entitledediately prior to such event shall be adjustedniftiplying such number by a fraction the
numerator of which is the number of shares of Com®tmck that are outstanding immediately after sw@nt and the denominator of whicl
the number of shares of Common Stock that werdamdég immediately prior to such event.

(B) Except as otherwise provided herein, in anyeptesolution of the Board of Directors creatingeaies of Preferred Stock or any
similar stock, or by law, the holders of shareSefies A Preferred Stock and the holders of stafr€®@mmon Stock shall vote together as one
class on all matters submitted to a vote of shddeins of the Corporation.

(C) Except as set forth herein, holders of Seri¢drdferred Stock shall have no special voting sgirtd their consent shall not be
required (except to the extent they are entitledote with holders of Common Stock as set fortrelmgrfor taking any corporate action.

Section 4. Certain Restrictions

(A) Whenever quarterly dividends or other divideodslistributions payable on the Series A PrefeBaatk as provided in
Section 2 are in arrears, thereafter and untd@tued and unpaid dividends and distributions théreor not declared, on shares of Series A
Preferred Stock outstanding shall have been pdullirthe Corporation shall not:

(i) declare or pay dividends on, make any otheribigtions on, or redeem or purchase or otherwisgiige for consideration any
shares of stock ranking junior (either as to diwidteor upon liquidation, dissolution or winding up)the Series A Preferred Stock;

(i) declare or pay dividends on or make any ottistributions on any shares of stock ranking oty (either as to dividends or
upon liquidation, dissolution or winding up) withet Series A Preferred Stock, except dividends gably on the Series A Preferred
Stock and all such parity stock on which divideads payable or in arrears in proportion to thel @taounts to which the holders of all
such shares are then entitled;




(iii) redeem or purchase or otherwise acquire torsideration shares of any stock ranking on aypéeither as to dividends or upon
liquidation, dissolution or winding up) with the i8=s A Preferred Stoclgrovidedthat the Corporation may at any time redeem, pseha
or otherwise acquire shares of any such paritykstoexchange for shares of any stock of the Catpam ranking junior to or on a parity
with (both as to dividends or upon dissolutionuld@ption or winding up) the Series A Preferred &tar

(iv) purchase or otherwise acquire for consideratiny shares of Series A Preferred Stock, or aagestof stock ranking on a pal
with the Series A Preferred Stock, except in acancé with a purchase offer made in writing or bplmation (as determined by the
Board of Directors) to all holders of such sharpsrusuch terms as the Board of Directors, aftesiciemation of the respective annual
dividend rates and other relative rights and peefees of the respective series and classes, gtathtine in good faith will result in fair
and equitable treatment among the respective sariglasses.

(B) The Corporation shall not permit any corpornataf which an amount of voting securities suffitciemelect at least a majority of
the directors of such corporation is beneficialyned, directly or indirectly, by the Corporationatherwise controlled by the Corporation to
purchase or otherwise acquire for considerationsdiadyes of stock of the Corporation unless the @atjon could, under paragraph (A) of this
Section 4, purchase or otherwise acquire such skamich time and in such manner.

Section 5. Reacquired Sharesll shares of Series A Preferred Stock that saadiny time have been reacquired by the Corparatio
shall, after such reacquisition, have the statusuttiorized but unissued shares of Preferred Stbttle Corporation, without designation as to
series, and may be reissued as part of a new séfreferred Stock to be created by resolutioresolutions of the Board of Directors, subject
to the conditions and restrictions on issuancéastt herein.

Section 6. Liguidation, Dissolution or Winding UpJpon any liquidation, dissolution or winding uptbe Corporation, no
distribution shall be made (A) to the holders ddirgls of stock ranking junior (either as to dividewd upon liquidation, dissolution or winding
up) to the Series A Preferred Stock unless, phierdto, the holders of shares of Series A Prefétedk shall have received $100 per share,
plus an amount equal to accrued and unpaid divieland distributions thereon, whether or not dedlaethe date of such paymepitpvided
that the holders of shares of Series A PreferredkSthall be entitled to receive an aggregate ampemshare, subject to the provision for
adjustment hereinafter set forth, equal to 10,00@4 the aggregate amount to be distributed peeshaolders of shares of Common Stocl
(B) to the holders of shares of stock ranking qraty (either as to dividends or upon liquidatidissolution or winding up) with the Series A
Preferred Stock, except distributions made ratahlyhe Series A Preferred Stock and all other pachy stock in proportion to the total
amounts to which the holders of all such sharegatiled upon such liquidation, dissolution or dimg up. In the event the Corporation shall
at any time after the Record Date declare or pgydaridend on the Common Stock payable in sharédashmon Stock, or effect a subdivisi
or combination or consolidation of the outstandshgres of Common Stock (by reclassification or tige than by payment of a dividend in
shares of Common Stock) into a greater or lessebeu of shares of Common Stock, then in each sasé the aggregate amount to which
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holders of shares of Series A Preferred Stock wetitled immediately prior to such event underphaviso in clause (A) of the preceding
sentence shall be adjusted by multiplying such arhby a fraction the numerator of which is the nemdf shares of Common Stock
outstanding immediately after such event and tm@hénator of which is the number of shares of Comi8tock that were outstanding
immediately prior to such event.

Section 7. Consolidation, Merger, etin case the Corporation shall enter into any olidation, merger, combination, share
exchange or other transaction in which the shar@mmon Stock are exchanged for or changed irfterattock or securities, cash and/or any
other property, then in any such case the shar8grdés A Preferred Stock shall at the same timsirb#arly exchanged or changed in an
amount per share (subject to the provision for stdjent hereinafter set forth) equal to 10,000 tithesaggregate amount of stock, securities,
cash and/or any other property (payable in kingltha case may be, into which or for which eachesbhCommon Stock is changed or
exchanged. In the event the Corporation shall atiame after the Record Date (A) declare any dimdlen Common Stock payable in shares of
Common Stock, (B) subdivide the outstanding Comi@tatk, or (C) combine the outstanding shares of @omStock into a smaller number
of shares, then in each such case the amountriieiridhe preceding sentence with respect to Xiehange or change of shares of Series A
Preferred Stock shall be adjusted by multiplyingrsamount by a fraction the numerator of whicthiss mumber of shares of Common Stock
that are outstanding immediately after such evedtthe denominator of which is the number of shaféSommon Stock that were outstanding
immediately prior to such event.

Section 8. No Redemptiarirhe shares of Series A Preferred Stock shalbastdeemable.

Section 9. AmendmentTo the fullest extent permitted by applicable J@nor to such time as shares of Series A Predesteck ar
issued and outstanding, the Board of Directors maglify, amend, alter or revoke any of the numbestares of Series A Preferred Stock, the
powers, preferences or special rights of the SéxiBseferred Stock or the other terms of the Seki€seferred Stock. From and after such t
as shares of Series A Preferred Stock are issukdwtatanding, the Restated Articles of Incorporatf the Corporation shall not be amended
in any manner that would materially alter or chatigepowers, preferences or special rights of #r&eS A Preferred Stock so as to affect them
adversely without the affirmative vote of the hollef at least two-thirds of the outstanding shafeSeries A Preferred Stock, voting together
as a single class.

Section 10. Fractional ShareSeries A Preferred Stock may be issued in frastimf a share which shall entitle the holder, in
proportion to such holdes’fractional shares, to exercise voting rightseiex dividends, participate in distributions andh&wve the benefit of ¢
other rights of holders of Series A Preferred Stock



ARTICLE V
(a) VOTE REQUIRED FOR CERTAIN BUSINESS COMBINATIONS

() In addition to any affirmative vote required law or these Restated Articles of Incorporatiord axcept as otherwise expressly
provided in Section (b) of this ARTICLE V:

(A) any merger of the Corporation or any Subsidi@y hereinafter defined), or any share exchangéhtoh the Corporation
is a party with (1) any Interested Shareholde@sinafter defined) or (Il) any other corporat{arhether or not an Interested
Shareholder) which is, or after such merger or clidation would be, an Affiliate (as hereinaftefided) of an Interested
Shareholder; or

(B) any sale, lease, exchange, mortgage, pledgesfar or other disposition (in one transactioma series of transactions)
or with any Interested Shareholder or any Affiliafeany Interested Shareholder of all or a SubithRart of the assets of the
Corporation (including, without limitation, any s&tties of a Subsidiary) or any Subsidiary; or

(C) the issuance or transfer by the Corporatioarmyr Subsidiary (in one transaction or in a serfasamsactions) of any
securities of the Corporation or any Subsidiargng Interested Shareholder or any Affiliate of émgrested Shareholder in
exchange for cash, securities or other propertya @mbination thereof); or

(D) the adoption of any plan or proposal for tlyidation or dissolution of the Corporation propbbg or on behalf of an
Interested Shareholder or any Affiliate of any tested Shareholder; or

(E) any reclassification of securities (includingyaeverse stock split), or recapitalization of @erporation, or any merger of
the Corporation with any of its Subsidiaries or ahgre exchange to which the Corporation is a margny self tender offer for or
repurchase of securities of the Corporation byGbgporation or any Subsidiary or any other trarieagiwhether or not with or into
or otherwise involving an Interested Shareholddriciv has the effect, directly or indirectly, of reasing the proportionate share of
the outstanding shares of any class of equity nvexible securities of the Corporation or any Sdilasy which is directly or
indirectly owned by any Interested Shareholdemyr Affiliate of any Interested Shareholder, shatjuire the affirmative vote of
the holders of at least 68/ 3% of the voting power of the then outstanding sbarfestock of the Corporation entitled to vote
generally in the election of directors (the “VotiBtpck”) (it being understood that for purposeshis ARTICLE V, each share of
the Voting Stock shall have the number of votesitgrd to it pursuant to ARTICLE IV of these Restateticles of Incorporation),
which vote shall include the affirmative vote ofl@st a majority of the voting power of the theristanding shares of Voting Stock
held by shareholders other



than the Interested Shareholder. Such affirmatdte ghall be required notwithstanding the fact titatote may be required, or that
a lesser percentage may be specified, by law théne Restated Articles of Incorporation or in aggeement with any national
securities exchange or otherwise.

(i) The term “Business Combinatioms used in this ARTICLE V shall mean any transactiich is referred to in any one or m
of subparagraphs (A) through (E) of paragraphf(this Section (a).

(b) WHEN HIGHER VOTE IS NOT REQUIRED. The provis®nf Section (a) of this ARTICLE V shall not be &pable to any
particular Business Combination, and such Busi@&sabination shall require only such affirmativeeass is required by law, any other
provision of these Restated Articles of Incorpanator any agreement with any national securitieharge, if, in the case of a Business
Combination that does not involve any cash or otlw@sideration being received by the shareholdettseoCorporation, solely in their
respective capacities as shareholders of the Catipar the condition specified in the following pgraph (i) is met, or, in the case of any other
Business Combination, the conditions specifiedtimee of the following paragraphs (i) and (ii) aret:

(i) The Business Combination shall have been apatdoy a majority of the Disinterested Directorstfaseinafter defined).
(ii) Each of the five conditions specified in tra@léwing subparagraphs (A) through (E) shall hagerbmet:

(A) The aggregate amount of the cash and the Faikét Value (as hereinafter defined) as of the datmnsummation of the
Business Combination of consideration other tha ¢a be received per share by holders of eachk ofagoting Stock in such
Business Combination shall be at least equal tditjieer of the following:

() (if applicable) the Highest Per Share Pricel@seinafter defined) (including the brokerage cassions, transfer
taxes and soliciting dealers’ fees) paid in ordesicquire any shares of such class of Voting Stbecieficially owned by the
Interested Shareholder which were acquired bemdfiddy such Interested Shareholder (x) withintie-year period
immediately prior to the first public announcemehthe proposal of the Business Combination (thariduncement Date”)
or (y) in the transaction in which it became aretasted Shareholder, whichever is higher; or

() the Fair Market Value per share of such clas¥oting Stock on the Announcement Date or ondage on which
the Interested Shareholder became an Interestedt®hder (such latter date is referred to in thiRTACLE V as the
“Determination Date”), whichever is higher; or



(11 an amount which bears the same or greatecgrgage relationship to the Fair Market Value afsclass of Votin
Stock on the Announcement Date as the Highest RaeSrice determined in (i) (A) (I) above bearshe Fair Market
Value of such class of Voting Stock on the datthefcommencement of the acquisition of Voting Stoglsuch Interested
Shareholder.

(B) The consideration to be received by holderhefoutstanding Voting Stock shall be in cash dha&nsame form as was
previously paid in order to acquire beneficiallyasds of Voting Stock that are beneficially ownedfy Interested Shareholder. If
the Interested Shareholder beneficially owns shair&®ting Stock that were acquired with varyingrfe of consideration, the for
of consideration to be received by holders of VigtBtock shall be either cash or the form used quiae beneficially the largest
number of shares of Voting Stock beneficially acediby it prior to the Announcement Date.

(C) After such Interested Shareholder has becometarested Shareholder and prior to consummatiGuch Business
Combination: (1) there shall have been (x) no reidncin the annual rate of dividends paid on thdimp Stock (except as necessary
to reflect any subdivision of the Voting Stock)cept as approved by a majority of the Disintere§igdctors, and (y) an increase
such annual rate of dividends as necessary tacteftey reclassification (including any reverse ktsglit), recapitalization,
reorganization or any similar transaction which tieseffect of reducing the number of outstandimgres of the Voting Stock,
unless the failure so to increase such annuaigaeproved by a majority of the Disinterested Blioes; and (1) such Interested
Shareholder shall have not become the beneficiakowf any additional shares of Voting Stock ex@ppart of the transaction
which resulted in such Interested Shareholder bewpan Interested Shareholder.

(D) After such Interested Shareholder has becomnlatarested Shareholder, such Interested Sharetshdd not have
received the benefit, directly or indirectly (extepoportionately as a shareholder), of any loadsances, guarantees, pledges or
other financial assistance or any tax credits beiotax advantages provided by the Corporationthéren anticipation of or in
connection with such Business Combination or otlesw

(E) A proxy or information statement describing greposed Business Combination and complying wighrequirements of
the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 and the rulgsragulations thereunder (or any subsequent pomgseplacing such Act, ruls
or regulations) shall be mailed to shareholdethefCorporation at least 30 days prior to the comeation of such Business
Combination (whether or not such proxy or inforraatstatement is required to be mailed pursuani¢b #.ct or subsequent
provisions).
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(c) CERTAIN DEFINITIONS. For the purposes of thiRAICLE V:
(i) A “person” shall mean any individual, firm, gmration, group (as such term is defined in Secti®f) (3) of the Securities

Exchange Act of 1934, as in effect on March 1, 398Iother entity.

(ii) “Interested Shareholder” shall mean any per&gher than the Corporation, any Subsidiary or e@mypensation or retirement

plan of the Corporation) who or which, as of theorel date for the determination of shareholdergledtto notice of and to vote on such
Business Combination or immediately prior to thestammation of any such transaction:

(A) is the beneficial owner, directly or indirectigf more than 10% of the voting power of the aatsling Voting Stock; or

(B) is an Affiliate of the Corporation and at amyé within the two-year period immediately priorttee date in question was
the beneficial owner, directly or indirectly, of%0or more of the voting power of the then outstagdioting Stock; or

(C) is an assignee of or has otherwise succeedeelteficial ownership of any shares of Voting Statkch were at any time
within the two-year period immediately prior to ttiate in question beneficially owned by any InterdsShareholder, if such
assignment or succession shall have occurred indhiese of a transaction or series of transactimisnvolving a public offering
within the meaning of the Securities Act of 1933.

(iii) A person shall be a “beneficial owner” of aWpting Stock:
(A) which such person or any of its Affiliates osgociates (as hereinafter defined) beneficially gwdirectly or indirectly; or

(B) which such person or any of its Affiliates osgociates has (l) the right to acquire (whetheh sight is exercisable
immediately or only after the passage of time)spant to any agreement, arrangement or undersgandimpon the exercise of
conversion rights, exchange rights, warrants oioapt or otherwise or (Il) the right to vote oretit the vote pursuant to any
agreement, arrangement or understanding; or

(C) which are beneficially owned, directly or inelitly, by any other person with which such persoany of its Affiliates or
Associates has any agreement, arrangement or tsnaieirsy for the purposes of acquiring, holding,imptor disposing of any
shares of Voting Stock.

(iv) For the purposes of determining whether a@eiis an Interested Shareholder pursuant to pgradii of this Section (c), the

number of shares of Voting Stock deemed to be autistg shall include shares deemed owned througlicapion of paragraph (iii) of
this Section (c) but shall not include any othaarsl of Voting Stock which may be issuable purstmany
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agreement, arrangement or understanding or upacisgef conversion rights, warrants or optionspthrerwise.

(v) “Affiliate” and “Associate” shall have the resgtive meanings ascribed to such terms in Rule2l@bthe General Rules and
Regulations under the Securities Exchange Act 8#1#5s in effect on March 1, 1991.

(vi) “Subsidiary” means any corporation of whiclmayjority of any class of equity security is ownditectly or indirectly, by the
Corporation or by a Subsidiary or by the Corporaamd one or more subsidiaries; provided, howetat,for the purposes of the
definition of Interested Shareholder set forth @amggraph (ii) of this Section (c), the term “Sulesig” shall mean only a corporation of
which a majority of each class of equity securitypined, directly or indirectly, by the Corporation

(vii) “Substantial Part” means more than 10% ofloek value of the total assets of the person tityen question, as of the end of
its most recent fiscal year ending prior to theetiof the determination.

(viii) “Disinterested Director” means any membertloé Board of Directors of the Corporation who m&ffiliated with, and not a
nominee of, the Interested Shareholder and wasnabereof the Board of Directors prior to the timattthe Interested Shareholder
became an Interested Shareholder, and any suca#ss@isinterested Director who is unaffiliatecthyiand not a nominee of, the
Interested Shareholder and who is recommendedctesd a Disinterested Director by a majority ofilierested Directors then on the
Board of Directors.

(ix) “Fair Market Value” means: (A) in the casestbck, the highest closing sale price during thel@p period immediately
preceding the date in question of a share of stattk ®n the Composite Tape for New York Stock ExgeListed Stocks, or, if such
stock is not quoted on the Composite Tape, on #he Xork Stock Exchange, or, if such stock is nstielil on such Exchange, on the
Composite Tape for American Stock Exchange-Listetks, or if such stock is not quoted on such Casitpdrape, on the American
Stock Exchange or on the principal United Statesisiies exchange registered under the Securitieb&hge Act of 1934 on which such
stock is listed, or, if such stock is not listedaomy such exchange, the highest closing sales pribel quotation with respect to a share of
stock during the 3@ay period preceding the date in question on th@Nal Association of Securities Dealers, Inc. Autded Quotatior
System or any system then in use, or if no suchagions are available, the fair market value ondae in question of a share of such
stock as determined by a majority of the Disinter@®irectors in good faith; and (B) in the casatotk of any class or series which is
not traded on any United States registered seesiiétkchange nor in the over-the-counter market tiré case of property other than cash
or stock, the fair market value of such propertytlumdate in question as determined Disinterestegtfdrs in good faith.

(x) References to “Highest Per Share Price” skedléct an appropriate adjustment for any dividendistribution in shares of
Voting Stock or any stock split or reclassificatioioutstanding shares of such stock into a greatetber of shares
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of such stock or any combination or reclassificatidd outstanding shares of such stock into a smailenber of shares of such stock.

(xi) In the event of any Business Combination inahtthe Corporation survives, the phrase “consit@naother than cash to be
received’as used in subparagraph (A) of paragraph (ii) atiSe (b) of this ARTICLE V shall include the sharef Voting Stock retaine
by the holders of such shares.

(d) POWERS OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS. A majoritytbé Disinterested Directors of the Corporationlidteae the powe
and duty to determine for the purposes of this ARIE V on the basis of information known to theneafteasonable inquiry, all facts
necessary to determine compliance with this ARTIGLEncluding, without limitation, (i) whether a ®n is an Interested Shareholder,

(i) whether a Business Combination is proposedbyn behalf of an Interested Shareholder or ailidté of an Interested Shareholder,

(iiif) the number of shares of Voting Stock benedilsi owned by any person, (iv) whether a persamig\ffiliate or Associate of another pers
(v) whether the requirements of Section (b) (iiYta6 ARTICLE V have been met with respect to amgiBess Combination, and (vi) whether
any Business Combination involves all or a SubsaPRfrt of the assets of the Corporation or arlys@liary. The good faith determination c
majority of the Disinterested Directors shall bedasive and binding for all purposes of this ARTEV.

(e) NO EFFECT ON FIDUCIARY OBLIGATIONS OF INTERESTESHAREHOLDERS. Nothing contained in this ARTICLE V
shall be construed to relieve any Interested Slaéglehfrom any fiduciary obligation imposed by law.

() AMENDMENT OR REPEAL. Notwithstanding any othprovision of these Restated Articles of Incorpanatdr the By-laws of
the Corporation to the contrary (and notwithstagdhre fact that a lesser percentage may be spbifidaw, these Restated Articles of
Incorporation or the By-laws of the Corporatiome affirmative vote of the holders of at least 863 % of the voting power of the then
outstanding shares of Voting Stock shall be reguicealter, amend or repeal this ARTICLE V or t@ptlany provision inconsistent therewith
provided, however, that if there is an Interesthdr8holder on the record date for the meeting &twéuch action is submitted to the
shareholders for this consideration, such &6 % vote must include the affirmative vote of at temsnajority of the voting power of the then
outstanding shares of Voting Stock held by shadsdrslother than the Interested Shareholder.

ARTICLE VI

(a) BOARD OF DIRECTORS.

() NUMBER, TERM AND QUALIFICATION. The authorizedumber of directors of the Corporation which slealhstitute the
entire Board of Directors shall be such as frormetbmtime shall be determined by a majority ofttien authorized number of directors,
but in no case shall the authorized number of threde less than six nor more than fifteen. Theatdrs shall be divided with respect to
the time for which they severally hold office irttwee classes, as nearly equal in number as pegbill with not less than two directors
in each class), as determined by the Board of Rirecwith the
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members of each class to hold office until theocassors have been elected and qualified. At eauleh meeting of shareholders, the
successors of the members of the class of direatioose term expires at that meeting shall be aldcténold office for a term expiring at
the annual meeting of shareholders held in the tygar following the year of their election. No dese in the number of directors
constituting the Board of Directors shall shortea term of any incumbent director.

(i) REMOVAL. Any director may be removed from afé by the shareholders, but only for cause and loynye affirmative vote
of a majority of the votes then entitled to be d¢asin election of directors.

(iif) VACANCIES. Any vacancy occurring in the Boadd Directors, including, but not limited to, a \eay created by an increase
in the number of directors or the removal of acive, shall be filled only by the affirmative vodé a majority of the directors then in
office, even if such majority is less than a quorfithe Board of Directors, or by a sole remainiigctor. If no director remains in
office, any vacancy may be filled by the sharehddAny director elected to fill a vacancy shaliv&euntil the next election of the class
for which such director shall have been chosen.

(b) NOMINATIONS AND QUALIFICATIONS OF DIRECTORS. Nminations for the election of directors may be mhy¢he
Board of Directors or a committee appointed byBloard of Directors or by any shareholder entiteddte generally in the election of
directors. However, any shareholder entitled te\g#nerally in the election of directors may norterane or more persons for election as
directors at a meeting only if written notice othwshareholder’s intent to make such nominatiosshlen given, either by personal delivery or
by United States mail, postage prepaid, to theedagr of the Corporation not later than (i) witlspect to an election to be held at an annual
meeting of shareholders, 60 calendar days in advahthe date in the current fiscal year of theg@oation corresponding to the date the
Corporation released its proxy statement to shadeh®in connection with the annual meeting forithenediately preceding year and (ii) with
respect to an election to be held at a specialingeef shareholders for the election of directthg, close of business on the seventh day
following the date on which notice of such meetm{jrst given to shareholders. Each such notiadl siet forth: (A) the name and address of
the shareholder who intends to make the nominatiwhof the person or persons to be nominated, (Bpr@esentation that the shareholder is
entitled to vote at such meeting and intends teapjm person or by proxy at the meeting to noneilaé person or persons specified in the
notice, (C) a description of all arrangements ataratandings between the shareholder and each eeraird any other person or persons
(naming such person or persons) pursuant to whigmomination or nominations are to be made bglizeeholder, (D) such other informat
regarding each nominee proposed by such sharehaddeould be required to be included in a proxyestent filed pursuant to the then curt
proxy rules of the Securities and Exchange Comunissi the nominee were to be nominated by the Ba@ad (E) the consent of each nominee
to serve as a director of the Corporation if sctel@. The chairman of the meeting may refuse to@aelkedge the nomination of any person not
made in compliance with the foregoing procedures @inectors shall be at least twenty-one yeargief Birectors need not be shareholders. At
each meeting of shareholders for the election refctiors at which a quorum is present, the perseceiving a plurality of the votes cast shall
elected directors.
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ARTICLE VII

The shareholders shall not be entitled to takeadatithout a meeting by less than unanimous con&ewept as otherwise required
by law and subject to the express rights of thelérsl of any class or series of stock having a pratee over the Common Stock as to dividends
or upon liquidation, annual and special meetingthefshareholders shall be called, the recordatad@tes shall be determined and notice shall
be sent as set forth in the By-laws of the CorponaiNotwithstanding any other provisions of th&sstated Articles of Incorporation or the
By-laws of the Corporation (and notwithstanding thet that a lesser affirmative vote may be spedifiy law), the affirmative vote of
shareholders possessing at least eighty percéhé afoting power of the then outstanding shareslaflasses of stock of the Corporation
generally possessing voting rights in electiondicéctors, considered for this purpose as one cisdl be required to amend, alter, change or
repeal, or to adopt any provision inconsistent wagictions 1.02, 1.04 and 1.05 of Article | of Byelaws, or this ARTICLE VII or any
provision thereof or hereof; provided, howevert th@ Board of Directors, may amend, alter, chasrgepeal, or adopt any provision
inconsistent with, sections 1.02, 1.04 and 1.0Artitle | of the By-laws, or any provision there@fithout a vote of shareholders.

ARTICLE VIII

Unless a greater number is required by law or bgelRestated Articles of Incorporation, (a) actiora matter, other than the
election of directors, by a voting group of shatdbos is approved only if a majority of the voteshin the voting group represented (in person
or by proxy) at a meeting at which a quorum is enésire cast in favor of the action and (b) notstahding Section (a) of this Article VIIl,
these Restated Articles of Incorporation may omyamended by the affirmative vote of a majorityhaf votes entitled to be cast by each vc
group of shareholders entitled to vote on the anmem.

ARTICLE IX

Annual meetings of shareholders shall be held,datte, time and place fixed by the Board of Direstnd stated in the notice of
meeting, to elect a Board of Directors and to taahsuch other business as may properly come befenmeeting. Special meetings of
shareholders may be called only in accordance tvétprovisions of ARTICLE VII of these Restatediélgs of Incorporation. At each meeti
of shareholders only such business may be condastél(a) specified in the written notice of megtgiven by or at the direction of the Board
of Directors, (b) in the case of an annual meetimgught before the meeting by the Board of Dirextar by the chairman of the meeting or
(c) in the case of an annual meeting, specifiegritten notice given by or on behalf of a shatdaoof record, provided that written notice of
such shareholder’s intent to make a proposal gzguals has been given, either by personal delimeby United States mail, postage prepaid,
to the Secretary of the Corporation not later th@rcalendar days in advance of the date in thentfiscal year of the Corporation
corresponding to the date the Corporation reledsgmoxy statement to shareholders in connectiith the annual meeting for the immediat
preceding year. Each such notice shall set

15



forth: (a) the name and address of the sharehwlerintends to make the proposal and the numbshaxfes of the Corporation’s capital stock
owned or controlled by such shareholder, (b) agsgmtation that the shareholder is entitled to abtich annual meeting and intends to af
in person or by proxy at the annual meeting to ntakeproposal specified in the notice and (c) satbler information regarding each proposal
made by such shareholder as would be required itocheded in a proxy statement filed pursuant ®tten current proxy rules of the Secur
and Exchange Commission with respect to such pedpoBhe chairman of the meeting may refuse to @eledge any proposal not made in
compliance with the foregoing procedure.
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Exhibit 10.2

HARLEY-DAVIDSON, INC.
DIRECTOR STOCK PLAN

(As Amended and Restated Effective January 1, 2009)
ARTICLE |
Purpose

The purpose of the Harley-Davidson, Inc. DirecttwcR Plan is to facilitate payment of compensatmnonemployee directors in the
form of Common Stock of Harley-Davidson, Inc. orifiorm the value of which is based upon the valu@ommon Stock of Harlefpavidson
Inc. Such payment should provide a method for ngrieyee directors to meet the requirements of thredd@r and Senior Executive Stock
Ownership Guidelines for Harley-Davidson, Inc. amdincreased incentive for nonemployee directorturibute to the future success and
prosperity of Harley-Davidson, Inc. We believe tidl, in turn, enhance the value of the stocktfue benefit of the shareholders, and increase
the ability of Harley-Davidson, Inc. to attract amdain directors of exceptional skill upon whom)arge measure, its sustained growth and
profitability depend.

ARTICLE Il

Definitions

The following capitalized terms used in the Plaalishave the respective meanings set forth inAhigle:

2.1. Affiliate : Each corporation, trade or business that, wighGbmpany, forms part of a controlled group of coations or group of
trades or businesses under common control witimteaning of Code Sections 414(b) or (c); provithed for purpose of determining when
Outside Director has incurred a Separation fronviSey the phrase “at least fifty percent (50%)”lsba used in place of “at least eighty
percent (80%)” each place it appears in Code Sedtld(b) and (c) and the regulations thereunder.

2.2.Annual Retainer FeeThe annual retainer fee then in effect for sexig an Outside Director as a director, board catamichair
and/or committee member, excluding grants of “Stnis” pursuant to Article 1X hereof.

2.3.Board: The Board of Directors of the Company.

2.4.Change of Control EventA change of control event as defined in regufaipromulgated by the Secretary of the Treasury for
purposes of Code Section 409A, with respect tody-Davidson, Inc



2.5.Code: The Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended.

2.6.Committee The Nominating and Corporate Governance Committébe Board; provided that if any member of themMnating and
Corporate Governance Committee is not a DisintedeBerson, the Committee shall be comprised of thiiye members of the Nominating
and Corporate Governance Committee who are Digisted Persons.

2.7.Common StockThe common stock of the Company.
2.8.Company. Harley-Davidson, Inc.

2.9Deferral Election: An election by an Outside Director to defer rgigg all or any portion of the shares of Commoncgtthat would
otherwise be transferred to such Outside Directosymnt to a Share Election.

2.10Disinterested PersonsNonemployee directors within the meaning of RL6&-3 as promulgated under the Securities Exchakge
of 1934, as amended.

2.11Fair Market Value: (From and after February 14, 2007) On the dat& ahich Fair Market Value is being determinedthié
Common Stock is listed for trading on the New Y8tlhck Exchange, the closing sales price on theidajeestion as reported in The Wall
Street Journal, or if no sales of Common Stock poauthe date in question, on the last precedirtg da which there was a sale on such
exchange.

2.120ption: A stock option granted under the Plan.
2.130ption Price: The purchase price of a share of Common Stockua Option.
2.140ptionee: A person who has been granted one or more Options

2.150utside Director. Each member of the Board who is not also an eyegl@f the Company or any Subsidiary (including rbers of
the Committee).

2.16Plan: The Harley-Davidson, Inc. Director Stock Plan.

2.17Separation from ServiceThe date on which an Outside Director ceasescgeas a director of the Company and all Affiliates
provided that such cessation of service constitatesparation from service for purposes of Codéi@ed09A.

2.18Share AccountsAn Outside Director’'s Deferral Share Account andérant Share Account.

2.19Share Election An election by an Outside Director to receivdeit50% or 100% of his or her Annual Retainer Fethé form of
Common Stock (subject to any Deferral Election byQaitside Director), with the receipt of such ssasECommon Stock to be in lieu of any
cash payment for that portion of his or her AnrRRetainer Fee; provided, however, that if, at theeten Annual Retainer Fee is payable, an
Outside Director satisfies, through the ownershi@mmon Stock and/or Share Units credited to hises Share Accounts, the stock
ownership guidelines for directors then in efféatithe Board or any committee of the Board heabéished, then the Outside Director may
make a Share Election to receive 0% of such AnReghiner Fee in the form of Common Stock.
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2.20Share Unit A hypothetical share of Common Stock.

2.21Subsidiary. A corporation, limited partnership, general parghip, limited liability company, business trusibther entity of which
more than fifty percent (50%) of the voting poweiavnership interest is directly and/or indiredtlgid by the Company.

2.22Termination Date The day preceding the tenth anniversary of thie da which the Option is granted.

ARTICLE 1l
Administration

3.1.The Committee The Committee shall administer the Plan and steik full power to construe and interpret the Pémtablish and
amend rules and regulations for its administratéord perform all other acts relating to the Planluding the delegation of administrative
responsibilities, which it believes reasonable praper.

3.2.Actions Final:Any decision made, or action taken, by the Committasing out of or in connection with the interateon and
administration of the Plan shall be final and cosile.

ARTICLE IV
Shares Subject to the Plan

4.1. The total number of shares of Common StocKabla for delivery under the Plan shall be 200,880mf May 2, 1998 (after giving
effect to a 2-for-1 stock split effected in 2000he foregoing amount shall be subject to adjustrireatcordance with Article X of the Plan. If
an Option or portion thereof shall expire, be cédedt®r terminate for any reason without having bexegrcised in full, the unpurchased shares
covered by such Options shall be available forrutgrants of Options. Shares of Common Stock tddieered under the Plan shall be made
available solely from authorized and issued shaf€ommon Stock reacquired and held as treasumgshbn no event shall the Company be
required to deliver fractional shares of CommorcBtonder the Plan. Whenever under the terms oPthe a fractional share of Common
Stock would otherwise be required to be delivetieere shall be delivered in lieu thereof one faliuie of Common Stock. Payments in respect
of an Outside Director’'s Share Accounts that arderia cash shall not reduce the number of shar€oofmon Stock available for delivery
under the Plan.



ARTICLE V
Eligibility
5.1. Only Outside Directors shall be entitled totiggpate in the Plan.

ARTICLE VI
Options

6.1.0ption Grants: Prior to December 31, 2002, each Outside Direstoy served as a member of the Board immediatdligwiong an
annual meeting of shareholders of the Company wasratically granted on the first business dayrafteh meeting (the “Annual Grant
Date”) an Option for the purchase of such numbeshafres of Common Stock (rounded up to the nearaliple of 100) whose Fair Market
Value on the Annual Grant Date equaled three (B¢sithe Optionee’s Annual Retainer Fee other tbamuttee chair retainer fees. No such
Option shall be granted under the Plan after Deeer8b, 2002.

6.2.0ption Agreement&All Options shall be evidenced by written agreermentecuted by the Company. Such options shall bectto
the applicable provisions of the Plan, and shait&im such provisions as are required by the Ptahaay other provisions the Committee may
prescribe. All agreements evidencing Options spakify the total number of shares subject to gaaht, the Option Price and the Termina
Date.

6.3.Option Price:The Option Price shall be the Fair Market Valu@ ahare of Common Stock on the Annual Grant Date.

6.4.Period of Exercise Options shall be exercisable from and after theusal Grant Date and shall terminate one year #fee©ptionee
ceases to serve as a member of the Board for aspmeexcept that as to any Optionee who is remfyeedthe Board for cause in accordance
with the Company’s Restated Articles of Incorparatithe Options held by the Optionee shall ternaimaitmediately on such removal. In any
event, no Option or portion thereof shall be exsatie after the Termination Date.

6.5.Manner of Exercise and Payme®n Option, or portion thereof, shall be exercisgdielivery of a written notice of exercise to the
Company and provision (in a manner acceptablegdiiimmittee) for payment of the full price of theges being purchased pursuant to the
Option and any withholding taxes due thereon.

6.6.Nontransferability of OptionsExcept as may be otherwise provided by the Cotemiteach Option shall, during the Optionee’s
lifetime, be exercisable only by the Optionee aaiher it nor any right hereunder shall be traredfée otherwise than by will or the laws of
descent and distribution or be subject to attachnexecution or other similar process. In the ewdrany attempt by the Optionee to alienate,
assign, pledge, hypothecate or otherwise dispoae @iption or of any right hereunder, except asigseal for herein, or in the event of any I
or any attachment, execution or similar processitpe rights or interest hereby conferred, the Camgpmay terminate the Option by notice to
the Optionee and the Option shall thereupon beaurtieand void.



ARTICLE VI
Share Election

7.1.Share Election

a. Initial Share Election Within 30 days of the date on which an OutsideeEtor first becomes an Outside Director, the @ietsi
Director shall make a Share Election that will sfyethe portion of the Outside Director's AnnualtBmer Fee that is to be paid in shares
of Common Stock (subject to any deferral by thesidlat Director under Section 7.2 below) and theiporhat is to be paid in cash
(subject to any deferral by the Outside Directademthe Company’s Deferred Compensation Plan foredgloyee Directors (the “Cash
Deferral Plan”)). An Outside Director’'s Share Elent(i) must be in writing and delivered to the dsarer of the Company, (ii) shall be
effective with respect to the portion of the Ougsiirectors Annual Retainer Fee that will be earned on atet #ie date the Treasurer
the Company receives the Share Election, or as thmweafter as is administratively practicable, @iidshall remain in effect from year-
to-year thereafter unless modified or revoked Bulasequent Share Election that becomes effectimedardance with the provisions
hereof. If an Outside Director elects (or is deenuelave elected) to receive only 50% of his orAmnual Retainer Fee in the form of
shares of Common Stock, then the remaining 50% Bhalaid in cash (subject to any deferral by tlhws@e Director under the Cash
Deferral Plan). If an Outside Director who is detitto do so elects to receive 0% of his or herustiRetainer Fee in the form of shares
of Common Stock, then all of his or her Annual Reta Fee shall be paid in cash (subject to anyrdsfby the Outside Director under
the Cash Deferral Plan). If an Outside Director hatsmade a Share Election, the Director will berded to have made a Share Election
to receive 50% of his or her Annual Retainer Fethénform of Common Stock.

b. Revised Share ElectiorExcept to the extent that the Company is perohited elects to give earlier effect to an Outside
Director’'s modification or revocation to his or H&hare Election in accordance with regulations pigated by the Secretary of the
Treasury under Code Section 409A, an Outside DirecEhare Election, once effective with resped talendar year, may not be
revoked or modified with respect to the Outsideebior's Annual Retainer Fee for that calendar y&arOutside Director may revoke or
modify his or her then current Share Election tindia revised Share Election form, properly congaeand signed, with the Treasure
the Company. However, except to the extent thaCini@pany is permitted and elects to give earlitgoefto a Director’s revised election
in accordance with regulations promulgated by teer&ary of the Treasury under Code Section 409Arevised Share Election will
become effective on January 1 of the calendar fpdlakving the calendar year during which the redi&hare Election is received by the
Treasurer of the Company, or as soon thereaftsradministratively practicable. An Outside Diretsaevised Share Election, once
effective, shall remain in effect until again maelif by the Outside Director or otherwise revokeddnordance with the provisions
hereof.



7.2. Transfer of SharesSubject to any Deferral Election by an Outsidesbior, shares of Common Stock issuable to an @Birector
pursuant to a Share Election shall be transfepetith Outside Director as of the first businegsfdbowing each annual meeting of the
shareholders of the Company, except that, for asi@aiDirector elected to the Board at a time othan at an annual meeting of the
shareholders of the Company, shares of Common $eukble to the Outside Director pursuant to a&kéection shall be transferred to such
Outside Director as of the first business day feiltgg the first meeting of the Board or a commitbéeéhe Board that the Outside Director
attends. The total number of shares of Common Stwble so transferred shall be determined by digidk) the dollar amount of the Annual
Retainer Fee payable to which the Share Electiplie by (y) the Fair Market Value of a share oh@non Stock on the day on which the
Annual Retainer Fee is payable to the Outside Birec

ARTICLE VIII
Deferral Elections

8.1.Deferral Election: Each Outside Director may make a Deferral Electimdefer receiving all, 50% or none of the shafeSommon
Stock that would otherwise be transferred to suatsi@e Director pursuant to a Share Election wepect to any Annual Retainer Fees
otherwise earned after the effective date of thiziDal Election.

a. Initial Deferral Election. An Outside Director may make a Deferral Electigthin 30 days of the date on which an Outside
Director first becomes an Outside Director. If amt€de Director has not made a Share Election duhiis period, the Director will be
deemed to have made a Share Election to deferafdhe shares covered by the Director’s Share BlecAn Outside Directos Deferra
Election (i) must be in writing and delivered t@ threasurer of the Company, and (ii) shall remaieffect from year-to-year thereafter
unless modified or revoked by a subsequent Def&teadtion that becomes effective in accordance thighprovisions hereof.

b. Revised Deferral ElectionExcept to the extent that the Company is perchited elects to give earlier effect to an Outside
Director’'s modification or revocation to his or Heeferral Election in accordance with regulationsrpulgated by the Secretary of the
Treasury under Code Section 409A, an Outside DirecDeferral Election, once effective with respexh calendar year, may not be
revoked or modified for that calendar year. An @eéDirector may revoke or modify his or her themrent Deferral Election by filing a
revised Deferral Election form, properly completed! signed, with the Treasurer of the Company. Hewexcept to the extent that the
Company is permitted and elects to give earliezatfto a Director’s revised election in accordawié regulations promulgated by the
Secretary of the Treasury under Code Section 4082revised Deferral Election will become effectoreJanuary 1 of the calendar year
following the calendar year during which the redigzeferral Election is received by the TreasurethefCompany, or as soon thereafter
as is administratively practicable. An Outside Dicg’s revised Deferral Election, once effectiieals remain in effect until again
modified by the Outside Director or otherwise redkn accordance with the provisions hereof.
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8.2.Deferral Share Accountgin Outside Director who makes a Deferral Electibalshave the number of deferred shares of Common
Stock (including fractions of a share) that wouldeswise be transferred pursuant to Section 7.@ited as whole and fractional Share Units,
with fractional units calculated to four decimahpés, to a “Deferral Share Account” for the Outdidkector, for recordkeeping purposes only.

8.3.Cash Dividends and Deferral Share Accoum#enever cash dividends are paid by the Compamutstanding Common Stock, on
the payment date therefor there shall be creditebe Outside Director’'s Deferral Share Accountumhber of additional Share Units, with
fractional units calculated to four decimal placagyal to (i) the aggregate dividend that woulghgable on outstanding shares of Common
Stock equal to the number of Share Units credibeslith Deferral Share Account on the record datthdividend, divided by (ii) the Fair
Market Value of a share of Common Stock on thebasiness day immediately preceding the date ofeay of the dividend.

8.4.Distribution of Deferral Share AccounExcept as provided in Paragraph c. below, upoBaside Director’'s Separation from
Service for any reason, or upon the occurrenceGiange of Control Event, the Company will makerpagts to the Outside Director (or, in
case of the death of the Outside Director, to hises beneficiary designated in accordance withi®ed 3.5 or, if no such beneficiary is
designated, to his or her estate), as compendatigamior service as a director, in respect of @hdside Director’s Deferral Share Account. All
payments in respect of the Deferral Share Accolialt e made in shares of Common Stock by convg&imare Units into Common Stock on
a one-forene basis. However, to the extent shares of ConmBtack are not available for delivery under the Pthe Committee may direct tt
all or any part of the payments in respect of tieéelral Share Account be made in cash rather thatelivery of Common Stock, in which c:
the cash payment shall be determined by multiplyfregnumber of Share Units in the Deferral Shareofot that are the subject of the cash
payment by the Fair Market Value of a share of Cami8tock on the last business day preceding tleatatvhich payment is made.
Similarly, any distribution payable under the Plgith respect to a fraction of a Share Unit shalhtsde in cash, with the amount of the cash
payment determined by multiplying the fractionab&hUnit by the Fair Market Value of a share of @oon Stock on the last business day
preceding the date on which payment is made.

a.Form of PaymentsAt the time that an Outside Director first makeBeferral Election under this Plan or first maketeferral
election under the Cash Deferral Plan, whicheveurxearlier, the Outside Director shall make anpayt election which shall govern
distribution of both the Outside Director’s Defdr&hare Account under this Plan and the Outsideddir’'s Deferred
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Benefit Account under the Cash Deferral Plan. Ichspayment election, the Outside Director may dletiave payments made either in (i) a
single payment, or (ii) annual installments. Undher installment payment option, the Outside Direatay select the number of years over
which benefits are to be paid to the Outside Daeaip to a maximum of 5 years, except that thelyemof installments selected may not result
in any one installment payment with respect to teag 100 Share Units. The payment option eledtad apply to the Outside Directarentire
Deferral Share Account under this Plan and thei@aiBirector’s entire Deferred Benefit Account untlee Cash Deferral Plan. The
installment payment option does not apply uporoiteirrence of a Change of Control Event. An OutBitector who fails to make a payment
election with respect to the Outside Director’s &edil Share Account under this Plan and the Ouidector’s Deferred Benefit Account
under the Cash Deferral Plan (or any portion ohsatrounts) shall be deemed to have elected theegpayment option. Prior to January 1,
2009, an Outside Director may change his or hemgay election by filing a revised payment elecfiorm, properly completed and signed,
with the Treasurer of the Company; provided thegvésed election submitted during calendar yea62@007 or 2008 (including the election
described in Paragraph c. below) may not operatiefer into a subsequent calendar year the disimibof amounts that otherwise would have
been paid in the calendar year in which the revédedtion is submitted, or to accelerate into thkerrdar year in which the revised election is
submitted amounts that otherwise were scheduledi$tribution in a subsequent calendar year. Onaditaat January 1, 2009, an Outside
Director may modify his or her distribution electi¢or deemed distribution election) only if (i) thevised distribution election is submitted to
the Treasurer of the Company at least twelve (1@ths prior to the first scheduled payment datesutite Outside Director’s then-current
distribution election and the revised electionas given effect for twelve (12) months after théedan which the revised election is submitted,
and (ii) except as permitted under Code SectiorA4Payment pursuant to the revised distributiorceds is deferred for at least five (5) years
from the date payment would otherwise have beeremader the Outside Director’s prior distributidaation. For purposes of applying the
rules of Code Section 409A, a series of installnparyiments will be considered a single payment form.

b. If the Outside Director has elected the singlgnpent option, then the Company will make paymenhé Outside Director in
respect of the number of Share Units creditedeaQhtside Director’'s Deferral Share Account witBthdays after the end of the calendar
quarter in which occurs the Outside Director's Sapian from Service. In addition, the Company wilhke payment to the Outside Director in
respect of the number of Share Units credited@acQhtside Director’s Deferral Share Account witBhdays following the occurrence of a
Change of Control Event.

c. Notwithstanding anything in the Plan to the carnt and in accordance with transition rules pungds by the Internal Revenue
Service for purposes of Code Section 409A, on foreeDecember 31, 2008, an Outside Director who &ctive service on the Board of
Directors may elect to have the portion of his er yested Deferral Share Account under this Plahtlaa portion of the Outside Director’s
Deferred Benefit Account under the Cash DeferrahRls of December 31, 2008, together with deemied galosses from December 31, 2!
through the last day of the calendar quarter (taduation date”) selected by the Outside Diread@stributed to the Outside Director in a single
sum payment. Distribution will be made within thiB0) days following the valuation date designdigdhe Outside Director. The valuation
date selected by an Outside Director must be gtedlsy of a calendar quarter no earlier than JOn@@09. An Outside Directa’election sha
not be recognized if the effect of the election Wddue to defer amounts that would otherwise beitlistable in 2008 for distribution into 2009
or subsequent years.

8.5. If the Outside Director has elected the imstaiht payment option, then the first installmenil e made within 30 days after the end
of the calendar quarter in which occurs the OutBigdector’'s Separation from Service, and each suyilpset installment
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shall be paid in July of each calendar year follgywihe calendar year in which the first installmisrpaid to the Outside Director during the
installment period. The annual installment paynmsnobunt for any calendar year shall be initiallyedetined by dividing the number of Share
Units credited to the Outside Director’s Post-20@4erral Share Account as of January 1 of the f@awhich the payment is being made and
for which such an election is in effect by the n@mbf installment payments remaining to be madd,than rounding the quotient obtained to
the next lowest whole number; provided that thalfinstallment shall be the entire remaining unibisted balance.

8.6.Hardship PaymentsThe Committee may, in its sole discretion, uponfihéing that an Outside Director has suffered an
“unforeseeable emergency”, pay to the Outside Borgeart or all of his or her Deferral Share Acchw@as needed to meet the Outside
Director’s need. An “unforeseeable emergentyans a severe financial hardship to the Outsideckir resulting from an illness or acciden
the Outside Director, the Outside Director’s spousehe Outside Director’s dependent (as defime@dade Section 152(a) without regard to
Code Sections 152(b)(1), (b)(2) and (d)(1)(B))slo§the Outside Director’s property due to casyalt other similar extraordinary and
unforeseeable circumstances arising as a resalitesfts beyond the control of the Outside Directbie amount authorized by the Committee
for distribution with respect to an emergency mayexceed the amounts necessary to satisfy thegemey plus amounts necessary to pay
taxes reasonably anticipated as a result of thtahiition, after taking into account the extentoich such hardship is or may be relieved
through reimbursement or compensation by insurancgherwise or by liquidation of the Outside Dits assets, to the extent that
liquidation of such assets would not itself causeese financial hardship.

ARTICLE IX
Share Unit Grants

9.1.Share Unit Grants Each Outside Director shall automatically be ¢gdrShare Units under the Plan in the manner st ifo this
Article IX. All grants of Share Units pursuant tag Article IX shall immediately vest in full onetdate of grant.

9.2.Annual Share Unit Grants to Outside DirectoBeginning with the first annual meeting of shanelers held after April 28, 2006,
each Outside Director shall, as of the first bussngay following such annual meeting, receive atgsdsuch number of Share Units as the
Board shall determine at the meeting of the Boaidaiding with such annual meeting.

9.3.Grant of Share Units to Newly-Elected Outside Dioes. Any person who is first elected as an Outside®&uor after April 29, 2006
at a time other than at an annual meeting of thee$tolders of the Company shall automatically lz@tgd, as of the first business day
following the first meeting of the Board or a contieé of the Board that the Outside Director atteadsumber of Share Units equal to the
number of Share Units last granted to each of thisi@e Directors pursuant to Section 9.2.
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9.4.Grant Share Account#in Outside Director who receives a grant of Shanédjursuant to Section 9.2 or Section 9.3 stalklthe
number of Share Units granted to such Outside Riraredited to a “Grant Share Account” establisfiedhe Outside Director, for
recordkeeping purposes only.

9.5.Cash Dividends and Grant Share Accoum#enever cash dividends are paid by the Compamutstanding Common Stock, on
payment date therefor there shall be creditededthtside Director’'s Grant Share Account a numib@dditional Share Units, with fractional
units calculated to four decimal places, equal)tthé aggregate dividend that would be payableutstanding shares of Common Stock equal
to the number of Share Units credited to such Gswatre Account on the record date for the divideindgded by (ii) the Fair Market Value ol
share of Common Stock on the last business day diatedy preceding the date of payment of the dinttle

9.6.PaymentsWithin 30 days after the end of the calendar quante/hich occurs an Outside Director’s Separafrom Service for any
reason, or upon the occurrence of a Change of @ldetent, the Company will make a payment to thés@le Director (or, in case of the death
of the Outside Director, to his or her beneficidgsignated in accordance with Section 13.5 o ifuch beneficiary is designated, to his or her
estate), as compensation for prior service asezfdir, in respect of the Outside Director’'s Gramai® Account. All payments in respect of a
Grant Share Account shall be made in a single sushares of Common Stock by converting Share UmiessCommon Stock on a one-for-one
basis. However, to the extent shares of Commork&taenot available for delivery under the Plae, @ommittee may direct that all or any
part of the payments in respect of a Grant Shamoéat be made in cash rather than by delivery ah@on Stock, in which case the cash
payment shall be determined by multiplying the nemiff Share Units in the Grant Share Account thatlze subject of the cash payment by
the Fair Market Value of a share of Common Stockhenlast business day preceding the date on wiagment is made. Similarly, any
distribution payable under the Plan with respect fraction of a Share Unit shall be made in casth the amount of the cash payment
determined by multiplying the fractional Share Umjtthe Fair Market Value of a share of Common St the last business day preceding
the date on which payment is made.

ARTICLE X
Adjustments

10.1. If (a) the Company shall at any time be imedlin a merger or other transaction in which tieen@on Stock is changed or
exchanged; or (b) the Company shall subdivide arliine its Common Stock or the Company shall dedad&idend payable in its Common
Stock, other securities (other than any assocjateférred stock purchase rights issued pursuah@tccertain Rights Agreement, dated
February 17, 2000, between the Company and Conghaee Investor Services, LLC, as successor rigigataor similar stock purchase rig
that the Company might authorize and issue inthéé€) or other property; or (c) the Company sh##ct a cash dividend the amount of wt
exceeds 15% of the trading price of the CommonlSabehe time the dividend is declared or any otlieidend or other distribution on the
Common Stock in the form of cash, or a repurch&€&oomon Stock, that
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the Board determines by resolution is special traexdinary in nature or that is in connection vatlransaction that the Company characte
publicly as a recapitalization or reorganizationdlving the Common Stock; or (d) any other evertisbccur which, in the case of this

clause (d), in the judgment of the Committee netass an adjustment to prevent dilution or enlarget of the benefits or potential benefits
intended to be made available under the Plan,ttie@€ommittee shall, in such manner as it may deguitable, adjust any or all of (i) the
number and type of securities subject to the Rigrthe number and type of securities subjectutsanding Options; (iii) the Option Price w
respect to any Option; and (iv) the number of Shinis credited to each Outside Director’s SharedAmts; provided, however, that Options
subject to grant or previously granted to Optioreesd the number of Share Units credited to eacki@aDirector’'s Share Accounts under the
Plan at the time of any such event shall be sulbjechly such adjustment as shall be necessaryaintain the proportionate interest of the
Optionee or Outside Director and preserve, witleaeeding, the value of such Options and Outsideciir's Share Accounts. Unless the
Committee determines otherwise, any such adjusttoeart Option that is exempt from Code Section 48BAll be made in manner that
permits the Option to continue to be so exempt,amdadjustment to an Option that is subject toeC&dction 409A shall be made in a manner
that complies with the provisions thereof. The jogt of the Committee with respect to any mattésrred to in this Article shall be
conclusive and binding upon each Optionee and @aiBirector.

ARTICLE XI
Amendment and Termination of Plan

11.1.General PowersThe Nominating Committee of the Board of Directoray at any time terminate or suspend the Plan.estis)
applicable limitations set forth in New York StoEkchange rules, the Code or Rule 16b-3 under tharies Exchange Act of 1934, the
Nominating Committee of the Board of Directors naayend the Plan as it shall deem advisable inclu@idtipout limiting the generality of th
foregoing) any amendments deemed by the Nomin&ormgmittee of the Board of Directors to be necessagdvisable to assure conformity
of the Plan with any requirements of state andri@dews or regulations now or hereafter in effgrgvided, however, that the Nominating
Committee of the Board of Directors may not ameititee the provisions of Section 6.1 or the amournthe Annual Retainer Fee more often
than once in any six month period. In addition aneendment shall be made to any Option to reduc®hien Price thereof except as
permitted by Section 10.1, and any amendment @r@tbttion that is required, under applicable lawmder applicable stock exchange rules, to
be adopted by the Board of Directors shall be vatity if it is adopted by the full Board of Directorather than by the Nominating Committee
of the Board of Directors.

11.2.No Impairment No amendment, suspension or termination of ttda Bhall, without the Outside Director’s consetier or impair
any of the rights or obligations under any Optibaretofore granted to an Outside Director undePtle or other entitlement of an Outside
Director under the Plan. But, the Committee neddbtain Outside Director (or other interested yacbnsent for the adoption, amendment or
rescission of rules and regulations relating te Blan that do not materially and adversely atfeetOutside Director in respect of any Option
or other entitlement of an Outside Director undher Plan then outstanding.
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11.3.Section 409AThe provisions of Code Section 409A are incorpatéierein by reference to the extent necessarynfpQption or
other entitlement of an Outside Director underRban that is subject to Code Section 409A to contimdyewith.

11.4.Distribution of Benefits Following Plan Terminatiofermination of the Plan will operate to accelerdistribution of benefits only
to the extent permitted under Code Section 409&luding:

a. The Plan is terminated within twelve (12) mordgha corporate dissolution taxed under Code Se@81, or with the approval of
a bankruptcy court pursuant to 11 U.S.C. 8503(E)1)and the amounts accrued under the Plan bwetqtaid are distributed to Outsi
Directors or their beneficiaries, as applicablea isingle sum payment, regardless of any distobuiection then in effect, by the latest
of: (1) the last day of the calendar year in whiod Plan termination and liquidation occurs, (2 ldst day of the calendar year in which
the amount is no longer subject to a substans&laf forfeiture, or (3) the last day of the ficstlendar year in which payment is
administratively practicable.

b. The Plan is terminated at any other time, predithat such termination does not occur proxin@agedownturn in the financial
health of the Company or an Affiliate. In such eyatl amounts accrued under the Plan but not gt will be distributed to all Outside
Directors and their beneficiaries, as applicalileg ingle sum payment no earlier than twelve fi@)ths (and no later than twenty-four
(24) months) after the date of termination, regzssllof any distribution election then in effectisTprovision shall not be effective unless
all other plans required to be aggregated withRtés under Code Section 409A are also terminatddiquidated. Notwithstanding the
foregoing, any payment that would otherwise be paidng the twelve (12jronth period beginning on the Plan termination gatesuan
to the terms of the Plan shall be paid in accordavith such terms. In addition, the Company or Affiliate shall be prohibited from
adopting a similar arrangement within three (3)rgdallowing the date of the Plan’s termination|ass any individual who was eligible
under this Plan is excluded from participating ¢werder for such three (3) year period.

Except as provided in Paragraphs a. and b. aboas otherwise permitted in regulations promulgétethe Secretary of the Treasury under
Code Section 409A, any action that terminates the But that does not qualify for accelerated ttistion under Code Section 409A shall
instead be construed as an amendment to discoritirther benefit accruals, but the Plan will congrto operate, in accordance with its terms
as from time to time amended and in accordance agithicable elections by the Outside Director, wihpect to the Outside Director’s benefit
accrued through the date of termination, and ievent shall any such action purporting to terminlagePlan form the basis for accelerating
distributions to the Outside Director or a benefigi
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ARTICLE XII
Government and Other Regulations

12.1. The obligation of the Company to make paysenissue or transfer and deliver shares of Com&took under the Plan shall be
subject to all applicable laws, regulations, rutaslers and approvals which shall then be in etiect required by governmental entities and the
stock exchanges on which Common Stock is traded.

ARTICLE XIII
Miscellaneous Provisions

13.1.Plan Does Not Confer Shareholder Rightither an Outside Director nor any person entittedxercise the Outside Director’s
rights in the event of the Outside Director’s destthall have any rights of a shareholder with resfmethe shares subject to an Option, Share
Election or any Share Units held in the OutsidesBlior's Share Accounts, except to the extent that, atit] smch shares shall have been iss
upon the exercise of each Option, transfer of shawesuant to a Share Election or the deliveryhafas in respect of the Outside Director’s
Share Accounts.

13.2.No AssetsNo stock, cash or other property shall be delivierdan Outside Director in respect of the Outfdikector’'s Share
Accounts until the date or dates identified pursuarrticle VIII or Article IX, and an Outside Déctor's Share Units shall be reflected in an
unfunded account established for such Outside Rirdyy the Company. Payment of the Company’s ohiigawith respect to an Outside
Director’s Share Accounts shall be from general funds, amgpecial assets (stock, cash or otherwise) hase dweshall be set aside as sect
for this obligation.

13.3.No TransfersAn Outside Director’s rights to payments under éeiVIIl and/or Article IX are not subject in anyamner to
anticipation, alienation, sale, transfer, assignmgedge, encumbrance, or garnishment by an Quiickctors creditors or the creditors of |
or her beneficiaries, whether by operation of lavetherwise, and any attempted sale, transfergasgnt, pledge, or encumbrance with res
to such payment shall be null and void, and steliithout legal effect and shall not be recognizgdhe Company.

13.4.Unsecured Creditor; No Trust Fun@he right of an Outside Director to receive payrsamtder Article VIII and/or Article I1X is thi
of a general, unsecured creditor of the Company tl@ obligation of the Company to make paymentstiutes a mere promise by the
Company to pay such benefits in the future. Furtther arrangements contemplated by Article VIII &mticle IX are intended to be unfunded
for tax purposes and for purposes of Title | of &R

13.5.Designation of Beneficiarjfgach Outside Director or former Outside Directaitead to any payments under Article VIII and/or
Article IX from time to time may designate a begé&fiy or beneficiaries to whom any such paymergga@be paid in case of the Outside
Director’s death before receipt of any or all oflspayments. Any designation shall revoke all pdiesignations by the
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Outside Director or former Outside Director, shmlin a form prescribed by the Company and shadiftestive only when filed by the Outside
Director or former Outside Director, during histar lifetime, in writing with the Treasurer of t@mpany. References in this Plan to an
Outside Director’s “beneficiary” at any date shattlude such persons designated as concurrentibiamiefs on the director’s beneficiary
designation form then in effect. In the absencergf such designation, any balance remaining in@tsi@e Director’s or former Outside
Director’s Share Accounts at the time of the div€stdeath shall be paid to such Outside Directestte.

13.6.Plan ExpensesAny expenses of administering this Plan shall bmédy the Company.

13.7.Use of Exercise ProceedBayment received from Optionees upon the exerci®ptons shall be used for the general corporate
purposes of the Company, except that any stockvwextén payment may be retired, or retained inGoenpany’s treasury and reissued.

13.8.Indemnification:In addition to such other rights of indemnificatias they may have as members of the Board or thentiitee, the
members of the Committee and the Board shall benmmified by the Company against all costs and esgeneasonably incurred by them in
connection with any action, suit or proceeding tach they or any of them may be party by reasocanyfaction taken or failure to act in
connection with the adoption, administration, ammeadt or termination of the Plan, and against albants paid by them in settlement thereof
(provided such settlement is approved by indeperidgal counsel selected by the Company) or paithbg in satisfaction of a judgment in
any such action, suit or proceeding, except a juggrbased upon a finding of bad faith; provided thgon the institution of any such action,
suit or proceeding a Committee or Board membed,shalriting, give the Company notice thereof aardopportunity, at its own expense, to
handle and defend the same before such CommittBeard member undertakes to handle and defendstion member’s own behalf. To the
extent that Code Section 409A applies to paymemidenpursuant to this Section, the payments shalbbrgleted on or before the latest date
permitted for payments made pursuant to an indecatién or expense reimbursement provision.

13.9.Withholding TaxesThe Company may, in its discretion, require an @et®irector to pay to the Company at the timexadreise o
an Option or issuance of Common Stock under the fika amount that the Company deems necessariidfy st obligation, if any, to
withhold Federal, state or local income, FICA duasttaxes incurred by the reason of the exercisgsaance. An Outside Director shall satisfy
the federal, state and local withholding tax oltliyas arising in connection with the exercise ofCGtion or issuance of Common Stock under
the Plan in a manner acceptable to the Committee.

13.10.No Guarantee Of Tax Treatmefithe Company does not guarantee to any Outside tDirec any other person with an interest in
an Option or other entitlement of an Outside Divecinder the Plan that any such Option or othdtlement intended to be exempt from Code
Section 409A shall be so exempt, or that any Optioother entittement intended to comply with C&#etion 409A shall so comply, and
nothing in this Plan obligates the Company or dfiljiede to indemnify, defend or hold harmless anglividual with respect to the tax
consequences of any such failure.
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13.11.Miscellaneous Distribution Rules

a.Accelerated Distribution Following Section 409A kiaé . If an amount under this Plan is required to lméuided in a
Participant’s income under Code Section 409A piodhe date such amount is actually distributed,@lutside Director shall receive a
distribution, in a single sum, within ninety (903yd after the date it is finally determined that Bian fails to meet the requirements of
Code Section 409A. The distribution shall equaldh®unt required to be included in the Outside @@es income as a result of such
failure.

b. Permitted Delay in Paymentf a distribution required under the terms oftRilan would jeopardize the ability of the Compan
of an Affiliate to continue as a going concern, @@mpany or the Affiliate shall not be requiredriake such distribution. Rather, the
distribution shall be delayed until the first d#tat making the distribution does not jeopardiz=ahility of the Company or of an
Affiliate to continue as a going concern. Furthiany distribution pursuant to the Plan will vitdethe terms of Section 16(b) of the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934 or other Fedemalisies laws, or any other applicable law, them distribution shall be delayed until
the earliest date on which making the distributidl not violate such law.

ARTICLE XIV

Effective Date

14.1. The Plan became effective on May 2, 1998veaslamended on May 3, 2003 and April 29, 2006.Hlae, as further amended
herein, shall become effective on January 1, 2009.

HARLEY-DAVIDSON, INC.

HARLEY-DAVIDSON MOTOR COMPANY GROUP,
INC.

By: /s/ Gail A. Lione
Title: Executive Vice President
Date: December 29, 200
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HARLEY-DAVIDSON
MANAGEMENT DEFERRED COMPENSATION PLAN

Harley-Davidson Motor Company Group, Inc. (the “Guany”) maintains the Harley-Davidson ManagementDef
Compensation Plan for the benefit of eligible ergpkes of the Company and its Affiliates.

The Plan is intended to promote the best intexddtse Company and its Affiliates by attracting aethining key management
employees possessing a strong interest in the ssfet@peration of the Company and its Affiliateslancouraging their continued loyalty,
service and counsel to the Company and its AféiaiThe Plan is amended and restated effectiveadatyu2009 to comply with final
regulations under Code Section 40!



ARTICLE |. DEFINITIONS AND CONSTRUCTION

Section 1.01. Definitions

The following terms have the meanings indicate@Wwalnless the context in which the term is usedrtjandicates otherwise:

(a) Account: The record keeping account or accomnatisitained to record the interest of each Paditipnder the Plan. An Account is
established for record keeping purposes only andon@flect (or require) the physical segregatibassets on the Participant’'s behalf. To the
extent relevant with respect to any Participard,Rlarticipant’s overall Account may consist of saabaccounts or balances as the
Administrator may determine to be necessary or@pyate.

(b) Administrator: The Retirement Plans Committppanted by the Board.

(c) Affiliate: Each corporation, trade or busindsat, with the Company, forms part of a controlgdup of corporations or group of
trades or businesses under common control witimteaning of Code Sections 414(b) or (c); provithed for purpose of determining when a
Participant has incurred a Separation from Sertimephrase “at least fifty percent (50%)” shallused in place of “at least eighty percent
(80%)” each place it appears in Code Section 41dkk)(c) and the regulations thereunder.

(d) Annual Bonus Deferral: See Section 1.01(I)(ii).

(e) Base Compensation: The base salary or wagdlesalyg a Participating Employer to an Eligible Emy#e for services performed pi
to reduction for contributions by the Eligible Erapée to this Plan or pre-tax or after-tax contiitmg by the Eligible Employee to any other
employee benefit plan maintained by a Participaingployer, but exclusive of extraordinary paymestsh as overtime, bonuses, meal
allowances, reimbursed expenses, termination paying pay, commuting expenses, severance pay, leative deferred compensation
payments or accruals, stock options or restrictecks or the value of employer-provided fringe biteeor coverage, all as determined in
accordance with such uniform rules, regulationstandards as may be prescribed by the Administrator
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() Base Compensation Deferral: See Section 1.@1L(l)

(9) Beneficiary: The person or entity designatedtBarticipant to be his or her beneficiary forgmses of this Plan. If a beneficiary dies
before receiving all payments due such beneficiany,remaining payments will be made to the deséghbeneficiary’s estate unless a
contingent beneficiary was designated by the Rpatit as to such amounts. If there is a contingentficiary payments will be made to the
contingent beneficiary and, if such contingent lfierery dies, any remaining payments will be maaléhie contingent beneficiary’s estate. If
there is no beneficiary designation in force whéam®enefits become payable upon the death oftecipant, payment shall be made to the
Participant’s current spouse, or if the Particigantot married or the spouse is not then livioghe Participant’s estate. Beneficiary
designations shall be in writing, filed with the fdhistrator, be in such form as the Administrat@ynprescribe for this purpose, and shall
become effective only upon acknowledgement by thmiistrator.

(h) Board: The Board of Directors of the Company.

(i) Code: The Internal Revenue Code of 1986, ajmeted by regulations and rulings issued purstlenéto, all as amended and in
effect from time to time. Any reference to a spiegifrovision of the Code shall be deemed to inclkeference to any successor provision
thereto.

(j) Committee: The Compensation Committee of thard8f Directors of Harley-Davidson, Inc.
(k) Company: Harley-Davidson Motor Company Groupx.) or any successor thereto.

() Deferral: An amount credited, in accordancehvétParticipant’s election, to the Participant’'égnt under the Plan in lieu of the
current payment of an equal amount of compensatidhe Participant. Deferrals include the following

0] Base Compensation Deferral: A Deferral of allagportion of a Participant’'s Base Compensatioacioordance with
Section 3.01



(i) Annual Bonus Deferral: A Deferral of all or a portiof a Participa’s annual bonus award in accordance with Sectiah
(i)  Restricted Stock Deferral: A Deferral of @t a portion of a Participant’s restricted stockestricted stock unit award under
the Incentive Stock Plan, in accordance with Sec3i®3.

(m) Disability: The inability of a Participant togage in any substantial gainful activity by reasba medically determinable physical or
mental impairment which can be expected to reauligiath or can be expected to last for a continpetsd of not less than 12 months, as
determined by the Administrator.

(n) Eligible Employee: A common law employee ofatiipating Employer who has been designated byAithiministrator or the
Committee as being eligible to participate in thian or who is eligible for the benefits descrilre&ection 3.05.

(o) ERISA: The Employee Retirement Income Secukity of 1974, as interpreted by regulations andhgdiissued pursuant thereto, all
as amended and in effect from time to time. Angrefice to a specific provision of ERISA shall berded to include reference to any

successor provision thereto.
(p) Incentive Stock Plan: The Harley-Davidson, [2@04 Incentive Stock Plan, or any successor th plan.

(a) Investment Options: The hypothetical investnapttons established by the Administrator from tirméime (which may, but need n
be based upon one or more of the investment optivasable under the Retirement Savings Plan ftariga Employees of Harley-Davidson).
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(r) Matching Contribution Credits: The amountsgify) credited in accordance with Section 3.04.
(s) Participant: An Eligible Employee or a formdigible Employee with an undistributed Account bada under the Plan.

(t) Participating Employer: The Company and eacfiliafe that, with the consent of the Administratorthe Committee, participates in
the Plan for the benefit of one or more Participant

(u) Plan: The Harley-Davidson Management Deferreth@ensation Plan, as amended and in effect from tintime.

(v) Separation from Service: The date on which i¢lpant separates from service (within the megrmihCode Section 409A) from the
Company and all Affiliates. A Separation from See/bccurs when the Company and the Participanbneddy anticipate that no further
services will be performed by the Participant fog Company and its Affiliates after that date @ttime level of bona fide services the
Participant will perform after such date as an exygé of the Company or an Affiliate will permangrdecrease to no more than 20% of the
average level of bona fide services performed byRarticipant (whether as an employee or indepératerractor) for the Company and its
Affiliates over the immediately preceding 36-moptriod (or such lesser period of services). Théidhaant is not considered to have incurred
a Separation from Service if the Participant issab$rom active employment due to military leaviekdeave or other bona fide reason if the
period of such leave does not exceed the greai@r ik months, or (ii) the period during whichetfParticipant’s right to reemployment by the
Company or an Affiliate is provided either by stator by contract; provided that if the leave ofatce is due to a medically determinable
physical or mental impairment that can be expetdedsult in death or last for a continuous penbdot less than six months, where such
impairment causes the Participant to be unabletfmpn the duties of his or her position of empl@mhor any substantially similar position of
employment, the leave may be extended for up tm@8ths without causing the Participant to haverireia Separation from Service.
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(w) Specified Employee: A Participant who, as @& thate of the Participant’s Separation from Sepnig&eated as a Specified Employee
in accordance with Code Section 409A and the roédsw. The Plan will identify Specified Employeexch year as of December 31, which
shall be the Plan’s Specified Employee identifimatiate. A Participant who is identified as of Dmber 31 as satisfying the requirements for
classification as a Specified Employee will be tiedleas a Specified Employee for the entire 12 mpetiod that begins on the April 1
following the December 31 Specified Employee idi#gdtion date and ends on the following March 31Pdrticipant satisfies the requirements
for classification as a Specified Employee if tlagtRipant, at any time during the 12-month peoding on the Specified Employee
identification date, is (i) an officer of the Conmyaor an Affiliate having annual compensation frtra Company and its Affiliates of greater
than $130,000, as indexed; provided that no mae 89 employees, or if lesser, the greater of tore® percent of all employees, shall be
treated as officers, (ii) a five percent ownerhef Company or an Affiliate, or (iii) .a one perceminer of the Company or an Affiliate having
annual compensation from the Company and its Afél of greater than $150,000, as indexed, irnakg applied in accordance with the
regulations issued by the Secretary of the Treasndgr Code Section 409A.

(x) Stock Unit: A hypothetical share of common &tof Harley-Davidson, Inc.
(y) Valuation Date: See Section 4.03.

Section 1.02. Construction and Applicable Law

(a) Wherever any words are used in the masculiegy, shall be construed as though they were ustiaifeminine in all cases where tt
would so apply; and wherever any words are uskdrsingular or the plural, they shall be constragthough they were used in the plural or
the singular, as the case may be, in all casesarnthey would so apply. Titles of articles and se®tiare for general information only, and the
Plan is not to be construed by reference to sechst

(b) This Plan is intended to be a plan of defeo@thpensation maintained for a select group of mamaat or highly compensated
employees as that term is used in ERISA, and bledlterpreted so as to comply with the applicabtpiirements thereof. In all other respects,
the Plan is to be construed and its validity debeeh according to the laws of the State of Wisaonsi

6



(without reference to conflict of law principlestieof) to the extent such laws are not preemptefédigral law, and any action for benefits
under the Plan or to enforce the terms of the Btteatl be heard in the State of Wisconsin by thetowith jurisdiction over the claim. In case
any provision of the Plan is held illegal or inebfor any reason, the illegality or invalidity witlot affect the remaining parts of the Plan, bae
Plan shall, to the extent possible, be construeldeaiforced as if the illegal or invalid provisioachnever been inserted.
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ARTICLE II. PARTICIPATION

Section 2.01. Eligibility.

Except for Section 3.05, an employee shall beldbgio participate in the Plan only if the employgemployed by a Participating
Employer and if the employee has been designated &digible Employee by the Administrator or then@nittee. When designating an
employee as an Eligible Employee, the Administratathe Committee, in their sole discretion, magideate the employee for participation in
the entire Plan or any part thereof. An employee sdttisfies the requirements Section 3.05 is dédib participate in the Plan with respect to
the benefits described in that Section, whetherodthe Participant has been designated for ppatiicin in the other components of the Plan.
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ARTICLE Ill. EMPLOYEE DEFERRED COMPENSATION

Section 3.01. Deferrals Of Base Compensation

(a) Amount. A Participant may elect, in such form and marasethe Administrator may prescribe, to defer payroéa portion of the
Base Compensation that would otherwise be paidgdPtarticipant. A Participant’s election shall dfyeeither a fixed dollar amount or a
percentage (in increments of 1% to a maximum of 8%uch lower percentage specified by the Admiaiet) of the Participant’s Base
Compensation that the Participant wishes to d&fee. minimum annual Base Compensation Deferral j8Gkb(or if the Participant has
designated a percentage of Base Compensationdefered, the percentage that, when applied t®#rdcipant’s Base Compensation rate at
the time the Deferral election is made, is expette@sult in an annual Base Compensation Defefral least $5,000).

(b) Initial Deferral Election In the case of a Participant who has been detgidriar participation for the first time (and whashnot
previously been designated as being eligible fotiggpation in another deferred compensation plat ts required to be aggregated with this
Plan for purposes of Code Section 409A), the Rpédit may submit his or her initial Base CompemsabDeferral election within 30 days of
being designated for participation in the Plarihf Participant does so, the Participant’s valeltgcuted Base Compensation Deferral election
shall become effective with respect to Base Comg@ns attributable to services to be performed egbent to the date on which the electic
filed with the Administrator, or as soon thereatisris practicable. Alternatively, the Participah&iny time may elect to make Base
Compensation Deferrals by submitting a validly exed Base Compensation Deferral election to the iAthtnator, but the election shall
become effective and shall apply only to Base Camaton attributable to services performed on tarafanuary 1 of the calendar year
following the calendar year during which the electis received by the Administrator, or as soometafter as practicable. A Participant’s Base
Compensation Deferral election, once effective|lshenain in effect until modified by the Participain accordance with subsection (c) below
or otherwise revoked in accordance with Plan rules.

(c) Revised Deferral ElectionExcept to the extent that the Administrator isnited (and elects) to give earlier effect to atiegant’s
revocation or revision to his or her Base Compénsddeferral election in accordance with regulasigmomulgated by
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the Secretary of the Treasury under Code Secti®A 48 Participant’s Deferral election, once effeetwith respect to a calendar year, may not
be revoked or modified with respect to Base Comaiéms for that calendar year. A Participant may ifyolis or her then current Base
Compensation Deferral election by filing a revi®ase Compensation Deferral election form, propeoiypleted and signed, with the
Administrator. However, except to the extent that Administrator is permitted (and elects) to greelier effect to a Participant’s revised
election in accordance with regulations promulgdtedhe Secretary of the Treasury under Code Sedti®A, the revised election will be
effective only with respect to Base Compensatiors@vices performed on or after January 1 of #ieralar year following the calendar year
during which the revised election is received by Administrator, or as soon thereafter as pradigcab Participant’s revised Deferral election,
once effective, shall remain in effect until againdified by the Participant under this Section threowise revoked in accordance with Plan
rules.

(d) Base Compensation Paid Following Year End RerRayroll Period That Includes December Bbr purposes of applying a
Participant’'s Base Compensation Deferral electdase Compensation paid after December 31 of adaterear that is attributable solely to
services performed during the payroll period thatides December 31, if paid in accordance withmitrenal timing arrangement by which a
Participating Employer compensates employees foicgs rendered, is treated as Base Compensati@efeices performed in the subsequent
calendar year, even though part or all of the Bipeint’s services might have been performed imptier calendar year.

Section 3.02. Deferrals of Annual Bonus Awards

A Participant may irrevocably elect, in such forrdananner as the Administrator may prescribe, ferqggayment of a portion of the
annual cash bonus that may be awarded and thatwetherwise be paid to the Participant with respeeiny calendar year. A Participant’s
election shall specify either a fixed dollar amoant percentage (in increments of 1% to a maximt856% or such lesser amount or
percentage as may be established by the Admirgsti@t as may be consistent with Code Section 4@3d\necessary in order to comply with
applicable withholding obligations, whether atttifle to withholdings required under applicable
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law or other authorized withholdings) of the Pap#mt’s annual cash bonus that the Participantegtb defer. In the case of any bonus award
that does not constitute performarsed compensation for purposes of Code Sectiof,409alidly executed Annual Bonus Deferral eleg
shall be effective only if the Annual Bonus Deféekection is received by the Administrator priorthe last day of the calendar year preceding
the calendar year in which the Participant perfotimesservices on which the bonus award is basdaly such other time as provided in
regulations promulgated by the Secretary of th@Juey and adopted by the Administrator. In the cdsmy bonus award that constitutes
performance-based compensation for purposes of Sediéon 409A, a validly executed Annual Bonus Dredeclection shall become effective
with respect to the bonus that may be awardededtrticipant with respect to a calendar yeardafRarticipant’s Deferral election is received
by the Administrator at least six (6) months ptimthe end of the (calendar year) performance gddothe bonus, or by such earlier (but not
later) date as the Administrator may establisha#tiBipant’s Annual Bonus Deferral election becorimessocable at the end of the permitted
election period, and the Participant may not thiteeaevoke or modify his or her election, excephaay be permitted by the Administrator in
accordance with regulations promulgated by thee&anyr of the Treasury under Code Section 409A. Aidtgant’s election to defer a bonus
award shall be effective only for the performanedqd to which the election relates, and shallaaoty over from year to year.

Section 3.03. Restricted Stock Deferrals

(@) A Participant may elect, in such form and marasethe Administrator may prescribe, to defer pagnof all or any portion of any
restricted stock or restricted stock unit award tha Participant receives under the Incentive ISRlan. A Participant’s election shall specify
the whole number of shares or units (up to 100%uch shares or units, or such lesser number oepige as may be established by the
Administrator or as may be consistent with CodetiBe@09A and necessary in order to comply withliaaple withholding obligations,
whether attributable to withholdings required undeplicable law or other authorized withholdingbjhe Participant’'s award that the
Participant wishes to defer; provided that if treatieipant specifies a deferral percentage andiegtjin of that percentage does not produce a
whole number of shares or units, the number ofeshar units to be
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deferred shall be increased to the next higher @hamber of share or units. In the case of any éveat is not performance-based
compensation for purposes of Code Section 409/4lidly executed Restricted Stock Deferral elecgball be effective only if the Restricted
Stock Deferral election is received by the Admiraigir prior to the last day of the calendar yeacpding the calendar year in which begins the
service period for which the restricted stock a@trieted stock units are granted, or by such dilhes as provided in regulations promulgatec
the Secretary of the Treasury and adopted by thmimidtrator. In the case of any award that is pennce-based compensation for purposes
of Code Section 409A, a validly executed RestriGaatk Deferral election shall become effectivehwiéspect to shares or units to be earned
by the Participant with respect to any performgpergod if the Participant’s Restricted Stock Dedéglection is received by the Administrator
at least six (6) months prior to the end of suatigupenance period or by such earlier (but not latife as the Administrator may establish. A
Participant’s Restricted Stock Deferral electiondraes irrevocable at the end of the permitted ieleqteriod, and the Participant may not
thereafter revoke or modify his or her electiorcept as may be permitted by the Administrator icoadance with regulations promulgated by
the Secretary of the Treasury under Code Secti®A 48 Participant's Restricted Stock Deferral electshall be effective only for the
particular restricted stock or restricted stockt amiard to which the election relates, and a Fp#it’s election does not carry over from award
to award.

(b) A Participant who has made a Restricted StoeleBal election will be credited under this Plan,a one-fomne basis, with a numb
of Stock Units equal to the number of shares dfirted stock or the number of stock units thagiolly were granted to the Participant under
the Incentive Stock Plan but that the Participas élected to defer under this Plan as a Restr&tmtk Deferral. Any dividends (or similar
distribution) that would have been payable on tteelSUnits credited to a Participant’s Accountuth Stock Units were actual shares of
Harley-Davidson, Inc. common stock will be creditedhe Participant’s Account in the form of adalital Stock Units. If any such dividend or
other distribution is not already expressed inftmn of shares, it shall be converted, for recozding purposes, into whole and fractional
Stock Units. The conversion shall be accomplishedibiding the amount of the dividend or distritautiby the closing price of a share of
Harley-Davidson, Inc. common stock on the paymaie dor the dividend or distribution.
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(c) Unless otherwise determined by the Committee Rarticipans interest in Stock Units attributable to a RettdcStock Deferral she
be subject to the same vesting or forfeiture camitto which the Participant would have been stthfehe Participant had received the
restricted stock or restricted stock unit awarecliy rather than electing to defer delivery oftsagvard. Similarly, unless otherwise determi
by the Committee, the dividend (or distributiongdits that are made in the form of additional Stddlits in accordance with subsection (b),
shall be subject to the same vesting or forfeituneditions as apply with respect to the Stock Wnitvhich the dividend (or distribution) credit
is based.

(d) In the event of any merger, share exchangegamization, consolidation, recapitalization, stodkidend or stock split involving
Harley-Davidson, Inc. common stock, or other exenthich Harley-Davidson, Inc. common stock is sufaed or combined, or a cash
dividend is declared the amount of which, on agherre basis, exceeds fifteen percent (15%) ofdinerfarket value of a share of Harley-
Davidson, Inc. common stock, at the time the dindiées declared, or Harley-Davidson, Inc. shall efiany other dividend or other distribution
of Harley-Davidson, Inc. common stock that the Board deteesitoy resolution is extraordinary or special irunabr that is in connection wi
a transaction that Harley-Davidson, Inc. charazésrpublicly as a recapitalization or reorganizatibHarley-Davidson, Inc. common stock or
words of similar import, or any other event shalitor, which, in the judgment of the Committee nsitates an adjustment to prevent dilution
or enlargement of the benefits or potential beadfitended to be made available under this PlanCttmmittee shall make appropriate
equitable adjustments with respect to the StockdJifiany) credited to the Account of each Papticit. The nature of any such adjustment
shall be determined by the Committee, in its discne

(e) Shares of Harley-Davidson, Inc. common stoskrithiuted in settlement of a Participant’s Stockt&lrincluding the shares distributed
in settlement of dividend (or distribution) creditst were made in the form of additional Stocktglnshall be charged against the pool of
available shares under the Incentive Stock Plan.
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Section 3.04. Matching Contribution Credits

The Administrator will also credit to the Accourfteach Participant a Matching Contribution Crediérfominated in cash) on amounts
deferred under this Plan as Base Compensation lakfemd/or Annual Bonus Deferrals, as determinetheé Administrator. The Matching
Contribution Credit will be in the same relative@mt as the matching contribution that is madé¢éoRarticipant’s pre-tax savings account
under the Retirement Savings Plan for Salaried Bygas of Harley-Davidson (“Retirement Savings Plam’ amounts the Participant has
elected to defer under that plan. This Matchingt@bution Credit will be made as of the last daytloé calendar year quarter in which the
employer matching contribution is deposited toRetirement Savings Plan for a year. The Matchingtffaution Credit, and the earnings
attributed to it, are subject to the vesting rdéthe Retirement Savings Plan so that a Partitipdio terminates employment prior to
becoming vested in his or her matching contribugionder the Retirement Savings Plan shall forfeitdortion of his or her Account under this
Plan that is attributable to Matching Contributi@redits, and earnings thereon. Matching Contrilmu@oedits to this Plan shall not be deemed
to be an employer matching contribution to the Ratent Savings Plan for any nondiscrimination tgsfiurposes. A Participant will not,
under any circumstances, be credited with aggrégatehing Contribution Credits under this Plan amatching contributions under the
Retirement Savings Plan that exceeds the rate twhing applicable for the year under the Retirengatings Plan multiplied by six percent
(6%) of the Participant's Base Compensation anduahBonus for such year, without regard to any afe of such amounts made hereunder.

Section 3.05. Employer Retirement Contribution Begtton Credits

(&) Unless the Administrator determines otherwasBarticipant (whether or not designated for pigidition in other aspects of the Plan)
who is hired on or after August 1, 2006 and wheogered under the Employer Retirement Contributgature of the Retirement Savings Plan
for Salaried Employees of Harley-Davidson or theBMotorcycle Company Retirement Savings Planlémively, the “Retirement Savings
Plan”) will be eligible to receive an additionakdit to his or her Account for each year, in acaoak with the rules of this Section, if the
Participant’'s Employer Retirement Contribution unthee Retirement Savings Plan is limited becaugbefimitations of Code Section 401(a)
(17) or 415.
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(b) With respect to each Participant whose Empl&eatirement Contribution is limited in the mannesdribed in subsection (a), the
Participant shall receive an additional credit urtties Plan equal to the difference between (i)Ehgployer Retirement Contribution that wo
have been allocated to the Participant for the yader the Retirement Savings Plan if the Codei@ed01(a)(17) and 415 limitations did not
apply and if Base Compensation and Annual BonugiDet made by the Participant under this Planraeged as if they had been paid to the
Participant in cash, and (ii) the Employer Retirat@ontribution to which the Participant is actyadhtitled for such year under the Retiren

Savings Plan.

(c) A Participant will have a vested and non-fdadble right to the credits made under this Sectiol, any deemed investment gains or
losses on such credits, if the Participant is estehe Employer Retirement Contributions madhisoor her account under the Retirement
Savings Plan. If the Participant terminates empleynprior to obtaining a vested right to the EmploRetirement Contributions under the
Retirement Savings Plan, the credits made on th&pant's behalf under this Section, togethel @il deemed investment gains or losses on
such credits, shall be forfeited.

Section 3.06. Other Deferrals and Credits

The Administrator or the Committee, in their digore, may, with respect to any Participant, deteerthat the Participant is eligible to
make Deferrals with respect to additional composefithe Participant’s remuneration or receive eyt contribution credits in addition to
the credits described herein. In no event, howeshall the Administrator or Committee authorizetsadditional Deferrals or credits unless the
Administrator or Committee has first determined tha Deferrals or credits have been elected draaizied in a manner that will not result in
the imposition of tax under Code Section 409A.

Section 3.07. Effect of Unforeseeable Emergendyiandship.

Notwithstanding the general timing rules under B@st3.01 and 3.02 that govern Participant Defegiedtions, if a Participant receives a
distribution on account of (a) “unforeseeable eraeoy” under Section 5.04 or (b) a distribution eoaunt of “hardship”
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under the Retirement and Savings Plan or any ain@lified plan maintained by the Company or anl&ffe that includes a qualified cash or
deferred arrangement under Code Section 401(k)enezh plan requires the Participant to ceasefehiind non-qualified deferrals as a
condition of receiving the distribution, then tharfitipant’s then-existing Base Compensation Defeztection, Annual Bonus Deferral

election, and any Restricted Stock Deferral electi@ay be terminated (and not merely suspendedhetextent this Administrator so
determines. Any Deferral election made after a teation of a Deferral election due to hardship ofoueseeable emergency will be considered
an “initial deferral election” that is subject foetrules of Code Section 409A and the regulatisomplgated thereunder with respect to “initial
deferral elections.”

Section 3.08. Involuntary Termination of Deferrd¢&ions.

Subject to Code Section 409A, a Participant’s Drefeglection will terminate, or contribution creslib a Participang’ Account will cease
if the Administrator or the Committee determineattthe Participant is no longer eligible to papate in the Plan or that revocation of a
Participant’s eligibility is necessary or desirabilerder for the Plan to qualify under ERISA g3lan of deferred compensation for a select
group of management or highly compensated employees
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ARTICLE IV. ACCOUNTING AND HYPOTHETICAL INVESTMENT  ELECTIONS

Section 4.01. Investment Options

The Administrator may designate two or more InvesttrOptions. The Administrator’s designation oflavestment Option does not
imply any obligation on the part of the ParticipgtEmployers to set aside or otherwise invest fundse designated Investment Option. The
Investment Option serves merely as a device farrdehing the amount of deemed investment gain €8 to be credited or charged to the
Participant’s Account. Further, the Administratoayrat any time modify the roster of available Inwgsnt Options, including the elimination
of any Investment Option that was previously awddainder the Plan.

Section 4.02. Participant Investment Elections

(a) This Section applies to the deemed investmiatRarticipant’s Account, other than the portidtnilautable to Restricted Stock
Deferrals and the portion that is credited witlerast at the Plan Interest Rate in accordanceS#ttion 4.05. The portion of a Participant’s
Account that is attributable to Restricted StocKddmls is deemed to be invested in Stock Unitd,tae Participant is not permitted to exercise
investment discretion with respect to this portion.

(b) In accordance with uniform rules prescribedtry Administrator, which shall permit Participatdsnake investment directions at
least annually, each Participant shall designateriting or in such other manner as the Administranay prescribe, how his or her Account
(other than the portion of the Account attributatoldRestricted Stock Deferrals) shall be deemdaktmvested among the Investment Options.
A Participant’s investment designation, when effextshall operate both (i) to reallocate the Raréint’'s existing Account balance (other than
the portion of the Account attributable to Res#itStock Deferrals) in the percentages specifiethéyParticipant in his or her investment
election, and (ii) as a direction with respecthite teemed investment of future Deferrals or othedits (other than Restricted Stock Deferrals)
made while the designation is in effect. If thetRgrant fails to make a timely and complete inwesht designation, he or she shall be deemed
to have elected that 100% of his or her Accourdited to the default Investment Option specifiediry Administrator.
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(c) When selecting more than one Investment Optlos Participant shall designate, in whole mulspdé 1% or such other percentage
determined by the Administrator, the percentagei®br her eligible Account (and of future eligilideferrals or credits) to be allocated to each
Investment Option.

(d) A Participant’s investment election or deemaestment election shall become effective on the datablished by the Administrator
for this purpose, and shall remain in effect unkesd until modified by a subsequent election tlestioimes effective in accordance with the r
of this Section.

(e) Other than a reallocation of a Participantigible Account pursuant to a revised investmentt@a submitted by the Participant, the
deemed investment allocation of a Participant moll be adjusted to reflect differences in the nedginvestment return realized by the various
hypothetical Investment Options that the Particigeas designated, i.e., the Participant’s Accoulitnet be periodically “rebalancedd returr
the investment allocation of the Participant’s astdo the investment allocation in effect on tffecive date of the Participant’s most recent
investment election.

Section 4.03. Allocation of Deemed Investment Gaihoss.

As of the last day of each calendar quarter, suah other times as the Administrator may presdeleh, a “Valuation Date”), and
except as provided in Section 4.05, the Accourtaah Participant will be credited (or charged) Hagson the investment gain (or loss) tha
Participant would have realized with respect todmnier Account since the immediately precedingudtibn Date had the Account been
invested in accordance with the terms of the Ptahthe Participant’s actual or deemed investmegttiein.

Section 4.04. Accounts are For Record Keeping Rap®nly.

Plan Accounts and the record keeping proceduresitied herein serve solely as a device for detangithe amount of benefits
accumulated by a Participant under the Plan, aali sbt constitute or imply an obligation on thetpaf a Participating Employer to fund such
benefits. In any event, a Participating Employeynia its discretion, set aside assets and/or tmrte to a trust assets equal to part or all of
such account balances and invest such assets indifirance or any other investment deemed
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appropriate. Any such assets held by a Particigamployer or in a trust shall be and remain tHe pooperty of the Participating Employer
the trust, as applicable, and a Participant stealemo proprietary rights of any nature whatsotr respect to such assets.
Section 4.05. Pr2000 Deferrals Under Program.A

(a) Notwithstanding anything to the contrary herdiis Section applies to deferrals made priomataudry 1, 2000 that are credited under
the Life Insurance Investment Program (sometimigned to herein as “Program A”)

(b) The Life Insurance Investment Program was tiigirel investment program that has been availahler the Plan since 1988. Under
the Life Insurance Investment Program or Prograra Rarticipant’s deferred compensation amounts wredited to a special Account (the
“Program A Account”) that is credited with interedtthe Plan Interest Rate, and with respect tehvhipotential death benefit (described in
subsection (d) below) may become payable. Thelhgarance Investment Program is closed to new dd¢eeffective January 1, 2000. A
Participant may elect that the Participarffrogram A Account shall cease being deemed eckdiith interest at the Plan Interest Rate and
thereafter be deemed to be invested in accordaitheSections 4.01 through 4.04 above.

(c) For each twelve (12) consecutive month periegitning on September 1 of each year and endinfugust 31 of the following year,
the Plan Interest Rate is the Moody’s Long Term®BBate in effect on such September 1 (or the lasihless day immediately preceding such
date if September 1 is a Saturday, Sunday or lzgjalay).

(d) Upon the death of a Participant prior to teration of employment, and before any benefit paysibave been made or have started,
the Company will pay to the designated Benefici@rg Participant with a Program A, Account, as cengation for services rendered prior to
the date of death, a benefit equal to the Partitipdrogram A Account measured as of the lastaldle calendar year quarter in which the
date of death occurred or, if greater, a deathfitedetermined as follows:
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Multiple of Program A Deferral
Commitments Determined Separately

Age at Deferral as to Each Deferral Commitment

Through 4t 5.0
46 4.8
47 4.6
48 4.4
49 4.2
50 4.0
51 3.8
52 3.6
53 34
54 3.2
55 3.0
56 2.8
57 2.6
58 2.4
59 2.2
60 2.0
61 1.8
62 1.6
63 1.4
64 1.2

65 and ove 1.0
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(e) Following the Participant’s death, no additioe@rnings are credited on the portion of any déathefit amount that is determined as a
multiple of a Participant’s Program A deferral coitment.

(f) If there is a reduction in a Program A Accountluding a premature distribution from a ProgrAmccount due to hardship, the
Administrator will advise the Participant as to twresponding effect on the Participant’s deattefie If a Participant has made more than
one deferral commitment under Program A, the Hpeit's death benefit will be separately determifeedeach commitment. A special rule
applies, however, for any Participant who was netiiable for a death benefit larger than the “guaed issue” amount available to the
Company at standard rates when the Participamt; friJanuary 1, 2000, completed a deferred congpiensagreement calling for a deferral
commitment to Program A. In that case, the affeGtadicipants death benefit with respect to such deferral camenit is limited to the great
of (i) the balance in the participant's Program &cAunt attributable to such deferral commitmen{jipan amount of death benefit able to be
insured by the Company at standard rates at theettie Participant completed his or her deferredpmmation agreement providing for such
Program A deferral commitment.
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ARTICLE V. DISTRIBUTION OF ACCOUNTS

Section 5.01. Distribution of Account

Except as provided in Section 5.07, distributiomdtarticipant’s vested Account will be made, inadance with this Article V,
following the date on which the Participant incarSeparation from Service. The manner in whichrédfaant’s Account will be distributed
depends on whether the Participant has attainefifagéve (55) on or prior to the date on whiche Participant incurs a Separation from
Service.

(a) If the Participant incurs a Separation fromvier prior to attaining fifty-five (55) years of agthe Participans' vested Account will k
distributed in a single sum cash payment notwitiditeg any contrary distribution election made by Barticipant in accordance with
Section 5.02 below. The distribution shall be maitain thirty (30) days following the Valuation Dathat is coincident with or next follows
the Participant’s Separation from Service; provitlet if the Participant is a Specified Employeéhattime of the Participant’s Separation
from Service, the distribution shall be made witthiimty (30) days following the Valuation Date thatcoincident with or next follows the six
(6) month anniversary of the Participant’s Separatiom Service. Distribution shall be made in ¢asttept that with respect to the portion of
the Participant’s Account that is attributable tesRicted Stock Deferrals, the Participant shaléiee one (1) share of Harley-Davidson, Inc.
common stock for each whole Stock Unit creditetheParticipant’s Account, and cash in lieu of &agtional Stock Unit.

(b) If the Participant’'s Separation from Servicews on or after the Participant’s attainment fif/ffive (55) years of age, the
Participant’s vested Account balance will be distted in one (1) to fifteen (15) annual installnsetats elected by the Participant in accordance
with Section 5.02 below. The first installment Wik paid within thirty (30) days following the Vailtion Date that is coincident with or next
follows the Participant’'s Separation from Servigmgvided that if the Participant is a Specified Hogpe at the time of the Participant’s
Separation from Service, the distribution shalhteede within thirty (30) days following the Valuati®ate that is coincident with or next
following the six (6) month anniversary of the Rapant’'s Separation from Service. Each subsegueteliment shall be made in June of each
calendar year subsequent to the year the initsliment was paid, during the
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installment period. Distributions shall be madeash, except that with respect to the portion gfiastallment that is attributable to the
Participant’s Restricted Stock Deferrals, the [egodint shall receive one (1) share of Ha#gridson, Inc. common stock for each whole St
Unit that is being settled/distributed, and cashen of any fractional Stock Unit. The cash pantimf a Participant’s annual distribution amount
shall be determined by dividing (A) the Particigarggregate vested balance in the Account (otteer the portion attributable to Restricted
Stock Deferrals) as of the Valuation Date immedijapeeceding the installment distribution date By the number of installment payments
remaining to be made under the distribution peselécted by the Participant. The stock portiorhefRarticipant’s annual distribution amount
shall be determined by dividing (A) the Particigamested Stock Units in the Account by (B) the fuemof installment payments remaining to
be made under the distribution period selectechbyParticipant. During the installment paymentgerihe undistributed Account will contir

to be credited or charged with deemed investmeinsga losses in the same way that deemed gailosses are credited or charged while the
Participant is employed.

Section 5.02. Distribution Electian

(a) Distribution Election A Participant shall elect the number of annuatatiments, from one (1) to fifteen (15), over whtuds or her
Account is to be distributed following the Partiaif’s Separation from Service. The election shalihbsuch form as the Administrator shall
prescribe.

(b) Timing of Distribution Election and Default Diution Election. An Eligible Employee shall make a distributioeetion at the san
time as the Participant first makes a Deferralt@decunder the Plan. A Participant who fails to makdistribution election with respect to the
Participants Account (or any portion thereof) shall be deemaddave elected distribution in ten (10) annualdhsients. Except as describec
subsection (c) below, a Participant’s election @emed distribution election is irrevocable.

(c) Maodification of Distribution Election On or before December 31, 2008, a Participant regige his or her distribution election or
deemed distribution election; provided that a redidistribution election made during calendar y2&a6, 2007 or 2008
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(including the election described in Section 5.@il) not be given effect, and the Participant’s imaiately prior valid distribution election (or
deemed election) will continue in effect, if thevised election would operate to cause amountsabatd otherwise be distributable in the
calendar year in which the revised distributiorcete is made to be deferred for distribution isudsequent calendar year, or to cause amount
that would otherwise be distributable in a subsatjualendar year to become distributable in theraddr year in which the revised election is
made. On and after January 1, 2009, a Participagtmodify his or her distribution election (or desgirdistribution election) only if (i) the
Participant’s application to modify the Participandistribution election is approved by the Admirdsar, (i) the revised distribution election
submitted to the Administrator at least twelve (&®)nths prior to the first scheduled payment datdeu the Participant’s then-current
distribution election and the revised electionas given effect for twelve (12) months after theedan which the revised election is submitted,
and (iii) except as permitted under Code Sectid®@ayment pursuant to the revised distributicecbn is deferred for at least five (5) years
from the date payment would otherwise have beerermader the Participant’s prior distribution elenti For purposes of applying the rules of
Code Section 409A, a series of installment paymeritde considered a single payment form.

(d) Effectiveness of Distribution ElectiorA Participant’s distribution election will be gin effect only if the Participant’s Separation
from Service occurs on or after the date on whighRarticipant attains age fifty-five (55). If tRarticipant’s Separation from Service occurs
prior to attainment of age fifty-five (55), the Baipant’s distribution election will be null andid, and the Participant’s vested Account will be
distributed, in accordance with Section 5.01(aj Bingle payment.

(e) Distribution Election Procedure# distribution election or modified distributiaiection shall be deemed made only when it is
received and accepted as complete by the Admitostra

(f) Acceleration of PaymentsNotwithstanding any other provision of the Pléthe Administrator determines that all or any tgmr of a
Participant’s Account is required to be includedhia Participant’s income as a result of a faitareomply with the
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requirements of Code Section 409A and the regulatpzomulgated thereunder, the Company or appkcafilliate shall immediately make
distribution from the Plan to the Participant omBéciary, in one lump sum, of the amount (but exteeding the amount) that is so taxable.

Section 5.03. Death Benefit Payments

(a) Death Prior to Separation from Servidépon the death of a Participant prior to the iBigant’s Separation from Service, the
Participant’s Beneficiary will receive a single sienefit equal to the Participant’s vested undistéd Account balance, the cash portion of
which shall be valued as of the Valuation Date cioient with or immediately preceding the date & Barticipant death. The distribution w
be made within ninety (90) days following the Rapant's death. The six (6) month payment delayHarticipants who are Specified
Employees will not apply. Distribution shall be nead cash, except that with respect to the ponifothe Participant’s Account that is
attributable to Restricted Stock Deferrals, the é&mary shall receive one (1) share of Harley-Risain, Inc. common stock for each whole
Stock Unit credited to the Participant’s Accoumtdaash in lieu of any fractional Stock Unit.

(b) Death After Separation from ServicEpon the death of a Participant following thetRgrant’'s Separation from Service but prior to
completion of distribution of the Participant’s t&d Account, the Participant’s Beneficiary will eige a single sum benefit equal to the
Participant’s undistributed vested Account balatige ,cash portion of which shall be valued as ef\flaluation Date coincident with or
immediately preceding the date of the Participat¢ath. The distribution will be made within nin¢®0) days following the Participant’s
death. The six (6) month payment delay for Partiotp who are Specified Employees will not apphstiithution shall be made in cash, except
that with respect to the portion of the Participaitccount that is attributable to Restricted St@wferrals, the Beneficiary shall receive one
(1) share of Harley-Davidson, Inc. common stockeach whole Stock Unit credited to the Participgéttcount, and cash in lieu of any
fractional Stock Unit.
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Section 5.04. Hardship Withdrawals

A Participant who has incurred an “unforeseeablergancy” may request, and the Administrator may (med not) approve a
distribution of part or all of the Participant’'ssted Account balance, in accordance with and stitiyetbe limitations set forth in this Section.
An “unforeseeable emergency” means a severe finhhardship to the Participant resulting from dmeis or accident of the Participant, the
Participant’s spouse, or the Participant’s depen@endefined in Code Section 152(a) without redarections 152(b)(1), (b)(2), and (d)(1)
(B)), loss of the Participant’s property due towzsy, or other similar extraordinary and unfored®e circumstances arising as a result of
events beyond the control of the Participant. Tiewnt authorized by the Administrator for distriloatwith respect to an emergency may not
exceed the amounts necessary to satisfy the enwrgérs amounts necessary to pay taxes reasonatitypated as a result of the distribution,
after taking into account the extent to which shahdship is or may be relieved through reimburséraenompensation by insurance or
otherwise or by liquidation of the Participant’'sess, to the extent that liquidation of such assetsld not itself cause severe financial
hardship.

Section 5.05. Automatic Single Sum Distribution

In the case of any Participant or Beneficiary whessted Account (when added to the balance of #mr@ccount under a non-qualified
deferred compensation arrangement that is reqtored aggregated with this Plan under Code Sedd®4\) has a value equal to or less than
the applicable dollar amount under Code Sectior(@(®R)(B), e.g., $15,500 for 2008, the Account w# distributed in the form of a single
sum payment on the date on which distributions watherwise commence, and such single sum payrhalite in lieu of any installment
distribution period that would otherwise apply. @izution shall be made in cash, except that wespect to the portion of the Participant’s
Account that is attributable to Restricted Stockdbrls, the Participant shall receive one (1) sludHarley-Davidson, Inc. common stock for
each whole Stock Unit credited to the ParticipaAtsount, and cash in lieu of any fractional Staliit.
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Section 5.06. Acceleration of Payments Upon a CaarfigControl.

Notwithstanding anything herein to the contrarypmia change of control event (within the meanin@ofle Section 409A) with respect
to Harley-Davidson, Inc, the vested Account of eBahticipant shall be paid to the Participant on&eiary, as applicable, as soon as

practicable, but in no event more than 30 daysy &lfte change of control event in a single sum gaygnregardless of any distribution election
then in effect.

Section 5.07. Election of Distribution at a Stafte. Notwithstanding anything in the Plan to thatcary and in accordance with
transition rules published by the Internal Reve8aevice for purposes of Code Section 409A, on &wrbeDecember 31, 2008, a Participant
who is actively employed may elect to have theipordf his or her vested Account (exclusive of aoytion credited to the Program A
Account) as of December 31, 2008, together withvimkgains or losses from December 31, 2008 thrtheWaluation Date selected by the
Participant, distributed to the Participant inmgé sum payment. Distribution will be made witktairty (30) days following the Valuation D&
designated by the Patrticipant. The Valuation Datected by a Participant must be the last dayaaflendar quarter no earlier than June 30,
2009. Because distribution is being elected a dtdéte unrelated to the Participan$eparation from Service, the six (6) month payrdetay
applicable to Specified Employees for distributiamsaccount of Separation from Service will notlgpA Participants election shall not be
recognized if the effect of the election would belefer amounts that would otherwise be distribletab2008 for distribution into 2009 or
subsequent years
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ARTICLE VI. GENERAL PROVISIONS

Section 6.01. Administration

The Administrator shall administer and interpret Blan and supervise preparation of Participatieles, forms, and any amendments
thereto. The Administrator may, in its discretidelegate any or all of its authority and respottigihiand to the extent of any such delegation,
any references herein to the Administrator shaliéemed references to such delegee; provide thatuam delegee shall not act in any non-
ministerial fashion in a matter affecting the dele® own participation or interest in the Planefptetation of the Plan shall be within the sole
discretion of the Administrator or the Committee ahall be final and binding upon each Particigartt Beneficiary. The Administrator or the
Committee may adopt and modify rules and regulati@tating to the Plan as it deems necessary asaule for the administration of the Plan.
Further, the Administrator shall not act in any foimisterial fashion in any matter that affects enenore of the members of the committee
that is the Administrator (unless such action affedl Participants uniformly) and any such actigh be taken or decision made by the
Committee.

Section 6.02. Restrictions to Comply with Applicallaw.

Notwithstanding any other provision of the Plarg Brarticipating Employers shall have no obligatmmake any payment under the F
unless such payment is in accordance with the tefrttee Plan and will comply with all applicablens and the applicable requirements of any
securities exchange or similar entity. The Admiaidr or the Committee shall have the right torfetsany transaction, or impose other rules
and requirements, to the extent it deems necessatgsirable in order to comply with any law or ewion.

Section 6.03. Claims Procedures

(a) If a Participant or Beneficiary (the “claimapbelieves that he is entitled to a benefit underRlan that is not provided, the claimant
or his or her legal representative shall file atter claim for such benefit with the Administratogt later than ninety (90) days after the
payment (or first payment) is made (or should Haeen made) in accordance with the terms of the éHam
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accordance with regulations issued by the Secrefattye Treasury under Code Section 409A. Any stlaim shall be filed in writing stating
the nature of the claim, and the facts supportiggdaim, the amount claimed and the name and ssldfehe claimant. The Administrator
shall review the claim. If the Administrator denteg claim, it shall deliver, within one hundredrtyr-five (135) days of the date the first
payment was made (or should have been made) imdste with the terms of the Plan or in accordavitie regulations issued by the
Secretary of the Treasury under Code Section 489;jtten notice of such denial decision. If thaiclant’s claim is denied in whole or part,
the Administrator shall provide written notice teetclaimant of such denial. The written notice kimalude the specific reason(s) for the der
reference to specific Plan provisions upon whiahdenial is based; a description of any additiomaterial or information necessary for the
claimant to perfect the claim and an explanatiowlo§ such material or information is necessary; amigscription of the Plan’s review
procedures (as set forth in subsection (b)) anditie limits applicable to such procedures, inahgda statement of the claimastight to brinc
a civil action under Section 502(a) of ERISA folliogy an adverse determination upon review.

(b) The claimant has the right to appeal the Adstiator’s decision by filing a written appeal t@ tAdministrator within 180 days after
the payment (or first payment) is made (or shoaldehbeen made) in accordance with the terms d®ldae or in accordance with regulations
issued by the Secretary of the Treasury under Geddon 409A. The claimant will have the opportynitpon request and free of charge, to
have reasonable access to and copies of all do¢amenords and other information relevant to th@want’s appeal. The claimant may sub
written comments, documents, records and otherrimdtion relating to his or her claim with the aplp@ae Administrator will review all
comments, documents, records and other informatibmitted by the claimant relating to the clainganelless of whether such information
was submitted or considered in the initial claintetimination. The Administrator shall make a deteration on the appeal within 60 days after
receiving the claimant’s written appeal; providedttthe Administrator may determine that an add#i®0-day extension is necessary due to
circumstances beyond the Administrasotontrol, in which event the Administrator shaitify the claimant prior to the end of the initjaériod
that an extension is needed, the reason therefbth@date by which the Administrator expects taler a decision. If the claimant’s appeal is
denied in whole or part, the Administrator shaliyide written notice to the claimant of such denfdle written notice shall
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include the specific reason(s) for the denial; nefiee to specific Plan provisions upon which theialés based; a statement that the claimant is
entitled to receive, upon request and free of ahargasonable access to and copies of all documrentsds, and other information relevant to
the claimant’s claim; and a statement of the claisaight to bring a civil action under SectionZ§8) of ERISA.

Section 6.04. Participant Rights Unsecured

(a) Unsecured ClaimThe right of a Participant or the ParticipantsnBficiary to receive a distribution hereunder Ishalan unsecured
claim, and neither the Participant nor any Benaficshall have any rights in or against any ameuedited to his or her Account or any other
specific assets of a Participating Employer. Thetrof a Participant or Beneficiary to the paymefibenefits under this Plan shall not be
assigned, encumbered, or transferred, except yrthe laws of descent and distribution. The téghf a Participant hereunder are exercisable
during the Participant’s lifetime only by the Peipiant or his or her guardian or legal represergati

(b) Contractual ObligationThe Company may authorize the creation of a wusther arrangements to assist it in meetingtiligations
created under the Plan. However, any liabilityrig person with respect to the Plan shall be basktlysupon any contractual obligations that
may be created pursuant to the Plan. No obligatfaParticipating Employer shall be deemed todmeiged by any pledge of, or other
encumbrance on, any property of a Participating lBygy. Nothing contained in this Plan and no acteken pursuant to its terms shall create
or be construed to create a trust of any kind, fidfueciary relationship between a Participating Bogpr and any Participant or Beneficiary, or
any other person.

Section 6.05. Distributions for Tax Withholding aRdyment

(a) Notwithstanding the time or schedule of payraetherwise applicable to the Participant, the Adstiator may direct that distributi
from a Participant’s vested Account be made (pPag the Federal Insurance Contributions Act (FI€&)imposed under Code Sections 3101,
3121(a) and 3121(v)(2) with respect to compensatafiarred under the Plan, (ii) to pay the incomxeatiassource on wages imposed under Code
Section 3401 or the corresponding withholding psimnis of applicable state, local, or foreign taxdas a result of the payment of FICA taxes,
and (iii) to pay the additional income tax at s&uon wages attributable to the “pyramiding” of C&@betion 3401 wages and taxes; provided
that the total amount distributed under this prisvisnust not exceed the aggregate of the FICA takthe income tax withholding related to
such FICA tax.
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(b) The amount actually distributed to the Parficipin accordance with the time or schedule of paymsapplicable to the Participant \
be reduced by applicable tax withholding exceghtextent such withholding requirements previougdye satisfied in accordance with
subsection (a) above.

Section 6.06. Amendment or Termination of Plan

(&) There shall be no time limit on the duratiorthef Plan.

(b) The Company, by action of the Human Resouragsar@ittee of the Board, may at any time amend tha,Rhcluding but not limited
to modifying the terms and conditions applicabléaootherwise eliminating) Deferrals or contrilmrticredits to be made on or after the
amendment date; provided, however, that no amendoneermination may reduce or eliminate any Acdduadance accrued to the date of
such amendment or termination (except as such Atdmlance may be reduced as a result of investlogses allocable to such Account).

(c) The Company, by action of the Human Resouraear@ittee of the Board, may terminate the Plan gtteme. Upon termination of
the Plan, Accounts may be paid to ParticipantsBamkficiaries in a single sum payment, without rdda any distribution election then in
effect, but only if the following are met:

0] The Plan is terminated within twelve (12) masthf a corporate dissolution taxed under Code &e&B1, or with the
approval of a bankruptcy court pursuant to 11 U.88D3(b)(1)(A), and the amounts accrued undePtha but not yet paid
are distributed to the Participants or Beneficarees applicable, by the latest of: (A) the last ofathe calendar year in whi
the Plan termination and liquidation occurs, (B) thst day of the calendar year in which the am@unb longer subject to a
substantial risk of forfeiture, or (C) the last d#fythe first calendar year in which payment is adstratively practicable
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(ii)

(iii)

The Plan is terminated at any time during plegiod that begins thirty (30) days prior and etvaslve (12) months following
a change of control event (within the meaning ofl€8ection 409A), provided that all arrangemengsired to be
aggregated with the Plan (within the meaning of &€8dction 409A) sponsored by the Company or ari#tiiare
terminated and liquidated with respect to eachiépant that experienced the change of control £\snthat all participants
under similar arrangements are required to recaivemounts of compensation deferred under theitet®d arrangements
within twelve (12) months of the date of terminatiaf the arrangement

The Plan is terminated at any other time, provitdhed such termination does not occur proximatedownturn in the
financial health of the Company or an Affiliate.dnch event, all amounts accrued under the Plandiytet paid will be
distributed to all Participants or Beneficiaries,agplicable, no earlier than twelve (12) montmsl(ao later than twenty-four
(24) months) after the date of termination. Thisvision shall not be effective unless all othemglaequired to be aggrega
with this Plan under Code Section 409A are alsmitgated and liquidated. Notwithstanding the foregoiany payment that
would otherwise be paid during the twelve (12)-nmoperiod beginning on the Plan termination datespaint to the terms of
the Plan shall be paid in accordance with suchge
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In addition, the Company or any Affiliate shall pehibited from adopting a similar arrangement witthree (3) years
following the date of the Plan’s termination, uslesy individual who was a Participant under thanRs excluded from
participating thereunder for such three (3) yeaioge

Except as provided in Paragraphs (i), (ii) ang ébove or as otherwise permitted in regulatiomsuigated by the Secretary of the Treasury
under Code Section 409A, any action that purportsriminate the Plan shall instead be construesha@snendment to discontinue further
benefit accruals, but the Plan will continue torape, in accordance with its terms as from timgn® amended and in accordance with
applicable Participant elections, with respecti® Participant’s benefit accrued through the datermination, and in no event shall any such
action purporting to terminate the Plan form thsi®#or accelerating distributions to Participagumsl Beneficiaries.

Section 6.07. Administrative Expenses
Costs of establishing and administering the Pldhbeipaid by the Participating Employers.

Section 6.08. Successors and Assigns

This Plan shall be binding upon and inure to theelfieof the Participating Employers, their sucogssand assigns and the Participants
and their heirs, executors, administrators, andllegpresentatives.

Section 6.09. Right of Offset

The Participating Employers shall have the rightffset from the benefits payable hereunder (artieatime such benefit would
otherwise be payable) any amount that the Partitipaes to the Company or an Affiliate or otheritgrinh which the Company or an Affiliate
maintains an ownership interest. The offset stakpplied so as to include, but shall not be lichtte any
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fines, penalties, damages or any other amounti@imgy attorneys’ fees) imposed on or paid by tleenPany or Affiliate as a result of any
conduct of the Participant during the Participamtmployment. The Company may effectuate the offgdbut the consent of the Participant
the Participant’s spouse or Beneficiary, in thentd the Participant’s death).

Section 6.10. Not a Contract of Employment
This Plan may not be construed as giving any petfsemight to be retained as an employee of the 2oy or any Affiliate.

Section 6.11. Miscellaneous Distribution Rules

(a) Accelerated Distribution Following Section 408Ailure. If an amount under this Plan is required to loduided in a Participant’s
income under Code Section 409A prior to the datd sumount is actually distributed, the Participstmll receive a distribution, in a lump sum,
within ninety (90) days after the date it is filyafletermined that the Plan fails to meet the rexménts of Code Section 409A. The distribution
shall equal the amount required to be includedhéRarticipant’s income as a result of such failure

(b) Permitted Delay in Paymenilf a distribution required under the terms oftRian would jeopardize the ability of the Companyf
an Affiliate to continue as a going concern, thenpany or the Affiliate shall not be required to reauch distribution. Rather, the distribution
shall be delayed until the first date that makimg distribution does not jeopardize the abilityref Company or of an Affiliate to continue as a
going concern. Further, if any distribution purstuanthe Plan will violate the terms of Sectiond6¢f the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 or
other Federal securities laws, or any other aplplickaw, then the distribution shall be delayedluhe earliest date on which making the
distribution will not violate such law.

(c) Disregard of Six Month DelayNotwithstanding anything herein to the contrafrat the time of a Participant’'s Separation from
Service, the stock of Harley-Davidson, Inc. or attyer related entity that is considered a “servémpient” within the meaning of
Section 409A of the Code is not traded on an eistadd securities market or otherwise, then theipiavs of the Plan requiring
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that payments for Specified Employees be delayedixomonths shall cease to apply. In such eveaetpayment (if a lump sum) or initial
payment (if installments) shall be made within myn@0) days following the event triggering the bBhpayment(s).

HARLEY-DAVIDSON MOTOR COMPANY GROUP,
INC.

By: /s/ Gail A. Lione

Title: Executive Vice President

Date: December 29, 2008
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Exhibit 10.9
HARLEY-DAVIDSON
PENSION BENEFIT RESTORATION PLAN
(As Amended and Restated Effective January 1, 2009)

HARLEY-DAVIDSON MOTOR COMPANY GROUP, INC., a Wiscaim corporation, maintains the Harley-Davidson Rens
Benefit Restoration Plan (the “Plan”) to providenb#its as follows:

1. Purpose.

The purpose of the Plan is to provide the benefiteh a Participant would have been entitled terex under the Funded Plan except
(a) the statutory maximum annual benefit limitati@i Code Section 415, (b) the statutory maximumitditions on pensionable pay provided
for in Code Section 401(a)(17), and (c) the exdugrom the definition of pensionable compensatiothe Funded Plan for amounts
contributed as a pretax contribution to a nonqgigaliplan of deferred compensation.

2.  Definitions.
The following terms have the following meaningsasd the context clearly indicates otherwise:

(a) “Affiliate” means each corporation, trade oslmess that, with the Company, constitutes a cbetrgroup of corporations, or group
of trades or businesses under common control, avitté meaning of Code Sections 414(b) or (c); medithat for purposes of determining
when a Participant has incurred a Separation fremi&, the phrase “at least 50 percent” shalldeun place of “at least 80 percent” each
place it appears in Code Section 414(b) and (c)llaadegulations thereunder.

(b) “Applicable Interest Rate” means the producfipbne (1.0) minus the applicable maximum tex rat the Participant’s Determination
Date, with such rate expressed as a decimal, gritiidiscount rate used by the Company to vdieeobligations of the Funded Plan, as set
forth in the Company’s disclosure for purposestat&nent of Financial Accounting Standard No. 87afoy successor) for the fiscal year of
the Company that includes the first day of the rhaatincident with or next following the Participan8eparation from Service for any reason
other than death, with such rate also expressaddasimal. The product shall then be rounded ubdmearest hundredth. The “applicable
maximum tax rate” means the total of the maximudefal individual income tax, the maximum State aé¥@nsin individual income tax, and
the Hospital Insurance (Medicare) payroll tax, sgkinto account the deductibility of state incorarets for federal income tax purposes, to the
extent permitted by law and tax rates as theyegally in effect at the Participant’s Determinatidate. Any subsequent adjustments which
may be made to tax rates or to the Funded Plapeatad rate of return on plan assets, even if lgandtroactive effect to such date, shall be
disregarded



(c) “Board” means the Board of Directors of HarBgvidson, Inc.

(d) “Change of Control Event” means a “change intodl event” (as such term is defined for purpasie€ode Section 409A) with
respect to Harley-Davidson, Inc.

(e) “Code” means the Internal Revenue Code of 1888,the ruling and regulations issued thereuraless amended and in effect from
time to time.

(f) “Committee” means the Retirement Plans Comraitippointed by the Board or, if such Committeenighle to fulfill its duties under
the Plan, the Board.

(g) “Company” means Harley-Davidson Motor Compamp, Inc., or any successor thereto.

(h) “Determination Date” means:

(1) With respect to a vested Participant whose fiteisgayable as a monthly annuity benefit, theddao occur of (i) the first day of
the month coincident with or next following the Bapant’s attainment of age fifty-five (55), oi)(the first day of the month coincident
with or next following the Participant’'s Separatimom Service; or

(2) With respect to a vested Participant whose fiteisgpayable as a single sum, the first day eftimonth coincident with or next
following the Participant’s Separation from Servioeany reason other than death.

(i) “Employee” means a common-law employee of tleenPany or an Affiliate who was hired prior to Augjds 2006 and who is a
participant in the Funded Plan.

() “Funded Plan” means the Retirement Annuity HtamSalaried Employees of Harley-Davidson, as ftome to time amended and in
effect.

(k) “Normal Retirement Date” means, with respecaty Participant, the Participant’s normal retiratraate for purposes of the Funded
Plan.

() “Participant” means an Employee who becomearti¢?pant in accordance with Section 3. Wherecihigtext so requires, a Participant
also means a former employee entitled to recelven&fit hereunder.

(m) “Payment Date” means the date on which payrogatParticipant’s vested benefit is made (if gg@rsum) or commences (if a
monthly annuity), as determined in accordance ®#htions 6 and 7.
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(n) “Pension Restoration Benefit” means the bertfgcribed in Section 5. The fact that a Partidipas accrued a Pension Restoration
Benefit under this Plan does not suggest or redbata contract from an insurance company wilbbgined to provide such benefit.

(o) “Separation from Service” means the date orctviai Participant separates from service (withinnieaning of Code Section 409A)
from the Company and all Affiliates. A Separatioorfi Service occurs when the Company and the Raatitireasonably anticipate that no
further services will be performed by the Participfor the Company and its Affiliates after thatelar that the level diona fideservices the
Participant will perform after such date as an eipgé of the Company or an Affiliate will permangrdiecrease to no more than 20% of the
average level of bona fide services performed byRarticipant (whether as an employee or indepdrodetractor) for the Company and its
Affiliates over the immediately preceding 36-moptriod (or such lesser period of services). Théidaant is not considered to have incurred
a Separation from Service if the Participant iseab$rom active employment due to military leaviekdeave or othebona fidereason if the
period of such leave does not exceed the greai@ sk months, or (ii) the period during whichetfrarticipant’s right to reemployment by the
Company or an Affiliate is provided either by stator by contract; provided that if the leave ofatce is due to a medically determinable
physical or mental impairment that can be expetdedsult in death or last for a continuous penbdot less than six months, where such
impairment causes the Participant to be unabletfmpn the duties of his or her position of empl@nhor any substantially similar position of
employment, the leave may be extended for up tm@8ths without causing the Participant to haveliredia Separation from Service.

(p) “Spouse” means the surviving spouse of a deckBarticipant.

(g) “Unrestricted Benefit” means the hypotheticahbfit to which a Participant would be entitled enthe Funded Plan if the Funded
Plan benefit were calculated in accordance withagsimptions set forth in Section 5.

Other terms, if not defined herein but definedha Funded Plan, shall have the same meaning as tedeunded Plan.

3.  Participation.

An Employee, if then still employed by the Compamyan Affiliate, will become a Participant in tH¥dan on January 1 of the calendar
year following the calendar year in which the Enygle's Unrestricted Benefit is greater than the Empedyactual benefit accrued under the
Funded Plan. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the @dttee shall limit the group of employees who beedparticipants in the Plan to a select
group of management and highly compensated empogsaletermined by the Committee in accordande RRISA.

4. Vesting.

A Participant’s entitlement to Pension RestoraBamefits hereunder vests and becomes nonforfeitaivleurrently, to the extent accrued
hereunder, with the vesting in the Participant’sdfi entitlement under the Funded Plan. If a Bgudint is not vested under the Funded Plan,
the Participant is not vested under this Plan.



5. Pension Restoration Bene.

(a) Eligibility . A Pension Restoration Benefit is payable to tagi€ipant only if (1) the Employee has become di€pant in accordanc
with Section 3, (2) the Participant is vested inaadance with Section 4, and (3) the Participalivisg on the Determination Date. Following
the Participant’s death, the only benefits payabkl be those, if any, payable in accordance @&ébtions 10 and 11.

(b) Formula Benefit The amount of a Participant’s Pension Restordienefit, when expressed in the form of a monthigle life
annuity, without survivor benefits, with paymentmmencing on the Participant’s Normal RetirementeDat equal to the difference between
(1) and (2) below:

(1) Unrestricted BenefitThe monthly benefit to which the Participant wibbbve been entitled under the Funded Plan, iS(&h
benefit was expressed in the form of a singlediauity, without survivor benefits, with paymentnomencing on the Participant’s
Normal Retirement Date, (B) such benefit was caliad (i) by disregarding the maximum compensaiioitdtion of Code Section 401
(a)(17), (ii) by disregarding the maximum benéfititation of Code Section 415, and (iii) by assugnihat all amounts voluntarily
deferred by the Participant into a non-qualifiefeded compensation plan of the Company or an iafélwere instead paid to the
Participant, in the year of the deferral, as curoash compensation; and

(2) Actual Funded Plan BenefiThe monthly benefit to which the Participantdsually entitled under the Funded Plan, when such
benefit is expressed in the form of a single Iifi@aity, without survivor benefits, with payment corencing on the Participant’s Normal
Retirement Date. The form or time of payment adyugbplicable to the Participant under the Fundkzah s disregarded.

6. Initial Payment Electiol.

(a) Payment Election as to Form of PaymeBach Employee who becomes a Participant pridatmary 1, 2009 shall make a payment
election whether to receive his or her vested bkeagf(1) a single sum cash payment, or (2) anigndistribution. A Participant who has
elected (or is deemed to have elected) the anpaitynent option is not required to elect the speédim of annuity at the time of making the
initial payment election, so long as the availdblens of annuity distribution are actuarially ecalient, with actuarial equivalence determined
using factors that are reasonable for purposedéGection 409A. If the available forms of annduiistribution are actuarially equivalent for
purposes of Code Section 409A, the Participant chapse the specific form of monthly annuity prioithe Determination Date, in accordance
with rules prescribed by the Committee.




(b) Date of Initial Payment Electian

() In the case of an Employee who became a Ppatitiprior to January 1, 2009, the initial paymaettion must be made on or
before December 31, 2008. Except as provided iti@e€, the last election on file with the CompamyDecember 31, 2008 shall be
irrevocable.

(i) In the case of an Employee who becomes a d?patit after December 31, 2008, the Participant bleadeemed to have electe
single sum cash payment.

(c) Default Initial Payment Electionlf an Employee who became a Participant prialaouary 1, 2009 has not made an initial payment
election within the prescribed period, the Partacipwill be deemed to have elected to receive amigndistribution.

(d) Payment Datelf payment is being made pursuant to a Parti¢ipanitial payment election, i.e., the Participdmats not submitted an
effective revision to his or her initial paymengetion, then:

(1) If payment is being made in a single sum, tagnfent Date will be the first day of the seventi ] fnonth following the month
in which occurs the Participant’s Separation froemv&e.

(2) If payment is being made as a monthly anntiitg,Payment Date will be the later to occur of {#9 first date of the month
coincident with or next following the Participantitainment of age fifty-five (55), or (B) the firday of the seventh 7) month
following the month in which occurs the Particigar@eparation from Service.

7. Revised Payment Electic.

In its sole discretion, the Committee may (but neetj permit a Participant who has in effect a pagitrelection (or deemed election) to
receive a single sum distribution to elect the dyrpayment option, or a Participant who has ireeffa payment election of the annuity
payment option to elect the single sum paymenbaptiowever, the Participant’s revised electiorl bé given effect only if (1) the
Participant’s revised payment election is submitted accepted by the Committee at least twelver(idths prior to what would have been
the Payment Date under the Participant’'s immedigigbr valid election, and (2) the revised Paynigate is the later of (i) five years from the
Payment Date under the Participant’s immediateilyrpalid election, or (ii) the Payment Date thaiudd otherwise apply under Section 6(d)
above if the Participant’s revised benefit electizare the Participant’s initial payment electioor purposes of Code Section 409A, an annuity
payment option is considered to be a single paymather than a series of independent payments.
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8. Distribution of Single Sum Benefits (For Participgilecting the Single Sum Form of Payme.
(a) Time of PaymentThe single sum benefit will be calculated ashef Determination Date but paid on the Payment Date.

(b) Amount of Single Sum Paymenthe amount of the Participant’s single sum casmpent shall be equal to (A) the present value of
the Participant’s monthly Pension Restoration Biemasfof the Determination Date, and (B) interestthe period from Determination Date
through the last day of the month preceding therigay Date. The present value determination shathdde on the assumption that two
hundred forty (240) consecutive monthly Pensionté&asion Benefit payments in the form of a single &nnuity would otherwise have been
made to the Participant and further assuming thginent of the benefit commenced on the later ofitheday of the month following the
Participant’s attainment of age fifty-five (55) thie Participant’s Determination Date. The Appliealiiterest Rate shall be used to determine
present value, including, when the assumed becmfiimencement date is later than the Determinatite,@liscounting the present value
determined as of the assumed commencement ddte fetermination Date, and for crediting interestf the Determination Date to the
Payment Date.

9. Distribution of Monthly Annuity Benefits (For Partpants Electing the Annuity Form of Payme.

(a) Monthly Benefits Commencing Prior to Januar2d09. The Pension Restoration Benefit of a Participambse benefit commences
to be paid, in an annuity form, prior to Januar@09, will be paid in the same form of paymentlaaple to the payment of benefits to the
Participant under the Funded Plan and such paymbatscommence at the same time as payments cocentehe Participant under the
Funded Plan; provided that to the extent requiradeu Code Section 409A, any distribution of thedt@am Restoration Benefit that would
otherwise occur during the six month period follogithe Participant’s Separation from Service dhalvithheld and paid to the Participant
(with interest at the Applicable Interest Rate) mpioe conclusion of such six month period. If agdic payment method other than a single
annuity form of payment is in effect under the FeahdPlan, the Participant’s benefit under this Blaall be converted to an actuarially
equivalent benefit in the form in which paymenb&ng made under the Funded Plan on the basi®diuhded Plan’s method of determining
actuarial equivalency. In addition, if the Partaip's benefit commencement date under this Planias to the Participans’ Normal Retiremer
Date, the benefit under this Plan shall be sultgeotduction on the same basis that the benefitdvoe subject to reduction for early
commencement if the benefit were being paid frommRbnded Plan.

(b) Monthly Benefits Commencing After December 3Q08. The Pension Restoration Benefit of a Participembse benefit commences
to be paid, in an annuity form, after December28)8, shall be calculated and paid as follows:

(1) Form of PaymentThe Participant may elect, in accordance witthstanditions as may be established by the Commiitee
receive payment in any form of annuity that wouddawailable to the Participant under the Funded Plihe Pension Restoration Benefit
were being paid under the Funded Plan rather thdenthis Plan; provided that the spousal consquirements under the Funded Plan
will not apply.
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(2) Calculation of Payment Amoun®he monthly annuity will be calculated as if pamhof the Pension Restoration Benefit
commenced on the Determination Date, even thougfabgayment of the benefit will commence on thgrifant Date in accordance w
subparagraph (3) below. If a periodic payment metthtbier than a single life annuity form of paymsntlected, the Participant’s benefit
under this Plan shall be converted to an actugrégjuivalent benefit in the form in which paymenbeing made under the Funded Plan
on the basis of the Funded Plan’s method of deténgiactuarial equivalency. In addition, if the fapant’s Determination Date is prior
to the Participant's Normal Retirement Date, thedii# under this Plan shall be subject to reductinrthe same basis that the benefit
would be subject to reduction for early commencerifehe benefit were being paid from the FundeanPThe Participant’s election of
the specific form of annuity must be made priotti® Determination Date, and the election becormesgadcable on the Determination
Date.

(3) Time of Payment The monthly benefit shall be paid beginning wétpayment on the Payment Date. The payment fantiveh
that includes the Payment Date will include (i) tegular monthly payment for the month that inclitlee Payment Date, (ii) a catch-up
payment for each such month from the month thdtides the Determination Date through the monthgaieg the Payment Date,
together with simple (non-compounded) interestachdanstaliment of the catalp payment, at the Applicable Interest Rate, fromdat:
on which the monthly payment otherwise would hagerbmade if payment of the monthly Pension Restor&enefit had commenced
on the Determination Date, to the last day of tloatin preceding the Payment Date. Thereafter, thmpat for each month will be the
regular monthly payment amount.

Death On or After Separation from Serv.
If a vested Participant dies on or after the déteioor her Separation from Service, the only iénéhat are payable under the Plan shall

be those, if any, that are payable in accordantie tié form of benefit payment applicable to thetiPipant. Thus:

(@) In the case of a Participant who has in eff@celection of the single sum payment form, thglsisum benefit, to the extent not paid

prior to the Participant’s death, will be paid be tParticipant’s Spouse, or if none, to the Paict’s estate, within 90 days of the Participant’s
death.

(b) In the case of a Participant who has not etettte single sum payment form, the death bendfad be those, if any, that are payable

under the form of annuity distribution applicabiethe Participant under this Plan. Benefit paymémthe Spouse or other recipient shall
commence on the Payment Date that would have ljgdicable to the Participant if he or she had swadi
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11. Death Prior to Separation from Serv.

(a) Death of Married Participant With Monthly AntyiBenefit Election Except as provided below with respect to a Piggitt who had
in effect an election of the single sum paymena, viested Participant dies before the Participa@isaration from Service and the Participant
has a Spouse who is eligible to receive a premtre surviving spouse benefit under the Funded, Blach Spouse shall be entitled to recei
preretirement surviving spouse benefit under thas PThe preretirement surviving spouse benefivioles monthly payments for the life of the
surviving Spouse commencing on the later to oc€gi) the first day of the month following the Piaipant’s death, or (i) the first day of the
month following the month in which the Participavduld have attained age fifty-five (55) had thetRgrant lived. The monthly preretirement
surviving Spouse benefit will be equal to the mgnfireretirement surviving Spouse benefit to whith Spouse would have been entitled, at
the benefit commencement date described in theepieg sentence, if the Participant’s Pension Rastor Benefit under this Plan had instead
been accrued under and payable from the FundeduBiag the Funded Plan’s methodology for deterngifireretirement surviving spouse
benefits, other than the Code Sections 401(a)@d¥4a5 limitations.

(b) Optional Lump Sum Paymenlf a vested Participant dies before the PartitijsaDetermination Date and the Participant has a S
who is eligible to receive a preretirement survivBpouse benefit under the Funded Plan, and Pé#ngcipant had in effect at the time of his or
her death a valid election to receive the PartitfisaPension Restoration Benefit as a single supmeat, any preretirement surviving spouse
benefit which is otherwise payable under this RBlaall be paid to the Participant’s surviving Spousthe form of a single sum cash amount.
The single sum cash amount shall be equal to #sept value of the monthly benefits described bsesation (a), above, and shall be
determined on the assumption that two hundred {@49) consecutive monthly benefit payments woudlgovise be made, commencing on
the later of the first day of the month followirtgetdate the deceased Participant would have attaige fifty-five (55) or the deceased
Participant’s Determination Date. The Applicabléehest Rate shall be used to determine preseng valciuding, when the assumed benefit
commencement date is later than the Determinatite,@liscounting the present value determined #seadissumed commencement date ti
Determination Date. Payment of the optional lumm stmount shall be completed within ninety (90) dimjyl®wing the Participant’s death.

(c) No Death Benefits in Other Circumstancéfsthe Participant dies before the Participantdsted in the Pension Restoration Benefi
if the Participant dies prior to the Participar@aparation from Service and the Participant doésae a surviving Spouse, no benefits are
payable hereunder.




12. Effect of Change of Control Eve.

(a) Prior to Separation from ServicH a Change of Control Event occurs while a Rgstint is actively employed by the Company or an
Affiliate, the Company may, in its sole discreti@stablish an irrevocable grantor trust, to beredtéto by the Company and the trustee
thereof, for the purpose of holding assets sulfficie fund some or all of the liability or contingdiability of the Company or applicable
Affiliate to pay benefits hereunder to the Partigip Funding of such irrevocable grantor (“rabhiljst shall be in the discretion of the Board,
subject to the restrictions on funding imposed lpgd€ Section 409A(b)(3).

(b) After Separation From Servicdf, after a Participant incurs a Separation fiéarvice, a Change of Control Event occurs (whiclsh
be considered an intervening event for purposé&ooe Section 409A that permits an acceleratioraghents), and the Participant has not yet
received all amounts due under the Plan, then tmpany shall (i) with respect to a Participant vilas a single sum payment election in
effect, pay the single sum payment amount, as lzaémliin accordance with the foregoing provisiohthe Plan, as soon as practicable (but no
more than 90 days) following the date of the Changeontrol Event, or (ii) with respect to a Paigiiant (or surviving Spouse or other
beneficiary of a deceased Participant where tha fafrbenefit applicable to the Participant provifasthe designation of a beneficiary) who is
receiving or entitled to receive periodic benefitgler the Plan, cash out, in single lump sum paymeount, the present value of any
remaining payments yet to be made to or on belialfeoParticipant. The present value of the pedgadiyments that would otherwise be made
shall be determined as of the first day of the rhdallowing the month in which the Change of Cohgent occurred. Present value shall be
based on the assumption that the recipient of thetimly payments being cashed out has the life é&peg assigned to a person of similar age
under the Funded Plan’s general mortality assumsgtised for funding purposes. If payments on bedfdtlie Participant have not yet
commenced as of the date of this determinatiomedent value, it shall be further assumed that gayswould have commenced on the later
of such date of determination of present valuédefrfirst day of the month following the fifty-fifthirthday of the Participant. The Applicable
Interest Rate shall be used to determine preséume viacluding, when the assumed benefit commenpedege is later than the date as of wi
present value is determined, discounting presdoevdetermined as of the payment commencementa#te date as of which it is being
determined.

13. Administration of the Pla.

The Committee shall administer and interpret ttePand supervise its operation. InterpretatiothefPlan by the Committee shall be
final and binding upon the Participant and any pgilegson or entity claiming benefits by virtue b&tParticipant’s participation in the Plan.

14. Claims Procedure.

(a) Initial Claim. If a Participant, Spouse or beneficiary (the ifdlant”) believes that he or she is entitled to a benefiieuthe Plan that
not provided, the claimant or his legal represéveathall file a written claim for such benefit tvithe Committee within
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ninety (90) days of the date payment could have biegely made in accordance with the terms of tlan Br under Regulations issued by the
Secretary of the Treasury under Code Section 408&.Committee shall review the claim and rendeddsision with respect to the claim
within one hundred thirty-five (135) days of the&lpayment could have been timely made in accoraiith the terms of the Plan or under
Regulations issued by the Secretary of the Treasudgr Code Section 409A. If the claimant’s clasmiénied in whole or part, the Committee
shall provide written notice to the claimant of Butenial. The written notice shall include the sfi@ceason(s) for the denial; reference to
specific Plan provisions upon which the denialdasdd; a description of any additional materiahéorimation necessary for the claimant to
perfect the claim and an explanation of why suckenie or information is necessary; and a des@iptf the Plan’s review procedures (as set
forth in subsection (b)) and the time limits apabite to such procedures, including a statemerte€laimant’s right to bring a civil action
under Section 502(a) of ERISA following an advedstermination upon review. If the claimant doesnegeive a written decision within the
time period(s) described above, the claim shatldé®med denied on the last day of such period(s).

(b) Request for AppealThe claimant has the right to appeal the Comaeiitdecision by filing a written appeal of the Coitiae’s
decision or deemed denial within one hundred eigh®p) days of the date payment could have beegltimade in accordance with the terms
of the Plan or under Regulations issued by theeBagr of the Treasury under Code Section 409A. claienant will have the opportunity, up
request and free of charge, to have reasonablssatez@nd copies of all documents, records and otfegmation relevant to the claimant’s
appeal. The claimant may submit written commerdsudhents, records and other information relatingisoclaim with the appeal. The
Committee will review all comments, documents, rdsaand other information submitted by the clainrefdting to the claim, regardless of
whether such information was submitted or considl@rghe initial claim determination. The Committ®all make a determination on the
appeal within sixty (60) days after receiving th&roant’s written appeafrovidedthat the Committee may determine that an additisixay
(60)-day extension is necessary due to circumssabegond the Committee’s control, in which evert@ommittee shall notify the claimant
prior to the end of the initial period that an exdi®n is needed, the reason therefor and the gatdich the Committee expects to render a
decision. If the claimant’'s appeal is denied in lehar part, the Committee shall provide writtenioeto the claimant of such denial. The
written notice shall include the specific reasorfigs)the denial; reference to specific Plan prawisi upon which the denial is based; a statemen
that the claimant is entitled to receive, upon esfand free of charge, reasonable access to gmnesarf all documents, records, and other
information relevant to the claimant’s claim; anstatement of the claimant’s right to bring a cagtion under Section 502(a) of ERISA. If the
claimant does not receive a written decision withiatime period(s) described above, the appedll sbaeemed denied on the last day of such
period(s).

(c) Special Ruleslf the claimant is a member of the Committee sidaration of the claim, whether the initial claima request for
review, and the decision with respect to any suaim; shall be made by the Human Resources Comaniftéhe Board.
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15. Amendmen.

The Company, by action of the Human Resources Ctieenif the Board, may at any time amend the Raiyding but not limited to
modifying the terms and conditions applicable toqtherwise eliminating) accrual of benefits orafter the amendment dagovided,
howeverthat no amendment may reduce or eliminate any desterued benefit accumulated to the date of somndment (except as the
benefit may be reduced as a result of increasttiamount payable under the Funded Plan) with®artcipant’s consent, except as
otherwise specifically provided herein. In addititmce Committee may at any time amend the Planakenadministrative changes, ministerial
changes, changes necessary to comply with appdidabi, or other changes that do not materiallycaffiee level of benefits provided under the
Plan.

16. Termination.

The Company, by action of the Human Resources Cteendf the Board, may terminate the Plan. Upomitgtion of the Plan, future
accrual of benefits shall cease. In addition, ufgomination of the Plan, Participant benefits maychshed-out in a manner consistent with
Section 12(b), but only if one of the following areet.

(a) The Plan is terminated within twelve (12) mantii a corporate dissolution taxed under Code &e&B1, or with the approval of a
bankruptcy court pursuant to 11 U.S.C. 8503(b)(},)&hd the amounts accrued under the Plan butetqiaid are distributed to the
Participants, Spouses or beneficiaries, as appiicaba single sum payment, regardless of anyibligion election then in effect, by the later
of: (A) the calendar year in which the Plan ternimmand liquidation occurs or (B) the first calangear in which an amount is no longer
subject to a substantial risk of forfeiture, or (B8 first calendar year in which the payment isauilstratively practicable.

(b) The Plan is terminated at any time during teeqal that begins thirty (30) days prior and enaslte (12) months following a Change
of Control Eventprovidedthat all arrangements required to be aggregatddtivit Plan (within the meaning of Code Section 40§#onsored
by the Company or an Affiliate are terminated agditdated with respect to each Participant thaeermced the Change in Control Event, so
that all participants under similar arrangemengsraquired to receive all amounts of compensatefarded under the terminated arrangements
within twelve (12) months of the date of terminatiaf the arrangements.

(c) The Plan is terminated at any other time, provithed such termination does not occur proximatedowanturn in the financie
health of the Company or an Affiliate. In such eyetl amounts accrued under the Plan but not gigt will be distributed to all
Participants, Spouses or beneficiaries, as appicaba single sum payment no earlier than twéh&) months (and no later than
twenty-four (24) months) after the date of termimt regardless of any distribution election therffect. This provision shall not
be effective unless all other plans required taggregated with this Plan under Code Section 408Aks0 terminated and
liquidated. Notwithstanding the foregoing, any paymthat woulc
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otherwise be paid during the twelve (12)-month@ebeginning on the Plan termination date purstetite terms of the Plan shall
be paid in accordance with such terms. In additioa, Company or any Affiliate shall be prohibitedrh adopting a similar
arrangement within three (3) years following théedaf the Plan’s termination, unless any individwlb was a Participant under
this Plan is excluded from participating thereunfdersuch three (3) year peric

17. Coordination of Pension Benefit Restoration Besefiith SERF.

The Pension Restoration Benefit hereunder and angflt entittements of the Participant under theléjaDavidson Pension
Supplemental Executive Retirement Plan shall bedinated so as to have the effect of being bengfisided by a single plan or program. As
a result, the same form of benefit payment is meguior benefits under each program, and the bisnadiyable under each program may be
combined into one payment or check.

18. Unfunded Agreemer.

The Plan is unfunded and is maintained by the Compamarily for the purpose of providing deferremmpensation for a select group
of management or highly compensated employees.ifNptiontained in the Plan and no action taken @nsto its terms shall create or be
construed to create a trust of any kind, or a figiycrelationship between the Company or an Affliand the Participant, or any other person.
The right of the Participant or any other persoermtity to receive benefits hereunder shall beraeaoured claim against the general assets of
Company or applicable Affiliate and neither thetRgrant nor any other person or entity shall hamg rights in or against any amounts which
may be earmarked by the Company or an Affiliaterither to implement the Plan or any other specBgets of the Company or an Affiliate.

19. Additional Section 409A Provisior.

(a) Accelerated Distribution Following Section 408Ailure. If an amount under this Plan is required to lmduided in a Participant’s
income under Code Section 409A prior to the dath sumount is actually distributed, the Participstmll receive a distribution, in a lump sum,
within ninety (90) days after the date it is filyatletermined that the Plan fails to meet the rexpénts of Code Section 409A. The distribution
shall equal the amount required to be includedhénRarticipant’s income as a result of such failure

(b) Permitted Delay in Paymenlf a distribution required under the terms oktRian would jeopardize the ability of the Companyf
an Affiliate to continue as a going concern, thempany or the Affiliate shall not be required to raauch distribution. Rather, the distribution
shall be delayed until the first date that makimg distribution does not jeopardize the abilityted Company or of an Affiliate to continue as a
going concern. Further, if any distribution pursutanthe Plan will violate the terms of Section B)6éf the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 or
other Federal securities laws, or any other apliplickaw, then the distribution shall be delayedluhé earliest date on which making the
distribution will not violate such law.
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(c) Disregard of Six Month DelayNotwithstanding anything herein to the contrafrat the time of a Participant’s Separation from
Service the stock of Harley-Davidson, Inc. or attyeo related entity that is considered a “servagpient” within the meaning of Section 40¢
of the Code is not traded on an established sesuntarket or otherwise, then the provisions ofRlen requiring that payments be delayed
until the first day of the seventh month followiBgparation from Service shall cease to apply. th ®vent, the payment (if a lump sum) or
initial payment (if an annuity) shall be made wittinety (90) days following the event triggeritng tbenefit payment(s).

20. Additional ERISA Provision.
The Committee is the named fiduciary. The Plamisinded. Direct payment is the basis of paymetewfefits under the Plan.

21. Tax Withholding.

The Company shall have the right to deduct from lzenyefit payment made hereunder, or from any @hesunt due a Participant, the
amount of cash sufficient to satisfy the Compamy’affiliate’s foreign, federal, state or local imme tax withholding obligations with respect
to such deferral (or vesting thereof) or paymemtddition, if prior to the date of distribution afly amount hereunder, the Federal Insurance
Contributions Act (FICA) tax imposed under Codet®exs 3101, 3121(a) and 3121(v)(2), where applieabécomes due, the Committee may
direct that the Participant’s benefit be reducedbyactuarially equivalent amount to reflect theoant needed to pay the Participant’s portion
of such tax.

22. Offset.

To the maximum extent permitted under Code Se@@9h, the Company shall have the right to offsethout the requirement of
obtaining the consent of the Participant (or hisi\&e or beneficiary, in the event of the Particijsatieath), from the benefits payable
hereunder any amount that the Participant owedse@bmpany or any Affiliate.

23. Assignmen.

The right of an employee or any other person tgpthanent of benefits under this Agreement shallbeodssigned, transferred, pledge
encumbered except to the extent provided in a fiphldlomestic relations order within the meanind\dicle XlII of the Funded Plan.
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24. Effect on Retirement Plar.

Any benefits accrued pursuant to the Plan shalbeadeemed compensation to the Participant foptineose of computing benefits uni
any qualified retirement plan or other benefit plahether qualified or nonqualified, which may beimained by the Company or an Affiliate.

25. Severability.
If any of the provisions of the Plan shall be hilde invalid, the remainder of the Plan shallmmaffected thereby.

26. Binding upon Successa.

This Agreement shall be binding upon and inuréolienefit of the Company, and its successors ssigres, and the Participant and the
Participant’s heirs, executors, administrators, lagdl representatives.

27. Governing Law.

The Plan shall be construed in accordance withgawedrned by the laws of the State of Wisconsinhetit reference to conflict of law
principles thereof, to the extent not preemptedeioleral law.

HARLEY-DAVIDSON MOTOR COMPANY GROUP,
INC.

By: /s/ Gail A. Lione

Title: Executive Vice President
Date: December 29, 2008
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HARLEY-DAVIDSON
RETIREE INSURANCE ALLOWANCE PLAN

Pursuant to resolutions adopted by the Human Ress@ommittee of the Board of Directors of Harlggvidson, Inc., certain executiy
may become eligible for a lump sum retiree insueagtowance. This benefit was originally implemehés a payment in lieu of post-
retirement life insurance.

To comply with the requirements of Code SectionAl(Bis desirable to adopt a formal plan documestset forth herein. The Plan is
intended to promote the best interests of the Compad its Affiliates by attracting and retainingykmanagement employees possessing a
strong interest in the successful operation ofGbhmpany and its Affiliates and encouraging theimtonued loyalty, service and counsel to the
Company and its Affiliates



ARTICLE |. DEFINITIONS AND CONSTRUCTION

Section 1.01. Definitions
The following terms have the meanings indicate@Wwalnless the context in which the term is usedrtjandicates otherwise:
(a) Administrator: The Retirement Plans Committppainted by the Board.

(b) Affiliate: Each corporation, trade or businéisat, with the Company, forms part of a controldgdup of corporations or group of
trades or businesses under common control witimteaning of Code Sections 414(b) or (c); provithed for purpose of determining when a
Participant has incurred a Separation from Sentieephrase “at least fifty percent (50%)” shallused in place of “at least eighty percent
(80%)” each place it appears in Code Section 41dkk)(c) and the regulations thereunder.

(c) Base Compensation: A Participant’s annual lsas&y rate, prior to reduction for pre-tax or efx contributions by the Participant
Employee to any qualified or non-qualified employpemefit plan maintained by a Participating Emptoyeit exclusive of extraordinary
payments such as overtime, bonuses, meal allowargedursed expenses, termination pay, moving gaypmuting expenses, severance pay,
non-elective deferred compensation payments ouats;rstock options, restricted stock or restrictiedk units, or the value of employer-
provided fringe benefits or coverage, all as deteehin accordance with such uniform rules, regoifet or standards as may be prescribed by
the Administrator.

(d) Beneficiary: The person or entity designatedtBarticipant to be his or her beneficiary forgmses of this Plan. If a beneficiary dies
before receiving all payments due such beneficiany,remaining payments will be made to the deséghbeneficiary’s estate unless a
contingent beneficiary was designated by the Rpalitt as to such amounts. If there is a contingengficiary payments will be made to the
contingent beneficiary and, if such contingent liierery dies, any remaining payments will be maaléhie contingent beneficiary’s estate. If
there is no beneficiary designation in force whiammenefits become payable upon the death oftecipant, payment shall be made to the
Participant’s current spouse, or if the Particidantot married or the spouse is not then liviegthie Participant’s estate. Beneficiary
designations shall be in writing, filed with the fdhistrator, be in such form as the Administrat@ynprescribe for this purpose, and shall
become effective only upon acknowledgement by tbmiistrator.



(e) Board: The Board of Directors of the Company.

(f) Code: The Internal Revenue Code of 1986, ajmeted by regulations and rulings issued purstleneto, all as amended and in
effect from time to time. Any reference to a spiegifrovision of the Code shall be deemed to inclkeference to any successor provision
thereto.

(g) Committee: The Human Resources Committee oBtieed of Directors of Harley-Davidson, Inc.
(h) Company: Harley-Davidson, Inc., or any succefisereto.

() ERISA: The Employee Retirement Income Secuity of 1974, as interpreted by regulations anchgsdiissued pursuant thereto, al
amended and in effect from time to time. Any refeeto a specific provision of ERISA shall be dedrweinclude reference to any successor
provision thereto.

(j) Participant: An employee who becomes a pargiotpn the Plan in accordance with Section 2.01.

(k) Participating Employer: The Company and eacfiliafe that, with the consent of the Administratorthe Committee, participates in
the Plan for the benefit of one or more Participant

() Retiree Insurance Allowance: The benefit ddsediin Section 3.01(a), consisting of both the ieetinsurance Base Amount and the
tax gross-up payment.

(m) Retiree Insurance Base Amount: The portiorhefRetiree Insurance Allowance described in cléi)s¥ Section 3.01(a), exclusive
of the tax gross-up payment.



(n) Separation from Service: The date on whichriddaant separates from service (within the megrmihCode Section 409A) from the
Company and all Affiliates. A Separation from See/bccurs when the Company and the Participanbmaddy anticipate that no further
services will be performed by the Participant fog Company and its Affiliates after that date @ttime level of bona fide services the
Participant will perform after such date as an eygé of the Company or an Affiliate will permangrdecrease to no more than 20% of the
average level of bona fide services performed byRarticipant (whether as an employee or indepératerractor) for the Company and its
Affiliates over the immediately preceding 36-mop#riod (or such lesser period of services). Théidhaant is not considered to have incurred
a Separation from Service if the Participant issab$rom active employment due to military leaviekdeave or other bona fide reason if the
period of such leave does not exceed the greai{@r ik months, or (ii) the period during whichetfParticipant’s right to reemployment by the
Company or an Affiliate is provided either by stator by contract; provided that if the leave o$etice is due to a medically determinable
physical or mental impairment that can be expetdedsult in death or last for a continuous penbdot less than six months, where such
impairment causes the Participant to be unabletfmpn the duties of his or her position of empl@mhor any substantially similar position of
employment, the leave may be extended for up tm@8ths without causing the Participant to haverireia Separation from Service.

(o) Specified Employee: A Participant who, as & tlate of the Participant’s Separation from Senigcegeated as a Specified Employee
in accordance with Code Section 409A and the roddesw. The Plan will identify Specified Employeexch year as of December 31, which
shall be the Plan’s Specified Employee identifimatilate. A Participant who is identified as of Dmber 31 as satisfying the requirements for
classification as a Specified Employee will be tiedeas a Specified Employee for the entire 12 mpetiod that begins on the April 1
following the December 31 Specified Employee id@gtion date and ends on the following March 31Pdxticipant satisfies the requirements
for classification as a Specified Employee if tlagtRipant, at any time during the 12-month peoding on the Specified Employee
identification date, is (i) an officer of the Comnmyaor an Affiliate having annual compensation frimta Company and its Affiliates of greater
than $130,000, as indexed; provided that no mae 80 employees, or if lesser, the greater of threl® percent of all employees, shall be
treated as officers, (ii) a five percent ownerhef Company or an Affiliate, or (iii) .a one perceminer of the Company or an Affiliate having
annual compensation from the Company and its Afé of greater than $150,000, as indexed, iraakg applied in accordance with the
regulations issued by the Secretary of the Treasndgr Code Section 409A.
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Section 1.02. Construction and Applicable Law

(a) Wherever any words are used in the masculiegy, shall be construed as though they were ustgkifeminine in all cases where tt
would so apply; and wherever any words are uskdrsingular or the plural, they shall be constragthough they were used in the plural or
the singular, as the case may be, in all casesanthey would so apply. Titles of articles and sectiare for general information only, and the
Plan is not to be construed by reference to sechst

(b) This Plan is intended to be a plan of defeo@thpensation maintained for a select group of mamaat or highly compensated
employees as that term is used in ERISA, and bkealhterpreted so as to comply with the applicabtpiirements thereof. In all other respects,
the Plan is to be construed and its validity debeeh according to the laws of the State of Wisaorfgithout reference to conflict of law
principles thereof) to the extent such laws arepgmeeémpted by federal law, and any action for bienahder the Plan or to enforce the terms of
the Plan shall be heard in the State of Wiscongithe court with jurisdiction over the claim. Inseaany provision of the Plan is held illegal or
invalid for any reason, the illegality or invaligitvill not affect the remaining parts of the Plant the Plan shall, to the extent possible, be
construed and enforced as if the illegal or invalidvision had never been inserted.

5



ARTICLE II. PARTICIPATION AND ELIGIBILITY FOR
RETIREE INSURANCE ALLOWANCE

Section 2.01. Participatian

Unless the Committee has promulgated differentlglity rules, a common law employee of a Partitipg Employer shall be a
Participant if the employee is (a) classified by Barticipating Employer as a General Manager oe WAresident, and (b) employed at the S80
career band level and above.

Section 2.02. Eligibility for the Separation Allonge Benefit

A Participant will be entitled to receive the Re&rinsurance Allowance if:

(a) The Participant satisfies the participatioruisgments set forth in Section 2.01 above immebigteor to his or her retirement for
reasons other than death;

(b) The Participant retires from active employmeith the Company and its Affiliates on or aftera@timent of age fifty-five (55) and
completion of five (5) or more years of servicer Eas purpose, a Participant’s service means(ihé case of a Participant hired prior to
August 1, 2006, the Participant’s service for vegspurposes that is recognized under the Retiredemtity Plan for Salaried Employees of
Harley-Davidson, and (ii) in the case of a Participhired on or after August 1, 2006, the Particijseservice for vesting purposes that is
recognized under the Retirement Savings Plan flari®éd Employees of Harley-Davidson, or any sucgesssuch plans.

(c) If the Participant dies after retirement bubpto receipt of the Retiree Insurance Allowartbe, Retiree Insurance Allowance will be
paid to the Participant’s Beneficiary. If the Peigiant dies prior to retirement, even if the Pgptaot is eligible to retire, no benefit is payable
under the Plan.



(d) The Retiree Insurance Allowance shall not cigié any other program of the Company or an Aféliander which the Executive may
be entitled to a payment in lieu of post-retireméatinsurance.



ARTICLE Ill. CALCULATION AND PAYMENT OF
RETIREE INSURANCE ALLOWANCE

Section 3.01. Amount of Retiree Insurance Allowance

(a) Amount. The Retiree Insurance Allowance shall be an amegual to the sum of (i) one times the ParticifsaBaise Compensation
immediately prior to the Participant’s retiremethte( Retiree Insurance Base Amount), and (ii) tRkegtass-up amount determined under
subsection (b) below.

(b) Tax Gross Up AmountThe tax gross-up amount is an additional amouch shat the net amount retained by the Particjpter
deduction for federal and state income taxes a@d\Find Medicare employment taxes on the Retiregrémee Base Amount, and any federal
and state income taxes and FICA and Medicare emm@aytaxes on the additional payment, shall edqi&Retiree Insurance Base Amount.
For purposes of determining the tax gross-up amaliatParticipant shall be deemed to pay fedemhistate income taxes at the highest
marginal rate of federal and state income taxatidhe calendar year in which the payment is tonagle.

Section 3.02. Payment

The Retiree Insurance Allowance shall be paid,simgle cash payment, within ninety (90) days felltg the Participant’s Separation
from Service; provided that if the Participant iSgecified Employee at the time of the ParticipeSteparation from Service, the distribution
shall be made on the first business day of the mfmitowing the month in which occurs the six moatimiversary of the date of the
Participant’'s Separation from Service. Notwithsiagdanything herein to the contrary, if at the tiofea Participant’s Separation from Service
the stock of Harley-Davidson, Inc. or any otheatedl entity that is considered a “service recigiwithin the meaning of section 409A of the
Code is not traded on an established securitiekehar otherwise, then the provisions of the Pkguiring that payments be delayed for six
months shall cease to apply, and in such evenpakment shall be made within ninety (90) dayofelhg the date of the Participant’s
Separation from Service.



ARTICLE IV. GENERAL PROVISIONS

Section 4.01. Administration

The Administrator shall administer and interpres Blan. The Administrator may, in its discretioaledjate any or all of its authority and
responsibility, and to the extent of any such datieq, any references herein to the Administratadldoe deemed references to such delegee;
provide that any such delegee shall not act inreomyministerial fashion in a matter affecting thredetjee’s own participation or interest in the
Plan. Interpretation of the Plan shall be withia fole discretion of the Administrator or the Corttea and shall be final and binding upon €
Participant and Beneficiary. The Administrator loe Committee may adopt and modify rules and reguatelating to the Plan as it deems
necessary or advisable for the administration efRfan. Further, the Administrator shall not acaity nonministerial fashion in any matter tl
affects one or more of the members of the commitiatis the Administrator (unless such action@fall Participants uniformly) and any
such action will be taken or decision made by tben@iittee.

Section 4.02. Claims Procedures

(a) If a Participant or Beneficiary (the “claimapbelieves that he is entitled to a benefit underRlan that is not provided, the claimant
or his or her legal representative shall file atteri claim for such benefit with the Administratoot later than ninety (90) days after the
payment (or first payment) is made (or should Haeen made) in accordance with the terms of the éHamaccordance with regulations iss
by the Secretary of the Treasury under Code Sed@A. Any such claim shall be filed in writing 8teg the nature of the claim, and the facts
supporting the claim, the amount claimed and theenand address of the claimant. The Administrdiall seview the claim. If the
Administrator denies the claim, it shall deliveithin one hundred thirty-five (135) days of theeal#te first payment was made (or should have
been made) in accordance with the terms of the @maccordance with regulations issued by the&ary of the Treasury under Code
Section 409A, a written notice of such denial decislf the claimant’s claim is denied in wholegmart, the Administrator shall provide written
notice to the claimant of such denial. The writterice shall include the specific reason(s) fordkaial; reference to specific Plan provisions
upon which the denial is based; a description gfadditional material or information necessarytfe claimant to perfect the claim and an
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explanation of why such material or informatioméexessary; and a description of the Plan’s revimggulures (as set forth in subsection (b))
and the time limits applicable to such procedureduding a statement of the claimant’s right tangra civil action under Section 502(a) of
ERISA following an adverse determination upon rewvie

(b) The claimant has the right to appeal the Adstiator’s decision by filing a written appeal t@ tAdministrator within 180 days after
the payment (or first payment) is made (or shoaldehbeen made) in accordance with the terms d®ldre or in accordance with regulations
issued by the Secretary of the Treasury under Ged&on 409A. The claimant will have the opportynitpon request and free of charge, to
have reasonable access to and copies of all dodamrenords and other information relevant to th@want’'s appeal. The claimant may sub
written comments, documents, records and otherrimdiion relating to his or her claim with the app@&e Administrator will review all
comments, documents, records and other informatibmitted by the claimant relating to the clainganelless of whether such information
was submitted or considered in the initial claintetimination. The Administrator shall make a detexation on the appeal within 60 days after
receiving the claimant’s written appeal; providbdttthe Administrator may determine that an addéi®0-day extension is necessary due to
circumstances beyond the Administrasotontrol, in which event the Administrator shaitify the claimant prior to the end of the initjaériod
that an extension is needed, the reason therefbth@date by which the Administrator expects taler a decision. If the claimant’s appeal is
denied in whole or part, the Administrator shathyide written notice to the claimant of such denfde written notice shall include the spec
reason(s) for the denial; reference to specifioPi@visions upon which the denial is based; @stant that the claimant is entitled to receive,
upon request and free of charge, reasonable aticass copies of all documents, records, and otfiermation relevant to the claimant’s
claim; and a statement of the claimant’s righttiadpa civil action under Section 502(a) of ERISA.

10



Section 4.03. Participant Rights Unsecured

(a) Unsecured ClaimThe right of a Participant or the ParticipantasrBficiary to receive a distribution hereunder lshalan unsecured
claim, and neither the Participant nor any Benaficshall have any rights in or against any ameuedited to his or her Account or any other
specific assets of a Participating Employer. Thetrof a Participant or Beneficiary to the paymefibenefits under this Plan shall not be
assigned, encumbered, or transferred, except bymthe laws of descent and distribution. The tsghf a Participant hereunder are exercisable
during the Participant’s lifetime only by the Peipiant or his or her guardian or legal represergati

(b) Contractual ObligationThe Company may authorize the creation of a usther arrangements to assist it in meetingtilgations
created under the Plan. However, any liabilityrig person with respect to the Plan shall be basktlysupon any contractual obligations that
may be created pursuant to the Plan. No obligatfaParticipating Employer shall be deemed todmeiged by any pledge of, or other
encumbrance on, any property of a Participating lBygs. Nothing contained in this Plan and no actadten pursuant to its terms shall create
or be construed to create a trust of any kind, fidfuciary relationship between a Participating Bogpr and any Participant or Beneficiary, or
any other person.

Section 4.04. Distributions for Tax Withholding aRdyment

(a) Notwithstanding the time or schedule of payreertherwise applicable to the Participant, the Adstiator may direct that distributi
from a Participant’s vested Account be made (pPag the Federal Insurance Contributions Act (FI€&)imposed under Code Sections 3101,
3121(a) and 3121(v)(2) with respect to compensatafarred under the Plan, (ii) to pay the incomxeatiasource on wages imposed under Code
Section 3401 or the corresponding withholding psmris of applicable state, local, or foreign taxdaas a result of the payment of FICA taxes,
and (iii) to pay the additional income tax at s@uon wages attributable to the “pyramiding” of C&@betion 3401 wages and taxes; provided
that the total amount distributed under this prisvisnust not exceed the aggregate of the FICA takthe income tax withholding related to
such FICA tax.
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(b) The amount actually distributed to the Parficipin accordance with the time or schedule of paymsapplicable to the Participant \
be reduced by applicable tax withholding exceghtextent such withholding requirements previougdye satisfied in accordance with
subsection (a) above.

Section 4.05. Amendment or Termination of Plan

(&) There shall be no time limit on the duratiorthef Plan.

(b) The Company, by action of the Human Resouragar@ittee of the Board, may at any time amend onitgate the Plan; provided,
however, that no amendment or termination may redueliminate the undistributed benefit payablerton behalf of a Participant who reti
with an entitlement to a Retiree Insurance Allowapdor to the date on which such action to amartéroninate the Plan is adopted.
Termination of the Plan will not operate to accaterdistribution in violation of Code Section 409A.

Section 4.06. Administrative Expenses
Costs of establishing and administering the Pldhbeipaid by the Participating Employers.

Section 4.07. Successors and Assigns

This Plan shall be binding upon and inure to theelfieof the Participating Employers, their sucogssand assigns and the Participants
and their heirs, executors, administrators, andllegpresentatives.

Section 4.08. Right of Offset

To the extent that such action does not violateeC®elction 409A, the Participating Employers shallehthe right to offset from the
benefits payable hereunder (and at the time sucéfibevould otherwise be payable) any amount thatRarticipant owes to the Company o
Affiliate or other entity in which the Company an Affiliate maintains an ownership interest. Thésef shall be applied so as to include, but
shall not be limited to, any fines, penalties, dgesor any other amounts (including attorneys’)f@aposed on or paid by the Company or
Affiliate as a result of any conduct of the Pagamt during the Participant’s employment. The Comypaay effectuate the offset without the
consent of the Participant (or the Participantsuse or Beneficiary, in the event of the Partici{sadeath).
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Section 4.09. Not a Contract of Employment
This Plan may not be construed as giving any petfsemight to be retained as an employee of the g2my or any Affiliate.

Section 4.10. Miscellaneous Distribution Rules

(a) Accelerated Distribution Following Section 408Ailure. If an amount under this Plan is required to lduided in a Participant’s
income under Code Section 409A prior to the datd sumount is actually distributed, the Participstmdll receive a distribution, in a lump sum,
within ninety (90) days after the date it is filyafletermined that the Plan fails to meet the rexménts of Code Section 409A. The distribution
shall equal the amount required to be includedhénRarticipant’s income as a result of such failure

(b) Permitted Delay in Paymenlf a distribution required under the terms oktRian would jeopardize the ability of the Companyf
an Affiliate to continue as a going concern, thempany or the Affiliate shall not be required to raauch distribution. Rather, the distribution
shall be delayed until the first date that makimg distribution does not jeopardize the abilityref Company or of an Affiliate to continue as a
going concern. Further, if any distribution purstanthe Plan will violate the terms of Sectiond6¢f the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 or
other Federal securities laws, or any other apliplickaw, then the distribution shall be delayedluhé earliest date on which making the
distribution will not violate such law.

HARLEY-DAVIDSON MOTOR COMPANY GROUP,
INC.

By: /s/ Gail A. Lione

Title: Executive Vice Presidel

Date: December 29, 200
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Exhibit 10.14

HARLEY-DAVIDSON, INC.
DEFERRED COMPENSATION PLAN FOR NONEMPLOYEE DIRECTOR S

(As Amended and Restated Effective January 1, 2009)

Concept

Harley-Davidson, Inc. (the “Company”) created tRlan, effective as of May 1, 1995, to assist norleyge directors of the Company to defer
income, other than income payable under the Hdbayidson, Inc. Director Stock Plan (the “Stock P)anontil retirement, death, or other
cessation of service as member of the Board ofdiire of the Company. The Plan is amended andteelsédfective January 1, 2009, to
conform the terms of the Plan with the requirementSection 409A of the Internal Revenue Code @6l%s amended (the “Code”).

Administrator

The Nominating and Corporate Governance CommittéleeoBoard of Directors of the Company is the Adistirator of the Plan.

Definitions

a. Affiliate : Each corporation, trade or business that, wighGbmpany, forms part of a controlled group of ocoagions or group of
trades or businesses under common control witimteaning of Code Sections 414(b) or (c); provithed for purpose of determining
when a nonemployee director has incurred a Separfitm Service, the phrase “at least fifty perd@®®o)” shall be used in place of “at
least eighty percent (80%)” each place it appeafddde Section 414(b) and (c) and the regulatioeetinder.

b. Board: The Board of Directors of the Company.

c. Change of Control EventA change of control event as defined in regulaipromulgated by the Secretary of the Treasury for
purposes of Code Section 409A, with respect todyablavidson, Inc.

d. Separation from ServiceThe date on which a nonemployee director cesswics as a director of the Company and all Afféi
provided that such cessation of service constitatesparation from service for purposes of Cod¢éi@ed09A.

Eligibility
Directors of the Company who are not employeeti®fC@ompany“nonemployee directc”) are eligible under the Pla



Participation Requirements

A nonemployee director must complete a Deferred @amation Agreement in order to defer compensatimter the Plan. A nonemployee
director who executes a Deferred Compensation Ageee is referred to as a participant until all &f &r her benefits hereunder are paid in

Compensation Deferral

A Deferred Compensation Agreement under the Pldmat apply to compensation that a nonemployeedatiar elects to receive in the form of
shares of common stock of the Company under Se¢tibof the Stock Plan. Each Deferred Compens#&geement must specify the
percentage of the participastAnnual Retainer Fee that would otherwise be pagdish and that is to be deferred, which percentagy be on
hundred percent (100%), fifty percent (50%), oredror purposes of the Plan, the term “Annual RetalFee” means the annual retainer fee
then in effect for service by the participant afiractor, board committee chair and/or committeenoer.

a. Initial Deferral Election. A nonemployee director may make an initial defeelection within 30 days of the date on whiclohe
she first becomes a nonemployee director. If a mphe@yee director does not make a deferral eleatimmng this period, the director will
be deemed to have made a deferral election to defer of the cash portion of the director’'s AnnRatainer Fee. A nonemployee
director’s initial deferral election (i) must bewriting and delivered to the Treasurer of the Camp (ii) shall apply with respect to the
portion of the director’s Annual Retainer Fee tisab be paid in cash and that will be earned ahadter the date the Treasury of the
Company receives the election, and (iii) shall renia effect from year-to-year thereafter unlesdified or revoked by a subsequent
deferral election that becomes effective in accocdavith the provisions hereof.

b. Revised Deferral ElectionExcept to the extent that the Company is perohigied elects to give earlier effect to a nonempmoye
director’'s modification or revocation to his or loeferral election in accordance with regulatiorenulgated by the Secretary of the
Treasury under Code Section 409A, a nonemployeetdir's deferral election, once effective with resipto a calendar year, may not be
revoked or modified for that calendar year. A nop&yee director may revoke or modify his or hemtloeirrent deferral election by filii
a revised deferral election form, properly compleaad signed, with the Treasurer of the Companyvéder, except to the extent that the
Company is permitted and elects to give earliezaffo a nonemployee director’s revised electioadoordance with regulations
promulgated by the Secretary of the Treasury uGdele Section 409A, the revised deferral electidhlv@icome effective on January 1
the calendar year following the calendar year duviich the revised deferral election is received accepted by the Treasurer of the
Company, or as soon thereafter as is administigtpracticable. A nonemployee director’s revisefedal election, once effective, shall
remain in effect until again modified by the nonéoyee director or otherwise revoked in accordanitk the provisions hereof.
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Deferred Benefit Account

The Company will establish on its books a DefeBedefit Account for each nonemployee director exiegua Deferred Compensation
Agreement. Deferred compensation shall be credite¢his account as of the date on which such cosgtém is deemed to accrue to the
nonemployee director. Distributions shall be chdrgethis account as they are made.

Participant Investment Directions

Prior to July 1, 2001, interest at the Plan’s iastrate was credited to the account of each nologew director as of the last day of each
month. Interest was calculated by applying the Blarterest rate to the balances of the accourduah date including distributions to be
deducted on that date. The Plan’s interest ratextma each 12 consecutive calendar months erafiteg September 1, the Moody’s Long
Term Bond Rate in effect on such September 1 @tast business day immediately preceding suchifiiaie a Saturday, Sunday, or holiday)
divided by 12.

Effective July 1, 2001, each nonemployee directbegerred Benefit Account shall be deemed to bested in investment options made
available by the Administrator and selected byrtbeemployee director, in accordance with Admintstraules and procedures uniformly
applied.

The Administrator shall select and may prospedgigblange the investment options to be availablgéoticipant investment direction under
the Plan and the number of times each year (nstfes one) that participants may change investdiesittions. Any new or revised
participant investment direction, completed in ademce with Administrator rules, shall apply toatmipant’'s entire Deferred Benefit
Account. The authorized representative of a deckpaHicipants estate may provide investment directions afteidgath of the participant a
in accordance with the provisions of the Plan.

No Trust Fund Created

A participant’s Deferred Benefit Account is a meahsneasuring the value of the participant’s defércompensation. The account does not
create a trust fund of any kind. Any assets earathldy the Company to pay benefits under the Plaait ddl times remain with the Company
participant has no property interest in specifitets of the Company because of the Plan. The righte participant, or an estate, to benefits
under the Plan shall be solely those of an unsdatneditor of the Company.

Statement of Account

Following the close of each year the Company witvide statements of account to each participant.
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Distribution of Deferred Benefit Account

Except as provided in Paragraph d, upon a nonerapldirector’s Separation from Service for any reaso upon the occurrence of a
Change of Control Event, the Company will make pegta to the nonemployee director (or, in the césbendeath of the nonemployee
director, to his or her beneficiary designateddocadance with the Plan or, if no such beneficiargesignated, to his or her estate), as
compensation for prior service as a director, speet of the nonemployee director’'s Deferred Berafcount.

a.Form of PaymentsAt the time that a nonemployee director first makekeferral election under this Plan or first makekeferral
election under the Stock Plan, whichever occurkezathe nonemployee director shall make a payrmeésttion which shall govern
distribution of both the nonemployee director’s &reéd Benefit Account under this Plan and the nguleyee director’'s Deferral Share
Account under the Stock Plan. In such paymentielecthe nonemployee director may elect to havermts made either in (i) a single
payment, or (i) annual installments. Under theédhment payment option, the nonemployee directay select the number of years over
which benefits are to be paid to the nonemployescthr, up to a maximum of 5 years. The paymeribomlected shall apply to the
nonemployee director’s entire Deferred Benefit Aattounder this Plan and the nonemployee’s direstentire Deferral Share Account
under the Stock Plan. The installment payment apdimes not apply upon the occurrence of a Chan@®ofrol Event. A nonemployee
director who fails to make a payment election wébpect to the nonemployee direcsdDeferred Benefit Account under this Plan anc
nonemployee directas’Deferral Share Account under the Stock Planifgrrtion of such accounts) shall be deemed te ledected th
single payment option. Prior to January 1, 2008 memployee director may change his or her payslestion by filing a revised
payment election form, properly completed and sigméth the Treasurer of the Company; provided thegvised election submitted
during calendar year 2006, 2007 or 2008 (includivegelection described in Paragraph d. below) nmyperate to defer into a
subsequent calendar year the distribution of ansotinatt otherwise would have been paid in the calepdar in which the revised elect
is submitted, or to accelerate into the calendar yrewhich the revised election is submitted antstinat otherwise were scheduled for
distribution in a subsequent calendar year. Onadited January 1, 2009, a nonemployee director magifynhis or her distribution
election (or deemed distribution election) onlyijfthe revised distribution election is submittedhe Treasurer of the Company at least
twelve (12) months prior to the first scheduledpayt date under the nonemployee director’s therentidistribution election and the
revised election is not given effect for twelve Yh2onths after the date on which the revised elads submitted, and (ii) except as
permitted under Code Section 409A, payment purstaetfie revised distribution election is deferreddt least five (5) years from the
date payment would otherwise have been made uhderanemployee director’s prior distribution elentiFor purposes of applying the
rules of Code Section 409A, a series of installnpaytments will be considered a single payment form.

b. If the nonemployee director has elected thelsipgyment option, then the Company will make payne the nonemployee
director in respect of the nonemployee directorsddired Benefit Account within 30 days after the efithe calendar quarter in which
occurs the nonemployee director’'s Separation frenvie. In addition, the Company will make paymienthe nonemployee director in
respect of the nonemployee director’s Deferred BeAecount within 30 days following the occurrencgéa Change of Control Event.
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c. If the nonemployee director has elected thallméent payment option, then the first installmeilt be made within 30 days after
the end of the calendar quarter in which occursiireemployee director’'s Separation from Service, @ach subsequent installment shall
be paid in July of each calendar year following¢h&ndar year in which the first installment isdp@ the nonemployee director during
the installment period. The annual installment pagtamount for any calendar year shall be detemnyedividing the value of the
nonemployee director’'s Deferred Benefit Accountdpplicable portion) as of January 1 of the yeamfbich the payment is being made
by the number of installment payments remainingganade, and then rounding the quotient obtainedlfdut the final installment to
the next lowest whole dollar; provided that theafimstallment shall be the entire undistributethbee in the nonemployee director’s
Deferred Benefit Account. The Post-2004 DeferreddBié Account shall remain subject to participantéstment direction (and
adjustment for deemed investment gain or losshdutie installment payment period.

d. Notwithstanding anything in the Plan to the cant and in accordance with transition rules punadis by the Internal Revenue
Service for purposes of Code Section 409A, on foreeDecember 31, 2008, a nonemployee directoriwlactive service on the
Board of Directors may elect to have the portiomigfor her vested Deferred Benefit Account unter Plan and the portion of the
nonemployee director’s Deferral Share Account uniderStock Plan as of December 31, 2008, togetfiardeemed gains or losses from
December 31, 2008 through the last day of the dalequarter (the “valuation date”) selected byritbeemployee director, distributed to
the nonemployee director in a single sum paymeistribution will be made within thirty (30) dayslfowing the valuation date
designated by the nonemployee director. The vanatate selected by a nonemployee director mutitebkast day of a calendar quarter
no earlier than June 30, 2009. A nonemployee direcelection shall not be recognized if the effeicthe election would be to defer
amounts that would otherwise be distributable i6&fbr distribution into 2009 or subsequent years.

Hardship Payments

The Administrator may, in its sole discretion, ugba finding that the nonemployee director hasesefl an “unforeseeable emergency” ,
distribute to the nonemployee director part ooélhe nonemployee director’'s Deferred Benefit Aatp as needed to meet the nonemployee
director’s need. An “unforeseeable emergency” meassvere financial hardship to the nonemployesctbr resulting from an illness or
accident of the nonemployee director, the nonengaalirector’'s spouse, or the nonemployee directiprendent (as defined in Internal
Revenue Code Section 152(a) without regard to &est152(b)(1), (b)(2), and (d)(1)(B)), loss of titmemployee director’s property due to
casualty, or other similar extraordinary and ungeemable circumstances arising as a result of ebegtnd the control of the nonemployee
director. The amount authorized by the Administrébo distribution with respect to an emergency mayexceed the amounts necessary to
satisfy the emergency plus amounts necessary ttegag reasonably
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anticipated as a result of the distribution, aféding into account the extent to which such hagpd&hor may be relieved through
reimbursement or compensation by insurance or wikeror by liquidation of the nonemployee direcsaassets, to the extent that liquidatio
such assets would not itself cause severe finaharaship.

Designation of Beneficiary

Each participant entitled to any payments fromdniber Deferred Benefit Account from time to timayrdesignate a beneficiary or
beneficiaries to whom any such payments are tcaimkip case of the participant’s death before pgogfi any or all of such payments. Any
designation will revoke all prior designations by tparticipant, shall be in a form prescribed ey @ompany and will be effective only when
filed by the participant, during his or her lifemin writing with the Treasurer of the CompanyfdRences in the Plan to a participant’s
“beneficiary” at any date shall include such pessdasignated as concurrent beneficiaries on tleetdir's beneficiary designation form then in
effect. In the absence of any such designationpafgnce remaining in a participant’s Deferred Biédecount at the time of the participant’s
death shall be paid to such participant’s estate.

Assignment
A participant may not assign the right to receieadfits under the Plan.

Not a Contract to Continue as Director
This Plan may not be construed as giving any petfsemight to be retained as a director of the Camyp

Taxes
The Company may withhold from all benefit paymearty amounts which may be required to be withhelttuapplicable tax laws.

Amendment and Termination

The Company may, at any time, by action of the N@tihg Committee of the Board of Directors of then@pany, amend the Plan, with
prospective effect, or terminate the Plan. The Camygmay not, however, reduce any benefit payments bn behalf of a nonemployee
director based on deferrals already made, withmihbnemployee director’s consent.

Distribution of Benefits Following Plan Termination
Termination of the Plan will operate to accelegigtribution of benefits only to the extent permittunder Code Section 409A, including:

a. The Plan is terminated within twelve (12) mordgha corporate dissolution taxed under Code Se@81, or with the approval of
a bankruptcy court pursuant to 11 U.S.C. 8503()1)and the amounts accrued under the Plan buetqtaid are distributed to
nonemployee directors or their beneficiaries, gdiegble, in a single sum payment, regardless gf an
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distribution election then in effect, by the late&t(1) the last day of the calendar year in whtod Plan termination and liquidation
occurs, (2) the last day of the calendar year iitiwvthe amount is no longer subject to a substanisiaof forfeiture, or (3) the last day of
the first calendar year in which payment is adntiatésely practicable.

b. The Plan is terminated at any other time, predithat such termination does not occur proximatedownturn in the financial
health of the Company or an Affiliate. In such gyetl amounts accrued under the Plan but not gigt will be distributed to all
nonemployee directors and their beneficiaries pplicable, in a single sum payment no earlier tiwaglve (12) months (and no later than
twenty-four (24) months) after the date of termimat regardless of any distribution election therffect. This provision shall not be
effective unless all other plans required to beraggted with this Plan under Code Section 409/ats®@ terminated and liquidated.
Notwithstanding the foregoing, any payment that ifatherwise be paid during the twelve (12)-monghigd beginning on the Plan
termination date pursuant to the terms of the Bhaail be paid in accordance with such terms. Iritead the Company or any Affiliate
shall be prohibited from adopting a similar arramgat within three (3) years following the dateloé Plan’s termination, unless any
individual who was eligible under this Plan is extgd from participating thereunder for such thBeyéar period.

Except as provided in Paragraphs a. and b. aboae otherwise permitted in regulations promulgégthe Secretary of the Treasury under
Code Section 409A, any action that terminates tar But that does not qualify for accelerated tistion under Code Section 409A shall
instead be construed as an amendment to discoritirther benefit accruals, but the Plan will congrto operate, in accordance with its terms
as from time to time amended and in accordance agithicable elections by the nonemployee direetith respect to the nonemployee
director’s benefit accrued through the date of teation, and in no event shall any such action prtipg to terminate the Plan form the basis
for accelerating distributions to the nonemploygedor or a beneficiary.

Construction
The Plan is to be construed under the laws of thge ®f Wisconsin, without reference to conflictiadv principles thereof.

Binding Agreement
This Plan is binding upon the Company and partitipand their respective successors, assigns, Beesutors, and beneficiaries.

Miscellaneous Section 409A Rules

a.Accelerated Distribution Following Section 409A k¢ . If an amount under this Plan is required to lméuided in a
nonemployee director’s income under Code Secti@A4frior to the date such amount is actually disttéd, the nonemployee director
shall receive a distribution, in a single sum, withinety (90) days after the date it is finalljtelenined that the Plan fails to meet the
requirements of Code Section 409A. The distribusiball equal the amount required to be includettiénnonemployee director’s income
as a result of such failure.




b. Permitted Delay in Paymentf a distribution required under the terms oftRian would jeopardize the ability of the Compan
of an Affiliate to continue as a going concern, @@mpany or the Affiliate shall not be requiredriake such distribution. Rather, the
distribution shall be delayed until the first détat making the distribution does not jeopardizedhility of the Company or of an
Affiliate to continue as a going concern. Furthkany distribution pursuant to the Plan will vitdethe terms of Section 16(b) of the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934 or other Federalsiges laws, or any other applicable law, them distribution shall be delayed until
the earliest date on which making the distributidl not violate such law.

This amended and restated Plan is executed pursuanthorization of the Board of Directors of thempany.
HARLEY-DAVIDSON, INC.
By: /s/ Gail A. Lione

Title: Executive Vice Presidel

Date: December 29, 200




HARLEY-DAVIDSON, INC.
SUBSIDIARIES

Name
H-D Michigan, LLC
Harley-Davidson Motor Company Group, LL
Harley-Davidson Motor Company Operations, |
H-D Franklin, LLC
H-D Tomahawk Somo, LL(
H-D Tomahawk Industrial Park, LL
H-D Tomahawk Kaphaem Road, LL
H-D Capitol Drive, LLC
H-D Pilgrim Road, LLC
Harley-Davidson Motor Company, In
Harley-Davidson Museum, LL(
Buell Distribution Company, LL(
H-D F&R, LLC
HASC, LLC
MV Agusta USA LLC
H-D Group LLC
Revolution PowerTrain LL(
Buell Motorcycle Company, LL(
Harley-Davidson Transportation Co., Ir
HDWA, LLC
HDMC, LLC
Harley-Davidson Dealer Systems, Ir
Harley-Davidson International Holding Co., Ir
Harley-Davidson Holding Co., Inc
Harley-Davidson Benelux B.V
Harley-Davidson France SA
Harley-Davidson GmbF
Harley-Davidson Japan Kl
Harley-Davidson Europe Limite
Harley-Davidson do Brazil Ltde
Harley-Davidson Singapore In
Harley-Davidson Australia Pty. Limite
H-D Hong Kong Limitec
Lockglade Limitec
Harley-Davidson Espana S.
Harley-Davidson Switzerland Gmb
Harley-Davidson Asia, Inc
New Castalloy Pty. Limite:
Harley-Davidson De Mexico, S. De R.L. De C.
Harley-Davidson De Mexico Management, S. De R.L. De (
Harley-Davidson Middle East and Africa Pty. Limit
H-D Varese Holding Co. S.r.
Harley-Davidson Italia S.r.lI
MV Agusta Motor S.p.A

Exhibit 21

State/Country
Of

Incorporation

Michigan
Wisconsin
Wisconsin
Wisconsin
Wisconsin
Wisconsin
Wisconsin
Wisconsin
Wisconsin
Wisconsin
Wisconsin
Wisconsin
Wisconsin
Wisconsin

Pennsylvani
Illinois

Delaware
Wisconsin

Delaware
Wisconsin

Illinois
Ohio
Wisconsin
Delaware
Netherlands
France
Germany
Japar
England
Brazil

Delaware

Australia
Hong Kong
England
Spain
Switzerland
Wisconsin
Australia
Mexico
Mexico
South Africe
Italy
Italy
Italy



C.R.C. SA
Cagiva Motor Suisse S
MVA Motor Deutschland Gmbt
Renovation Realty Investment Services,
HR, LLC
HR Holding Corp.
Harley-Davidson Financial Services, Ir
Harley-Davidson Insurance Services, i
Harley-Davidson Credit Cory
Harley-Davidson Insurance Services of lllinois, i
Harley-Davidson Customer Funding Cc
Harley-Davidson Funding Corj
Eaglemark Savings Bar
Harley-Davidson Leasing, Int
Eaglemark Customer Funding Corpora-IV
Harley-Davidson Warehouse Funding Cao
Harley-Davidson Financial Services International, |

Harley-Davidson Financial Services Europe Limi

Harley-Davidson Financial Services Canada,
H-D Aircraft Financial Services, In

Italy
Switzerlanc
Germany
Wisconsin
Indiana
Wisconsin
Delaware
Nevada
Nevada
Illinois
Nevada
Nevada
Nevada
Nevada
Nevada
Nevada
Delaware
England
Canade
Delaware



Exhibit 23

Consent of Independent Registered Public Accourking

We consent to the incorporation by reference ifdlewing Registration Statements:

1)

(@)
3)
(4)

(5)

(6)

(7)
(8)

Registration Statement (Form S-8 No. 33-3353f Harley-Davidson, Inc. pertaining to the HarlBgvidson Retirement Savings Plan
for Salaried Employees, the Harl®avidson Retirement Savings Plan for Milwaukee @ochahawk Hourly Bargaining Unit Employe
and the Holiday Rambler LLC Employees RetiremeahF

Registration Statement (Forn-8 No. 33:-07551) pertaining to the Harl-Davidson, Inc. 1995 Stock Option Pl
Registration Statement (Forn-8 No. 33:-51741) pertaining to the Harl-Davidson, Inc. Director Stock Pla

Registration Statement (Forn-8 No. 33:-75347) pertaining to the Harl-Davidson, Inc. 1998 N«-Exempt Employee Stock Optic
Plan;

Registration Statement (Forn-8 Nos. 33-93879 and 33-123406) of Harle-Davidson, Inc. pertaining to the Har-Davidson
Retirement Savings Plan for Salaried EmployeesHtrdey-Davidson Retirement Savings Plan for Milwee and Tomahawk Hourly
Bargaining Unit Employees, the Harley-Davidson Rtient Savings plan for Kansas City Hourly Bargairiunit Employees, the
Harley-Davidson Retirement Savings Plan for YorkuHp Bargaining Unit Employees and the Buell Motarie Company Retirements
Savings Plan

Registration Statement (Form S-8 No. 333-60&&B)aining to the Harley-Davidson, Inc. 2001 Y ét&urly-Paid Employees Stock
Option Plan;

Registration Statement (Forn-8 No. 33:-123405) pertaining to the Harl-Davidson, Inc. 2004 Incentive Stock Plan; i
Registration Statement and (Fori-3 No. 33:-156060) of Harle-Davidson, Inc. and in the related Prospe:

of our reports dated February 16, 2009, with ressfzethe consolidated financial statements andduleeof Harley-Davidson, Inc. and the
effectiveness of internal control over financigbeeting of Harley-Davidson, Inc., included in tiisnual Report (Form 10-K) for the year
ended December 31, 2008.

/sl Ernst & Young LLP
Milwaukee, WI
February 16, 2009



Exhibit 31.1

Chief Executive Officer Certification
Pursuant to Rule 1384(a) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934

[, James L. Ziemer, certify that:

1. I have reviewed this annual report on Forn-K of Harley-Davidson, Inc.
2. Based on my knowledge, this report does notaiomny untrue statement of a material fact or améttate a material fact necessary to
make the statements made, in light of the circunt&ts under which such statements were made, nk#adisg with respect to the period
covered by this repor
3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statemeamts,other financial information included in théport, fairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operat and cash flows of the registrant as of, andtfe periods presented in this rep
4.  The registrant’s other certifying officer andre responsible for establishing and maintainiisgldsure controls and procedures (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15&))}%(nd internal control over financial reportirg @defined in Exchange Act Rules
13&-15(f) and 15-15(f))for the registrant and hav
a) Designed such disclosure controls and proceduresused such disclosure controls and proceduties designed under o
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatieg to the registrant, including its consolidhgubsidiaries, is made known to us
by others within those entities, particularly dgrite period in which this report is being prepa

b) Designed such internal control over financial réjpgr or caused such internal control over finah@gorting to be designed unc
our supervision, to provide reasonable assurargadang the reliability of financial reporting atite preparation of financial
statements for external purposes in accordancegeitierally accepted accounting princip

c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registradisslosure controls and procedures and presentidsineport our conclusions about
the effectiveness of the disclosure controls amtgaures, as of the end of the period coveredibyédport based on such
evaluation; ant

d) Disclosed in this report any change in the regid’s internal control over financial reporting thatooed during the registré's
most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fouptlarter in case of an annual report) that hasnma#ieaffected, or is reasonably
likely to materially affect, the registré s internal control over financial reporting; &

5.  The registrant’s other certifying officer antdve disclosed, based on our most recent evaluatimiternal control over financial
reporting, to the registre’s auditors and the audit committee of regis’s board of directors
a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknessethe design or operation of internal contraéiofinancial reporting which a

reasonably likely to adversely affect the regid’'s ability to record, process, summarize and refpmahcial information; ant
b)  Any fraud, whether or not material, that invadweanagement or other employees who have a sigmifiole in the registrant’s
internal control over financial reportin

Date: February 17, 2009 /S/ James L. Ziemer

James L. Ziemer, President ¢
Chief Executive Office



Exhibit 31.2

Chief Financial Officer Certification
Pursuant to Rule 1384(a) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934

I, Thomas E. Bergmann, certify that:

1. I have reviewed this annual report on Forn-K of Harley-Davidson, Inc.
2. Based on my knowledge, this report does notaiomny untrue statement of a material fact or améttate a material fact necessary to
make the statements made, in light of the circunt&ts under which such statements were made, nk#adisg with respect to the period
covered by this repor
3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statemeamts,other financial information included in théport, fairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operat and cash flows of the registrant as of, andtfe periods presented in this rep
4.  The registrant’s other certifying officer andre responsible for establishing and maintainiisgldsure controls and procedures (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15&))}%(nd internal control over financial reportirg @defined in Exchange Act Rules
13&-15(f) and 15-15(f))for the registrant and hav
a) Designed such disclosure controls and proceduregused such disclosure controls and procedutes tesigned under o
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatieg to the registrant, including its consolidhgubsidiaries, is made known to us
by others within those entities, particularly dgrite period in which this report is being prepa

b) Designed such internal control over financial réjpgr or caused such internal control over finah@gorting to be designed unc
our supervision, to provide reasonable assurargadang the reliability of financial reporting atite preparation of financial
statements for external purposes in accordancegeitierally accepted accounting princip

c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registradisslosure controls and procedures and presentidsineport our conclusions about
the effectiveness of the disclosure controls andgulures, as of the end of the period coveredibyéport based on such
evaluation; ant

d) Disclosed in this report any change in the regid’s internal control over financial reporting thatooed during the registré's
most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fouptlarter in case of an annual report) that hasnma#ieaffected, or is reasonably
likely to materially affect, the registré s internal control over financial reporting; &

5.  The registrant’s other certifying officer antdve disclosed, based on our most recent evaluatimiternal control over financial
reporting, to the registre’s auditors and the audit committee of regis’s board of directors
a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknessethe design or operation of internal contraéiofinancial reporting which a

reasonably likely to adversely affect the regid’'s ability to record, process, summarize and refpmahcial information; ant
b)  Any fraud, whether or not material, that invadweanagement or other employees who have a sigmifiole in the registrant’s
internal control over financial reportin

Date: February 17, 2009 /S/ Thomas E. Bergmann

Thomas E. Bergmar
Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Offi



Exhibit 32

Written Statement of the Chief Executive Officedd®hief Financial Officer
Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. sec. 1350

Solely for the purpose of complying with 18 U.S82350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of tHeaBas-Oxley Act of 2002, we, the
undersigned President and Chief Executive Officerthe Executive Vice President and Chief FinanOidicer of Harley-Davidson, Inc. (the
“Company”), hereby certify, based on our knowledpat the Annual Report on Form 10-K of the Compfmthe year ended December 31,
2008 (the “Report”fully complies with the requirements of Sectiond3¢f the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 anditifarmation containe
in the Report fairly presents, in all material rests, the financial condition and results of opgerst of the Company.

Date: February 17, 2009
/S/ James L. Ziemer

James L. Zieme
President and Chief Executive Offic

/S/ Thomas E. Bergmat
Thomas E. Bergmar
Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Offi




